Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Fakultät für Biologie der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

A SYSTEMS BIOLOGY PERSPECTIVE ON THE CONSEQUENCES OF ANEUPLOIDY IN HUMAN CELLS



Vorgelegt von Milena Rosa Dürrbaum aus Lörrach, Deutschland Dezember, 2016

Eidesstaattliche Erklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation selbstständig und ohne unerlaubte Hilfe angefertigt habe. Ich habe weder anderweitig versucht eine Dissertation einzureichen oder eine Doktorprüfung durchzuführen, noch habe ich diese Dissertation oder Teile derselben einer anderen Prüfungskomission vorgelegt.

München, den 10.3.2017

Milena Dürrbaum

Promotionsgesuch eingereicht am: 15.12.2016 Datum der mündlichen Prüfung: 10.03.2017 Erster Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Angelika Böttger Zweiter Gutachter: Prof. Dr. John Parsch

List of publications

Die vorliegende Arbeit wurde zwischen Januar 2013 und Oktober 2016 unter der Anleitung von Prof. Zuzana Storchova, Ph.D. und Dr. Bianca Habermann am Max-Planck-Institut für Biochemie in Martinsried durchgeführt.

Wesentliche Teile dieser Arbeit wurden in den folgenden Publikationen veröffentlicht:

<u>Dürrbaum M</u>, Kuznetsova AY, Passerini V, Stingele S, Stoehr G, Storchová Z. **Unique features of the transcriptional response to model aneuploidy in human cells.** BMC Genomics 2014 Feb 18; 15 (1), 1–14.

Donnelly N, Passerini V, <u>Dürrbaum M</u>, Stingele S and Storchová Z. HSF1 deficiency and impaired HSP90-dependent protein folding are hallmarks of aneuploid human cells.

The EMBO journal 2014 Oct 16; 33(20):2374-87.

Kuznetsova AY, Seget K, Moeller GK, de Pagter MS, de Roos JA, <u>Dürrbaum M</u>, Kuffer C, Müller S, Zaman GJ, Kloosterman WP, Storchová Z.

Chromosomal instability, tolerance of mitotic errors and multidrug resistance are promoted by tetraploidization in human cells.

Cell Cycle 2015 Jul 07;14(17):2810-2820.

Declaration of contributions as co-author

<u>Dürrbaum M</u>, Kuznetsova AY, Passerini V, Stingele S, Stoehr G, Storchová Z. Unique features of the transcriptional response to model aneuploidy in human cells. BMC Genomics 2014 Feb 18; 15 (1), 1–14.

Milena Dürrbaum contributed to this work by designing and performing the transcriptome data analysis presented in figure 1, 2C-E, 3 and 4, table 1 and 2 as well as the corresponding supplementary figures and tables. Further, she performed the real-time PCR in figure 5. In addition, she contributed to the design and creation of figures, the interpretation and discussion of the results.

Donnelly N, Passerini V, <u>Dürrbaum M</u>, Stingele S and Storchová Z. HSF1 deficiency and impaired HSP90-dependent protein folding are hallmarks of aneuploid human cells. The EMBO journal 2014 Oct 16; 33(20):2374-87.

Milena Dürrbaum contributed to this work by performing the transcriptome and proteome data analysis presented in figure 5 and corresponding supplementary figures. In addition, she contributed to the design and creation of figure 5 as well as to the interpretation and discussion of the results.

<u>Dürrbaum M</u>, Kruse C, Nieken KJ, Habermann B, Storchová Z. microRNA deregulation contributes to the cellular response to aneuploidy *Manuscript in preparation*

Milena Dürrbaum contributed to this work by designing and performing or supervising the data analysis and experiments for all figures and tables. In addition, she designed and created all figures and tables, contributed to the interpretation and discussion of the results and wrote the manuscript.

Kuznetsova AY, Seget K, Moeller GK, de Pagter MS, de Roos JA, <u>Dürrbaum M</u>, Kuffer C, Müller S, Zaman GJ, Kloosterman WP, Storchová Z. Chromosomal instability, tolerance of mitotic errors and multidrug resistance are promoted by tetraploidization in human cells. Cell Cycle 2015 Jul 07;14(17):2810–2820.

Milena Dürrbaum contributed to this work by performing the transcriptome analysis presented in figure 4E and supplementary table 1. In addition she contributed to the discussion of the manuscript.

Milena Dürrbaum Prof. Dr. Zuzana Storchova Prof. Dr. Angelika Böttger

Table of contents

1	Abbreviations	. 1	
2	Summary		
3	Zusammenfassung		
4	Aims7		
5	Introduction		
	5.1 The leap of big data – a new perspective on aneuploidy	9	
	5.1.1 Technological advances enable new systematic insights into biological problems .	9	
	5.1.2 A big data science perspective on aneuploidy in health and disease	14	
	5.2 Routes to aneuploidy	19	
	5.3 Model systems of aneuploidy	24	
	5.4 The "omics" landscape of aneuploid cells	26	
	5.4.1 Effects of aneuploidy on the genome	26	
	5.4.2 The presence of extra chromosomes affects the transcriptome and proteome	27	
	5.4.3 Aneuploidy affects genome-wide expression	28	
	5.5 Physiological consequences of aneuploidy	30	
	5.5.1 Aneuploidy affects proliferation and cell metabolism	30	
	5.5.2 Aneuploidy affects the proteostasis network	32	
	5.6 Consequences of whole-genome doubling	33	
	5.7 miRNAs – a new "omics" layer	35	
	5.7.1 Biogenesis and function of miRNAs	35	
	5.7.2 Association of miRNAs with aneuploidy in cancer	37	
6	Results	41	
	6.1 Unique features of the transcriptional response to model aneuploidy in human		
	cells	41	
	6.2 HSF1 deficiency and impaired HSP90-dependent protein folding are hallmarks of		
	aneuploid human cells	57	
	6.3 microRNA deregulation contributes to the cellular response to aneuploidy	73	
	6.4 Chromosomal instability, tolerance of mitotic errors and multidrug resistance are		
	promoted by tetraploidization in human cells1	07	
7	Discussion	21	
	7.1 Proteotoxic stress underlies the response to aneuploidy	21	
	7.1.1 Protein deposits and elevated autophagy as a consequence of proteotoxic stress		
	in aneuploid cells	21	
	7.1.2 Proteotoxic stress might contribute to the proliferation defect of aneuploid cells1	22	
	7.1.3 Proteotoxic stress might affect genomic maintentance of aneuploid cells	23	
	7.1.4 Proteotoxic stress shapes the conserved transcriptional response to aneuploidy. 1	23	
	7.2 Implications of the transcriptional response to aneuploidy in cancer	26	
	7.3 microRNA regulation of the response to aneuploidy in human cells	27	
	7.4 Tolerance to genomic instability in post-tetraploid cells and its implications in	0.0	
	cancer	29	
~	7.5 Big data in aneuploidy research – conclusions and perspective	30	
8	References		
9	Acknowledgements		
10	0 Curriculum vitae	53	

1 Abbreviations

AGO	Argonaute protein
APC/C	Anaphase-Promoting Complex/ Cyclosome
ATM	Ataxia Telangiectasia Mutated
ATP	Adenosintriphosphat
ATR	Ataxia Telangiectasia and Rad3-Related Protein
BRAF	B-Raf Proto-Oncogene
BRCA2	Breast Cancer 2
BUB1	Budding Uninhibited By Benzimidazoles 1
BUB3	Budding Uninhibited By Benzimidazoles 3
BUBR1	Budding Uninhibited by Benzimidazole-Related 1
CCR4-NOT	Negative Regulator Of Transcription
CDC20	Cell Division Cycle 20
CDC23	Cell Division Cycle 23
CDC28	Cell Division Cycle 28
CDK4	Cyclin-Dependent Kinase 4
cDNA	complementary Deoxyribonucleic Acid
CHIP	Chromatin Immunoprecipitation
СНК1	Checkpoint Kinase 1
СНК2	Checkpoint Kinase 2
CIN	Chromosomal Instability
CIN70	Chromosomal Instability transcriptional signature 70
cDNA	complementary Deoxyribonucleic Acid
DCP2	Decapping MRNA 2
DDX6	DEAD-Box Helicase 6
DGCR8	DiGeorge Syndrome Critical Region 8
eIF4A	Eukaryotic Translation Initiation Factor 4A
eIF4G	Eukaryotic Translation Initiation Factor 4 Gamma
ERBB2	Erb-B2 Receptor Tyrosine Kinase 2
ESR	Environmental Stress Response
FISH	Fluorescence In Situ Hybridization
GAL1	Galactokinase
GIN	Genomic Instability
HBV	Hepatitis B Virus
HCV	Hepatitis C Virus
HMGA2	High Mobility Group AT-Hook 2
HPV	Human Papillomavirus
HSF1	Heat Shock Transcription Factor 1
HSP70	Heat Shock Protein 70kDa
HSP90	Heat Shock Protein 90kDa
HSPA8	Heat Shock Protein Family A (HSP70) Member 8
iASPP	Inhibitor of Apoptosis-Stimulating Protein of p53
kb	kilobase

KRAS	Kirsten Rat Sarcoma Viral Oncogene Homolog
LATS1	Large Tumor Suppressor Kinase 1
LATS2	Large Tumor Suppressor Kinase 2
MAD1	Mitotic Arrest Deficient 1
MAD2	Mitotic Arrest Deficient 2
р38/МАРК	p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase
MCM	Minichromosome Maintenance Complex
MDM2	Mouse Double Minute 2
MEF	Mouse Embryo Fibroblast
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
miRNA	microRNA
miRNAome	microRNAome
MPS1	Monopolar Spindle 1
MS	mass spectrometry
MYC	V-Myc Avian Myelocytomatosis Viral Oncogene Homolog
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
NCI-60	National Cancer Institute -60 human tumor cell lines
NGS	Next-Generation Sequencing
p53	Tumor Protein P53
p62/ SQSTM1	62 kDa protein/ Sequestosome 1
PABP	Poly(A) Binding Protein
PAN2/3	PAB1P-dependent poly(A)-nuclease 2 /3
RISC	RNA-inducing Silencing Complex
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RPKM	Reads Per Kilobase per Million
SAC	Spindle Assembly Complex
SILAC	Stable Isotope Labeling with Amino acids in Cell culture
SNP	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism
STAG2	Stromal Antigen 2
TCGA	The Cancer Genome Atlas
TFEB	Transcription Factor EB
ТОР	Terminal Oligopyrimidine Tract
UBP6	Deubiquitinating Enzyme 6
UPR	Unfolded Protein Response
UTR	Untranslated Region
VHL	von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor
XRN1	5'-3' Exoribonuclease 1

2 Summary

Aneuploidy describes an abnormal unbalanced karyotype that has severe consequences for the cellular physiology and is associated with diseases such as cancer. In model cell lines, aneuploidy leads to impaired proliferation, disturbed proteostasis and specific transcriptome as well as proteome changes. Yet, the common molecular mechanisms underlying the response to aneuploidy are not well understood.

The work presented in this thesis was set out to study the response to an euploidy and to elucidate the involved pathways from a systems biology perspective. We previously generated whole-chromosome an euploid model cell lines with one or two extra chromosomes and post-tetraploid cell lines with a complex an euploid karyotype.

Large-scale analysis of transcriptome data revealed that aneuploidy results in a conserved and distinct transcriptional response independent of the cell type, origin and type of aneuploidy. This response is characterized by the deregulation of similar pathways. In addition, we identified 23 aneuploidy markers that are similarly deregulated in a panel of aneuploid cell lines.

In the second study, we found that the transcriptional response to aneuploidy is remarkable similar to the transcriptome changes of cells with deficient heat shock transcription factor (HSF1). Indeed, we demonstrated that aneuploid cells suffer from proteotoxic stress with compromised activity of HSF1 and reduced HSP90 folding capacity. Global proteome analysis uncovered that the HSP90 client proteins are downregulated and that the overall aneuploid proteome resembles the proteome changes after HSP90 inhibition.

In the third study, we demonstrated that also the microRNAome (miRNAome) is altered in response to aneuploidy. Integrated miRNAome, transcriptome and proteome analysis indicated that the deregulated miRNAome negatively affects cellular development, growth and proliferation in the analyzed aneuploid cell lines. Besides the negative effect on the aneuploid cell physiology, the commonly upregulated microRNA (miRNA) hsa-miR-10a-5p may positively affected the survival of aneuploid cells by protecting them from stress- induced shut down of ribosomal protein translation.

In the fourth study, we followed the fate of surviving cells after whole-genome doubling, which is detrimental for the majority of the cells. The resulting complex aneuploid cells exhibit high chromosomal and genomic instability as well as a higher tolerance to mitotic errors. Transcriptome analysis revealed abnormalities in the p53 pathway suggesting an underlying mechanism to the tolerance and survival of complex aneuploid cells.

Taken together, this systems biology perspective on the response to aneuploidy revealed common affected pathways by the deregulated miRNAome, transcriptome and proteome. Moreover, our results suggest that it is the proteotoxic stress, which underlies the conserved transcriptome and proteome changes. In addition, we show that the deregulated miRNAome might contribute to the previously observed proliferation defect of aneuploid cells. Thus, the "omics" perspective on the consequences of aneuploidy as presented in this thesis benefits the aneuploidy research not only by systematic and global comparison of the aneuploid cell physiology in many different cell lines, but also by identifying potential molecular mechanisms in an unbiased manner. Besides a deeper understanding of the aneuploid cell physiology, the results in this thesis deliver important indications for new approaches in therapeutic cancer research.

3 Zusammenfassung

Aneuploidie beschreibt einen veränderten, unnatürlichen Karyotyp, welcher weitreichende Auswirkungen auf die Physiologie der Zelle hat. Aneuploidie tritt häufig im Zusammenhang mit Krankheiten auf. Das bekannteste Beispiel ist Trisomie 21, auch Down-Syndrom genannt, aber auch Krebszellen weisen einen aneuploiden Karyotyp auf. In Modellsystemen führt Aneuploidie zu beeinträchtigter Zellproliferation, gestörter Proteostase und spezifischen Veränderungen des Transkriptoms und Proteoms. Die zugrundeliegenden Mechanismen für diese Auswirkungen von Aneuploidie sind jedoch nicht völlig verstanden.

Die vorliegende Arbeit hatte zum Ziel die Konsequenzen von Aneuploidie systembiologisch zu untersuchen und die involvierten Signalwege aufzuklären. Hierfür wurde in vorangegangenen Forschungsarbeiten sowohl aneuploide Zelllinien mit einem oder zwei zusätzlichen Chromosomen, sowie Zelllinien mit einem komplexen aneuploiden Karyotyp generiert.

Transkriptom Datenanalysen zeigten, dass Aneuploidie zu konservierten Veränderungen des Transkriptoms führt, unabhängig von dem Zelltyp, des Ursprungs oder der Art der Aneuploidie. Charakteristisch für diese Transkriptomveränderungen ist die Deregulation gleicher zellulärer Signalwege. Zusätzlich konnten wir 23 Aneuploidiemarker identifizieren, welche die gleiche Deregulation in einer Reihe von aneuploiden Zelllinien zeigten.

In der zweiten Studie fanden wir heraus, dass die Transkriptionsveränderungen in aneuploiden Zellen ähnlich zu den Veränderungen von Zellen mit defektem Hitzeschock Transkriptionsfaktor (HSF1) sind. Tatsächlich konnten wir zeigen, dass aneuploide Zellen unter proteotoxischem Stress stehen und beeinträchtigte HSF1 Aktivität sowie reduzierte HSP90 Proteinfaltungskapazität aufweisen. Proteomanalysen zeigten zudem, dass HSP90 Klientenproteine nach unten reguliert sind und das gesamte aneuploide Proteom dem der HSP90 Inhibition gleicht.

In der dritten Studie demonstrierten wir, dass auch das miRNAom in aneuploiden Zellen verändert ist. Analysen von miRNAom, Transkriptom und Proteom wiesen darauf hin, dass das deregulierte miRNAom die zelluläre Entwicklung, Wachstum und Proliferation negativ beeinträchtigt. Abgesehen davon, scheint die in der Mehrheit der aneuploiden Zelllinien hoch regulierte hsa-miR-10a-5p die Zellen vor Stress-induzierter Abschaltung der Translation ribosomaler Proteine zu schützen.

In der vierten Studie charakterisierten wir überlebende Zellen nach einer zelltoxischen Genomduplikation. Die resultierenden komplex-aneuploiden Zellen wiesen eine hohe chromosomale und genetische Instabilität, sowie Toleranz für mitotische Fehler auf. Transkriptomanalysen zeigten Abnormalitäten im p53 Signalweg, was auf den zugrundeliegenden Mechanismus des Überlebens dieser Zellen hinweist.

Durch unsere systembiologische Perspektive auf die Konsequenzen von Aneuploidie fanden wir heraus, dass gleiche Signalwege durch die Deregulation von miRNAom, Transkriptom und Proteom betroffen sind. Zudem legen unsere Resultate nahe, dass der proteotoxische Stress den konservierten Veränderungen von Transkriptom und Proteom zugrunde liegt. Des Weiteren zeigten wir, dass das deregulierte miRNAom möglicherweise zu dem Proliferationsdefekt aneuploider Zellen beiträgt. Die in der vorliegenden Arbeit beschriebene "omics" Perspektive auf die Konsequenzen von Aneuploidie trägt nicht nur durch systematische und globale Untersuchung der aneuploiden Zellphysiologie zum Verständnis von Aneuploidie bei, sondern auch durch die unvoreingenommene Identifizierung potentieller molekularer Mechanismen. Neben dem vertieften Verständnis für die aneuploide Zellphysiologie, liefert diese Forschungsarbeit neue Ansatzpunkte für die therapeutische Krebsforschung.

4 Aims

Aneuploidy describes an abnormal karyotype and is detrimental for cell physiology. The aneuploid karyotype is highly variable as structural and numerical aneuploidy can occur and may affect different chromosomes to a different extent. Yet, the observed phenotypes in aneuploid model cell lines appear remarkably similar. This suggests that the molecular determinants of the physiological response are common to the majority of aneuploid cells. In this thesis, I set out to identify the common determinants of the response to aneuploidy by applying in-depth analysis of transcriptome, proteome and microRNAome data to multiple different aneuploid model cell lines.

First, I asked whether there is a similarity in the transcriptional response to aneuploidy among different cell lines, different chromosomes and different origins of aneuploidy. To address this question, we acquired transcriptome data of human aneuploid model cell lines previously generated in our research group. In addition, I used publicly available transcriptome data from model aneuploid cell lines generated in other laboratories. To uncover similarities and differences in the transcriptional response to aneuploidy, I systematically analyzed and compared the aneuploid transcriptomes. To elucidate the triggers of the global gene expression changes, I compared the transcriptional response to aneuploidy to transcriptional changes in response to various cellular stresses.

Second, we addressed the hypothesis that the presence of additional chromosomes affects cellular proteostasis. To test this hypothesis, we investigated the capacity of aneuploid cells to fold proteins under normal and stress conditions. We further determined the molecular cues of the compromised proteostasis in aneuploid cells. To elucidate the effects on the proteostasis network from a systems perspective, I analyzed the large-scale transcriptomics and proteomics datasets available in our laboratory.

Third, we investigated another category of post-transcriptional regulators of the response to aneuploidy – miRNAs. We hypothesized that the observed global gene expression changes as well as the molecular and phenotypic consequences of aneuploidy might be at least partially governed by miRNA regulation. To gain a comprehensive insight into the miRNA-target landscape in aneuploid cells, we sequenced miRNAs as well as mRNAs and combined this dataset with previously derived proteome data. I performed sequencing data analysis and compared the miRNA deregulation of different aneuploid cell lines to identify similarities and differences in response to various types of aneuploidy. To unravel the contribution of miRNAs to the cellular response to aneuploidy, I performed integrated analysis of miRNA and their target mRNA and protein expression levels.

The fourth aim was to analyze the long-term consequences of tetraploidy that often results in high genomic instability and complex aneuploidy. Since high rates of genomic instability are lethal to tetraploid cells, we hypothesized that the rare surviving cells have evolved mechanisms to tolerate genomic instability. Therefore, we followed the fate of rare tetraploid surviving cells and monitored their mitotic efficiency and fidelity. Further, we analyzed the levels and proficiency of the key factors that could restrict cell cycle progression. Finally, to gain a systems perspective on compromised pathways, I performed in-depth analysis of the transcriptome of post-tetraploid cells.

7

5 Introduction

5.1 The leap of big data – a new perspective on aneuploidy

5.1.1 Technological advances enable new systematic insights into biological problems

Cells are the smallest entities of life and although diverse in function and appearance, share common properties: the information of the building blocks of a cell is encoded in the DNA as genes, the transcripts of these genes are stored in RNA molecules and the translated building blocks of a cell are composed of proteins. In a human cell, the DNA encodes for approximately 20,000 genes (Pertea and Salzberg, 2010). From these genes, up to 16,000 protein-coding RNA molecules and more than 10,000 proteins can be detected in human cells (Nagaraj et al., 2011). The entire complexity of a cell might be orders of magnitudes higher. For instance, protein modifications, diverse subcellular locations and assembly to different complexes resulting in differential functions of a protein add an additional complexity (Harper and Bennett, 2016). Moreover, the functionality of a cell is intrinsically determined by the differential gene expression and the different protein levels. Therefore, differences in the composition of all mRNAs (transcriptome) and all proteins (proteome) of a cell, but also the quantitative levels of mRNAs and proteins give important insights into the cellular state and the differences for example between tissue cells or health and disease states. Nowadays, technological advances accelerate our understanding of the cellular system in health and disease. Yet, the ever increasing amount, but also the complexity of the biological data bears a major challenge to researchers and the term "big data" has entered biological science (Check Hayden, 2015).

Big data science is characterized by the same properties as big data in other areas. That is, big data does not only refer to a growing amount of information, but also indicates a wide variety of the data types and a high velocity at which the information is gathered (Gandomi and Haider, 2015). Depending on the field the definitions slightly differ and sometimes include characteristics of big data analytics such as cross-relation of the information types in order to generate new information. For example in market research, cross-relation of data from social networks, tweets and blogs with consumer product preferences allows to assess the target group needs and to optimize business strategies. In big data science, the thousands of molecules in a biological system, such as the cell, make up the volume of information. Moreover, the state of these molecules, for example the phosphorylation state of a protein, adds an additional layer to the data complexity and makes up the variety of the data that can be gathered from a cell. Cross-relation of the information types, such as the expression of RNA and the level of the corresponding protein generates new information similar as in the market research example.

In summary, the mass of DNA (genome), RNA (transcriptome) and proteins (proteome) and also the low molecular weight components (metabolome) describe a biological cell from a holistic view- the "omics" perspective (Figure 1). To gain an "omics" perspective of a cell, simultaneous measurement of thousands of molecules is required. Nowadays, high-throughput technologies such as next-generation sequencing (NGS) and

mass spectrometry allow qualitative and quantitative analysis of the "omics" of a cell at reduced time and cost.



Figure 1. The "omics" perspective of a cell. The DNA, packed in chromosomes, encodes the majority of the genes of a cell. In genomics, the DNA is analyzed by next-generation sequencing. Genes are transcribed into RNA. In transcriptomics, the quantity and quality of RNA molecules is measured by next-generation sequencing. RNA molecules are translated into proteins. In proteomics, all proteins of a cell are measured by mass spectrometry. For instance performing mass spectrometry on an Orbitrap results in mass over charge mass spectrometry spectra. In addition, new "omics" fields emerged. For instance, the measurement of the metabolites of a cell by mass spectrometry.

Technological advances in genomics and transcriptomics

The essential method to assess the genome or transcriptome of a cell is DNA sequencing. The sequencing methods have been rapidly advancing in the last ten years, largely fueled by the Human Genome Project that was completed in 2003. The human genome was first fully sequenced by the Sanger chain termination sequencing method described in 1977. Even though Sanger sequencing evolved for instance by capillary electrophoresis systems, the required cloning steps and the low parallelization limited the speed and accuracy of this sequencing method (reviewed in (Mardis, 2013)). This limitation promoted the development of NGS methods. The advances of NGS over Sanger sequencing is best illustrated by the fact that whereas the Human Genome Project took 15 years for its completion with Sanger sequencing, the Illumina next-generation sequencer released in 2014 sequences 45 genomes in one day (Illumina, 2016). The introduction of NGS platforms has also revolutionized transcriptome profiling. Before NGS sequencing became broadly available, microarrays were the tool of choice for the quantification of RNA molecules. However, microarrays are limited by the extent of known RNA molecules, which are hybridized on an array, as well as by the dynamic detection range (Wang et al.,

2009b). In NGS-based transcriptome profiling, the RNA molecules are reverse transcribed to cDNAs that can be sequenced with the same methods as DNA.

A number of different NGS platforms exist today that differ in their sequencing approach and therefore also in the possible sequence length, error rate, speed and application range (reviewed in (Mardis, 2013; Goodwin et al., 2016)). One of the widely used sequencing systems is the Illumina system that belongs to the group of short read next-generation sequencers. In short read sequencing approaches the DNA or cDNA is fragmented and the fragments are ligated to universal adapters that allow amplification and later sequencing. The fragments are immobilized by adapter hybridization to linkers that are covalently attached to either beads or a solid surface. Amplification of the fragments creates clusters of each single DNA fragment amplifying the sequencing signal for the sequencing step. The two major methods for short read sequencing of genomes or transcriptomes are sequencing by ligation and sequencing by synthesis. The latter is employed on Illumina platforms and involves DNA polymerase and step-wise incorporation of nucleotides into a complementary elongating strand. The identity of the incorporated nucleotide is read out by ion concentration or fluorophore release. This method allows low and high coverage sequencing of genome and transcriptome as well as exome-sequencing, chromatin immunoprecipitation (CHIP) and DNA methylation sequencing. While the accuracy rate is above 99.5%, the major drawback is the increasing error rate with increasing read length. In third generation sequencers this major limitation of short read sequencers is overcome by new sequencing approaches such as in the nanopore sequencer (Munroe and Harris, 2010). After the sequencing step, the sequence of each fragment has to be mapped to a reference genome or assembled to the original DNA or RNA.

Sequencing of DNA or cDNA reveals the sequence identity of the genome or transcriptome of an analyzed sample. For example, mapping the reads to a reference genome can identify structural variations. Moreover, if the read depth is high enough, single nucleotide polymorphisms can be identified. It should be noted that DNA microarray technologies are still widely used for the identification of common polymorphisms or known structural variations. In addition to qualitative measurements, NGS methods allow also the quantification of the sequenced molecules, i.e. RNAs. In this case, sequenced reads are mapped to a reference genome. The number of reads that map to a transcript is linearly related to its abundance in the cell. Since the number of reads scales also with transcript length, normalization to length and total number of mapped reads resulting in reads per kilobase (kb) of transcript per million mapped reads (RPKM) is widely applied (Mortazavi et al., 2008). With the advances of sequencing technologies also the data analysis strategies such as correction for technical and biological variability and statistical testing have evolved. For instance, systematic variability between the sequencing runs and between library preparations of different samples has to be accounted for (Marioni et al., 2008; Bullard et al., 2010). While technical variability can be modeled by Poisson distribution, the variability between biological replicates would be underestimated by the Poisson model (Anders and Wolfgang, 2010). Therefore, to test whether a difference in read count is greater than expected by random variation a binominal distribution is employed to model the variance. Since the number of biological replicates is small in most of the sequencing studies, methods such as DeSeq2 (Love et al.,

2014) overcome this limitation by pooling information about the variances of different genes with the same read count. Applying these normalization and dispersion estimate methods to the raw read counts enables quantification of the RNA molecule levels in a sample. Thus, novel normalization methods have been developed in parallel to sequencing techniques allowing nowadays a robust quantification of genome and transriptome.

Technological advances in proteomics

Proteins execute structural, as well as enzymatic and signaling functions in the cell. They are biochemically diverse and dynamic by nature, differing not only in the amino acid sequence, but also in their secondary, tertiary and quaternary structures. Profiling of the identity and quantity of almost all proteins in a cell can be achieved by high-resolution mass spectrometry based proteomics. The most widely used approach is the "bottom-up" approach, in which proteins of a sample are digested into short peptides. The identity of each peptide is determined by mass spectrometry and used to reassemble the proteins. To deconvolute the complex peptide mixture a chromatographic separation is employed before the mass spectrometric analysis. For the peptide identification in the mass spectrometer, mass-over-charge ratios of molecules are determined. To this end, the Orbitrap mass analyzer is frequently used where ions are trapped on orbital trajectories along a spindle-form like electrode. Their oscillation frequency solely depends on the m/z (m = mass; z = charge) and is recorded as an induced current in two outer electrodes. While the frequency provides information on the identity of the ion, the amplitude of the induced current indicates the amount of that ion. In a complex protein sample, peptides with similar masses but different amino acid sequences exist. Therefore, peptides are fragmented (MS2 or tandem MS) and the exact sequence is determined based on the fragment masses. The combined information of the full ion MS1 spectra and the fragmented ion MS2 spectra facilitates the bioinformatic identification (via search engines like Mascot and Andromeda) of the peptides from which the abundance of individual proteins are calculated.

Mass spectrometry can be used to quantify the protein abundance (reviewed in (Aebersold and Mann, 2003; Cox and Mann, 2011)). One of the most frequent approaches is stable isotope labeling in cell culture (SILAC). This involves incorporation of a heavy isotope labeled arginine or lysine into one condition, which has similar biochemical properties as the light isotope labeled amino acids that are incorporated into the other condition. Subsequently, the samples are pooled and subjected to MS where they can be distinguished by the mass over charge offset in the MS1 spectrum. The relative abundances between the treated and untreated conditions are determined by peak intensities. With a state of the art mass spectrometer and bioinformatics data analysis pipeline, it is possible to measure more than hundred thousand different peptides including their posttranslational modifications. This allows the identification and quantification of over 10,000 proteins in cellular systems and has hugely contributed to our understanding of living organism since its broader application in recent years.

Big data science complexity

The technological advances in the fields of genome, transcriptome and proteome profiling results in vast amounts of information. The majority of the data is accessible for researchers in public databases such as the NCBI Human Genome Resources Omnibus (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genome/), NCBI Gene Expression (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/) The or Human Proteome Atlas (http://www.proteinatlas.org/). Previously it used to be challenging to acquire the data; today's challenge is to make sense of the data: to analyze, integrate, visualize and communicate the findings buried in numerous data sets. This is best exemplified with the international cancer genome sequencing efforts such the "International Cancer Genome Consortium" and the component of it, the "The Cancer Genome Atlas" (TCGA) Project of the U.S. National Cancer Institute (https://cancergenome.nih.gov/). One of the goals of these projects, to fully catalogue cancer genomes and common genomic alteration, has been reached. With the announced completion, nearly 10 million cancer-related mutations could be catalogued by 2015 (Ledford, 2015). However, the hope that this would provide the ultimate understanding of cancer has not been fulfilled. Instead, the sequencing projects uncovered a much higher complexity of the genomic alterations than ever anticipated. For instance, intra- and inter-tumor heterogeneity, tumor subtype specificity and driver versus passenger mutations complicate a clear picture of the cancer landscape (Vogelstein et al., 2013). Thus, the analysis of the generated data is one of the major challenges of scientists nowadays (Adams, 2015). Moreover, the effects on cellular pathways must be anticipated in order to understand the biological relevance of certain mutations. Therefore, integration with other "omics" data such as proteomics and metabolomics is necessary to interpret the impact of genomic alterations in cancer. In addition, clinical data will help the transition from knowledge to clinical application. For example, correlation of certain mutation types with a population subgroup helps to individualize the treatment. Along these lines, an additional challenge lies in the communication of the information on cancer genome alterations to the clinic. Bioinformatics tools to visualize the information, user interfaces to easily access and filter the data are therefore indispensable.

In summary, progress in high-throughput technologies to sequence genome and transcriptome as well as measure protein levels has accelerated the information gathered about complex biological systems, such as the human genome or a cancer cell. Understanding the relevance of the information and setting the information into the biological context remains a challenge to researchers.

5.1.2 A big data science perspective on an uploidy in health and disease

Technological advances of high-throughput sequencing methods facilitate not only the detection of sequence aberrations such as variations smaller than 1 kb (e.g. single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) or small indels), but also structural variations ranging from 1 kb to several mega base pairs (e.g. insertions, deletions, inversions, translocations as well as copy number variations (Feuk et al., 2006; MacDonald et al., 2013)). Moreover, it is nowadays possible to infer copy number variations as large as a chromosome arm or

even gain or loss of a whole chromosome, since specialized algorithms retrieving this information from DNA sequencing data have been developed in the last years (for example (Bao et al., 2014; Holt al., 2014)). Large-scale et genome alterations are also referred aneuploidy. to as Whereas whole-chromosome aneuploidy refers to gain or loss entire chromosomes, of segmental aneuploidy describes alterations in chromosomal regions such as a chromosome arm and structural aneuploidy copy stems from number variations (Figure 2). The ability to detect aneuploidy in a fast, reliable effective and cost manner has become important because of their detrimental effects for human development and the association with cancer and neurodegenerative diseases.



Figure 2. The different types of aneuploidy. Whereas the diploid karyotype is balanced, the unbalanced aneuploid karyotype is characterized by either numerical or structural chromosome changes. Whole-chromosome aneuploidy describes the gain or loss of one or more chromosomes. Segmental aneuploidy describes the deletion, amplification or unbalanced translocation of chromosome segments. Complex aneuploidy is characterized by complex segmental changes of different chromosomes, often combined with numerical chromosome changes.

Constitutional aneuploidy in humans

In a multicellular organism, aneuploidy can either affect all cells, so called constitutional aneuploidy, or a subset of the cells, called somatic aneuploidy. In case of constitutional aneuploidy, aneuploidization occurs during the germ development (reviewed in (MacLennan et al., 2015)). In addition, mitotic errors during early embryogenesis result in mosaic aneuploidy with intermixed diploid and trisomic cells that are for example commonly observed in trisomy 21 patients (reviewed in (Papavassiliou et al., 2014)). Estimated 10-30% of fertilized oocytes harbor an abnormal copy number and

the percentage increases with maternal age in humans (MacLennan et al., 2015). In addition, *in vitro* fertilized embryos have high rates of chromosomal aneuploidy. Aneuploidy is the leading cause of spontaneous miscarriages and only gain of a copy of chromosome 13, 18, 21, X and Y or loss of chromosome X or Y are compatible with a viable birth. Due to the severe developmental defects, only approximately 10% of children with trisomy 13 (Patau syndrome) or trisomy 18 (Edwards syndrome) survive to one year after birth (Rasmussen et al., 2011). Individuals with trisomy of chromosome 21, also known as Down syndrome, survive until adulthood, but suffer from multiple defects such as intellectual disability, increased rates of congenital heart disease, epilepsy and acute leukemia (Asim et al., 2015).

To improve the success of fertilization, prenatal or pre-implantation screening of embryos for aneuploidy is offered. Prenatal screening has greatly benefited from continued improvements of NGS technologies. Noninvasive prenatal screening methods subject cell free fetal DNA in the maternal blood to massive parallel shotgun sequencing, where the number of sequences mapping to maternal chromosomes versus cell free DNA is predictive of aneuploidy (Gregg et al., 2014; Rink and Norton, 2016). Other screening methods such as fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) and array comparative genomic hybridization are being replaced by NGS techniques (Fiorentino et al., 2014; Zheng et al., 2015). Comparative analysis of the methods proved high concordance and enhanced precision for the sequencing methods, thus paving their way for routine clinical application.

Somatic aneuploidy in humans

Whereas constitutional aneuploidy is detrimental for life, somatic aneuploid cells were identified in the liver and brain of healthy individuals (Duncan et al., 2012a). Indeed, the percentage of aneuploid hepatocytes ranges from one third to one half in healthy liver samples. Studies in mice and human suggest that hepatocytes become polyploid during early postnatal development and some cells subsequently become aneuploid through aberrant mitosis and chromosome missegregation (Margall-Ducos et al., 2007; Duncan et al., 2010; 2012a). In this context aneuploidy seems to be beneficial. One hypothesis poses that aneuploid cells allow phenotypic variability and increase the adaptive potential of liver tissue to chronic injury or metabolic stresses (Duncan et al., 2012a). Similarly, an euploidy was detected in the human developing brain tissue and across adult brain tissue in non-neuronal cells and mature neurons by spectral karyotyping or FISH (Rehen, 2005; Yurov et al., 2007; Pack et al., 2014). Surprisingly, only 2.2% and 4% of an uploid cells were detected in the human brain and in human hepatocytes, respectively, using single cell NGS, a method that determines whole chromosome aneuploidy and complex aneuploidy in somatic cells in an unbiased manner (Knouse et al., 2014). The authors attribute the deviations between the results from single cell sequencing and previous reports to the frequent artifacts in FISH assays. Nevertheless, high rates of structural aneuploidy and copy number variations can be identified in neurons (Cai et al., 2014). Thus, the higher resolution of genome-wide sequencing compared to classical approach such as FISH suggests that while somatic wholechromosome aneuploidy is not as widespread as previously assumed, large structural copy number variations occur frequently in neurons.

Aneuploidy in ageing and neurodegeneration

Besides these instances of somatic aneuploidy in healthy tissue, aneuploidy has been associated with declining cellular fitness and ageing. Evidence comes from mouse, where the ageing is associated with increased incidence of aneuploidy in the brain (Faggioli et al., 2012). Further, mouse models of the mutant spindle assembly checkpoint protein BUBR1 that leads to high chromosome missegregation rates develop aneuploidy. These mice develop premature ageing-associated phenotypes such as short lifespan, loss of subcutaneous fat, impaired wound healing and vascular ageing (Baker et al., 2004; Matsumoto et al., 2007). Concordantly, overexpression of BUBR1 preserves genomic stability and extends lifespan in mice (Baker et al., 2012). Whether aneuploidy is a passenger of the ageing process due to defects in genome maintenance or whether aneuploidy plays an active role is not completely understood. Interestingly, increased aneuploidy is often observed in Alzheimer's disease, as FISH analysis revealed high rates of aneuploidy of chromosome 11, 17, 18, 21 and X with a prevalence for chromosome 21 and X (Iourov et al., 2009; Yurov et al., 2014). Intriguingly, the amyloid precursor protein (APP) that has a pivotal role in Alzheimer's disease is encoded on chromosome 21. Overexpression of APP leads to increased levels of neurotoxic amyloid peptide Ab42 that is associated with plaque formation in Alzheimer's disease. Aneuploidy of chromosome 21 may therefore promotes this disease. Yet, single cell NGS did not confirm higher rates of aneuploidy in 893 neurons derived from 10 individuals with Alzheimer's disease (van den Bos et al., 2016). Despite these recent results, the fact that the majority of individuals with Down syndrome are diagnosed with an early onset Alzheimer's disease by the age of 40 (Gardiner et al., 2010) hints to an association of trisomy of chromosome 21 and Alzheimer's disease or impaired neuronal function. Further NGS and functional studies on a larger cohort will be necessary to elucidate the exact association between aneuploidy and ageing as well as neurodegenerative diseases.

Aneuploidy and cancer

Already a century ago, Theodor Boveri postulated that unbalanced chromosome numbers might contribute to malignant tumor development (Boveri, 1914). His hypothesis has gained significant experimental support recently and aneuploidy is nowadays considered a hallmark of cancer (Sheltzer and Amon, 2011). Primary evidence stems from cytogenetic studies of patient derived tumor samples revealing that 90% of solid tumors and 70% of blood cancers show some degree of aneuploidy (Weaver and Cleveland, 2006; Mitelman et al., 2016). Although cytogenetic techniques are widely applicable in hospital settings, their low resolution limits the detection of structural aneuploidy. The complex landscape of somatic copy number variations in cancer has been revealed by highthroughput methods such as SNP-Arrays and NGS. On average as much as 25% of each genome is affected by somatic copy number variations of a whole chromosome arm in an analysis of 3131 cancer samples by SNP arrays (Beroukhim et al., 2014).

The role of aneuploidy in tumorigenesis is not entirely clear. One central question is, whether an uploidy is a driver of tumor development or arises as a side effect of the relaxed checkpoints and increased instability. From an "omics" perspective, this question has been tackled by identifying the relation between copy number variations and wellknown tumor suppressors or oncogenes, as well as by studying the evolutionary timeline of aneuploidy in cancer. Large-scale analysis of copy number variations in cancers found 33% of amplifications associated with validated oncogenes such as MYC, Cyclin D1, CDK4 and KRAS. Additionally, 11% of deletions were found in regions with tumor suppressor genes (Beroukhim et al., 2014). This suggests that at least a subset of copy number alterations might have a causal role in tumorigenesis by affecting the expression of oncogenes and suppressors. For this analysis, only experimentally validated oncogenes and tumor suppressors have been explored. Yet, new data analysis methods can predict new drivers and suppressors by the analysis of somatic mutation patterns across large numbers of cancers (Davoli et al., 2013). Therein, the analysis of 8,200 tumor samples estimated 320 suppressors and 250 oncogenes. Intriguingly, the distribution and potency of these drivers and inhibitors of tumorigenesis is predictive for the pattern of aneuploidy observed in a range of tumor samples (Davoli et al., 2013; Zack et al., 2013). The potency of a gene to support or impair tumor development might pose a selective pressure for a gain or loss of the associated genomic region. Thus, aneuploidy might promote tumor development by affecting the gene copy numbers of drivers and suppressor.

Tumor development is driven by clonal evolution defined by acquisition of genetic variations and natural selection for beneficial traits (Stratton et al., 2009). However, the largely heterogeneous tumor cells hamper the evolutionary study of aneuploidy in cancer. Single-cell sequencing has advanced the study of tumor evolution and gives also insights into the occurrence of aneuploidy during tumor development. Copy number profiling of 100 single cells by NGS revealed defined aneuploid subpopulations within the tumor mass (Navin et al., 2011). Interestingly, the aneuploid subpopulation has separated in early tumor development from the diploid subpopulation based on chromosome breakpoint phylogeny analysis. Recent single-cell sequencing results further support the view that aneuploidy occurs early in tumor development and that mutations accumulate gradually, but account for the genetic diversity (Wang et al., 2015). While these results suggest that aneuploidy rather develops early in tumorigenesis, the complexity of aneuploidy and the rate by which aneuploidy changes, termed chromosomal instability (CIN), correlates with tumor aggressiveness (Carter et al., 2006; Birkbak et al., 2011). Indeed, elevated expression of a gene group that correlates with an euploidy and CIN is sufficient to predict poor prognosis (Carter et al., 2006; Birkbak et al., 2011). In summary, compelling evidence indicates that an euploidy is not a mere passenger of tumorigenesis, but causally contributes to tumor development and malignancy.

The manifold occurrences of an euploidy in health and disease illustrate that the impact of an euploidy on cell physiology and ultimately on cellular fitness is largely context dependent. Constitutional an euploidy is detrimental for development, whereas somatic an euploidy is found in both healthy cells and disease states. On one hand, an euploidy

might serve as a source for genetic variation that allows faster adaptation to adverse condition, hence providing a selective advantage. For example, aneuploidy in liver was suggested as a mechanism to rapidly adapt to chronic live injury in mice (Duncan et al., 2012b). Similarly, aneuploid cancer cell lines are more tolerant to stress conditions (Rutledge et al., 2016). On the other hand, studies in various aneuploid model systems demonstrate that aneuploidy itself is largely detrimental for cells. To understand the context dependent effects of aneuploidy, it is essential to gain an in-depth knowledge of the molecular consequences of aneuploidy *per se*. Aneuploidy can occur in many variations affecting different chromosomes and genomic regions. Therefore, high-throughput system biology approaches allow the parallel and holistic study of diverse aneuploidy types and careful analysis of the data allows deducing the common consequences of aneuploidy on the cell physiology.

5.2 Routes to aneuploidy

To maintain a balanced karyotype, faithful segregation of the duplicated chromosome sets to the two daughter cells is crucial. Abnormalities in the karyotype in form of whole chromosome aneuploidy originate mainly from errors in chromosome segregation. At the beginning of mitosis accurate chromosome segregation is initiated by separation of centrosomes, the microtubule organizing centers of the cell and by nuclear envelope breakdown (Magidson et al., 2011). Each of the sisters of the chromatid pair that is held together by sister chromatid cohesion attaches via its kinetochore to microtubules nucleating from the centrosomes, thereby forming a bipolar mitotic spindle (Figure 3A). In order for each chromatid to be pulled to opposite sides of the cell, each kinetochore must attach to microtubules emanating from opposite centrosomes. Only if correct kinetochore-microtubule attachments are established, the mitotic spindle assembly checkpoint (SAC) allows separation of the chromatids to opposite spindle poles.



missegregation include abnormal mitotic spindle formation. This can be the result of monotelic, syntelic and merotelic microtubule-kinetochore attachments. In addition, multipolar spindle geometry and premature separation of sister chromatids results in chromosome missegregation. **C** Aneuploidy may derive from a tetraploid intermediate. Causes of tetraploidy include fusion of two cells or failure of cytokinesis.

Aneuploidy through chromosome missegregation

Chromosome missegregation mainly stems from abnormalities in mitotic spindle formation and subsequent bypass or failure of the mitotic checkpoint. In case of a single unattached kinetochore (monotelic attachment, Figure 3B) the SAC core components of the mitotic checkpoint proteins MAD1, MAD2, BUB1, BUB3, BUBR1, Aurora B and MPS1 are recruited to the unattached sites (Heinrich et al., 2013). Two sister kinetochores attached to microtubules originating from the same centrosome (syntelic attachment, Figure 3B) are sensed by the chromosomal passenger complex that, via the activity of Aurora B kinase, destabilizes mal-attachments, thus facilitating correction and at the same time creating unattached kinetochores, which in turn trigger the recruitment of mitotic checkpoint proteins (reviewed in (Nezi and Musacchio, 2009; Wang et al., 2014)). As a result the co-activator CDC20 of the anaphase-promoting complex / cyclosome (APC/C) is inhibited and the mitotic progression is delayed. Recent data suggests that the protein abundances are critical to maintain a functional checkpoint as the reduction of MAD2 and MAD3 (BUBR1) to 60-30% of the normal abundance noticeably weakens the SAC function in fission yeast (Heinrich et al., 2013). Thus, depletion of one of the checkpoint components such as one MAD2 allele in human colorectal cancer cell lines (Michel et al.,

2001) or *BUBR1* deletion in HeLa cells (Lampson and Kapoor, 2004) or mice (Jeganathan et al., 2007) is sufficient to compromise the mitotic checkpoint. Moreover, mutations of SAC components have been associated with increased rates of chromosome missegregation in cancer (Li and Benezra, 1996; Cahill et al., 1998; Percy et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2000; 2002; Kim et al., 2005). Increased rates of chromosome missegregation might also explain why offsprings of mice with heterozygous knockout of Mad1 or Mad2 show higher incidences of spontaneous tumors (reviewed in (Giam and Rancati, 2015)). In addition, mutations in *BUBR1* have been associated with the mosaic variegated aneuploidy syndrome that is characterized by CIN, mosaic aneuploidy and predisposition to childhood cancer. Thus, an impaired SAC should be in principle sufficient to drive aneuploidy and cancer development.

Although an impaired SAC induces aneuploidy, sequencing of cancer cell lines and tumor tissues revealed that SAC mutations are not among the core driver mutations in cancer (Sjöblom et al., 2006; Wood et al., 2007; Greenman et al., 2007; Jones et al., 2008; Parsons et al., 2008; Bleeker et al., 2009). This suggests that an euploidy in cancer arises by other means. Merotelic attachments, where a single kinetochore attaches to two microtubules from opposite spindle poles, do not efficiently activate the mitotic checkpoint and therefore often result in lagging chromosomes and subsequent aberrant karyotypes in the daughter cells (Cimini et al., 2001; 2004). Intriguingly, lagging chromosomes are frequent in cancer cells with high rates of chromosome missegregation (Thompson and Compton, 2008), suggesting that merotelic attachments are a source of chromosome missegregation in cancer. Although merotelic attachments can be corrected in early anaphase, increased incidences or reduced correction efficiency of merotelic attachments elevate the frequency of lagging chromosomes (reviewed in (Cimini, 2008). One source for an increased frequency of merotelic attachments is a multipolar spindle formation by multiple centrosomes (Ganem et al., 2009; Silkworth et al., 2009). In fact, supernumerary centrosomes are frequent in cancer and were associated with increased incidences of chromosome missegregation (Lingle et al., 2002; Sato et al., 2001; Silkworth et al., 2009; Ganem et al., 2009). Additionally, decreased correction efficiency of merotelic attachments by hyperstabilization of incorrect microtubule-kinetochore attachments increases the rates of lagging chromosomes (Bakhoum et al., 2009; Kabeche and Compton, 2012). For instance, MAD2 overexpression stabilizes merotelic kinetochore attachments (Kabeche and Compton, 2012) and is associated with elevated rates of lagging chromosomes in cancer (Tanaka et al., 2001; Li et al., 2003; Sotillo et al., 2007; 2010; Hisaoka et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2009a; Kato et al., 2011). Thus, the major source of missegregated chromosomes is attributed to merotelic attachments.

Besides mal-attachments in early mitosis, premature separation of chromatids results in chromosome missegregation (Figure 3B). Sister chromatids are held together by sister chromatid cohesion that dissociates at chromosome arms in early mitosis, maintaining the cohesion at the centromeres. Centromeric cohesion facilitates correct bipolar kinetochore-microtubule attachments and metaphase alignment and is resolved only after the SAC is satisfied. Mutations in proteins of the cohesion complex, such as the inactivation of the cohesion subunit STAG2 in human cell lines mediates premature chromatid separation and hence chromosome missegregation (Solomon et al., 2011). Knock out of mouse Stag1 results in increased aneuploidy (Remeseiro et al., 2012). Moreover, *STAG2* mutations or low expression have been identified in various human cancers (Solomon et al., 2011; 2013; Kim et al., 2012; Wilson et al., 2012).

In summary, many different mutations of SAC components can lead to increased chromosome missegregation and aneuploidy. Yet, these mutations are rarely found in cancer. Mutation in the cohesion subunit STAG2 presents one of the few links of mutations and aneuploidy in cancer. Merotelic attachments are most likely the major source of chromosome missegregation and aneuploidy in cancer.

Aneuploidy through tetraploid intermediate

Multiple observations in aneuploid cancers and cell lines revealed that aneuploidy might derive from a tetraploid intermediate state during cancer progression. First, in several aneuploid cancers, a subpopulation of tetraploid cells was reported (Wijkstrom et al., 1984; Kallioniemi et al., 1988; Levine et al., 1991; Dutrillaux et al., 1991; Michels et al., 2000; Barrett et al., 2003; Olaharski, 2006). Second, there is a clear correlation between the tetraploidy status and the progression to aneuploidy as well as p53 inactivation during neoplastic progression in Barrett's esophagus (Galipeau et al., 1996). Third, recent cancer sequencing projects provided compelling evidence that 37% of cancers underwent a whole-genome duplication at some point of tumorigenesis (Zack et al., 2013). More directly, tetraploid p53-nulls cells induced tumorigenesis when injected into nude mice, while diploids did not lead to tumor formation (Fujiwara et al., 2005). Lastly, experiments in cell lines demonstrated that induced cytokinesis failure leads to an unstable tetraploid intermediate that can evolve to aneuploid progenitor cells ((Vitale et al., 2010; Lv et al., 2014) and chapter 5.6 in this thesis).

Tetraploid cells emerge from three different mechanisms: cell fusion, cytokinesis failure or incomplete mitosis and endoreduplication (reviewed in (Davoli and de Lange, 2011)). Cell fusion can be induced by viral infection (Duelli et al., 2007) and results in a binucleated intermediate that gives rise to tetraploid daughter cells (Figure 3C). All human oncogenic viruses such as papillomavirus (HPV), hepatitis B virus (HBV), hepatitis C virus (HCV) and others induce cell fusion (reviewed in (Gao and Zheng, 2011)). Together with the notion that tetraploid cells are frequent in virus-induced tumors, virus-induced tetraploidization presents one path to near-tetraploid tumors.

Failure in cytokinesis, that is a failure to separate the two daughter cells, also results in a binucleated intermediate and mononucleated tetraploid cells in the subsequent mitosis (Figure 3C). Deregulation of multiple mitotic factors induces cytokinesis failure. For instance, impairment of the actin polymerization in mitosis by inhibition of the large tumor suppressor 1 kinase LATS1 leads to cytokinesis failure. Moreover, LATS1 is lost in a variety of cancers (reviewed in (Davoli and de Lange, 2011)).

Endoreduplication is the third mechanisms by which tetraploid cells can arise. During endoreduplication, the cells do not progress into mitosis, but skip it and enter a second S-phase in which the genome is duplicated. One trigger of endoreduplication by mitotic bypass is the prolonged telomere damage signal in the absence of a functional DNA damage checkpoint as seen in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (Davoli et al., 2010). In the absence of telomerase, telomeres shorten with each cell division. Short telomeres are recognized by ATM/ATR kinases and lead to p53 or Rb-mediated apoptosis or senescence. Dysfunctional short telomeres are observed in early stage tumors and were proposed to be the source of DNA damage signals (De Lange, 2005). Given that p53 or Rb mutations or loss are common in cancer, prolonged ATM/ATR signaling inducing endoreduplication and mitotic failure might be a common cause of tetraploid cells in early tumor development (Davoli and de Lange, 2012).

Sources of structural aneuploidy

Structural aneuploidies such as deletions, insertions, translocations and duplications result mainly from improper repair of DNA damage or from unscheduled recombination events. Recurrent genomic alterations may result from misalignment and cross-over of genomic sequences with a high sequence identity (known as non-allelic homologous recombination) (reviewed in (Colnaghi et al., 2011)). Depending on the location and sequence orientation, non-allelic homologous recombination can result in deletion, duplication or inversion of DNA sequences. Genomic alterations that are not recurrent and occur at diverse breakpoints mainly arise during double strand break repair through non-allelic homologous end-joining that is inherently error prone. Joining the double strand break ends to incorrect sequences or at incorrect positions results in insertions and deletions (Hastings et al., 2009). More complex genomic alterations are characterized by multiple breakpoints flanked by unaffected stretches of genome between the rearranged regions and can be mediated by multiple mechanisms such as microhomology-mediated double strand break repair, fork stalling template switching mechanism or breakage fusion bridge cycle (Stankiewicz and Lupski, 2010). In the latter, chromosomes with damaged or shortened telomeres are fused by non-homologous end joining to other chromosomes forming an unstable dicentric chromosome (De Lange, 2005; Jafri et al., 2016). As kinetochores from opposite spindle poles attach to the centromeres during anaphase, the dicentric chromosome may break due to opposing forces. The resulting new ends may lead to another breakage fusion bridge cycle, thus promoting genomic instability (GIN). Besides telomere associated GIN, common fragile sites in the genome are prone to double strand breaks. These sites are particularly susceptible to fork stalling during replication stress and contribute to genome instability and structural aneuploidy (Bignell et al., 2010; Dereli-Öz et al., 2011; Barlow et al., 2013). Segmental rearrangements also occur due to lagging chromosomes. Chromosomes that lag behind during chromosome separations may become trapped in the cleavage furrow. This might either lead to their breakage, where the daughter cells inherit parts of the chromosome, or to the formation of a micronucleus (Janssen et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2015). Recent studies have demonstrated that the isolated chromosomes in micronuclei may be subjected to complex rearrangements and fragmentations characteristic for a process called chromothripsis (Zhang et al., 2015). Chromothripsis in micronuclei might be due to defective and delayed DNA replication (Crasta et al., 2012). That is, chromosomes from micronuclei can be reincorporated into the main nucleus in the subsequent mitosis, thus resulting in structural aneuploidy in the daughter cells.

In summary, multifold routes can result in aneuploidy, such as mutations and deregulation of various factors or mitotic errors. This presents a challenge to study the effect of aneuploidy, as it is often impossible to separate the causes and the consequences of aneuploidy from each other. Thus, novel cellular model systems may provide an important and resourceful tool for studying the consequences of aneuploidy *per se*.

5.3 Model systems of aneuploidy

Since the 21st century the study of the molecular consequences of aneuploidy in cancer or trisomy syndromes has been of great interest. To directly interrogate aneuploidy in the disease context, patient-derived cell lines or aneuploid preimplantation embryos have been available for research (Biancotti et al., 2010). However, the use of patients cell lines has marked limitations, because it has not been possible to obtain the corresponding control diploid cell lines. Moreover, the *in vivo* origin may limit the dissection of the primary molecular changes driven by aneuploidy from its secondary effects that may arise through adaptation of the aneuploid cells to the specific tissue niche. Especially in cancer-derived aneuploid cell lines, the additional molecular changes driven by mutations make it difficult to address the consequences to aneuploidy *per se*. Therefore, several aneuploid yeast strains, human cell lines and mouse models were established to study the effects of immediate and long-term effects of aneuploidy.

Since chromosome missegregation is the major source of an euploidy, induction of chromosome missegregation is often employed to study the short-term effects of aneuploidy on the cellular physiology. For instance, depletion of the SAC components MAD2 or BUB1 results in missegregation of chromosomes in the majority of retinal pigment epithelial cells (Santaguida et al., 2015). Similarly, chemical inhibition of the SAC kinase MPS1 results in CIN (Hewitt et al., 2010; Santaguida et al., 2010). Using the same principle, chromosomally unstable mouse models were generated to study the effects of enhanced chromosome missegregation in vivo (reviewed in (Giam and Rancati, 2015) and (Simon et al., 2015)). Instead of using SAC depletion or inhibition, chromosome missegregation can be induced by the impairment of the mitotic spindle apparatus by drug treatments such as nocodazole or monastrol (Elhajouji et al., 1997; Thompson and Compton, 2008). Common to all these methods is that the induction of chromosome missegregation generates an uploid cells with random and undefined karyotypes. Similar random aneuploidy fission or budding yeast can be generated through meiosis of yeast strains with an odd ploidy, such as tetraploidy or pentaploidy (Niwa et al., 2006; Pavelka et al., 2010). Yet, to attribute the aneuploidy response to specific karyotype changes, defined aneuploid cells are required. For example, microcell-mediated chromosome transfer has been developed allowing the addition of a specific chromosome to a cell (Fournier, 1981). The resulting aneuploid cell lines enable the study of the consequences of a defined aneuploidy in comparison to the parental cell line that serves as a perfect matched control (Upender et al., 2004; Stingele et al., 2012). The occurrence of Robertsonian metacentric chromosomes in mice has been used to generate trisomic mouse embryonic fibroblasts (Gropp et al., 1983; Williams et al., 2008). Robertsonian fusions arise as a fusion of non-homologous chromosomes at the centromeres. Crossing of mice with different Robertsonian chromosomes results at a low frequency in progenies with trisomies due to meiotic non-disjunction. In budding yeast, defects in nuclear fusion of the karyogamy gene mutants can be used for chromosome transfer (Conde and Fink, 1976; Torres et al., 2007). During these abortive matings, chromosome transfer from one mating partner to the other occurs in rare cases. In another approach, targeted addition or removal of a chromosome can be achieved by modification of the centromere (Reid et al., 2008; Anders et al., 2009). Therein, a conditional centromere can transiently block sister

chromatid separation leading to yeast cells disomic for a specific chromosome (Anders et al., 2009). Similarly, loss of a specific chromosome can be achieved by transcription from a GAL1 inducible promoter adjacent to centromere sequences.

The above-described aneuploid model systems mostly present random or defined simple aneuploidies. However, aneuploidy in cancer can be highly complex and may arise through a tetraploid intermediate state (see chapter 5.2). To study the fate of tetraploid cells, whole-genome doubling is induced by treatment with actin inhibitors such as cytochalasin D that lead to cytokinesis failure (Fujiwara 2005). These tetraploid cells are chromosomally unstable and usually become aneuploid through multipolar mitosis (Vitale et al., 2010).

In summary, multiple different methods can be applied to generate random, defined or complex aneuploidies in different model organisms. Depending on the method applied, the generated aneuploid model cells are inheritably stable or exhibit genome instability. In this thesis, defined whole-chromsome aneuploid model cell lines, generated by microcell-mediated fusion have been used to study the consequences of aneuploidy (Donnelly et al., 2014; Dürrbaum et al., 2014). In addition, aneuploid post-tetraploid cells have been used to determine the consequences of a complex aneuploid karyotype derived from an intermediate tetraploid karyotype (Kuznetsova et al., 2015).

5.4 The "omics" landscape of aneuploid cells

5.4.1 Effects of aneuploidy on the genome

Aneuploidy in cancer cells appears in form of changes in the numbers of chromosomes but also as diverse structural changes, such as deletions, duplications, unbalanced inversions and translocations (Mitelman et al., 2016). The data obtained in large-scale cancer genome sequencing efforts present a comprehensive landscape of the genomic changes in cancer revealing the overwhelming complexity of structural changes and somatic mutations in cancer (Vogelstein et al., 2013). While the sequencing data uncovers that the number of mutations per tumor may reach up to 100,000 in melanomas and glioblastomas (Alexandrov et al., 2013), it is not entirely understood how tumors acquire these high numbers of mutations. According to the view that cancer develops in a multistage process, somatic mutations would accumulate and are selected during tumorigenesis ((Vogelstein and Kinzler, 1993) reviewed in (Jeggo et al., 2016)). The complexity of an euploidy correlates with poor prognosis of cancer patients (Sheltzer, 2013). In addition, an euploidy and somatic mutations coincide in tumors (Duesberg et al., 1998; Lengauer et al., 1997; 1998). These two observations suggest that aneuploidy itself might drive the accumulation of somatic mutations. In support, single cell sequencing of breast cancer cells revealed that while copy number changes and rearrangements occur early in tumor development, somatic mutations appear gradually (Wang et al., 2015). Intriguingly, at least two studies show that the mutation rates are increased near the breakpoints (De and Babu, 2010; Drier et al., 2013), suggesting that aneuploidy may promote genomic variations.

Aneuploidy has been correlated with karyotype instability in human colon cancer cell lines (Lengauer et al., 1997) and in p53 knock out colon cancer cell lines (Thompson et al., 2010). Moreover, the higher the aneuploidy the more unstable is the karyotype in transformed Chinese hamster embryo cells (Duesberg et al., 1998). These observations indicate that aneuploidy promotes karyotype instability. In support, budding yeast cells with an extra chromosome exhibit an increased chromosome missegregation frequency (Sheltzer et al., 2011). Disomic yeasts also show a higher mutation rate and defects in recombination and DNA repair, suggesting a link not only between aneuploidy and CIN, but also between aneuploidy and GIN. Human cell lines with an artificially introduced extra chromosome also display signs of CIN and/or GIN, such as chromosome aberrations in primary human fibroblasts with an extra copy of chromosome 8 (Nawata et al., 2011) and higher rates of chromosome missegregation in human colorectal cancer cells with an extra copy of chromosome 7 or 13 (Nicholson et al., 2015).

While aneuploid model cell lines have been previously linked to CIN and GIN, only advanced sequencing technologies allow a systematic study of the effects of aneuploidy on the genome. Recent results from mate-pair NGS of trisomic and tetrasomic human cell lines revealed *de novo* chromosomal rearrangements that did not occur in the parental control (Passerini et al., 2016). Further SNP analysis of clonal cell lines originating from a trisomic cell line confirmed the increased occurrence of *de novo* chromosomal rearrangements in comparison to the clones originating from the diploid parental cell line. Analysis of the protein levels of DNA replication factors revealed a down-regulation specifically for the replicative helicases MCM2-7 (Passerini et al., 2016). Depletion of these
factors in diploid cells leads to a similar GIN phenotype as observed in aneuploid cells. Moreover, overexpression of MCM subunits rescues DNA damage foci formation in the aneuploid cells. Intriguingly, downregulation of DNA replication proteins was also observed as a response to chromosome missegregation due to SAC attenuation (Ohashi et al., 2015). The damage observed in these cells seems not to stem from the chromosome missegregation itself, but from reduced replication activity in the surviving cells. Thus, these results suggest that replication stress in aneuploid cells leads to GIN. In summary, cumulative evidence indicates that the presence of extra chromosomes promotes GIN at least in aneuploid model cell lines.

5.4.2 The presence of extra chromosomes affects the transcriptome and proteome

The consequences of aneuploidy on the cell physiology are determined by transcriptome and proteome changes. Continued improvement of technologies facilitates the documentation of the effects of aneuploidy in cancer but also in model cell lines on mRNA and protein level and allows a new perspective on the cellular response to aneuploidy.

It is now well established that the addition of extra chromosomes results in correlative expression changes according to the gene copy number in yeast (Chikashige et al., 2007; Torres et al., 2007), mammalian cell lines (Upender et al., 2004; Williams et al., 2008; Nawata et al., 2011; Stingele et al., 2012), A. thaliana (Huettel et al., 2008; Sheltzer et al., 2012) and maize (Birchler, 2013). In a few cases a broad range of expression changes was reported, which, however, may be a consequence of differences in the data analysis strategies (reviewed in (Dürrbaum and Storchova, 2015a)). For instance, 25-56% of the genes encoded on trisomic chromosome 21 are expressed at diploid levels in mouse model of trisomy 21 or patient derived cells, although the averaged gene expression of chromosome 21 genes is elevated above diploid level (Aït Yahya-Graison et al., 2007; Chou et al., 2008; Biancotti et al., 2010; Vilardell et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2011). All of the above-cited studies investigated the effects of extra chromosomes on the transcriptome, whereas the consequences of monosomies have not been not broadly investigated so far. The few studies available derive from Drosophila, where monosomy of chromosome X and 4 are buffered by two evolved dosage compensation mechanisms (Larsson et al., 2001; Johansson and Stenberg, 2007; Laverty et al., 2010). In addition, segmental monosomies are also partially dosage compensated in Drosophila as suggested by the only minor reduction in expression levels (Stenberg et al., 2009). From these studies, it appears that also loss of chromosomes or chromosome parts is detrimental, at least for Drosophila. However, whether the response to monosomies in mammalian cells is similar remains to be investigated.

The analysis of the transcriptional response to aneuploidy in cancer is complicated by the intertwined appearance of somatic mutations with aneuploidy, epigenetic alterations and the high intra-tumoral heterogeneity (Vogelstein et al., 2013). Moreover, different data analysis strategies make it difficult to compare the results between the studies (reviewed in (Dürrbaum and Storchova, 2015a)). Correlations at single gene level appear to be less robust and probably reflect the complex genomic and epigenomic alterations in cancer. However, if distinct regions are summarized and correlated, a weak but consistent correlation of gene copy number and expression can be found. Moreover, using a novel method that corrects for major non-genetic factors in meta-analysis of 77840 cancer expression profiles clearly demonstrates a correlation between gene copy number alterations and gene expression (Fehrmann et al., 2015).

Protein expression scales with the gene copy number changes in disomic yeast and tri- or tetrasomic mammalian cells (Pavelka et al., 2010; Torres et al., 2010; Stingele et al., 2013). Yet, certain proteins are dosage compensated; that is, their expression is lower than expected and more similar to wild type levels (Torres et al., 2007; Pavelka et al., 2010; Stingele et al., 2012; Dephoure et al., 2014; Donnelly et al., 2014). Specifically, the expression levels of subunits of macromolecular complexes are subjected to dosage compensation in disomic yeast as well as in human cells with extra chromosomes. In addition, abundance of many protein kinases is attenuated to normal levels as well. Especially for the formation of macromolecular complexes balanced concentration of the complex subunits is important. This was elegantly demonstrated by the "genetic tug of war method" that identified 115 dosage sensitive genes. Most of them are protein complex members (Makanae et al., 2013). In this study, target genes were cloned into a plasmid, which additionally harbors positive selection markers for growth on limited media. The limit for overexpression of a specific gene was assessed by its toxic effect preventing high plasmid copy numbers. Whereas an increase up to 100 copy numbers would not affect the cells for over 80% of genes, for 115 genes, enriched for members of protein complexes, the permissive plasmid copy number was limited and lower than expected. When the binding partners of the dosage sensitive genes were simultaneously overexpressed, the sensitivity could be rescued. This suggests that in an euploid cells, the members of protein complexes are especially sensitive to copy number changes. However, the mechanism of dosage compensation is not understood.

In cancer, the correlation of gene copy number variations with protein abundance is rather weak, with a Spearman rank correlation of 0.1 in lung cancer (Li et al., 2014) and 0.22 and 0.28 in two breast cancer cell lines (Geiger et al., 2010). In the latter, only 4.8% and 7.8% of the protein levels could be directly correlated to the corresponding copy number changes. Yet, the few studies and the small sample size of aneuploid cancer proteomics do not allow making general conclusions on the effect of aneuploidy on the proteome. In cancer, the weak correlation in tumors is probably due to the additional aberrations of genes and pathways in cancer that makes the relation of an abnormal karyotype with the proteome much more complex.

5.4.3 Aneuploidy affects genome-wide expression

Aneuploidy does not only lead to changes in transcriptome and proteome of the genes encoded on the extra DNA, but also to extensive genome-wide expression changes (Upender et al., 2004; Torres et al., 2007; Sheltzer et al., 2012; Stingele et al., 2013; Gemoll et al., 2013) reviewed in (Dürrbaum and Storchova, 2015a)). Similarly, about 90-98% of deregulated genes were encoded on the disomic chromosomes in cells derived from trisomy 13 or 18 amniotic fluid samples and trisomy 21 chorionic villus samples (Hervé et al., 2016). It was first observed in aneuploid yeast strains that the

transcriptional changes are similar to a previously identified environmental stress response of yeast (Torres et al., 2007). Therein, differentially expressed genes were associated with RNA processing and ribosomes as well as nucleic acid metabolism and carbohydrate metabolism. Later studies in mammalian aneuploid model cell lines and aneuploid cells from Down syndrome patients indicated that the genome-wide transcriptome deregulation affects common gene ontology pathways (Sheltzer et al., 2012; Stingele et al., 2012; Foijer et al., 2013). A more systematic study revealed that aneuploid cell lines exhibit a similar pathway deregulation independent of the type of the aneuploid chromosome, the cell line or the laboratory in which the cell line or transcriptome data were generated (Dürrbaum et al., 2014). Similar to the response in aneuploid yeast cells, gene annotations associated with DNA and RNA pathways were consistently downregulated, while gene annotations associated with extracellular regions and lysosomes were upregulated. Of note, the expression pattern on single gene level is diverse and overlaps poorly. Thus, while there are similarities in the specific affected pathways, each cell line has different determinants of pathway deregulation.

In summary, large-scale analysis of genome, transcriptome and proteome allow to comprehensively assess the quantitative and qualitative response to aneuploidy on molecule level. Yet, the fact that primary and secondary effects are most likely reflected in the steady state "omics" data makes it difficult to dissect causes and consequences. Particular in cancer studies, multiple other molecular changes and an evolutionary adaptation process to aneuploidy probably mask the primary consequences of aneuploidy. In-depth data analysis and comparison of the aneuploidy response on transcriptome and proteome level might give further insights into the processes altered in aneuploid model cells.

5.5 Physiological consequences of aneuploidy

5.5.1 Aneuploidy affects proliferation and cell metabolism

Most aneuploidies are not compatible with life and account for one third of spontaneous miscarriages in humans (reviewed in (Hassold et al., 2007)). In surviving embryos, aneuploidy is the leading cause of mental retardation and developmental disabilities as seen in individuals with trisomy of chromosome 21. If isolated, induced pluripotent stem cell from Down syndrome fibroblasts have longer doubling times and an increased G1-cell fraction (Li et al., 2012; Jiang et al., 2013). Intriguingly, loss of the aneuploid chromosome results in proliferation improvement compared to the trisomies. This is in line with the observed proliferation defects of cells with extra chromosomes such as in aneuploid fission and budding yeast strains, mouse embryonic fibroblasts and human cell lines (Williams et al., 2008; Torres et al., 2007; Stingele et al., 2012).

What are the underlying mechanisms of the reduced proliferative capacity? As an immediate response to chromosome missegregation during mitosis, the proliferation is limited by p53 pathway activation (Li et al., 2010; Thompson and Compton, 2010; Janssen et al., 2011; Ohashi et al., 2015). Cells in which the SAC is compromised by mutation or depletion of individual SAC components show increased levels of chromosome missegregation followed by nuclear accumulation of p53 (Li et al., 2010). Along these lines, triggering erroneous microtubule-kinetochore attachments via monastrol treatment induces chromosome missegregation and p53 activation (Thompson and Compton, 2010; Janssen et al., 2011). The p53 activation mechanisms remain unclear; on one hand monastrol induced chromosome missegregation correlates with increased number of DNA damage foci and activation of the DNA damage response pathway involving ATM and p53 (Janssen et al., 2011). On the other hand, another study did not detect any signs of DNA damage, but found the p53 activation after chromosome missegregation depended on the p38 stress-response kinase (Thompson and Compton, 2010). Recent work suggests that p53 is activated by differential phosphorylation of histone 3.3 at Serine31 (Hinchcliffe et al., 2016). The authors demonstrated that histone 3.3 phosphorylation marks subsequent genome-wide missegregated chromosomes. The spreading of the phosphorylation signal induces p53. Concordantly, masking the phosphorylation diminishes p53 activation. Activation of the p53 pathway subsequently limits the propagation of cells with missegregated chromosomes. Induction of chromosome missegregation in p53 deficient cells allows accumulation of aneuploid progeny. This is true also in vivo, since p53 null mice with mutations in the SAC component Cdc20 have a higher survival rate than p53 positive mice and show an increased rate of aneuploid cells and thymic lymphoma development (Li et al., 2010). Thus, p53 is the key factor limiting the propagation of aneuploids.

Interestingly, the growth impairment in chronic aneuploid model cell lines seems to be p53 independent, since activation of p53 has not been observed in these cells so far (Tang et al., 2011), our unpublished data)). Characteristic for the slower growth of aneuploid model cell lines is a delay in G1 phase of the cell cycle (Torres et al., 2007; Stingele et al., 2012). More detailed analysis in aneuploid yeast cells revealed that defective G1 cyclin accumulation underlies the prolonged G1 phase, which can be rescued by overexpression of the G1 cyclin CLN2 (Thorburn et al., 2013). Similarly, the global transcriptome analysis of different aneuploid model cell lines indicates a downregulation of cell cycle associated factors (Dürrbaum et al., 2014). However, the exact molecular mechanisms of the growth defect in aneuploid cells remain elusive.

An open question is whether the growth delay is governed by the copy number changes of specific genes encoded on the aneuploid chromosome or whether the cumulative deregulation of gene expression in aneuploid cells affects proliferation. The former might be the case for budding yeast with extra chromosome VI, which survives only at a very low frequency (Campbell et al., 1981; Dutcher, 1981). This lethality was linked to an extra copy of the β -tubulin gene, since an excess of β -tubulin over a-tubulin is not well tolerated (Katz et al., 1990). However, this seems to be rather an exception and the observation that the cell cycle delay of yeast aneuploid cells correlates with the size of the additional chromosome speaks for a cumulative gene expression effect (Thorburn et al., 2013). In support, overexpression of individual genes, previously identified to slow growth at high copy numbers, does not result in marked growth impairment similar as observed in aneuploid yeast cells (Bonney et al., 2015). Only the combined overexpression of highly dosage sensitive genes results in growth impairment. These results suggest that hindered proliferation of aneuploid cell lines is a result of the cumulative effects of aneuploidy.

The addition of extra chromosomes also affects cellular metabolism. For instance, aneuploid mouse embryonic fibroblasts display metabolic alterations such as increased glutamine consumption, ammonium and lactate production, which points to alterations in the energy metabolism (Williams et al., 2008). Aneuploid yeast strains have increased glucose uptake, but less biomass production per glucose molecule (Torres et al., 2007). Whether and how these metabolic alterations are connected to the slow proliferation remains elusive.

Interestingly, under environmental stress conditions aneuploidy confers a growth advantage in comparison to euploidy. Despite growth defects under normal conditions, aneuploid budding yeast strains show a growth advantage under various non-standard conditions such as the tumorigenic compound 4-nitroquinoline-N-oxide (Pavelka et al., 2010). Similarly, colorectal cancer cell lines with an extra chromosome are less sensitive to serum deprivation, hypoxia or cytostaticum 5-fluorouracil and grow slightly better than diploid cells under the same stress conditions (Rutledge et al., 2016). Hence, although the addition of extra chromosomes negatively affects proliferation, under stress conditions that affect the proliferation of wild type cells, aneuploid cells are less sensitive.

In summary, aneuploidy has detrimental effects on cellular growth and alters cellular metabolism. The fact that impaired growth is a shared phenotype of many different aneuploid cells suggests common molecular triggers. Yet, there are remaining open questions: What are the molecular causes of the compromised growth capacity? How is this phenotype linked to the other physiological consequences of aneuploidy in model cells? And is slower growth a mere byproduct of the negative effects of aneuploidy on the cell physiology or is it the cause for the observed phenotypes?

5.5.2 Aneuploidy affects the proteostasis network

Cellular functions strongly rely on a functional balance of the proteome that is described as protein homeostasis, or proteostasis. Proteostasis not only includes regulated protein synthesis and degradation, but also the maintenance of protein stoichiometry and individual protein levels. To preserve proteostasis, multifold pathways and mechanisms have evolved that build a proteostasis network. Involved are the three major mechanisms

of protein synthesis, protein folding and protein degradation for clearance of misfolded or dispensable proteins (Figure 4). Disturbance of proteostasis has been linked to aging (reviewed in (Taylor and Dillin, 2011; Labbadia and Morimoto, 2015)) and neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer 's disease, which in characteristic protein aggregates accumulate (reviewed in (Soto and Estrada, 2008)).

There are several lines of evidence that aneuploidy results in proteotoxic stress, a state where the cellular proteostasis is impaired. First, aneuploid cells are sensitive to impairment the first of step of proteostasis, the protein synthesis machinery. Inhibition of protein synthesis by cycloheximide, hygromycin, radicicol or rapamycin treatment impairs proliferation in aneuploid yeast strains stronger than in euploid cells (Oromendia et al., 2012; Pavelka et al., 2010; Torres et



Figure 4. The proteostasis network. Protein homeostasis is achieved by balanced protein synthesis, efficient protein folding and degradation of protein products. Medium and large proteins undergo chaperone-assisted folding. Misfolded or insoluble proteins aggregate. Protein aggregates are cleared either by autophagy or the ubiquitin/ proteasome system.

al., 2007). Second, aneuploidy renders cells susceptible to functional impairment of the protein quality control. Protein quality control has a central function in the proteostasis network, as chaperone-assisted folding of newly synthesized proteins into their functional 3-dimensional shape, assembly of multiprotein complexes and reversion of protein misfolding or aggregation are crucial for proteostasis (reviewed in (Hartl et al., 2011; Balchin et al., 2016)). Inhibition of HSP90 by 17-AAG leads to higher cell death rate in aneuploid mouse embryonic fibroblasts than in the diploid control cells (Tang et al., 2011). Moreover, this sensitivity seems to be dependent on aneuploidy as highly aneuploid cancer cell lines exhibit a greater sensitivity to HSP90 activity using a sensor based on the human tyrosine kinase Src in aneuploid yeast cells revealed reduced protein folding capacity (Oromendia et al., 2012). Similar impairment of the protein

folding capacity was observed in aneuploid human cell lines (Donnelly et al., 2014). Third, accumulation of HSP104 positive inclusions and ubiquitin-positive foci were detected in aneuploid yeasts (Oromendia et al., 2012) and in human aneuploid cell lines (Stingele et al., 2012). While these inclusions reflect compromised proteostasis in aneuploid cells, the exact source is not clear. Aneuploid yeast cells challenged with aggregation prone von-Hippel-Lindau protein (VHL) show a higher percentage of protein aggregates than the haploid control strains, indicating a defect in proteosomal clearance of protein aggregates (Oromendia et al., 2012). Conversely, increased autophagy factor levels and the co-localization of ubiquitin-positive inclusions with the cytosolic receptor for selected autophagy p62 (SQSTM1) indicate that autophagy is activated to facilitate clearance of the protein aggregates in aneuploid human cells (Stingele et al., 2013). Similarly, activation of autophagy was detected in breast epithelial cell lines with extra chromosomes (Ariyoshi et al., 2016). In addition, aneuploidy induced by impairment of SAC components leads to ER expansion and increased lysosome and aggresome formation, indicating increased autophagy (Ohashi et al., 2015).

In summary, aneuploid cells exhibit multiple features of proteotoxic stress, which go in hand with an increased sensitivity to stresses that affect protein homeostasis such as protein translation inhibition, protein quality control inhibition as well as to heat shock stress (Donnelly and Storchova, 2015). It is important to note that it is difficult to dissect the causes from consequences of proteotoxic stress. As little as 0.1% of misfolded proteins can impair the overall protein quality control and the fitness as demonstrated in yeast (Geiler-Samerotte et al., 2011). Therefore, it is likely that already initial low levels of misfolded proteins in aneuploid cells trigger multifold secondary changes in the proteostasis network. Moreover, misfolded proteins and unstable subunits of molecular complexes may titrate away components of the protein folding machinery, thus causing even more misfolded proteins in a self-promoting cycle. For instance, in C. elegans the toxicity of misfolded, aggregated mutant proteins was increased in a background in which destabilized polymorphic proteins compete for the protein folding machinery (Gidalevitz et al., 2009). Although it seems clear that the proteostasis network in aneuploid cells is compromised, many open questions remain to be addressed: What is the primary cause of impaired proteostasis? What is the underlying cause of the protein folding defect? And how does this affect or relate to other observed phenotypes of aneuploid cells?

5.6 Consequences of whole-genome doubling

Doubling of the whole-genome presents an alternative route to aneuploidy in cancer (see chapter 5.2). Proliferating tetraploid cells appear to be chromosomally unstable (Fujiwara et al., 2005; Storchova et al., 2006) and evolve to a variable aneuploidy, mostly to near-triploidy and near-tetraploidy (Davoli and de Lange, 2012; Lv et al., 2014; Kuznetsova et al., 2015). Yet, survival of tetraploid cells is largely p53 dependent and only abrogation of p53- or Rb- signaling allows further proliferation (Lanni and Jacks, 1998; Andreassen et al., 2001; Castedo et al., 2006; Ganem et al., 2009; Kuffer et al., 2013).

p53 activation in tetraploid cells has been attributed to different cues. For example, altered centrosome numbers affecting the spindle geometry and centrosome integrity was suggested to activate the p38/MAPK pathway, which activates p53 (Vitale et al., 2008). In an alternative scenario, erroneous bipolar or multipolar mitosis in tetraploid cells results in p53 activation. Indeed, cytokinesis failure induced tetraploid cells to undergo multipolar mitosis or erroneous bipolar mitosis and subsequently arrest or die upon p53 activation (Kuffer et al., 2013). Lagging chromosomes emerging from aberrant mitosis can be damaged during cytokinesis (Janssen et al., 2011) or through merotelic attachments (Guerrero et al., 2010). These might in turn activate DNA damage signaling and lead to downstream p53 activation. However, DNA damage could not be observed after multipolar or bipolar mitosis with p53 accumulation (Kuffer et al., 2013). Instead, markers for oxidative DNA damage coincided with p53 activation. Chromosome missegregation induces oxidative stress and activation of the ATM-CHK2 pathway in diploid cells (Li et al., 2010). Therefore, oxidative stress from abnormal mitosis can be one activator of p53.

Apart from p53, other regulators of the tetraploid cell cycle arrest were identified in an unbiased RNAi screen (Ganem et al., 2014). This method identified the kinase LATS2, a core component of the Hippo pathway. Further experiments revealed that LATS2 interacts with MDM2 that targets p53 for destruction, thereby stabilizing p53. This response depends on RAC1 activation and RHOA reduction, vice versa RAC1 inhibition or RHOA activation diminished Hippo pathway signaling. A possible upstream trigger might be the increased centrosome mass, since increased microtubule dynamics stimulates RAC1 activity (Waterman-Storer et al., 1999; Godinho and Pellman, 2014).

Mutations in p53 are common in cancer, which enables bypassing the proliferative limit of tetraploid cells. Yet, the exact molecular cues for post-tetraploid cell survival are not clear. What is the fate of rare survivors and what are the long-term effects of whole-genome doubling? Scant data is available, which suggests that evolved tetraploid cells show higher tolerance to CIN by providing karyotypic heterogeneity for further evolution (Dewhurst et al., 2014). In our current study we analyzed the evolutionary fate of post-tetraploid human cells and its association with p53 signaling suppression (Kuznetsova et al., 2015).

5.7 miRNAs – a new "omics" layer

The complex network that regulates gene expression and thereby cellular phenotypes has been recently extended by the discovery of its regulation via small RNA molecules, so called miRNAs. To date, 1881 miRNAs are identified in humans (mirbase release June 2014 http://www.mirbase.org/) and over 60% of protein coding genes are predicted to be regulated by miRNAs (Friedman et al., 2009). The first discovered miRNA negatively regulates translation of the lin-14 gene by complementary base paring in the 3'UTR, thereby controlling cell differentiation in *C. elegans* (Lee et al., 1993; Wightman et al., 1993). Since the general regulatory function of this new class of RNAs was recognized in 2001 (Lagos-Quintana et al., 2001; Lee and Ambros, 2001), the discovery of new miRNAs, their function and their association with various diseases grew exponentially according to the PubMed statistics. Whether and how miRNAs functions in the context of aneuploidy *per se* has not been studied so far.

5.7.1 Biogenesis and function of miRNAs

miRNA biogenesis

The genomic locations of miRNAs are equally distributed between intergenic or intragenic regions. That is, miRNAs are encoded between two protein-coding genes or within a protein-coding gene, respectively (Hinske et al., 2010) (Figure 5). Most intragenic miRNAs are encoded within the intron, only about 5% are exonic. While intergenic miRNAs have their independent promoter, intragenic miRNAs can either be transcribed with the host gene promoter or from an independent intergenic or from an upstream intronic promoter (Monteys et al., 2010; Ozsolak et al., 2008). Some intragenic miRNAs



show correlative expression with their host genes (Rodriguez et al., 2004). Similarly, miRNAs clustering in close proximity to each other are generally co-transcribed, as for example the deeply conserved clusters mir-100, let-7 and mir-125 (Altuvia, 2005). However, this is not always the case, supposedly because of independent

Figure 5. The miRNA biogenesis pathway. miRNAs are encoded within a gene (intragenic) or between two genes (intergenic). Intragenic mir genes lie either within the exon sequence (exonic) or intron sequence (intronic). Drosha cleaves the transcribed pri-miRNA into the pre-miRNA. Pre-miRNAs are exported to the cytoplasm by Exportin-5 and further processed by Dicer into a miRNA:miRNA duplexes. The guide strand is then incorporated into the RISC. Complementary binding to the target mRNA leads to translational repression and/or mRNA decay.

transcriptional regulation or alternative splicing (Monteys et al., 2010; Ramalingam et al., 2013). The majority of miRNAs are transcribed by RNA Polymerase II that generates a capped and polyadenylated primary miRNA (pri-miRNA). In addition, transcription by RNA Polymerase III was reported for a subset of miRNAs (Borchert et al., 2006; Ozsolak et al., 2008). The pri-miRNA is subsequently processed by the RNA III-type endonuclease Drosha with its essential co-factor DiGeorge Syndrome Critical Region 8, DGCR8 (reviewed in (Ha and Kim, 2014)). Intronic miRNA processing may occur after the incorporation into the spliceosome complex, but before splicing catalysis, thus not affecting the host gene transcription (Kim and Kim, 2007). Yet, alternative pathways have been suggested, such as splicing-mediated miRNA biogenesis that bypasses the Drosha processing (Berezikov et al., 2007; Westholm and Lai, 2011). Following preprocessing, precursor miRNAs (pre-miRNA) are exported to the cytoplasm by Exportin-5 and subsequently processed into their mature form. This is mediated by RNA III-type endonuclease Dicer that binds either the 5' and/or 3' overhang and cleaves a 22nt long RNA duplex (Park et al., 2011). The RNA duplex is then loaded onto the Argonaute protein (AGO), thus forming the pre-RNA-inducing silencing complex, which matures by unwinding of the RNA duplex and removal of the passenger strand. A member of the HSP70 family, HSPA8, together with HSP90 mediates the conformational change of AGO proteins in an ATP-dependent manner to facilitate its binding of the RNA duplex in Drosophila (Iwasaki et al., 2010). This is interesting given the reduced heat shock protein levels in human aneuploid model cell lines (see chapter 5.5.2). Within the mature RNAinducing silencing complex (RISC), the mature single-stranded miRNA guides the complex to target mRNAs, where complementary sequence binding elicits miRNA function.

miRNA functional mechanism

There are two possible mechanisms how miRNAs affect gene expression (reviewed in (Iwakawa and Tomari, 2015)). First, stringent complementary binding to the target mRNA results in mRNA decay. Second, partial base pairing promotes translational repression of the target mRNA. miRNAs target mRNAs via a 5'end 7-8 nt long seed region and partial complementary positions of the 3' end (John et al., 2004; Lewis et al., 2005; Saito and Sã Trom, 2010). Whereas it has been accepted for a long time that miRNAs recognize the 3'UTR of a target mRNA, miRNA binding sites in the coding region and 5'UTR have been identified in the past years (Schnall-Levin et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2009; Hafner et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2013).

Target mRNA decay is mediated by recruitment of the deadenylase complexes to the RISC. Therein, the protein GW182 interacts with AGO and serves as an essential hub for the deadenylating protein complexes CCR4-NOT and PAN2-PAN3, as well as the poly(A)-binding protein PABP (Zekri et al., 2009; Braun et al., 2013; 2011; Fabian et al., 2011). Subsequent to deadenylation, the 5'cap structure of the mRNA is removed by the catalytic subunit of the decapping complex DCP2 and the decapping activators DCP1, RCK/p53/DDX6, which are recruited onto the CCR4-NOT complex (Nishimura et al., 2015). The final step in mRNA decay is the exonucleolytic mRNA degradation by the exoribonuclease 1, XRN1 (Braun et al., 2012). Translational repression of target mRNA is less well understood. Several mechanisms have been proposed, but recent evidence indicates that miRNAs inhibit cap-dependent translation at the initiation step. Translation initiation is mediated by the interaction of the poly(A)-binding protein PABP and the 5'-cap bound eukaryotic translation-initiation factor 4G, eIF4G, which results in the formation of a circular mRNA (Derry et al., 2006). Displacement of PABP by GW182 was suggested to disrupt the mRNA circularization, thereby preventing mRNA translation (Zekri et al., 2013; Iwakawa and Tomari, 2015). Another suggested mechanism includes dissociation of the RNA helicase eIF4A subunits from the translation initiation complex ((Fukao et al., 2014), reviewed in (Fukao et al., 2015; Iwakawa and Tomari, 2015)). Yet, the detailed molecular mechanism remains to be clarified in the future.

A longstanding debate in the field concerns the relative contribution of mRNA decay and translational repression to the miRNA-dependent post-transcriptional regulation (Guo et al., 2010; Huntzinger and Izaurralde, 2011; Hu and Coller, 2012; Eichhorn et al., 2014). Quantitative approaches comparing gene and protein expression after deletion of specific miRNAs revealed that target mRNA and protein levels are changed, although for a subset of targets only proteins were affected with little or no change on mRNA level (Baek et al., 2008; Selbach et al., 2008). Another approach uses polysome profiling and ribosome profiling for determination of the mRNA translation efficiency. Comparison of the target translation efficiency with total mRNA and protein levels demonstrated that mRNA decay explains the majority of the target repression, whereas translational repression contributes only with 10-25% to the overall repression activity (Hendrickson et al., 2009; Guo et al., 2010). Kinetic studies of translational repression and mRNA decay of a reporter mRNA revealed that translational repression precedes mRNA decay (Djuranovic et al., 2012). Extended studies on the mRNA decay dynamics in various mammalian cell types showed that translational repression occurs fast, but only with a weak repression effect (Eichhorn et al., 2014). By the time translational repression shows its effect, mRNA degradation is dominating the miRNA-mediated repression effect. Thus, miRNA-target interaction results mainly in mRNA decay. Of note, the effects of miRNAs on a specific target are seldom the result of a one-to-one interaction, but rather reflect the cumulative effect of the entire miRNAome. Hence, one miRNA not only targets multiple genes, but also one gene is targeted by multiple miRNAs (Zhou et al., 2013). Synergistic miRNA repression of specific targets was shown in gastric cancer (Hashimoto et al., 2013). Moreover, competing endogenous RNAs can act as sponges and titrate miRNAs away from their targets, for instance, HMGA2 competes for the let-7 family in lung cancer (Kumar et al., 2013). Therefore, a profiling of the complete set of miRNAs in a cell, the miRNAome, is essential to fully understand the function of miRNAs in the biological context.

5.7.2 Association of miRNAs with aneuploidy in cancer

The miRNAome is tissue specific and its function was associated with a variety of essential cellular processes such as cell proliferation or cell death (Lagos-Quintana et al., 2002; Landgraf et al., 2007; Hwang and Mendell, 2006). Thus, it is not surprising that miRNA deregulation is associated with complex diseases such as cancer (Calin and Croce, 2006; Dalmay and Edwards, 2006). Accelerated by advanced sequencing methods, cancer

specific miRNA expression profiles and oncogenic as well as tumor suppressive miRNAs have been identified (for example (Akao et al., 2006; Dvinge et al., 2013; Schee et al., 2013; Busch et al., 2016)). Deregulation of miRNAs occurs at different steps of miRNA biogenesis and stems from multiple sources. For instance, transcriptional regulation of the factors involved in pri-miRNA processing, nuclear export or pre-miRNA processing as well as a hypoxia activated stress response may affect miRNA maturation (reviewed in (Lin and Gregory, 2015)). Further, epigenetic regulations, transcription factor activity or genetic alterations can regulate the expression of a miRNA itself.

Genomic alterations were associated with the deregulation of miRNA expression in a number of cancer studies. Frequent loss of genomic region 13q14 was associated with downregulation of mir-15a and mir-16a in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (Calin et al., 2002). Similarly, systematic analysis demonstrated an association of let-7 family downregulation with the copy number changes and focal deletions in medulloblastoma, breast and ovarian cancer (Wang et al., 2012). Not only small genomic alterations, but also the gain of an extra chromosome arm, such as 1q in cervical cancer, have been related to altered miRNA expression (Wilting et al., 2012). Genome-wide analyses of regions encoding for miRNAs show a high frequency of copy number abnormalities in ovarian cancer, breast cancer, melanoma and lung cancer (Zhang et al., 2006; Czubak et al., 2015). These results suggest that the alteration of miRNA expression originates from segmental or structural aneuploidy at least in some cancers. Mapping miRNAs to the human genome revealed that about 50% map to common fragile sites and cancer-associated genomic regions, which are regions with common breakpoints, frequent loss of heterozygosity or amplifications (Calin et al., 2004). These sites are associated with GIN in cancer, thus suggesting that miRNA deregulation due to genomic alterations might be the result of ongoing GIN in cancer. Two studies report no correlation between the copy number status and miRNA expression in haematopoetic cancer and acute myeloid leukemia (Ramsingh et al., 2013; Veigaard and Kjeldsen, 2014). This indicates that genomic copy number alterations might be just one of multiple causes of miRNA deregulation in cancer.

Another association of aneuploidy and miRNAs in cancer might lie in the influence of miRNAs on GIN and CIN. For example, overexpression of miR-28-5p leads to the reduction of MAD2 levels, thus affecting the mitotic checkpoint and ultimately promoting CIN in four different human cell lines, among them a human colorectal cancer cell line (Hell et al., 2014). Conversely, inhibition of miR-28-5p restored chromosomal stability in renal carcinoma cells and an *in vivo* mouse model. In another study, deletion of a specific miRNA subset correlates with the occurrence of chromosomal aberrations across ovarian tumor samples (Choi et al., 2014): miR-1255b, miR-148b*, and miR-193b* specifically repress homologous recombination in G1 phase, thereby maintaining the balance between homologous recombination and non-homologous end joining. Depletion of these miRNAs was suggested to allow homologous recombination in G1, leading to mitotic recombination and loss of heterozygosity.

In summary, miRNA deregulation can result from segmental and structural aneuploidy in cancer. In turn, miRNAs might promote GIN and CIN in some cases. The detrimental effects of aneuploidy on proliferation in model systems may be largely attributed to the gene dosage effects (see chapter 5.5.1). However, cancer cells are characterized by sustained growth, hence they have seemingly overcome the adverse effects of aneuploidy (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). An intriguing possibility is that miRNAs might play a role in this adaptation process, for example by regulating the expression of dosage sensitive genes. A recent study suggests that miRNAs more frequently target dosage sensitive genes (Li et al., 2015). In this case, an integration of miRNA expression, target gene expression and copy number alterations revealed that miRNAs target amplified genes, thereby regulating their expression to normal levels in breast cancer, glioblastoma and ovarian cancer samples. miRNA-mediated alleviation of the consequences of copy number changes might be favored not only because of the dosage sensitivity of the repressed genes, but also to avoid negative effects on the proteostasis network. Thus, miRNA expression in cancer might contribute to the adaptation of cancer to the consequences of gene copy number alterations. However, the causal association of aneuploidy and miRNAs has not been studied in detail so far. In the cancer context, the complex molecular and genomic alterations diminish our chances to clearly map the link between aneuploidy and miRNA expression. Investigation of the miRNAome of different human aneuploid model cell lines in comparison to their diploid counterpart might help us to understand whether and how the miRNAome affects the cellular response to aneuploidy.

6 Results

6.1 Unique features of the transcriptional response to model aneuploidy in human cells

Dürrbaum M, Kuznetsova AY, Passerini V, Stingele S, Stoehr G, Storchová Z. Unique features of the transcriptional response to model aneuploidy in human cells. BMC Genomics 2014 Feb 18; 15 (1), 1–14.

In this study we systematically investigated the effect of aneuploidy on the transcriptome in different human cell lines. Aneuploidy affects multiple different chromosomes either in form of whole-chromosome aneuploidy or as a complex aneuploidy with additional variable genomic aberrations and may originate from different sources. Compelling evidence from budding yeast suggests that the consequences of aneuploidy are caused by the cumulative changes in gene expression levels *per se* (Bonney et al., 2015; Thorburn et al., 2013; Torres et al., 2007). However, the transcriptional landscape of aneuploid human cells and their relation to known phenotypic consequences have not been comprehensively studied. Therefore, we analyzed the transcriptome of human aneuploid model cell lines of different types and origin.

We found a common transcriptional response despite the different identity of the aneuploid chromosomes and variable cell types. The common response is characterized by the deregulation of similar pathways, in particular the up-regulation of categories associated with the endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi apparatus, lysosomes and vacuoles, membrane metabolism and MHC protein complex as well as antigen processing. Commonly downregulated annotation categories include DNA replication, DNA repair, transcription or RNA splicing. Moreover, this aneuploidy response pattern is similar in cell lines with complex aneuploidy that were derived from a tetraploid intermediate. Whereas common stress responses differ from the aneuploidy response pattern, the transcriptional changes due to impaired translation and autophagy partially resemble the aneuploid transcriptome changes. Despite similar pathway deregulation in all aneuploids, the genes that contribute to the overall deregulation differ between the aneuploid cell lines. Only 23 genes show a similar deregulation in all aneuploid cell lines; several of these genes were previously linked to cancer.

The identified common transcriptional response to aneuploidy indicates that the characteristic phenotypic consequences of aneuploidy such as impaired proliferation and activation of autophagy may originate from a similar transcriptional program. Aneuploidy in cancer is usually complex, affecting multiple different genomic regions. A common transcriptional response to aneuploidy in model cell lines might help to better understand the adaptations to the aneuploid karyotype in cancer, which most likely results in an evolved transcriptional response. Further, the 23 similarly deregulated genes might serves as markers for aneuploidy to assess tumor malignancy.

RESEARCH ARTICLE



Open Access

Unique features of the transcriptional response to model aneuploidy in human cells

Milena Dürrbaum^{1,3}, Anastasia Yurievna Kuznetsova¹, Verena Passerini¹, Silvia Stingele¹, Gabriele Stoehr^{2,4} and Zuzana Storchová^{1,3*}

Abstract

Background: Aneuploidy, a karyotype deviating from multiples of a haploid chromosome set, affects the physiology of eukaryotes. In humans, aneuploidy is linked to pathological defects such as developmental abnormalities, mental retardation or cancer, but the underlying mechanisms remain elusive. There are many different types and origins of aneuploidy, but whether there is a uniform cellular response to aneuploidy in human cells has not been addressed so far.

Results: Here we evaluate the transcription profiles of eleven trisomic and tetrasomic cell lines and two cell lines with complex aneuploid karyotypes. We identify a characteristic aneuploidy response pattern defined by upregulation of genes linked to endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi apparatus and lysosomes, and downregulation of DNA replication, transcription as well as ribosomes. Strikingly, complex aneuploidy elicits the same transcriptional changes as trisomy. To uncover the triggers of the response, we compared the profiles with transcription changes in human cells subjected to stress conditions. Interestingly, we found an overlap only with the response to treatment with the autophagy inhibitor bafilomycin A1. Finally, we identified 23 genes whose expression is significantly altered in all aneuploids and which may thus serve as aneuploidy markers.

Conclusions: Our analysis shows that despite the variability in chromosome content, aneuploidy triggers uniform transcriptional response in human cells. A common response independent of the type of aneuploidy might be exploited as a novel target for cancer therapy. Moreover, the potential aneuploidy markers identified in our analysis might represent novel biomarkers to assess the malignant potential of a tumor.

Background

Aneuploidy, or a change in cellular chromosome numbers, has profound effects on the physiology of all eukaryotic cells analyzed to date [1]. Aneuploid yeasts are characterized by slow growth, altered sensitivity to various stresses and increased genomic instability [2-4]. At the same time, aneuploidy drives genetic variability and cellular adaptation capacity in yeast [5,6]. Plants are in general more tolerant to gene dosage changes, yet aneuploidy often impairs their vigour and alters their phenotype [7]. Aneuploid mammals are rarely viable and the sporadic survivors are affected on multiple levels. In humans, aneuploidy is responsible for a substantial proportion

* Correspondence: storchov@biochem.mpg.de

¹Group Maintenance of Genome Stability, Max Planck Institute of

Biochemistry, Am Klopferspitz 18, Martinsried 82152, Germany

of spontaneous abortions and the rare survivors with trisomy of chromosome 13, 18 and 21 (Patau, Edward and Down syndrome, respectively) are severely handicapped; only trisomy 21 is compatible with survival until adulthood [8]. Aneuploidy is also linked to cancer, as nearly 90% of solid tumors and 75% of hematopoietic cancers show abnormal chromosome dosage [9]. Recently it has been shown that the occurrence of aneuploid cells increases with aging [10] and an increased incidence of aneuploidy in the brain has been linked to neurodegenerative diseases [11].

The exact mechanisms underlying the detrimental effects of an euploidy remain unclear, but it has been convincingly shown that they are caused by the expression of the extra genes on the supernumerary chromosome [3]. In most an euploid cells the chromosome dosage changes lead to correlating changes in mRNA (e.g. [3,12-15]) as well as on protein levels [6,15,16]. These analyses further



© 2014 Dürrbaum et al.; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly credited. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

³Center for Integrated Protein Science Munich, Ludwig-Maximilian-University Munich, Munich 80336, Germany

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

revealed that besides the increased abundance of transcripts and proteins originating from the aneuploid chromosome, the expression of multiple other genes is altered as well [3,13,15,17]. This is likely a consequence of two different phenomena. First, an increase in gene copy number of a transcription factor or other regulatory factor might affect transcription levels of genes on other chromosomes [18]. Second, specific pathways might be activated in a cellular response to aneuploidy. Recent attempts to uncover the consequences of aneuploidy suggest that aneuploidy indeed instigates a specific response in eukaryotic cells [3,15,19]. Haploid yeast strains carrying an additional chromosome (hereafter referred to as disomes) exhibit a common transcriptional signature that has been previously identified in budding yeast as a so called environmental stress response that is triggered upon various exogenous stresses, such as oxidative stress, heat shock or slow growth [3,20]. A similar response was identified in a study comparing transcriptome data from disomic and complex aneuploid strains of budding yeast, partial aneuploids of fission yeast, aneuploid Arabidopsis thaliana plant cells, mouse cell lines with Robertsonian translocations that lead to trisomies, and human cells from patients with trisomy syndromes [19]. Additionally, comparative transcriptomics and proteomics of model human trisomic and tetrasomic cells identified a common pattern in the transcriptional response to aneuploidy [15]. These studies pointed out similarities in the response to aneuploidy in most eukaryotes. At the same time, the results showed that the response in mammalian cells diverges from the response in other model organisms, because the correlation of the transcription changes in aneuploid mammalian cells with transcriptional changes in other aneuploid species is rather modest [19]. Moreover, as there is no equivalent of the environmental stress response identified so far in mammalian cells, it remains unclear what triggers the transcriptional changes.

To obtain a comprehensive insight into the changes specific for human cells, we evaluated in detail multiple tri- and tetrasomic cell lines as well as model complex aneuploid human cell lines with hypotetraploid karyotypes more similar to cancer cells. Remarkably, we found that the cellular responses to complex multichromosomal aneuploidy and trisomy or tetrasomy of one single chromosome closely correlate. As the identified pathway pattern resembles the cellular stress response, we compared the aneuploidy response to the transcriptional changes in human cells subjected to various stress conditions. Additionally, we have also identified 18 genes that were upregulated and 5 genes downregulated in all analyzed aneuploid cell lines and might thus serve as markers of aneuploidy. This is the first study which compares a variety of different human cell lines with aneuploidy of different types and origins. By uncovering a uniform aneuploidy response pattern our results outline the cellular consequences of an abnormal karyotype in human cells.

Results

Common cellular response to trisomy and tetrasomy in human cell lines

Recently, we established *de novo* human aneuploid cell lines that were derived from diploid and chromosomally stable cells by a micronuclei-mediated chromosome transfer [15]. We performed transcriptional analysis of the original diploid cell lines and their trisomic and tetrasomic derivatives (HCT116: trisomy of chromosome 3 - 3/3; tetrasomy of chromosome 5 - 5/4; RPE1: trisomy of chromosome 5 and 12 - 5/3 12/3, trisomy of chromosome 21 - 21/3, see Methods for further details) and calculated the aneuploid-to-diploid fold change for all detected mRNAs. Similarly, we calculated the relative aneuploidto-diploid ratio to determine the transcriptional changes in trisomic human cells lines generated from the diploid colorectal adenocarcinoma cell line DLD1 by introduction of an extra copy of chromosome 3, 7 or 13 [13]. To identify the similarities and differences among the transcriptional profiles of the model aneuploid cell lines in response to aneuploidy, we used an algorithm called 2-dimensional annotation analysis that quantifies the relative up- and downregulation of cellular pathways. Hereby, abundance changes of all factors assigned to each pathway are compared to the overall abundance distribution and relative values are calculated [21]. Additionally, significantly up- and downregulated pathways were validated by the annotation enrichment tool DAVID, which employs a different algorithm for the analysis (data not shown) [22]. As expected, pathways altered and enriched in the 2-dimensional annotation analysis were also identified as enriched by DAVID in all cell lines.

Our analysis identified a specific pattern of pathways that are altered in all compared model trisomic and tetrasomic cell lines (Table 1). Among the most upregulated categories we identified the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), Golgi apparatus, lysosomes and vacuoles, membrane metabolism and the MHC protein complex and antigen processing. In contrast, DNA and RNA metabolic pathways - e.g. DNA replication, repair, transcription or RNA splicing - were significantly downregulated (Figure 1A, Additional file 1: Figure S1A). Remarkably, although similar pathways are up- and downregulated in all aneuploid cell lines, we noticed that the specific factors that significantly contribute to the differentiated regulation are variable. For example, the members of the proton oligopeptide cotransporter family SCL15 (Gene Ontology Cellular Component "membrane, lysosome, lytic vacuole") show variable expression levels in the analyzed aneuploid cell lines: SLC15A3 is upregulated in all of the HCT116 derived aneuploid cell lines, but not in the RPE1 derived

	Replication	Transcription	Ribosome	Golgi	ER	Lysosomes	Membrane metabolism	Vacuole	Mitochondria	Spliceosome	MHC class proteins
HCT116 5/4	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	+
HCT116 3/3	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	
HCT116 5/4*	-	-	-	+	+	+	(+)	+	-	/	+
HPT1	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	/	-	+
HPT2	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+
RPE1 12/3 5/3	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
RPE1 21/3*	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	+
DLD1 3/3	-	-	-	+	/	/	+	+	-	-	/
DLD1 7/3	-	-	/	/	/	/	/	+	/	-	/
DLD1 13/3	-	-	-	+	/	/	+	+	-	-	/
HE35 8/3_1	+/-	-	-	-	- /	/	+/-	/	+	+	/
HE35 8/3_2	-	-	-	+	+	/	+/-	/	+/-	+	+
HE35 8/3_3	-	-/+	-	+	+	+	+/-	+	(+)	+	/

Table 1 Pathway classes recurrently and significantly altered in aneuploid cell lines

Asterisks indicate the cell lines expressing H2B-GFP.

/ = annotation not significantly altered.

+= annotation category upregulated. - = annotation category downregulated.

- – annotation category downlegulated.

aneuploid cell lines, whereas SLC15A4 is upregulated only in HCT116 H2B-GFP 5/4 and SLC15A1 is upregulated in three out of seven aneuploid cell lines derived from HCT116 and RPE1 (Additional file 2: Table S1).

Interestingly, DLD1 with trisomy of chromosome 7 shows only partial overlap with the other aneuploid cell lines: pathways related to splicing and to DNA and RNA metabolism were similarly downregulated, and vacuole was upregulated, whereas additional changes in the transcription profile differed from the other trisomic and tetrasomic cell lines (Additional file 1: Figure S1B, Table 1). We also determined the response to aneuploidy in three clones with trisomy of chromosome 8 (here labeled as HE35 8/3_1, 2, and 3) derived from human primary embryonic fibroblasts HE35 by microcell-mediated chromosome transfer [17]. Using the 2-D annotation analysis algorithm, we observed similar changes in pathway regulations in the HE35-derived trisomies as in the other tri- and tetrasomic cell lines (Figure 1B, Additional file 1: Figure S1C, Table 1). Taken together, the results indicate that all the analyzed human cells with de novo created trisomies and tetrasomies elicit a nearly identical pattern of pathway changes regardless of the identity of the supernumerary chromosome and the cell line.

Complex aneuploidy triggers the same pathway changes as low-complexity aneuploidy

Next, we asked whether similar pattern of changes in gene expression could be observed in cells with complex aneuploidy. This type of karyotypic changes might more closely resemble the situation observed in tumors that often harbor multiple changes in chromosome numbers and structures, including deletions, translocations and amplifications [23]. To this end, we used cell lines derived from HCT116 that underwent a transient tetraploidy induced by cytokinesis failure (Figure 2A). As tetraploidy leads to catastrophic mitosis and chromosomal instability, the majority of cells die soon after the tetraploidization [9,24], and the chromosome numbers of the few survivors are remarkably altered (Figure 2B). We analyzed the transcriptional changes identified in two clonal survivors, cell lines HPT1 and HPT2, by calculating the fold change of the transcripts in comparison to the original HCT116. This first global analysis of the transcriptional response in human cells with model complex aneuploidy reproduced the pattern of pathway changes observed in the tri- and tetrasomic cell lines (Figure 2C,D, Additional file 1: Figure S1D, E, Table 1, Additional file 3). Importantly, the duration of the cell cycle of the complex aneuploid cell lines is indistinguishable from diploids (Additional file 1: Figure S2). Previously, it has been proposed that the transcriptional changes identified in aneuploid cells are caused by the slow growth, which is typical for model trisomic cell lines [3,14,15]. Thus, our finding indicates that the response to aneuploidy in mammalian cells is not always associated with a slower progression through the cell cycle, and thereby the slower proliferation cannot be the only cause of the identified transcriptional changes.

Distance matrix of the Spearman rank correlation of all analyzed cell lines confirmed the high similarity among the transcriptional changes triggered by an euploidy



(Figure 2E). We call the identified common pattern of transcriptional changes the Aneuploidy Response Pattern (ARP). Our results demonstrate that trisomy can serve as a valuable model for analysis of complex aneuploidy. Moreover, the identification of ARP suggests that chromosomal imbalance itself might be exploited as a novel target

for cancer therapy regardless the type of an uploidy and the mechanism by which it was generated.

Comparison of the aneuploidy response pattern with transcriptional responses to stress stimuli

What triggers the specific transcriptional response to aneuploidy in human cells? Current analysis in budding yeast suggests that mutations interfering with cell proliferation result in similar gene expression changes as aneuploidy [19]. Alternatively, the transcription changes may be triggered by cellular stress caused by the presence of an extra chromosome. Thus, we asked whether there are stress stimuli that trigger reprogramming of gene expression similar to the ARP. To this end, we compared the transcription profiles of HCT116 cells exposed to sub-lethal concentrations of hydrogen peroxide, nitric oxide, hydroxyurea, actinomycin D and bafilomycin A1, or grown under hypoxic conditions as well as in medium with either low or high glucose (for further details see Methods). Strikingly, the majority of the stressors triggered pathway changes that are remarkably different from the ARP (Figure 3A, Additional file 1: Figure S3). In contrast, we observed a partial similarity between the ARP and the transcriptional changes in HCT116 treated with actinomycin D, a polypeptide antibiotic that inhibits the activity of RNA polymerases (Figure 3B,D). The 2-D annotation analysis revealed that treatment with actinomycin results in downregulation of DNA- and RNA- metabolism as well as in upregulation of ER, membrane metabolism and lysosome. This might indicate that the downregulation of DNA- and RNA metabolism in aneuploid cell lines is due to transcriptional inhibition and its consequences. However, the overlap includes only a few genes with a low Spearman correlation coefficient and thus the distance of the Spearman rank correlation is higher compared to the distances between the aneuploid cell lines (Figure 3D). Remarkably, treatment with bafilomycin A1 that inhibits vacuolar-ATPases showed transcriptional changes nearly identical to the ARP (Figure 3C,D). Bafilomycin A1 impairs vesicle fusion [25] and thus inhibits the final steps of autophagy due to the failure of autophagosome-lysosome fusion. As in aneuploids, the transcriptional changes include downregulation of DNA and RNA metabolism, whereas membrane associated annotations are upregulated. In contrast, treatment with bafilomycin does not lead to upregulation of ER, Golgi or lysosomal pathways (Figure 3C). The similarity with transcriptional effects of autophagy-inhibiting drug suggests that one of the main consequences of aneuploidy in human cells is the overload of the autophagic pathway. Taken together, our findings imply that the transcriptional changes in response to aneuploidy differ from most of the common stress responses, but show shared





features with response to conditions limiting autophagy and transcription.

Markers of aneuploidy

Our results imply the existence of factors with recurrent expression changes triggered by aneuploidy that might serve as general markers of aneuploidy in human cells. To identify genes that are consistently up or downregulated in aneuploid cells, we merged all available datasets of aneuploid cell lines created in our laboratory. This yielded 18 genes whose expression is more than 1.4 fold increased and 5 genes whose expression is more than 1.4 fold decreased in all analyzed aneuploids (Figure 4, Table 2). The changes in mRNA levels are consistent with proteomics measurements in 7 out of 8 proteins for which the data are available [15] (Table 2). Importantly,



expression of only one of these 23 genes (FRY) is similarly upregulated by the stress stimuli, suggesting that the recurrent expression changes are indeed in response to aneuploidy. Using quantitative real-time PCR we validated the expression levels of four of the identified upregulated genes in eight aneuploid cell lines and corresponding diploid controls (RAB27B, COL13A1, HOXB5, GLRX). This approach confirmed overexpression of all four genes in response to aneuploidy. Interestingly, none of the tested transcripts was confirmed in one of the complex aneuploid cell line, HPT1 (Figure 5). These candidate markers could potentially enable the discrimination of tumors with low frequency of aneuploid cells from tumors with high levels of aneuploidy and thus higher malignant potential. Further experiments will be required to determine whether the candidate markers can be used for clinical purposes for example by standard immunohistochemistry.

Discussion

Significant recent progress in the analysis of aneuploidy in eukaryotes has revealed multiple novel features linked to aneuploidy such as growth defects, abnormal protein homeostasis and increased genomic instability. These features appear to be conserved among eukaryotes, an observation which is further supported by the finding that the transcriptional response to aneuploidy in different species remarkably correlates [19]. We analyzed in detail the transcriptional changes in aneuploid human cells by comparing the calculated aneuploid-to-diploid ratio. The comparison of eleven aneuploid model cell lines derived from four different diploid progenitor cell lines by either chromosome transfer of seven different chromosomes or by clonal propagation from unstable tetraploid progenitors revealed a striking similarity among the cell lines. The identified signature of pathways that was altered in all analyzed cell lines, which we term the aneuploidy response pattern - ARP - is characterized by upregulation of the ER and Golgi related pathways, lysosome and lytic vacuoles, MHC protein complex and antigen processing, whereas DNA and RNA metabolism and ribosome-related pathways were always downregulated (Figures 1, 2, Tables 1, 2). Our results reveal that the transcriptional changes to aneuploidy in human cells are not mediated by a canonical p53-dependent stress response, because DLD1 and its

	Gene	Chromosome	Function	Protein levels	Link to cancer?
1	PLAUR	19	Plasminogen activator, urokinase receptor	4/5	Ovarian and colorectal cancer
2	RAB27B	18	Secretory GTPase	4/4	Breast cancer
3	P4HA2	5	Procollagen-proline	4/6	Metastasis
4	FRY	13	Regulator of actin cytoskeleton	0/3	
5	BDKRB1	14	Bradykinine receptor	NA	Breast and lung cancer
6	HOXB5	17	Transcription factor	NA	Leukemia, ovarian carcinoma and others
7	GDF15	19	Growth differentiation factor	1/2	Ovarian and prostate cancer
8	OASL	12	2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase-like	NA	
9	SERPINE2	2	Serpine protease inhibitor	4/4	Metastasis
10	IFI44	1	Interferon-induced protein 44	NA	
11	AMDHD1	12	Protein with amidohydrolase domain	NA	
12	TMEM171	5	Transmembrane protein 171	NA	
13	GLRX	5	Glutaredoxin	4/4	Pancreatic cancer
14	TMEM169	2	Transmembrane protein 169	NA	
15	DMBT1	10	Membrane glycoprotein	NA	Multiple cancers
16	COL13A1	10	Collagen type XIII, alpha1	1/1	
17	SH2D1B	1	Signal transduction control	NA	
18	MIA		Melanoma inhibitory activity	NA	Neuronal tumors
1	XYLB	3	Xylulokinase homologue	NA	
2	LOXL3	2	Lysyl oxidase homologue	NA	
3	MYB/NFIB fusion	6	Myb – NFIB fusion	NA	
4	EEPD	7	Endonuclease/exonuclease/phosphatase domain containing	NA	
5	ARHGEF39	9	Rho quanine nucleotide exchange factor 39	NA	

Table 2 List of consistently up- and downregulated transcripts (cut off 1.4 fold change)

The column "Protein levels" shows how often corresponding changes of the protein levels were identified by Stingele et al. [15] (number of cell lines with altered protein expression/number of cell lines where the protein was quantified; NA – proteomics data not available). The rows 1-18 show upregulated genes; the rows 1- 5 (below) show downregulated genes.

aneuploid derivatives carry mutant p53. A remarkable feature of the identified transcriptional changes is that although similar pathways are up- and downregulated in individual aneuploids, the individual genes whose expression is altered are often variable among the different cell lines. Furthermore, several pathways were up- or downregulated in the analyzed cells that were not recurrent and thus cannot be regarded as a general consequence of aneuploidy per se. These changes are probably specific to the type of extra chromosomes as well as to the clonal selection. We also show for the first time that the pathway changes in human cells with complex, hypotetraploid karyotypes correlate with the changes identified in simple trisomies. Thus, the analysis of model trisomic cell lines might provide important insights into the role of the more complex aneuploidy that is frequently found in cancer.

Two of the analyzed cell lines (trisomy 7 in DLD1 and one of the three clones of trisomy 8 in HE35) showed only a partial aneuploidy response pattern (Additional file 1: Figure S1B). There are several possible scenarios to explain this finding. First, loss of some chromosome parts or a mosaic aneuploid population could lead to a weakening of the ARP. However, the transcription levels of the transcripts coded on the extra chromosomes were elevated in these cell lines as expected, which excludes this possibility. Alternatively, features specific to the supernumerary chromosome can be responsible for the difference, such as in case of chromosome 7. This has been previously observed in budding yeast, where some disomes, e.g. disome of chromosome 1, do not trigger the environmental stress response pattern (ERS) otherwise observed in other disomic strains [3]. In support of this possibility is the observation that chromosome 7



is one of the few chromosomes which is more often gained than lost in chromosomally unstable cancer cells [26]. Thus, an extra copy of chromosome 7 likely represents a lesser burden for the cells than most of the other chromosomes. Finally, the deviation from the ARP might arise due to a mutation occurring during the clonal selection after the chromosome transfer. This is likely the case in HE35 8/3, where two clones correlate stronger with other aneuploids than the third trisomy 8 clone (Figure 2E). Despite these exceptions, our results show that aneuploidy triggers a uniform transcriptional response in human cells that is independent of the identity and quantity of the extra chromosomes and their combination as well as of the cell line type.

The ARP is characterized by strong downregulation of DNA and RNA metabolism, which correlates with the slow growth observed in nearly all aneuploid cells analyzed

to date. Indeed, many factors required for DNA replication are less abundant, such as the heterohexameric replicative helicase MCM (Additional file 2: Table S1), and this may partially explain the previously observed slow progression through the S-phase [15]. However, the complex aneuploid cell lines progress through interphase at a rate closely matching the rate of the corresponding diploid cell lines and yet the levels of factors involved in replication are similarly decreased (Additional file 1: Figure S2). Therefore, we conclude that the proliferation impairment cannot be the only cause of ARP.

DNA repair is significantly downregulated, which might lead to increased accumulation of DNA damage. The abundance changes in the DNA replication and repair factors might explain how aneuploidy increases genome instability, as has been observed in yeast [4] as well as in human aneuploids (S.S., V.P., Z.S., unpublished results). Further research should elucidate what are the causes of the consistent downregulation of DNA metabolism pathways and what consequences it brings upon aneuploid cells.

Among the most upregulated pathways we observed the Golgi network, ER related pathways, lysosomes and lytic vacuoles, membrane metabolism and the MHC protein complex and antigen processing. The function of MHC protein complexes is to display fragments of proteins from within the cell to immune cells [27]. Currently we do not understand the reasons for the increased levels of the MHC protein complex transcripts in aneuploid cells. We hypothesize that increased protein expression and degradation elevates the peptide presentation by MHC complex, thus elevating the immunogenicity of aneuploid cells, similarly as it has been recently observed in murine aneuploid tumors [28]. In the future it will be important to confirm this observation on the protein level and to determine whether the MHC proteins are correctly localized and functional.

Elevated expression of ER related genes might suggest an expansion of the ER that was shown in budding yeast to occur in order to alleviate ER stress [29]. This phenomenon is accompanied by elevated lipid biosynthesis, but unchanged amounts of ER chaperones [29], which closely resembles the transcriptional changes observed in aneuploid cell lines. This suggests, together with the fact that mouse trisomic MEFs are more sensitive to the Hsp90 inhibitor 17-AAG [30], that aneuploid cells suffer from protein folding defects, most likely due to the saturation of the cellular folding capacity [31]. ER stress is often observed in various cancers, where it is usually attributed to tumor microenvironments characterized by hypoxia, nutrient limitation and low pH [32]. It will be interesting to test whether chromosomal copy number changes also contribute to the ER stress in cancer cells.

Previously, it was proposed that the transcriptional response to aneuploidy is indicative of stress and slow growth [1]. Therefore, we were interested whether treatment with stress inducing agents will elicit similar response as the presence of an extra chromosome. Since chromosome missegregation was shown to trigger oxidative stress [24,33], we analysed the transcriptional response to oxidative stress inducers nitric oxide and hydrogen dioxide. Aneuploidy was also recently linked to DNA damage and replication stress [34], therefore we analyzed the response to the replication inhibitor hydroxyurea and transcription inhibition by actinomycin D. Further, aneuploidy was shown to trigger proteotoxic stress and to activate autophagy [3,15,30,31]. Therefore, we compared the response to aneuploidy to the transcriptional changes elicited by cells grown under hypoxic conditions, which is known to result in energy and ER stress with subsequent proteotoxic stress. Similarly, we tested the transcriptional changes in cells where autophagy was inhibited, a condition known to trigger proteotoxic stress. The comparison with transcription profiles of cells grown on high or low glucose was of particular interest, because aneuploid cells show changes in the metabolic pathways and higher energy demands [3,14,15]. Remarkably, we found that none of the stress conditions triggers response similar to ARP.

The only significant exception was the striking similarity between the ARP and the transcriptional changes observed in cells treated with sub-lethal concentrations of bafilomycin A1 (Figure 3). Treatment with bafilomycin A1 leads to the accumulation of vesicles and membranes and reduces cell proliferation. The similarity of cellular response to inhibition of autophagy and to aneuploidy might suggest that aneuploidy inhibits autophagy. This however is not true as we previously documented by an observation that autophagic flux (the dynamic flow through autophagy) is in aneuploids as efficient as in diploids [15]. Inhibition of basal autophagy by bafilomycin A1 treatment causes proteotoxic stress [35]. Current data suggest that aneuploidy leads to proteotoxic stress as well [31]. We propose that the similarity between the transcriptional response to treatment with bafilomycin A1 and the ARP is because both reflect transcriptional changes in cells suffering from proteotoxic stress. In general, the effect of bafilomycin A1 further emphasizes the role of autophagy in mammalian aneuploids. Aneuploidy leads to activation of autophagy in human and mouse cells [15,30] and aneuploid cells are more sensitive to the autophagy inhibiting drug chloroquine [30]. The consistent upregulation of lysosomes and lytic vacuoles appears to be specific for mammalian cells as it was not observed in aneuploid yeasts and plants [19]. In this context it is interesting that there is nearly no correlation of ARP and transcriptional changes upon low glucose condition, which is known to trigger autophagy (Additional file 1: Figure S3). We believe that this is because autophagy in aneuploids is not activated by energy or nutrition deprivation, but by different, so far unidentified triggers [36]. Partial overlap of ARP was also observed with the response to treatment with the drug actinomycin D that represses transcription by RNA polymerase and, among other effects, leads to an imbalance of ribosomal subunits [37]. Transcription-related pathways are also downregulated in aneuploids, suggesting the possibility that some of the phenotypic features of aneuploid cells might be caused by transcriptional deficiency.

Our work has also allowed the identification of several genes that were consistently up- or downregulated in aneuploid cell lines, but not in the HCT116 cells under stress stimuli. Several of the identified factors have been previously linked to cancer (Table 2). For example the plasminogen activator and urokinase receptor PLAUR/ UPAR is frequently overexpressed in ovarian and

colorectal cancers, where it facilitates cell motility and metastatic potential and emerges as a marker of malignancy [38]. P4HA2 is a precursor of collagen and a metastasis marker [39] and HOXB5 is a homeobox transcription factor whose overexpression has been found in several malignant tumors [40]. Transcription of the TGFβ superfamily cytokine GDF15 (growth differentiation factor 15) is increased in multiple solid tumors, where it promotes tumor growth and confers resistance to several drugs such as bortezomib. Recent studies proposed GDF15 as a prognostic marker for ovarian and pancreatic carcinoma [41], two types of malignancies with frequent aneuploidy and chromosomal instability [9]. Glutaredoxin (GLRX) protects cells from oxidative stress and serves as a potential marker of malignancy in pancreatic carcinoma. Interestingly, some of the factors such as a xylulokinase homologue (XYLB), the 2'-5'oligoadenylate synthetase like (OASL) and the interferoninduced protein (IFI44) have not been so far linked to cancer and may represent markers of aneuploidy that are not linked to malignancy.

Aneuploidy is associated with poor prognosis and increased drug resistance in tumors [42]. This suggests an interesting possibility that some of the genes that are expressed at higher levels in response to aneuploidy in non-transformed cells may subsequently enhance the malignant potential of these cells, whereas higher expression of others might represent a barrier for carcinogenesis. The expression of the marker genes, if confirmed in a wide range of aneuploid cell lines and in cancer cells, might provide an excellent tool for cancer biology and treatment, because it may allow distinguish tumors with high aneuploidy from predominantly diploid tumors. Moreover, pathways that are activated or inhibited by aneuploidy may serve as novel targets for cancer treatment. This has been recently demonstrated by the fact that aneuploid cells are more sensitive to drugs inhibiting HSP90, autophagy inhibitors and inhibitors of the AMPK kinase, which strongly correlates with the identified increased requirements for autophagy, protein folding and energy metabolism in aneuploid mammalian cells ([15,30] and this work). Further research should elucidate the efficacy of this approach. Our work for the first time identifies global changes in a broad spectrum of human aneuploid cell lines and may therefore help to generate new hypothesis for cancer treatments.

Conclusions

In this study we identified a transcriptional aneuploid response pattern (ARP), a set of transcriptional changes, common in a broad range of human aneuploid model cell lines. This, for the first time, shows that complex aneuploidy, which is frequently found in cancer cells, exhibits the same transcriptional pathway changes as simple trisomy and tetrasomy. A general response to aneuploidy, as identified here in a variety of aneuploid model cell lines, might serve as a novel therapeutic target in cancer treatment. Further, we found 23 genes consistently deregulated in our model aneuploid cell lines. A confirmation of these markers in aneuploid cells might open new strategies for identifying aneuploid tumors. Since the fraction of aneuploid cells in tumor correlates with malignant potential and poor prognosis in cancer, simple and reliable biomarkers for aneuploidy may help for determining the appropriate cancer therapy.

Methods

Cell lines

Following model aneuploid cell lines were used for data analysis: parental cell line HCT116 (human colon carcinoma cell line): HCT116 3/3 (trisomy 3), HCT116 5/4 (tetrasomy 5) [43]; parental cell line HCT116 H2B-GFP: HCT116 5/4 (tetrasomy 5) [15], HPT1, HPT2 (hypertetraploids with complex karyotypes, A.Y.K. unpublished data); parental cell line RPE1 (human retinal pigment epithelial cell line, hTERT immortalized): RPE15/3 12/3 (trisomy 5, 12); parental cell line RPE1 H2B-GFP: RPE1 21/3 (trisomy 21) [15]; parental cell line DLD1 (human colon adenocarcinoma cell line): DLD1 3/3 (trisomy 3), DLD1 7/3 (trisomy 7), DLD1 13/3 (trisomy 13) [13], parental cell line HE35 (human embryonic cell line): HE35 8/3, clones 1–3 [17].

Cell cultures

The HCT116- and RPE1- derived tri- and tetrasomic cell lines have been described previously [15]. The post- tetraploid cell lines HPT1 and HPT2 were generated by expansion of individual tetraploids formed by induced inhibition of cytokinesis through dihydrocytochalasin treatment. The DNA content was determined by flow cytometry, standard karyotyping, chromosome painting and array comparative genomic hybridization as in [15]. Cells were maintained in 10 cm dishes in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) at 37°C and 5% CO2. Culture medium was supplemented with growth factors from 5% Fetal Calf Serum (FCS) and 1% Penicillin/ Streptavidin to avoid bacterial growth and contamination. Specific antibiotics were added to the medium when necessary to maintain the supernumerary chromosomes. Cell lines were cultured at 70-90% confluence for a maximum of 10 passages.

Material for transcription analysis was obtained at the earliest possible time point, after sufficient amount of cells was achieved, approximately 25 generations after the chromosome transfer or tetraploidization, respectively. Similar approach was taken for the analysis of trisomy 8 HE35-derived clones [17]. The mRNA of DLD1-derived aneuploids was isolated from multiple different passages [13].

Cell growth analysis

Freshly cultured cells that carry H2B-GFP to fluorescently label the chromosomes were seeded 24 h before the experiment. Time laps movies were taken by imaging asynchronous cells in a 10 min or 4 min interval for 72 or 48 h, respectively. The time in interphase was measured as the time from nuclear envelope reformation to nuclear envelope break down.

Quantitative real-time PCR

Total RNA was extracted with the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen), treated with DNAse (recombinant DNase, Roche) and subsequently transcribed into cDNA (Transcriptor First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit, Roche Diagnostics). Specific primers were designed using PrimerBlast; the sequences are listed below. Quantitative PCR was conducted using the Light Cycler 480 System (Roche Diagnostics) with the KAPA SYBR FAST master mix optimized for Roche Light Cycler 480 (KapaBiosystems). Absolute quantification with an external standard was performed and negative non-template controls were tested in all experiments. The specificity of the primer product amplification was confirmed in each run by melting curve analysis. mRNA expression was normalized to the control gene coding for ribosomal protein L30 (RPL30) and fold change to corresponding diploid mRNA expression was calculated. Primers: COL13A1 - forward: GGGGGAAGCAGGACTAGATG, reverse: CCTGAAGCT CCGGGTAGTC, RAB27B - forward: TGCGGGACAAGA GCGGTTCCG, reverse: GCCAGTTCCCGAGCTTGCCG TT, HOXB5 - forward: TCCACAAATCAAGCCCTCCA, reverse: GTCCGGGCCATTTGGATAAC, GLRX - forward: AACGGTGCCTCGAGTCTTTA, reverse: CCTATGAGATC TGTGGTTACTGC.

mRNA expression analysis by microarrays

Genome-wide expression profiling of HCT116- and RPE1derived aneuploid cells lines was conducted in three replicates by IMGM laboratories GmbH (Martinsried, Germany) as previously described [15]. cDNA was hybridized on Agilent Whole Human Genome Oligo microarrays (4x44K format) for HCT116 diploid and HCT116 5/4, or Agilent SurePrint G3 Human GE microarrays (8x60K) for the other cell lines according to a One-Color based hybridization protocol. Raw data was background normalized. The data has been deposited in the NCBI Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ geo/) accessible through GEO Series accession number GSE47830 and GSE47836.

Microarray data of trisomic and diploid colorectal cancer cell lines DLD1 [13] were kindly provided by Thomas Ried (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland, USA). All other mRNA expression data were obtained from NCBI's Gene Expression Omnibus (http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/geo/). HCT116 cell line grown under high and low glucose conditions: accession number GSE31084; HCT116 after stress treatment: accession number GSE3176; HCT116 cell line treated with actinomycin D: with GSE12459, human embryonic diploid and trisomic cells: accession number GSE28076.

Microarray normalization

Bioinformatics analysis of the microarray data was performed using Perseus (1.2.6.16) as part of the MaxQuant Software Package [21] and R on the free open source integrated development environment R Studio. The gBG SubSignal (green Background Subtracted Signal) from background-normalized cDNA microarray data was used for further normalization. The background-subtracted raw intensities were log2 transformed and global normalization of the log transformed raw data was performed by subtracting the median of the overall signal intensities for one experiment from each signal in this experiment. Probe sets for one gene were summarized by taking the median. The median of replicative probes signal intensities was calculated for each cell line. For comparison of each aneuploid cell line with the corresponding diploid cell line gene, expression fold change ratios were calculated.

Data analysis

The Student's t-test was performed to verify the statistical significance of the fold change in mRNA expression between the signal intensities of aneuploid and diploid cell line. To correct the test statistics for multiple comparisons, false discovery rate control of the p-values was applied. Both local and frequent FDR were calculated with the "fdrtool" package [44]. For further analysis, a fold change cut off 1.4 in mRNA expression was applied. To investigate the correlation between the cell lines, a distance matrix of the Spearman rank correlation coefficient was calculated in R using the "ClassDiscovery" package in the OOMPA library and "mclust" package. Distance of the correlation was visualized in a colored matrix in the "spatstat" package. To investigate a global response to aneuploidy on gene level, data sets were filtered for those genes more than 1.4 fold up- or downregulated in all HCT116 and RPE1 derived cell lines. The resulting gene lists were analyzed for their function and relation using the DAVID functional annotation tool [22], KEGG pathway and the NCBI Gene database.

Pathway enrichment analysis

Pathway enrichment analysis was conducted in Perseus using the 2-dimensional annotation enrichment tool [21]. Thereby, enriched GO and KEGG annotations were identified by testing whether genes in an annotated category have a significant preference to be altered compared to the global fold change data distribution. Significance was tested by a *t*-test followed by a false discovery rate correction in the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure (FDR cut off 0.02). Expression values for significant enriched annotations were summarized in an annotation score from -1 to 1 to represent levels of upor downregulation. Significant and enriched annotations were summarized in larger, general categories for visualization purposes. 2-dimensional annotations enrichments of two cell lines were plotted in R. Highly upor downregulated pathways were cross validated by submitting the fold change cut off datasets to the annotation enrichment tool DAVID [22].

Statistical analysis

Commonly used R packages were "lattice" [45], "genefilter" [46], "fdrtool" [44] and "calibrate" [47]. In addition, Perseus (1.2.6.16) as part of the MaxQuant Software Package [21] was used for microarray analysis. All statistically evaluated experiments were performed in at least three independent biological replicates. The final plots were prepared in GraphPad Prism 5 software or R.

Availability of supporting data

The data sets supporting the results of this article are available in the NCBI Gene Expression Omnibus repository (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/) with the accession numbers GSE47830 and GSE47836.

Additional files

Additional file 1: Figure S1. Significantly altered pathways in aneuploid model cell lines. Figure S2. Time in interphase of the HCT116*- derived cell lines. Figure S3. Significantly altered pathways in response to stress stimuli compared to the ARP.

Additional file 2: Dataset 1 Gene expression data of HCT116 and RPE1 derived aneuploid cell lines compared to the diploid cell lines. Additional file 3: Dataset 2 Data derived from the 2- dimensional annotation analysis.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Authors' contributions

ZS initiated the study. AYK, SS and VP generated the cell lines and prepared the samples for analysis. MD performed the bioinformatics analysis and the quantitative RT PCR. MD, AYK, GS and ZS discussed and designed the data analysis strategies. ZS wrote the manuscript. All authors read and discussed the final manuscript.

Acknowledgements

We are thankful to Dr. Thomas Ried (NIH, Bethesda) for providing us the transcriptional data of the DLD1-derived trisomic cell lines. We are thankful to Dr. Bianca Habermann and Christian Kuffer for the help with the bioinformatics analysis. Finally, we thank Neysan Donnelly for critical reading of the manuscript.

Author details

¹Group Maintenance of Genome Stability, Max Planck Institute of Biochemistry, Am Klopferspitz 18, Martinsried 82152, Germany. ²Department of Proteomics and Signal Transduction, Max Planck Institute of Biochemistry, Am Klopferspitz 18, Martinsried 82152, Germany. ³Center for Integrated Protein Science Munich, Ludwig-Maximilian-University Munich, Munich 80336, Germany. ⁴Current address: Gene Center, Department of Biochemistry, Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich, Munich 81377, Germany.

Received: 11 November 2013 Accepted: 14 February 2014 Published: 18 February 2014

References

- Sheltzer JM, Amon A: The aneuploidy paradox: costs and benefits of an incorrect karyotype. Trends Genet 2011, 27:446–453.
- Niwa O, Tange Y, Kurabayashi A: Growth arrest and chromosome instability in aneuploid yeast. Yeast 2006, 23:937–950.
- Torres EM, Sokolsky T, Tucker CM, Chan LY, Boselli M, Dunham MJ, Amon A: Effects of aneuploidy on cellular physiology and cell division in haploid yeast. Science 2007, 317:916–924.
- Sheltzer JM, Blank HM, Pfau SJ, Tange Y, George BM, Humpton TJ, Brito IL, Hiraoka Y, Niwa O, Amon A: Aneuploidy drives genomic instability in yeast. Science 2011, 333:1026–1030.
- Selmecki A, Forche A, Berman J: Aneuploidy and isochromosome formation in drug-resistant Candida albicans. Science 2006, 313:367–370.
- Pavelka N, Rancati G, Zhu J, Bradford WD, Saraf A, Florens L, Sanderson BW, Hattem GL, Li R: Aneuploidy confers quantitative proteome changes and phenotypic variation in budding yeast. *Nature* 2010, 468:321–325.
- Henry IM, Dilkes BP, Miller ES, Burkart-Waco D, Comai L: Phenotypic consequences of aneuploidy in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Genetics* 2010, 186:1231–1245.
- Hassold T, Hunt P: To err (meiotically) is human: the genesis of human aneuploidy. Nat Rev Genet 2001, 2:280–291.
- 9. Storchova Z, Kuffer C: The consequences of tetraploidy and aneuploidy. *J Cell Sci* 2008, **121**:3859–3866.
- Jacobs KB, Yeager M, Zhou W, Wacholder S, Wang Z, Rodriguez-Santiago B, Hutchinson A, Deng X, Liu C, Horner MJ, et al: Detectable clonal mosaicism and its relationship to aging and cancer. Nat Genet 2012, 44:651–658.
- 11. lourov IY, Vorsanova SG, Liehr T, Kolotii AD, Yurov YB: Increased chromosome instability dramatically disrupts neural genome integrity and mediates cerebellar degeneration in the ataxia-telangiectasia brain. *Hum Mol Genet* 2009, **18**:2656–2669.
- 12. Kurnit DM: Down syndrome: gene dosage at the transcriptional level in skin fibroblasts. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1979, **76:**2372–2375.
- Upender MB, Habermann JK, McShane LM, Korn EL, Barrett JC, Difilippantonio MJ, Ried T: Chromosome transfer induced aneuploidy results in complex dysregulation of the cellular transcriptome in immortalized and cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 2004, 64:6941–6949.
- Williams BR, Prabhu VR, Hunter KE, Glazier CM, Whittaker CA, Housman DE, Amon A: Aneuploidy affects proliferation and spontaneous immortalization in mammalian cells. *Science* 2008, 322:703–709.
- Stingele S, Stoehr G, Peplowska K, Cox J, Mann M, Storchova Z: Global analysis of genome, transcriptome and proteome reveals the response to aneuploidy in human cells. *Mol Syst Biol* 2012, 8:608.
- Torres EM, Dephoure N, Panneerselvam A, Tucker CM, Whittaker CA, Gygi SP, Dunham MJ, Amon A: Identification of aneuploidy-tolerating mutations. *Cell* 2010, 143:71–83.
- Nawata H, Kashino G, Tano K, Daino K, Shimada Y, Kugoh H, Oshimura M, Watanabe M: Dysregulation of gene expression in the artificial human trisomy cells of chromosome 8 associated with transformed cell phenotypes. *PLoS ONE* 2011, 6:e25319.
- Rancati G, Pavelka N, Fleharty B, Noll A, Trimble R, Walton K, Perera A, Staehling-Hampton K, Seidel CW, Li R: Aneuploidy underlies rapid adaptive evolution of yeast cells deprived of a conserved cytokinesis motor. *Cell* 2008, 135:879–893.
- 19. Sheltzer JM, Torres EM, Dunham MJ, Amon A: Transcriptional consequences of aneuploidy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2012, **109**:12644–12649.
- Gasch AP, Spellman PT, Kao CM, Carmel-Harel O, Eisen MB, Storz G, Botstein D, Brown PO: Genomic expression programs in the response of yeast cells to environmental changes. *Mol Biol Cell* 2000, 11:4241–4257.

- 21. Cox J, Mann M: **1D** and **2D** annotation enrichment: a statistical method integrating quantitative proteomics with complementary high-throughput data. *BMC Bioinforma* 2012, **13**:S12.
- Dennis G Jr, Sherman BT, Hosack DA, Yang J, Gao W, Lane HC, Lempicki RA: DAVID: database for annotation, visualization, and integrated discovery. *Genome Biol* 2003, 4:P3.
- 23. Mitelman Database of Chromosome Aberrations and Gene Fusions in Cancer. http://cgap.nci.nih.gov/Chromosomes/Mitelman.
- Kuffer C, Kuznetsova AY, Storchova Z: Abnormal mitosis triggers p53-dependent cell cycle arrest in human tetraploid cells. Chromosoma 2013, 122:305–318.
- Yamamoto A, Tagawa Y, Yoshimori T, Moriyama Y, Masaki R, Tashiro Y: Bafilomycin A1 prevents maturation of autophagic vacuoles by inhibiting fusion between autophagosomes and lysosomes in rat hepatoma cell line, H-4-II-E cells. *Cell Struct Funct* 1998, 23:33–42.
- Duijf PHG, Schultz N, Benezra R: Cancer cells preferentially lose small chromosomes. Int J Cancer 2013, 132:2316–2326.
- Blum JS, Wearsch PA, Cresswell P: Pathways of antigen processing. Annu Rev Immunol 2013, 31:443–473.
- Senovilla L, Vitale I, Martins I, Tailler M, Pailleret C, Michaud M, Galluzzi L, Adjemian S, Kepp O, Niso-Santano M, et al: An immunosurveillance mechanism controls cancer cell ploidy. Science 2012, 337:1678–1684.
- Schuck S, Prinz WA, Thorn KS, Voss C, Walter P: Membrane expansion alleviates endoplasmic reticulum stress independently of the unfolded protein response. J Cell Biol 2009, 187:525–536.
- Tang YC, Williams BR, Siegel JJ, Amon A: Identification of aneuploidyselective antiproliferation compounds. *Cell* 2011, 144:499–512.
- Oromendia AB, Dodgson SE, Amon A: Aneuploidy causes proteotoxic stress in yeast. Genes Dev 2012, 26:2696–2708.
- Moenner M, Pluquet O, Bouchecareilh M, Chevet E: Integrated endoplasmic reticulum stress responses in cancer. *Cancer Res* 2007, 67:10631–10634.
- Li M, Fang X, Baker DJ, Guo L, Gao X, Wei Z, Han S, van Deursen JM, Zhang P: The ATM-p53 pathway suppresses aneuploidy-induced tumorigenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010, 107:14188–14193.
- Burrell RA, McClelland SE, Endesfelder D, Groth P, Weller MC, Shaikh N, Domingo E, Kanu N, Dewhurst SM, Gronroos E, et al: Replication stress links structural and numerical cancer chromosomal instability. *Nature* 2013, 494:492–496.
- Dorr JR, Yu Y, Milanovic M, Beuster G, Zasada C, Dabritz JHM, Lisec J, Lenze D, Gerhardt A, Schleicher K, *et al*: Synthetic lethal metabolic targeting of cellular senescence in cancer therapy. *Nature* 2013, 501:421–425.
- 36. Stingele S, Stoehr G, Storchova Z: Activation of autophagy in cells with abnormal karyotype. *Autophagy* 2013, 9:246–248.
- 37. Zhang Y, Lu H: Signaling to p53: ribosomal proteins find their way. Cancer Cell 2009, 16:369–377.
- Memarzadeh S, Kozak KR, Chang L, Natarajan S, Shintaku P, Reddy ST, Farias-Eisner R: Urokinase plasminogen activator receptor: prognostic biomarker for endometrial cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2002, 99:10647–10652.
- Chang K-P, Yu J-S, Chien K-Y, Lee C-W, Liang Y, Liao C-T, Yen T-C, Lee L-Y, Huang L-L, Liu S-C, et al: Identification of PRDX4 and P4HA2 as metastasis-associated proteins in oral cavity squamous cell carcinoma by comparative tissue proteomics of microdissected specimens using iTRAQ technology. J Proteome Res 2011, 10:4935–4947.
- Morgan R, Plowright L, Harrington KJ, Michael A, Pandha HS: Targeting HOX and PBX transcription factors in ovarian cancer. BMC Cancer 2010, 10:89.
- Bauskin AR, Brown DA, Kuffner T, Johnen H, Luo XW, Hunter M, Breit SN: Role of macrophage inhibitory cytokine-1 in tumorigenesis and diagnosis of cancer. *Cancer Res* 2006, 66:4983–4986.
- McGranahan N, Burrell RA, Endesfelder D, Novelli MR, Swanton C: Cancer chromosomal instability: therapeutic and diagnostic challenges. *EMBO Rep* 2012, 13:528–538.
- Haugen AC, Goel A, Yamada K, Marra G, Nguyen TP, Nagasaka T, Kanazawa S, Koike J, Kikuchi Y, Zhong X, et al: Genetic instability caused by loss of MutS homologue 3 in human colorectal cancer. Cancer Res 2008. 68:8465–8472.
- 44. Strimmer K: Fdrtool: a versatile R package for estimating local and tail area-based false discovery rates. *Bioinformatics* 2008, **24**:1461–1462.

- 45. Sarkar D: Lattice: Multivariate Data Visualization With R New York. London: Springer Science + Business Media; 2008.
- 46. Gentleman R, Carey V, Huber W, Hahne F: genefilter: genefilter: methods for filtering genes from microarray experiments. R package version 1.44.0.
- 47. Graffelman J, van Eeuwijk F: Calibration of multivariate scatter plots for exploratory analysis of relations within and between sets of variables in genomic research. *Biom J* 2005, **47**:863–879.

doi:10.1186/1471-2164-15-139

Cite this article as: Dürrbaum *et al.*: Unique features of the transcriptional response to model aneuploidy in human cells. *BMC Genomics* 2014 15:139.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

() BioMed Central

6.2 HSF1 deficiency and impaired HSP90-dependent protein folding are hallmarks of aneuploid human cells

Donnelly N, Passerini V, Dürrbaum M, Stingele S and Storchová Z. HSF1 deficiency and impaired HSP90-dependent protein folding are hallmarks of aneuploid human cells. The EMBO journal 2014 Oct 16; 33(20):2374-87. Reproduced with permission from EMBO.

In this study we investigated the effects of an euploidy on the proteostasis network of human cell lines. It was previously shown that an euploid cell lines exhibit features of proteotoxic stress such as sensitivity to inhibition of protein synthesis and folding as well as accumulation of cytoplasmic protein deposits and autophagy activation (Oromendia et al., 2012; Stingele et al., 2013; Tang et al., 2011; Torres et al., 2007). However, the underlying molecular mechanisms of these phenotypes have not been clear.

To study the effect of aneuploidy on proteostasis network functions such as protein folding, we investigated the cellular sensitivity to protein folding stress as well as abundance and activity of the chaperone system. Aneuploid cell lines show impaired folding of a firefly luciferase sensor protein under normal conditions. In particular, the HSP90-dependent protein folding capacity appears to be compromised. Furthermore, viability of aneuploid cells is specifically sensitive to HSP90 inhibition, but not to other protein folding stresses. This goes in hand with reduced levels of HSP90 family expression. Moreover, global proteome analysis revealed that the abundance of HSP90 clients is reduced and that the proteome of aneuploid cells shows similar changes to the proteome after HSP90 inhibition. As an underlying cause we identified reduced expression levels and activity of HSF1. Overexpression of HSF1 mitigated the protein folding defect as well as the sensitivity to HSP90 inhibition. Moreover, aneuploid clones with an endogenous extra copy of HSF1 proliferated markedly better than other aneuploid cell lines. Finally, the overall transcriptional profile of aneuploid cells resembles the transcriptional profiles of cells with functional deficiency of HSF1.

Compromised HSF1 activity was identified as the key causative factor of impaired proteostasis, but also contributes to the phenotypic alterations of aneuploid cells. HSF1 overexpression is the first aneuploidy-tolerating mutation identified in higher eukaryotes so far. Given that *HSF*1 region is frequently amplified in cancer, this reveals a new link between aneuploidy and HSF1 in tumorigenesis.

Article



THE EMBC JOURNAL

HSF1 deficiency and impaired HSP90-dependent protein folding are hallmarks of aneuploid human cells

Neysan Donnelly¹, Verena Passerini¹, Milena Dürrbaum^{1,2}, Silvia Stingele¹ & Zuzana Storchová^{1,2,*}

Abstract

Aneuploidy is a hallmark of cancer and is associated with malignancy and poor prognosis. Recent studies have revealed that aneuploidy inhibits proliferation, causes distinct alterations in the transcriptome and proteome and disturbs cellular proteostasis. However, the molecular mechanisms underlying the changes in gene expression and the impairment of proteostasis are not understood. Here, we report that human aneuploid cells are impaired in HSP90-mediated protein folding. We show that aneuploidy impairs induction of the heat shock response suggesting that the activity of the transcription factor heat shock factor 1 (HSF1) is compromised. Indeed, increased levels of HSF1 counteract the effects of aneuploidy on HSP90 expression and protein folding, identifying HSF1 overexpression as the first aneuploidy-tolerating mutation in human cells. Thus, impaired HSF1 activity emerges as a critical factor underlying the phenotypes linked to aneuploidy. Finally, we demonstrate that deficient protein folding capacity directly shapes gene expression in aneuploid cells. Our study provides mechanistic insight into the causes of the disturbed proteostasis in aneuploids and deepens our understanding of the role of HSF1 in cytoprotection and carcinogenesis.

Keywords aneuploidy; cancer; HSF1; HSP90; protein folding
Subject Categories DNA Replication, Repair & Recombination; Molecular
Biology of Disease; Protein Biosynthesis & Quality Control
DOI 10.15252/embj.201488648 | Received 2 April 2014 | Revised 28 July 2014 |
Accepted 15 August 2014

Introduction

Aneuploidy is defined by karyotypes that differ from multiples of the haploid chromosome set. Aneuploidy is not well tolerated in higher eukaryotes and represents one of the leading causes of spontaneous abortions in humans, with the rare surviving newborns suffering from multiple defects (Colnaghi *et al*, 2011). Moreover, aneuploidy is prevalent in cancer, where nearly 80% of solid tumors and approximately 60% of hematopoietic cancers show karyotypes differing from normal diploidy (Stankiewicz & Lupski, 2010). At the cellular level, aneuploidy is often associated with global pathway deregulation, impaired proliferation, increased energetic and metabolic demands and altered sensitivity to cytotoxic drugs (Upender et al, 2004; Niwa et al, 2006; Torres et al, 2007; Williams et al, 2008; Pavelka et al, 2010; Nawata et al, 2011; Stingele et al, 2012). The cellular response to aneuploidy is highly conserved from yeast to human and remarkably, appears to be largely independent of the exact karyotypic composition (Sheltzer et al, 2012; Stingele et al, 2012; Durrbaum et al, 2014). Experiments in budding yeast have shown that the mere presence of a transcriptionally silent additional chromosome does not lead to any apparent phenotypes; hence, taken together, it is the gene expression of the aneuploid genome that determines the phenotypic changes observed in aneuploids (Torres et al, 2007). However, in spite of these important insights, the molecular mechanisms underlying these global cellular changes are not yet fully understood.

Recent progress in understanding the cellular effects of aneuploidy was facilitated by analysis of model aneuploid cells with defined karyotypic changes such as aneuploid budding and fission yeast strains, fruit flies with segmental aneuploidy, mouse embryonic fibroblasts with unbalanced Robertsonian translocations and trisomic and tetrasomic human cell lines (Upender et al, 2004; Niwa et al, 2006; Torres et al, 2007; Williams et al, 2008; Stenberg et al, 2009; Pavelka et al, 2010; Nawata et al, 2011; Stingele et al, 2012). Analysis of disomic budding yeast revealed increased sensitivity to drugs that interfere with protein synthesis and degradation (Torres et al, 2007). Moreover, the proliferation defect of some disomies can be ameliorated by mutation of the Ubp6 protein, a deubiquitinating enzyme that was proposed to negatively regulate protein degradation (Torres et al, 2007, 2010). In line with these findings in yeast, aneuploidy in murine and human cells imposes profound changes in protein homeostasis (proteostasis). Human trisomic cells show an accumulation of cytoplasmic foci positive for both ubiquitin and SQSTM1/p62, a marker of selective autophagy (Stingele et al, 2012). Further, primary trisomic MEFs are sensitive to chemical inhibition of the chaperone HSP90 as well as to the inhibitor of autophagy chloroquine (Tang et al, 2011). In agreement with this finding,

1 Group Maintenance of Genome Stability, Max Planck Institute of Biochemistry, Martinsried, Germany

² Center for Integrated Protein Science Munich, Ludwig-Maximilian-University Munich, Munich, Germany

^{*}Corresponding author. Tel: +4989/8578 3145 ; E-mail: storchov@biochem.mpg.de

chromosomally unstable aneuploid cancer cell lines are more sensitive to HSP90 inhibition than chromosomally stable cell lines (Tang *et al*, 2011). A recent study demonstrates that aneuploid budding yeast harbor protein aggregates and that protein folding of HSP90 clients is compromised in these cells (Oromendia *et al*, 2012). These results suggest that the protein expression from supernumerary chromosomes places a burden on cellular proteostasis and that the HSP90 machinery might be particularly affected. However, the status of HSP90 function and the protein folding capacity of aneuploid cells in higher eukaryotes were so far unknown.

Here, we demonstrate for the first time that protein folding is significantly impaired by aneuploidy in human cells. Taking advantage of trisomic and tetrasomic human cells that we constructed using micronuclei-mediated chromosome transfer into the human near-diploid colorectal cancer cell line HCT116 and human immortalized retinal pigment epithelial cell line RPE-1 (Stingele et al, 2012), we show that in particular HSP90-mediated protein folding is compromised. Intriguingly, we found that HSF1-dependent activation of the heat shock response (HSR) is impaired, suggesting a mechanism by which aneuploidy impairs protein folding capacity. Importantly, endogenous or exogenous overexpression of HSF1 counteracts the effects of aneuploidy on HSP90-dependent protein folding, thereby identifying enhanced expression of HSF1 as the first aneuploidy-tolerating genetic modification in human cells. Finally, we demonstrate that the functional HSP90 and HSF1 deficiency has marked consequences for protein abundance and shapes the patterns of gene expression observed in aneuploid cells.

Results

Trisomic and tetrasomic human cell lines show defects in protein folding

Using model trisomic and tetrasomic human cell lines, we previously found an increased amount of cytoplasmic ubiquitin-positive foci in aneuploids in comparison to cognate diploids (Stingele et al, 2012). The accumulation of ubiquitinated proteins might be either due to a defect in their removal or due to their increased production in aneuploid cells. However, human aneuploid cells activate the catabolic pathway of autophagy (Stingele et al, 2012), and proteasome activity is not impaired by aneuploidy (Supplementary Fig S1A-C). This suggests that ubiquitinated proteins accumulate at higher rates, possibly due to an overwhelmed or impaired protein folding capacity, as previously proposed (Oromendia et al, 2012; Donnelly & Storchova, 2014). To directly test whether trisomic or tetrasomic human cells display protein folding defects, we employed a set of three Firefly luciferase-based sensor proteins comprising wild-type Firefly luciferase (FlucWT) and single and double mutant luciferase, FlucSM and FlucDM, that are highly sensitive to changes in the protein folding environment (Gupta et al, 2011). First, we performed luciferase refolding assays after transiently expressing FlucWT in diploid HCT116 cells and HCT116* cells, which stably express histone H2B-GFP, and their respective aneuploid derivatives. To this end, we subjected transfected cells to heat shock at 43°C for 2 h, which is sufficient to denature > 70% of luciferase, but does not result in toxicity. We then monitored refolding at 37°C over 4 h by measuring luminescence. We observed a significant impairment of FlucWT refolding in cells with trisomy and tetrasomy of chromosome 5 compared to their respective parental cell lines (Fig 1A and B). Next, we examined the effect of aneuploidy on the more sensitive mutants FlucSM and FlucDM. The mutations disrupt the stability of the Fluc protein, but do not affect its enzymatic activity. We thus hypothesized that the effect of aneuploidy on luciferase refolding should be even more pronounced in cells transfected with the destabilized mutant proteins. Indeed, the relative ability to refold both FlucDM (Fig 1C and D) and FlucSM (Supplementary Fig S1E and F) was almost threefold reduced in aneuploid cells in comparison to the parental HCT116. Thus, aneuploidy causes protein folding defects in human cell lines.

The HSP90 chaperone is required for the refolding of heatdenatured luciferase, and the destabilizing mutations in FlucSM and FlucDM lead to an indispensable requirement for HSP90 for folding even in the absence of stress (Schneider et al, 1996; Gupta et al, 2011). Thus, whereas FlucWT activity is not impaired by HSP90 inhibition, the luminescent signal of FlucSM and FlucDM decreases upon treatment with 17-N-allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin (17-AAG), a derivative of the antibiotic geldanamycin that binds the ATP pocket of the chaperone HSP90 (Supplementary Fig S1D). To specifically investigate HSP90-dependent protein folding capacity in aneuploid cells, we transfected diploid and aneuploid HCT116 cells with the Fluc sensors and measured luminescence in response to treatment with 17-AAG. Strikingly, we observed a consistent and significant decrease in FlucDM activity following treatment with 17-AAG in aneuploid cells compared to the control HCT116 cells (Fig 1E). These findings indicate that HSP90 function is indeed limiting in aneuploids. To exclude the possibility that the aneuploidy-induced protein folding defect is specific for aneuploid derivatives of HCT116 or for cells carrying extra copies of chromosome 5, we analyzed two additional aneuploid cell lines derived from RPE-1 (trisomy 21 and trisomy of chromosomes 5 and 12). Similarly as in HCT116-derived aneuploids, we observed consistently lower relative levels of FlucDM activity in aneuploid cells in contrast to diploid RPE-1 cells after treatment with 17-AAG (Fig 1F). These observations provide direct evidence that impaired protein folding and defective HSP90 function are common features of human aneuploid cells.

Aneuploid cells are more sensitive to inhibition of HSP90 but not to other inducers of protein folding stress

To elucidate in more detail the protein folding defect in human aneuploid cells, we analyzed their sensitivity to drugs that either directly inhibit molecular chaperones or impose a severe strain on the protein folding machinery. To this end, we measured cell viability after treatment with the HSP90 inhibitor 17-AAG, the HSC70/ HSP70 inhibitor VER 155008, L-azetidine-2-carboxylic acid (AZC), a toxic L-proline analog that leads to the misfolding of newly synthesized polypeptides (Qian *et al*, 2010), and heat shock (45°C, 15 h). We observed a significant sensitivity of trisomic and tetrasomic HCT116 and RPE-1 cells to 17-AAG as measured by both cell viability as well as colony-forming assays (Fig 2A and B). In contrast, the response to the other compounds was less uniform: While aneuploid RPE-1 cells were more sensitive to HSC70/HSP70 inhibition by VER 155008 than diploids, aneuploid HCT116 cells were slightly more resistant to this treatment than controls (Fig 2C). Cell



Figure 1. Trisomic and tetrasomic human cell lines show defects in protein folding.

A–D Refolding of the sensor proteins upon heat shock in control cells and in respective aneuploids. HCT116 and HCT116* stably expressing histone H2B-GFP and their aneuploid derivatives were transfected either with FlucWT-mCherry (A, B) or FlucDM-mCherry (C, D) and subjected to heat stress for 2 h at 43°C. Controls were maintained at 37°C. Luminescence readings were taken immediately from heat-stressed cells (0 min) and at indicated time points after recovery at 37°C. The luminescence values of control cells maintained at 37°C were set to 100% (indicated by dotted line).

E, F Refolding of the sensor proteins upon HSP90 inhibition in control cells and in respective aneuploids. FlucWT-mCherry or FlucDM-mCherry was expressed in parental and aneuploid HCT116 or HCT116* (E) and RPE-1 or RPE-1* (F) cell lines for 36 h. Cells were then incubated with either solvent control (DMSO) or 50 nM 17-AAG for 8 h followed by measurement of luminescent activity. The depicted values show the percentage of luminescence in cells treated with 17-AAG relative to DMSO-treated cells (which were set to 100%).

Data information: All plots show the means of at least three independent experiments \pm SEM. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.00; on-parametric *t*-test.

line-specific responses were also observed after heat shock: Only HCT116* 5/3 cells were highly sensitive to heat shock, while the other aneuploidies either showed a similar response as controls or even a marked resistance (Fig 2D). Finally, aneuploid cells were not significantly more sensitive to treatment with AZC (Supplementary Fig S2A and B). We conclude that aneuploidy exerts profound

effects on cellular proteostasis, but only the increased sensitivity to HSP90 inhibition was common to all aneuploid cells that we tested. Thus, in line with previous observations from aneuploid yeast (Oromendia *et al*, 2012) and murine cells (Tang *et al*, 2011), a specific impairment of HSP90-mediated protein folding represents a general and conserved consequence of aneuploidy.



Figure 2. Sensitivity to inhibition of HSP90 but not to other inducers of protein folding stress increases in aneuploid cells.

- A Wild-type, trisomic and tetrasomic cells were treated with the indicated concentrations of 17-AAG, and cell number was determined 72 h thereafter. Cell number is shown as the percentage of the DMSO-treated control.
- B Colony formation efficiency of aneuploid and parental RPE-1 treated with either solvent control (DMSO) or 17-AAG at indicated concentrations. Cells were stained with crystal violet after 2 weeks.
- C Wild-type, trisomic and tetrasomic cells were treated with the indicated concentration of VER 155008, and cell number was determined 72 h thereafter. Cell number is shown as the percentage of the DMSO-treated control.
- D Wild-type, trisomic and tetrasomic cells were subjected to heat stress for 15 h at 45°C, and cell number was determined. Cell number is shown as the percentage of the untreated control (maintained at 37°C).

Data information: All plots show the means of at least three independent experiments ± SEM. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001; non-parametric *t*-test.

The basal and stress-induced activity of HSF1 is impaired in human aneuploid cells

Our results suggest that an uploid cells may be compromised in their ability to mount a robust HSR when challenged with stress. Moreover, the impaired ability to refold luciferase evident already at very early time points of recovery (10, 20 min; Fig 1C and D) may point to a reduction in steady-state protein folding capacity. We hypothesized that the HSP90-specific protein folding defect might be due to changes in expression levels of factors involved in the maintenance of cellular proteostasis. Analysis of the expression changes in heat shock protein families (Kampinga *et al*, 2007) from our previously obtained global transcriptome and proteome data (Stingele *et al*, 2012) revealed a small but statistically significant reduction in both mRNA and protein abundance for the HSP90 family across a panel of six different aneuploid cell lines (Supplementary Fig S3A). Protein levels of chaperonins were also slightly decreased, although mRNA levels were not significantly changed
(Supplementary Fig S3A). Analysis by immunoblotting revealed that the levels of HSP27, HSP70, and HSP90 were modestly, but consistently and significantly reduced in the majority of aneuploid cell lines analyzed (Fig 3A and B). The protein folding capacity of molecular chaperones is regulated, in part, by binding to cochaperones and other co-factors. Phosphorylation at the C-termini of HSP70 and HSP90 enhances binding to the co-chaperone HOP, thereby increasing productive protein folding and cellular proliferation rates (Muller et al, 2013). However, the ratios of phosphorylated HSP90 and HSP70 over total levels were unchanged when comparing parental cell lines and HCT116 aneuploid derivatives (Supplementary Fig S3C and D). Our finding that the chaperone expression is impaired in aneuploid cells prompted us to analyze the expression of the heat shock response transcription factor and master regulator of chaperone expression HSF1 as well. The immunoblotting revealed a consistent reduction in protein levels in all four cell lines tested (Fig 3A and B). Notably, the transcription of the HSF1 gene is not altered in aneuploid cells, as we observed only negligible changes in HSF1 mRNA levels in qPCR experiments (Supplementary Fig S3B).

In light of our observations regarding HSF1 protein levels, we asked whether the induction of HSF1 activity, that is, the ability to mount a HSR, was also impaired in aneuploid cells. To this end, we expressed a HSP70-luc construct that contains the HSP70 promoter fused to luciferase in diploid and aneuploid cells (Williams et al, 1989). We then treated the cells with 17-AAG and the proteasome inhibitor MG132, compounds that induce acute proteotoxic stress and are well-characterized activators of HSF1dependent transcription (Mathew et al, 2001; Sharma et al, 2012). We observed that the parental cell lines induced the expression of the HSP70-luc sensor two- to threefold soon after the proteotoxic treatment and up to sevenfold in response to prolonged treatment (Fig 3C and D). In contrast, the ability of HCT116-derived and RPE-1-derived aneuploids to induce HSP70-luc was on average reduced to 50 and 60% of the control at early and later time points, respectively (Fig 3C and D). Interestingly, at the later time point, RPE-1 21/3 had recovered the ability to activate the HSP70 promoter. This is in line with the relatively mild decrease in HSF1 and chaperone levels in this cell line and with its relatively modest sensitivity to 17-AAG (Figs 2A and 3A and B). These observations might be explained by the small size of chromosome 21; hence, RPE-1 21/3 is burdened with the least amount of extra genetic material of all the aneuploid cell lines analyzed in this study. Consistent with these findings, we also observed an impaired ability to induce HSP70 expression after acute heat shock in both HCT116- and RPE-1-derived aneuploid cells (Supplementary Fig S3E). The decrease in HSF1 expression observed in aneuploid cells is relatively small, and therefore, we asked whether it is sufficient to cause the observed impairment in maintenance of proteostasis and protein folding. To address this concern, we transfected the control cell lines with siRNA to partially deplete HSF1 to 75 and 50%, respectively (Fig 3E). Indeed, consistent with previous results (Chen et al, 2013), this partial and transient depletion of HSF1 rendered cells sensitive to treatment with 17-AAG, thus suggesting a striking dosage sensitivity of the cellular response to proteotoxic stress (Fig 3F). Therefore, we conclude that the protein folding defect engendered by aneuploidy may be caused by inhibitory effects on basal and induced HSF1 activity.

Endogenous or exogenous overexpression of HSF1 ameliorates the negative effects of aneuploidy on protein folding

If the reduced protein folding capacity of aneuploid cells is due to a deficiency in HSF1 function, aneuploid cells with increased levels of HSF1 may be protected against this impairment. In fact, increased expression of HSF1 due to gene amplification is frequent in cancer, similarly as gain of chromosome 8 or its long arm where the HSF1 gene is located on 8q24.3 (Beroukhim et al, 2010). Thus, we reasoned that cells that gained chromosome 8 with the resulting increased expression of HSF1 might escape the defects in HSP90 function and protein folding caused by gain of a chromosome without HSF1. To test this possibility, we generated four clonal cell lines derived from individual HCT116 cells upon micronuclei-mediated transfer of chromosome 8. Using chromosome painting, we confirmed the presence of an extra copy of chromosome 8 in all imaged cells from all four clonal cell lines (HCT116 8/3 c1-c4; Supplementary Fig S4A). Analysis of the expression of HSF1 protein revealed an increased abundance according to expected gene copy number, that is, approximately 1.5-fold higher relative to diploid HCT116, in the clonal cell lines c1, c2, and c4. Interestingly, HSF1 levels were not substantially changed in c3 (Fig 4A and B). This was likely due to a loss of the distal region of chromosome 8 where HSF1 is located (Supplementary Fig S4B, our unpublished data). Thus, we reasoned that comparison of c1, c2, and c4 with c3 would enable us to directly test whether increased levels of HSF1 protect cells from the protein folding defects caused by the introduction of the extra copy of chromosome 8. We first analyzed the expression of HSP90. Similarly to other trisomies and tetrasomies that we analyzed (Fig 3A and B, and Supplementary Fig S3A), introduction of chromosome 8 elicited a slight decrease in HSP90 levels in c3 (Fig 4A and B). Strikingly, however, in c1, c2, and c4, we observed no decrease in HSP90 levels relative to control HCT116 (Fig 4A and B). Next, we tested the sensitivity of FlucDM to 17-AAG treatment in the four clones. The luminescent output of FlucDM was significantly lower after treatment with 17-AGG in HCT116 8/3 c3 compared to control HCT116. In contrast, the relative decreases in luminescence in response to 17-AAG treatment were comparable to the control in the trisomic cell lines c1, c2, and c4 (Fig 4C). Moreover, whereas c3 exhibited a sensitivity to 17-AAG that was comparable with the other trisomies, c1, c2, and c4 were as resistant to 17-AAG as the parental HCT116 (Fig 4D). Thus, the increased levels of HSF1 counteract the negative effect of aneuploidy on HSP90 expression and on protein folding.

To directly determine a role for increased HSF1 activity in mitigating the effects of aneuploidy on HSP90 and protein folding, we performed transient transfections with a constitutively active truncated HSF1 allele (ca-HSF1) (Zuo *et al*, 1995). Immunoblotting confirmed efficient expression of ca-HSF1 upon transient transfection in HCT116 8/3 c3 aneuploids as well as in HCT116 5/4 and RPE-1 21/3 and increased the expression levels of its downstream targets (Fig 4E). Importantly, the transient ca-HSF1 expression significantly improved the survival of aneuploid cells in the presence of 17-AAG as well as protected the folding of the FlucDM sensor against its effects (Fig 4F and G). Our observations suggest that cellular sensitivity to 17-AAG is finely tuned to the levels of HSF1. To test the generality of this conclusion, we transfected the control HCT116 and



Figure 3. The basal and stress-induced activity of HSF1 is impaired in human aneuploid cells.

- A, B Western blot analysis for HSP27, HSP70, HSP90 (the used antibody recognizes both constitutive and inducible forms of HSP90) and HSF1 in parental and aneuploid cell lines (A). Loading control: GAPDH; HSC70 (constitutively expressed chaperone) in RPE-1 5/3 12/3 and corresponding control (note that GAPDH is encoded on chromosome 12). Shown are representative images of at least 3 independent experiments. In panel B the quantification of the signal intensities from the Western blots shown in (A) are depicted, calculated relative to control cells (which were set to 1).
- C, D HSP70-luc plasmid was expressed in parental and aneuploid HCT116 and RPE-1 cell lines for 36 h. Cells were then incubated with solvent control (DMSO), 2 μM 17-AAG or 5 μM MG132 for the indicated times. The depicted values show the fold induction in 17-AAG- or MG132-treated cells compared to DMSO-treated cells (which were set to 1).
- E HCT116 (left panel) and RPE-1 (right panel) cells were transfected with siRNA targeting HSF1 or the GL2 subunit of luciferase as a control (ctrl). Cell extract was prepared 72 h after transfection and subjected to immunoblotting for HSF1 and GAPDH as a loading control. Quantification of the signal normalized to the loading control is shown above the images.
- F HCT116 (left panel) and RPE-1 (right panel) cells transfected with siRNA targeting HSF1 or the GL2 subunit of luciferase as a control (ctrl). Forty-eight hours after transfection cells were incubated with the indicated concentrations of 17-AAG, and cell number was determined 72 h thereafter. Cell number is shown as the percentage of the DMSO-treated control.

Data information: All data are the mean of at least three independent experiments \pm SEM. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001; non-parametric *t*-test. Source data are available online for this figure.

RPE-1 cells with ca-HSF1 (Fig 4H). In agreement with our hypothesis, the transient overexpression of ca-HSF1 also significantly protected the control cell lines against 17-AAG-associated toxicity (Fig 4I and J). Taken together, these results show that increasing the levels of the HSR master regulator HSF1 is sufficient to counteract the impaired HSP90 function of human aneuploid cells.

Since trisomy in human cells leads to proliferation defects, we asked whether the difference in HSF1 expression is reflected by changes in proliferative capacity. In line with our hypothesis that HSF1 mitigates some of the phenotypes caused by aneuploidy, we observed that HCT116 clones with high HSF1 expression proliferated markedly faster than HCT116 8/3 c3 (Supplementary Fig S4E). This also suggests that the decreased protein folding capacity contributes to the proliferation defects observed in trisomic cells.

Chromosome 8 carries approximately 4,170 open reading frames, among them the CCNE2 gene encoding cyclin E2 that plays a critical role in the G1 and in the G1-S transition and is often overexpressed in cancers, and MYC encoding the c-Myc transcription factor, a critical oncogene which upregulates a large number of genes involved in cell proliferation (Dang, 1999; Hwang & Clurman, 2005). We thus asked whether increased levels of c-Myc or cyclin E2 may be involved in improved proliferation rates in c1, c2 or c4. Western blotting revealed that cyclin E2 levels were increased on average 1.23-fold, and c-Myc levels were either unchanged or slightly reduced in all four HCT116 8/3 cell lines (Supplementary Fig S4C and D), in line with our previous finding that the abundance of some proteins is lower than expected based on the corresponding copy number changes in aneuploid cells (Stingele et al, 2012). As expected, based on these observations, Spearman correlation analysis revealed that only HSF1 levels highly correlated with the sensitivity of trisomic cells to HSP90 inhibition, their protein folding capacity as well as with proliferation rate (Supplementary Fig S4F). Taken together, both endogenous and exogenous overexpression of HSF1 ameliorates the adverse effects of aneuploidy on HSP90dependent protein folding and proliferation in human cells.

Impaired HSP90 function in aneuploid cells affects the abundance of HSP90 client proteins

HSP90 plays a critical role in the folding of a wide variety of client proteins, in particular protein kinases as well as steroid hormone receptors and subunits of macromolecular complexes (Rohl et al, 2013). Thus, we asked whether the defect in HSP90 activity in aneuploid cells leads to a decreased abundance of client proteins that rely on HSP90. To this end, we compared recently reported data that elucidate the global HSP90 interactome and that classify interactors based on the strength of their interaction with HSP90 (Taipale et al, 2012) to the transcriptome and proteome changes that we observed in human aneuploid cell lines (Stingele et al, 2012). Our analysis revealed that the abundance of proteins that strongly interact with HSP90 was significantly lower in two out of the four aneuploid cell lines tested (HCT116* 5/4 and HCT116 5/4). In contrast, the abundance of non-interacting proteins was not affected in any of the analyzed cell lines (Fig 5A, Supplementary Datasets S1 and S2). Additionally, mRNA levels of strong interactors were unchanged, indicating that only the protein levels are affected (Fig 5A). Because this dataset of interactors may not represent a comprehensive list of all HSP90 clients, we also compared protein expression data from aneuploids with respect to another database of HSP90-interacting proteins generated by the Picard laboratory (http://www.picard.ch/Hsp90Int/index.php). Again, we observed a significant reduction in the expression of HSP90 interactors in two out of four aneuploid cells lines (HCT116 5/4 and RPE-1* 21/3; Fig 5B, Supplementary Dataset S3). Taken together, the reduced abundance of HSP90-interacting proteins in three out of four aneuploid cell lines supports the hypothesis that the HSP90 machinery is impaired in aneuploid cells and suggests that this impairment directly contributes to the altered protein composition of aneuploid cells.

The global expression changes in aneuploids resemble the cellular responses to HSP90 and HSF1 deficiency

HSP90 represents a critical hub in cell signaling through its chaperoning of a wide array of kinases and other proteins. Indeed, pharmacological inhibition of HSP90 results in significant alterations in the activity of multiple signaling pathways (Sharma et al, 2012). Our previous analysis of the changes in pathway regulation in human aneuploid cells identified a specific set of pathways that are up- or downregulated in response to aneuploidy, and these pathways appear to be conserved (Sheltzer et al, 2012; Stingele et al, 2012; Durrbaum et al, 2014). However, it remains unclear which molecular processes are responsible for these protein expression changes observed in aneuploid cells. Thus, we first asked whether the impairment in HSP90 function contributes to the changes of protein abundance in aneuploids. We compared the quantitative proteome changes in aneuploids cells with the proteome changes occurring upon pharmacological inhibition of HSP90 for 24 h (Sharma et al, 2012). The analysis of proteome changes upon HSP90 inhibition was performed in HeLa cells that are extensively aneuploid. Therefore, the proteome of treated cells was normalized to the proteome of untreated HeLa cells. Using 2-dimensional annotation enrichment analysis that enables direct comparison of relative pathway enrichments (Cox & Mann, 2012), we found an overlap between the proteome changes due to aneuploidy and proteome changes due to HSP90 inhibition (Supplementary Dataset S4), in particular among the downregulated pathways, which includes pathways of DNA and RNA metabolism, such as DNA repair and replication and RNA splicing, as well as cell cycle pathways (Fig 5C, Supplementary Fig S5A and B).

HSF1 predominantly regulates the expression of genes involved in proteostasis as part of the heat shock response, but has recently been shown to control the transcription of multiple additional target genes (Mendillo et al, 2012). We therefore compared the transcriptional profile of aneuploid cells with the transcriptional profile of a human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line (HCC) in which HSF1 was depleted by RNAi (Chuma et al, 2014). Comparison of the pathway enrichment in aneuploid cells and in cells depleted of HSF1 revealed a striking similarity in both downregulated and upregulated pathways (Fig 5D, Supplementary Fig S5C, Supplementary Dataset S4). Similar comparison with cells depleted of c-Myc showed no similarities between the pathways changes. This analysis suggests that the transcriptional activity of c-Myc does not affect the pathways that are deregulated by aneuploidy and supports the notion that the observed effect is specific for HSF1 (Supplementary Fig S5D). These results suggest that functional deficiency in HSF1 is a major determinant of the previously identified transcriptional aneuploidy response

Figure 4. Endogenous or exogenous overexpression of HSF1 ameliorates the negative effects of aneuploidy on protein folding.

- A, B Western blot analysis of HSF1 and HSP90 expression in HCT116 8/3* c1-c4 (A). Loading control: GAPDH. Shown are representative images of at least 3 independent experiments. Quantification of the signal intensities from the Western blots (B), calculated relative to control cells (which were set to 1).
- C FlucDM-mCherry was expressed in parental HCT116* and HCT116* 8/3 c1-c4 for 36 h. Cells were then incubated with either solvent control (DMSO) or 50 nM 17-AAG for 8 h followed by measurement of luminescent activity. The depicted values show the percentage of luminescence in cells treated with 17-AAG relative to DMSO-treated cells (which were set to 100%).
- D Parental HCT116* and HCT116* cells trisomic for chromosome 8 (HCT116 8/3* c1-c4) were treated with the indicated concentrations of 17-AAG, and cell number was determined 72 h thereafter. Cell number is shown as the percentage of the DMSO-treated control (which was set to 100%).
- E Western blot analysis of HSF1 expression and its downstream targets in the indicated aneuploid cells transfected with ca-HSF1. Loading control: GAPDH. Shown are representative images of at least 3 independent experiments. Quantification of the signal intensities normalized to the loading control is shown above the images.
- F RPE-1* 21/3 cells were transiently transfected with either pCDNA or ca-HSF1 by electroporation. Forty-eight hours post-transfection cells were incubated with the indicated concentrations of 17-AAG, and cell number was determined 72 h thereafter. Cell number is shown as the percentage of the DMSO-treated control.
- G FlucDM-mCherry was co-expressed with either pCDNA or ca-HSF1 in the indicated cell lines for 36 h. Cells were then incubated with either solvent control (DMSO), 50 nM 17-AAG (HCT116), or 5 nM 17-AAG (RPE-1) for 8 h followed by measurement of luminescent activity. The depicted values show the percentage of luminescence in cells treated with 17-AAG relative to DMSO-treated cells (which were set to 100%).
- H Western blot analysis of HSF1 expression and its downstream targets in the indicated aneuploid cells transfected with ca-HSF1 using electroporation. Loading control: GAPDH. Shown are representative images of at least 3 independent experiments. Quantification of the signal intensities normalized to the loading control is shown above the images.
- I Control HCT116* cells were transiently transfected with either pCDNA or ca-HSF1 by electroporation. Fourty-eight hours post-transfection cells were incubated with the indicated concentrations of 17-AAG and cell number was determined 72 h thereafter. Cell number is shown as the percentage of the DMSO-treated control.
- J Control RPE-1* cells were transiently transfected with either pCDNA or ca-HSF1 by electroporation. Fourty-eight hours post-transfection cells were incubated with the indicated concentrations of 17-AAG and cell number was determined 72 h thereafter. Cell number is shown as the percentage of the DMSO-treated control.

Data information: The data are the mean of at least three independent experiments \pm SEM. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001; on-parametric t-test.

pattern (Stingele *et al*, 2012; Durrbaum *et al*, 2014). Taken together, our analyses suggest that the functional HSF1 and HSP90 deficiency caused by aneuploidy determines the global transcriptome and proteome changes in these cells.

Discussion

Aneuploid cells often suffer from low proliferation rates and exhibit hallmarks of cells undergoing proteotoxic stress as evidenced by their sensitivity to conditions that compromise or overburden protein folding (Torres et al, 2007; Tang et al, 2011; Oromendia et al, 2012; Stingele et al, 2012). Here, we directly demonstrate for the first time that human aneuploid cells suffer from a protein folding defect and show that in particular HSP90-dependent protein folding is affected. Additionally, we identify a pronounced impairment in the ability of aneuploids to trigger a full heat shock response, suggesting that the functionality of heat shock-associated factors, in particular, the responsible transcription factor HSF1, is compromised. Importantly, we demonstrate that increasing the gene copy number of HSF1 counters the effects of aneuploidy on HSP90 expression and protein folding. Finally, our analysis suggests that the observed functional deficiency in HSP90 and HSF1 contributes to the transcriptome and proteome changes observed in aneuploid cells. Thus, we propose that the cellular defects associated with aneuploidy may be direct consequences of impaired protein folding capacity.

Aneuploidy impairs protein folding

Both disomic budding yeast and tri- and tetrasomic human cells accumulate cytoplasmic protein deposits (Oromendia *et al*, 2012; Stingele *et al*, 2012). Previously, it has been proposed that the increased protein expression in aneuploid cells leads to a saturation of protein folding capacity and to low-level but chronic protein

the chaperone machinery. Indeed, we show that the presence of even one extra chromosome significantly impairs cellular protein folding in human aneuploid cells (Fig 1). This is mainly due to a defect in HSP90-dependent protein folding, whereas targeting the early steps in protein folding immediately after release from the ribosome, through AZC or HSP70 inhibition, does not preferentially impair the viability of human aneuploid cells (Figs 1 and 2, and Supplementary Fig S2). We hypothesize that the toxicity associated with impairment of proper protein folding at an early stage is determined by how efficiently and quickly cells can dispose of terminally misfolded proteins. Since both proteasome activity and autophagic degradation are elevated in mammalian aneuploid cells (Supplementary Fig S1B and C and Tang et al, 2011; Stingele et al, 2013), this may explain why they are not more sensitive or even slightly more resistant to such impairment. In contrast, we propose that the sensitivity to HSP90 inhibition observed in all the aneuploids analyzed in this study, regardless of the identity of the supernumerary chromosome(s) or the cell line rather reflects the lossof-function of HSP90 clients and of HSP90-dependent processes. Therefore, our data together with previous observations in trisomic MEFs and disomic budding yeast (Tang et al, 2011; Oromendia et al, 2012) make a compelling argument that aneuploidy leads to a specific functional deficiency in HSP90-mediated protein folding. In seeking to determine an explanation for why the HSP90 chap-

misfolding (Oromendia et al, 2012; Donnelly & Storchova, 2014).

The misfolding, in turn, leads either to the aggregation, or destabili-

zation and degradation of proteins with high or specific demands on

erone machinery is particularly affected by aneuploidy, we discovered that HSP90 family proteins were downregulated at both the mRNA and protein levels across a panel of six aneuploid cell lines. Intriguingly, this downregulation correlated with a decrease in total HSF1 levels in all four aneuploid cells lines tested and an impaired ability to induce HSF1 activity in response to acute proteotoxic stress (Fig 3). We emphasize, however, that the response to acute proteotoxic stress was not completely abolished, but rather delayed



and diminished. Notably, while a delay and decrease can be detected in aneuploid budding yeast strains, this effect appears to be more modest (Oromendia *et al*, 2012). Interestingly, elevated levels of HSP72, but not HSP90 or other heat shock factors, were identified in aneuploid murine fibroblasts compared to diploid controls (Tang *et al*, 2011). The differential regulation of HSP72 and HSP90

suggests that the activation of HSP72 in murine aneuploids is not due to elevated HSF1-dependent transcription, but rather modulated by other means that are specific to HSP72. Despite this difference, aneuploidy renders murine fibroblasts sensitive to the HSP90 inhibitor 17-AAG similarly as human aneuploids, thus further strengthening the notion that HSP90-mediated protein folding is specifically



Figure 5. The proteome and transcriptome changes in aneuploid cells resemble the cellular response to protein folding deficiency.

A Relative abundance (calculated aneuploid/diploid ratio) of proteins that were identified as non-interactors and strong interactors of HSP90 in human cells (left panel). Relative abundance (calculated aneuploid/diploid ratio) of corresponding mRNAs (right panel). *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001; Mann–Whitney U-test.

B Relative abundance (calculated aneuploid/diploid ratio) of factors that were identified to interact with HSP90. **P* < 0.05; ***P* < 0.01; ****P* < 0.001; Mann–Whitney *U*-test.

C Changes in pathways identified in the proteome of cells upon inhibition of HSP90 compared to the proteome changes in trisomic cells using the 2D-annotation enrichment analysis.

D Changes in pathway regulation identified in the transcriptome of HCC cells upon HSF1 knockdown compared to transcriptome changes in trisomic cells using the 2D-annotation enrichment analysis.

limiting for an euploid cells. In future, it will be important to address by what mechanism an euploidy impairs HSF1 function and why HSP90-dependent protein folding is particularly affected. We propose two hypothetical mechanisms for how HSF1 function might be impaired by an euploidy. First, the metastable protein HSF1 may be incorporated into the ubiquitin-positive cytoplasmic deposits in an euploid cells, and thereby rendered inactive. Alternatively, the HSF1 protein may be subject to post-translational inhibitory regulation that is elevated in an euploids. Interestingly, overexpression of model β -sheet proteins in human cells also impairs the induction of cellular stress responses (Olzscha *et al*, 2011). Uncovering the similarities and differences in these two models of chronic proteotoxic stress will improve our understanding of the mechanisms involved in the maintenance of protein homeostasis.

We found that increased copy numbers of HSF1 can alleviate the protein folding defect and the impaired response to proteotoxic stress in aneuploid cells. This was confirmed in two different scenarios, by transfer of chromosome 8 and by transient overexpression of transgenic HSF1 (Fig 4). We employed overexpression of the upstream regulator of the heat shock response to ensure integrated and balanced expression of HSP90 and its co-chaperones. This is essential because the concentration of essential co-chaperones is limiting for HSP90 activity (Li *et al*, 2012), and the chaperone dependent processes often require all components of a given chaperone

system (Rampelt *et al*, 2012). It should be noted that the transformed cell line HCT116 contains segmental aneuploidies, specifically copy gain on the long arms of chromosomes 8, 10, 16, and 17 and a loss of the Y-chromosome. These copy number changes are preserved in all created trisomic and tetrasomic cell lines (Stingele *et al*, 2012). However, our results suggest that an additional increase in copy numbers of HSF1 is necessary to rescue the defects arising in response to another whole chromosomal aneuploidy in *de novo* created trisomic cells so that the activity of HSF1 is sufficient to override the negative effects of aneuploidy on the protein folding machinery. More generally, our results suggest that in the context of the cellular response to severe proteotoxic stress (e.g. HSP90 inhibition), augmentation of HSF1 levels and/or activity fulfills a powerful cytoprotective function.

Previously, it was shown that a loss-of-function mutation in the gene encoding the deubiquitinating enzyme Ubp6 also markedly alleviated the negative effects of aneuploidy including impaired proliferation and accumulation of cytoplasmic protein deposits in budding yeast (Torres et al, 2010; Oromendia et al, 2012). Here, we have identified the first aneuploidy-tolerating genetic modification in human cells. These results support the interesting possibility that the adverse effects of aneuploidy can be suppressed either by enhancing protein degradation or by increasing cellular protein folding capacity. It is generally accepted that the sensitivity of cancer cells to HSP90 inhibitors stems from their reliance on heat shock proteins to chaperone the high number of overexpressed or mutated oncoproteins, and from the role of chaperones in protecting against general cellular stress associated with tumorigenesis (Dai et al, 2007). Our findings together with previous work (Tang et al, 2011) may provide an additional rationale for why inhibitors of protein degradation and protein folding emerge as a potentially effective cancer therapy and suggest that levels of HSF1 protein and/or activity may be important determinants of sensitivity to 17-AAG.

Consequences of the protein folding defects for aneuploids

Chemical or genetic impairment of HSP90 leads to the destabilization of multiple protein kinases and other proteins with critical roles in diverse cellular processes (Taipale et al, 2012). We found that the proteome of human aneuploid cells resembles the proteome of HeLa cells treated with the HSP90 inhibitor, 17-DMAG. In particular, pathways involved in DNA metabolic processes, chromatin modification, and transcription were downregulated in both conditions, whereas the overlap among upregulated pathways was rather modest. Even more similarities in both upregulated and downregulated pathways were revealed by comparison between transcriptional aneuploidy response patterns and the transcriptome changes in response to HSF1 depletion in the human HCC cell line (Chuma et al, 2014). Although HSF1, the major heat shock transcription factor, is most known for its role in regulating the expression of chaperones and proteins involved in the maintenance of proteostasis, recent discoveries have revealed its role in the regulation of a plethora of cellular processes (Mendillo et al, 2012). Based on our observations, we propose that the reduced HSP90 activity and the resulting decrease in stability of HSP90 client proteins partially underlies the pathway downregulation observed in aneuploid cells.

Simultaneously, the impaired HSF1 activity affects, both directly, through the reduced expression of HSF1 target genes and indirectly, through the reduced protein folding capacity of aneuploid cells, the transcription of many targets. Taken together, we propose that the proteotoxic stress imposed by the presence of extra genetic material is a major determinant of the changes in gene expression in aneuploid cells.

We hypothesize that the HSP90 defect may have additional consequences for an euploid cells. Two phenomena are worthy of particular mention. First, there is now a large body of evidence to suggest that HSP90 acts as a buffer against phenotypic variation by masking the effects of genetic polymorphisms (Jarosz *et al*, 2010). Second, HSP90 inhibition itself leads to chromosomal instability in budding yeast (Chen *et al*, 2012). Taken together with our results, we propose that an euploidy is likely to further accelerate both the rate and manifestation of genetic change and our data suggest a general mechanism whereby changes in DNA copy number can lead to further genetic alterations.

Relevance for cancer and other pathologies

Aneuploidy is a hallmark of cancer, where it correlates with malignancy, drug resistance, and poor prognosis. However, trisomy and tetrasomy markedly impair cellular functions including proliferation, suggesting that aneuploidy-tolerating changes might be necessary to facilitate the growth of aneuploid cancer cells. Further, whether a similar impairment of protein folding capacity also occurs in cells of trisomy syndromes is currently not known and should be addressed in future. Intriguingly, somatic trisomy of chromosome 8 is frequently found in myeloid lineage disorders, some lymphomas and solid tumors such as breast and ovarian cancer. Interestingly, 8q24, where the HSF1 gene is located, is one of the most commonly amplified regions in cancer cells (Beroukhim et al, 2010; Davoli et al, 2013), and chromosome 8 is the largest somatic chromosome whose trisomy is compatible, although extremely rarely, with postnatal survival (Ganmore et al, 2009; Beroukhim et al, 2010). Indeed, we show that the presence of HSF1 on chromosome 8 protects against some of the adverse effects of aneuploidy. HSF1 is a critical facilitator of malignant proliferation, a role which it performs by supporting many important cellular processes (Dai et al, 2007). An additional role of HSF1 in promoting carcinogenesis may be to protect cancer cells from the proteotoxic stress induced by aneuploidy. Our results lend strong support to this notion and suggest a causal link between two recurring features of cancer cells: aneuploidy and altered HSF1 activity.

Materials and Methods

Cell lines and culturing conditions

The HCT116- and RPE-1-derived tri- and tetrasomic cell lines have been constructed by micronuclei-mediated chromosome transfer as described previously (Stingele *et al*, 2012). Parental cell line HCT116 (human colon carcinoma cell line): HCT116 3/3 (trisomy 3), HCT116 5/4 (tetrasomy 5) (Haugen *et al*, 2008); parental cell line HCT116* stably expressing histone H2B-GFP: HCT116* 5/3 (trisomy 5), HCT116* 5/4 (tetrasomy 5), (Stingele *et al*, 2013), HCT116 8/3 c1-c4; parental cell line RPE-1 (human retinal pigment epithelial cell line, hTERT immortalized): RPE-1 5/3 12/3 (trisomy 5, 12); parental cell line RPE-1* stably expressing histone H2B-GFP: RPE-1* 21/3 (trisomy 21). Cells were grown in DMEM GlutaMax (Gibco) supplemented with 10% FBS and 5% Pen/Strep under standard conditions.

Transfections and luciferase assays

Cells were transfected with a total of 1 or 1.5 μ g of the indicated plasmids in 12-well plates using X-tremeGENE HP DNA transfection reagent (Roche) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Cells were trypsinized, counted, and seeded into 96-well plates 24 h after transfection and then allowed to recover for 24 h. Then, cells were treated with either solvent control (DMSO), 5 or 50 nM 17-AAG (8 h), 2 μ M 17-AAG (4 h), or 5 μ M MG132 (8 or 20 h). 17-AAG and MG132 were purchased from Enzo Life Sciences and Tocris Bioscience, respectively. To measure luminescence, 30 μ l of SteadyGlo reagent (Promega) was added directly to the wells of the 96-well plates and the plates were shaken for 10 s to ensure mixing and cell lysis. Luminescence was measured on a Tecan plate reader after 15-min incubation in the dark.

Proteasome activity assay

Cells were seeded at 2×10^4 per well in triplicates in 96-well plates. Forty minutes later, Proteasome-GloTM Chymotrypsin-Like Cell-Based Assay (Promega) was added according to the manufacturer's protocol. Luminescence was detected using a Fluoroskan Ascent FL plate reader operated by the Ascent software. For evaluation the mean with SEM of biological triplicates was calculated.

Western blotting

Exponentially growing cells were harvested and lyzed in RIPA buffer supplemented with protease inhibitors (Roche). 20 µg of protein were then resolved on 10% polyacrylamide gels and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes using the semi-dry technique. After blocking in low fat 5% milk in TBS-T, membranes were incubated with the following primary antibodies: HSP90 (1:1,000; Cell Signaling #4877), HSC70 (1:1,000; Enzo Life Sciences ADI-SPA-815), HSP70 (1:1,000; Enzo Life Sciences ADI-SPA-810), HSP27 (1:1,000; Enzo Life Sciences ADI-SPA-800), HSF1 (1:1,000; Enzo Life Sciences ADI-SPA-901), cyclin E2 (1:1,000; Cell Signaling #4132), c-Myc (1:200, Santa Cruz Biotechnology sc-40), GAPDH (1:2,000; Cell Signaling #2,118). The antibodies against phospho-HSP70 and phospho-HSP90 were a kind gift from Petr Müller, Masaryk University, Brno. After incubation with HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies, HRP substrate was added and luminescent signals were quantified using a LAS 3000 instrument (FujiFilm). Protein bands were quantified using ImageJ software.

Colony formation assays

Cells were seeded at 1,000 per well in 6-well plates 24 h before the treatment. Subsequently, cells were continuously treated with 17-AAG (5 or 25 nM) or DMSO for 10–12 days. Colonies were fixed with methanol:glacial acetic acid (1:1) and stained with

0.02% crystal violet for 15 min before washing with tap water and air-drying.

Cell viability assays

Cells were seeded at 2,000 per well in 96-well plates 24 h before the treatment. Subsequently, cells were treated with the indicated drugs at the indicated concentrations and cell viability was determined after 72 h, unless otherwise stated. Viability was determined using the CellTiterGlo luminescent cell viability assay (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Chromosome transfer and preparation of chromosome spreads and paints

Chromosome transfer and the preparation of spreads and paints were performed as previously (Stingele *et al*, 2012).

RNA isolation and qPCR

Total RNA was isolated using the RNeasy kit (Qiagen) and reversetranscribed into cDNA using the First Strand cDNA synthesis kit (Roche). qPCR was performed with a HSF1 assay from Qiagen (Cat. No. 330001 PPH00164F) on a LightCycler 480 (Roche) instrument using the KAPA SYBR FAST master mix. Absolute quantification was performed with an external standard, and the specificity of the amplicons was confirmed by melting curve analysis. HSF1 mRNA expression was normalized to ribosomal protein L27 (RPL27) as a housekeeping gene (de Jonge *et al*, 2007).

siRNA transfections

Cells were transfected at 50% confluency using 800 pmol siRNA and Oligofectamine according to the manufacturer's instructions. Transfections were conducted in OptiMEM for 4 h. The siRNA sequences used were acquired from Eurofins Genomics and are as follows: HSF1 (5' CGGAUUCAGGGAAGCAGCUGGUGCA 3'; (Jacobs & Marnett, 2009); GL2 (5' CGUACGCGGAAUACUUCGATT 3').

Electroporation

Cells were electroporated using the Amaxa Nucleofector II apparatus and following the manufacturer's instructions and protocols for HCT116 cells and RPE-1 cells, respectively. Briefly, 1 million cells were resuspended in Cell Line Nucleofector Solution V containing 2 μ g of either pCDNA or ca-HSF1 plasmid and transferred to cuvettes. HCT116 cells were electroporated using the D-032 Program and for RPE-1 cells the Program was U-017.

Transcriptome and proteome data analysis

The analyses of quantitative transcriptome and proteome data were performed as previously described (Durrbaum *et al*, 2014). The data were retrieved from the Gene Expression Omnibus database with the following accession numbers: knockdown of HSF1 in HCC: GSE47639; knockdown of c-myc in HeLa, BT-474, MCF-7, MDA-MB-231: GSE5823; HCT116- and RPE-1-derived trisomies and tetrasomies: GSE47830 and GSE39768.

Statistical analyses

All data related to viability, Fluc folding and protein expression were analyzed using Student's *t*-test; *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001. All statistically analyzed experiments were performed at least three times.

Supplementary information for this article is available online: http://emboj.embopress.org

Acknowledgements

We are thankful to Ulrich Hartl, Richard Voellmy, and Petr Müller for generous gifts of reagents and acknowledge the excellent technical support of Aline Sewo-Pires de Campos. We thank Mary-Jeanette Andrews for help with analysis of the heat shock response and Abrar Zawed for assistance during the revision of the manuscript. We are grateful to Ulrich Hartl, Stefan Jentsch, Boris Pfander, Mark S Hipp and Lisa Vincenz as well as the members of the Storchova group for critical reading of our manuscript and for fruitful discussions. This work was supported by the Max Planck Society, the Center for Integrated Protein Science, Munich, and by a grant from Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft to ZS.

Author contributions

ND and VP performed experiments, SS performed initial experiments and analyzed the proteasome activity; MD contributed the bioinformatics analysis; ZS and ND conceived the study and wrote the manuscript, all authors analyzed the data and commented on the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Beroukhim R, Mermel CH, Porter D, Wei G, Raychaudhuri S, Donovan J, Barretina J, Boehm JS, Dobson J, Urashima M, McHenry KT, Pinchback RM, Ligon AH, Cho YJ, Haery L, Greulich H, Reich M, Winckler W, Lawrence MS, Weir BA *et al* (2010) The landscape of somatic copy-number alteration across human cancers. *Nature* 463: 899–905
- Chen G, Bradford WD, Seidel CW, Li R (2012) Hsp90 stress potentiates rapid cellular adaptation through induction of aneuploidy. *Nature* 482: 246–250
- Chen Y, Chen J, Loo A, Jaeger S, Bagdasarian L, Yu J, Chung F, Korn J, Ruddy D, Guo R, McLaughlin ME, Feng F, Zhu P, Stegmeier F, Pagliarini R, Porter D, Zhou W (2013) Targeting HSF1 sensitizes cancer cells to HSP90 inhibition. Oncotarget 4: 816–829
- Chuma M, Sakamoto N, Nakai A, Hige S, Nakanishi M, Natsuizaka M, Suda G, Sho T, Hatanaka K, Matsuno Y, Yokoo H, Kamiyama T, Taketomi A, Fujii G, Tashiro K, Hikiba Y, Fujimoto M, Asaka M, Maeda S (2014) Heat shock factor 1 accelerates hepatocellular carcinoma development by activating nuclear factor-kappaB/mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Carcinogenesis* 35: 272–281
- Colnaghi R, Carpenter G, Volker M, O'Driscoll M (2011) The consequences of structural genomic alterations in humans: genomic disorders, genomic instability and cancer. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* 22: 875–885
- Cox J, Mann M (2012) 1D and 2D annotation enrichment: a statistical method integrating quantitative proteomics with complementary high-throughput data. *BMC Bioinformatics* 13(Suppl. 16): S12

Dai C, Whitesell L, Rogers AB, Lindquist S (2007) Heat shock factor 1 is a powerful multifaceted modifier of carcinogenesis. *Cell* 130: 1005–1018

- Dang CV (1999) c-Myc target genes involved in cell growth, apoptosis, and metabolism. Mol Cell Biol 19: 1–11
- Davoli T, Xu AW, Mengwasser KE, Sack LM, Yoon JC, Park PJ, Elledge SJ (2013) Cumulative haploinsufficiency and triplosensitivity drive aneuploidy patterns and shape the cancer genome. *Cell* 155: 948–962

Donnelly N, Storchova Z (2014) Dynamic karyotype, dynamic proteome: buffering the effects of aneuploidy. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1843: 473–481

Durrbaum M, Kuznetsova AY, Passerini V, Stingele S, Stoehr G, Storchova Z (2014) Unique features of the transcriptional response to model aneuploidy in human cells. *BMC Genomics* 15: 139

- Ganmore I, Smooha G, Izraeli S (2009) Constitutional aneuploidy and cancer predisposition. *Hum Mol Genet* 18: R84–R93
- Gupta R, Kasturi P, Bracher A, Loew C, Zheng M, Villella A, Garza D, Hartl FU, Raychaudhuri S (2011) Firefly luciferase mutants as sensors of proteome stress. *Nat Methods* 8: 879–884
- Haugen AC, Goel A, Yamada K, Marra G, Nguyen TP, Nagasaka T, Kanazawa S, Koike J, Kikuchi Y, Zhong X, Arita M, Shibuya K, Oshimura M, Hemmi H, Boland CR, Koi M (2008) Genetic instability caused by loss of MutS homologue 3 in human colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res* 68: 8465–8472
- Hwang HC, Clurman BE (2005) Cyclin E in normal and neoplastic cell cycles. Oncogene 24: 2776–2786
- Jacobs AT, Marnett LJ (2009) HSF1-mediated BAG3 expression attenuates apoptosis in 4-hydroxynonenal-treated colon cancer cells via stabilization of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins. J Biol Chem 284: 9176–9183
- Jarosz DF, Taipale M, Lindquist S (2010) Protein homeostasis and the phenotypic manifestation of genetic diversity: principles and mechanisms. *Annu Rev Genet* 44: 189–216
- de Jonge HJ, Fehrmann RS, de Bont ES, Hofstra RM, Gerbens F, Kamps WA, de Vries EG, van der Zee AG, te Meerman GJ, ter Elst A (2007) Evidence based selection of housekeeping genes. *PLoS ONE* 2: e898
- Kampinga HH, Henning RH, van Gelder IC, Brundel BJ (2007) Beat shock proteins and atrial fibrillation. *Cell Stress Chaperones* 12: 97–100
- Li J, Soroka J, Buchner J (2012) The Hsp90 chaperone machinery: conformational dynamics and regulation by co-chaperones. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1823: 624–635
- Mathew A, Mathur SK, Jolly C, Fox SG, Kim S, Morimoto RI (2001) Stress-specific activation and repression of heat shock factors 1 and 2. *Mol Cell Biol* 21: 7163–7171
- Mendillo ML, Santagata S, Koeva M, Bell GW, Hu R, Tamimi RM, Fraenkel E, Ince TA, Whitesell L, Lindquist S (2012) HSF1 drives a transcriptional program distinct from heat shock to support highly malignant human cancers. *Cell* 150: 549–562
- Muller P, Ruckova E, Halada P, Coates PJ, Hrstka R, Lane DP, Vojtesek B (2013) C-terminal phosphorylation of Hsp70 and Hsp90 regulates alternate binding to co-chaperones CHIP and HOP to determine cellular protein folding/degradation balances. *Oncogene* 32: 3101–3110
- Nawata H, Kashino G, Tano K, Daino K, Shimada Y, Kugoh H, Oshimura M, Watanabe M (2011) Dysregulation of gene expression in the artificial human trisomy cells of chromosome 8 associated with transformed cell phenotypes. *PLoS ONE* 6: e25319
- Niwa O, Tange Y, Kurabayashi A (2006) Growth arrest and chromosome instability in aneuploid yeast. *Yeast* 23: 937–950
- Olzscha H, Schermann SM, Woerner AC, Pinkert S, Hecht MH, Tartaglia GG, Vendruscolo M, Hayer-Hartl M, Hartl FU, Vabulas RM (2011) Amyloid-like

The EMBO Journal

aggregates sequester numerous metastable proteins with essential cellular functions. Cell 144: 67-78

Oromendia AB, Dodgson SE, Amon A (2012) Aneuploidy causes proteotoxic stress in yeast. *Genes Dev* 26: 2696–2708

Pavelka N, Rancati G, Zhu J, Bradford WD, Saraf A, Florens L, Sanderson BW, Hattem GL, Li R (2010) Aneuploidy confers quantitative proteome changes and phenotypic variation in budding yeast. *Nature* 468: 321–325

Qian SB, Zhang X, Sun J, Bennink JR, Yewdell JW, Patterson C (2010) mTORC1 links protein quality and quantity control by sensing chaperone availability. *J Biol Chem* 285: 27385–27395

- Rampelt H, Kirstein-Miles J, Nillegoda NB, Chi K, Scholz SR, Morimoto RI, Bukau B (2012) Metazoan Hsp70 machines use Hsp110 to power protein disaggregation. *EMBO J* 31: 4221–4235
- Rohl A, Rohrberg J, Buchner J (2013) The chaperone Hsp90: changing partners for demanding clients. *Trends Biochem Sci* 38: 253–262

Schneider C, Sepp-Lorenzino L, Nimmesgern E, Ouerfelli O, Danishefsky S, Rosen N, Hartl FU (1996) Pharmacologic shifting of a balance between protein refolding and degradation mediated by Hsp90. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 93: 14536–14541

- Sharma K, Vabulas RM, Macek B, Pinkert S, Cox J, Mann M, Hartl FU (2012) Quantitative proteomics reveals that Hsp90 inhibition preferentially targets kinases and the DNA damage response. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 11: M111-M014654
- Sheltzer JM, Torres EM, Dunham MJ, Amon A (2012) Transcriptional consequences of aneuploidy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 109: 12644–12649
- Stankiewicz P, Lupski JR (2010) Structural variation in the human genome and its role in disease. *Annu Rev Med* 61: 437–455
- Stenberg P, Lundberg LE, Johansson AM, Ryden P, Svensson MJ, Larsson J (2009) Buffering of segmental and chromosomal aneuploidies in Drosophila melanogaster. PLoS Genet 5: e1000465

- Stingele S, Stoehr G, Peplowska K, Cox J, Mann M, Storchova Z (2012) Global analysis of genome, transcriptome and proteome reveals the response to aneuploidy in human cells. *Mol Syst Biol* 8: 608
- Stingele S, Stoehr G, Storchova Z (2013) Activation of autophagy in cells with abnormal karyotype. *Autophagy* 9: 246–248
- Taipale M, Krykbaeva I, Koeva M, Kayatekin C, Westover Kenneth D, Karras Georgios I, Lindquist S (2012) Quantitative analysis of Hsp90-client interactions reveals principles of substrate recognition. *Cell* 150: 987–1001
- Tang YC, Williams BR, Siegel JJ, Amon A (2011) Identification of aneuploidy-selective antiproliferation compounds. *Cell* 144: 499–512
- Torres EM, Sokolsky T, Tucker CM, Chan LY, Boselli M, Dunham MJ, Amon A (2007) Effects of aneuploidy on cellular physiology and cell division in haploid yeast. *Science* 317: 916–924
- Torres EM, Dephoure N, Panneerselvam A, Tucker CM, Whittaker CA, Gygi SP, Dunham MJ, Amon A (2010) Identification of aneuploidy-tolerating mutations. *Cell* 143: 71–83
- Upender MB, Habermann JK, McShane LM, Korn EL, Barrett JC, Difilippantonio MJ, Ried T (2004) Chromosome transfer induced aneuploidy results in complex dysregulation of the cellular transcriptome in immortalized and cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 64: 6941–6949
- Williams GT, McClanahan TK, Morimoto RI (1989) E1a transactivation of the human HSP70 promoter is mediated through the basal transcriptional complex. *Mol Cell Biol* 9: 2574–2587
- Williams BR, Prabhu VR, Hunter KE, Glazier CM, Whittaker CA, Housman DE, Amon A (2008) Aneuploidy affects proliferation and spontaneous immortalization in mammalian cells. *Science* 322: 703–709
- Zuo J, Rungger D, Voellmy R (1995) Multiple layers of regulation of human heat shock transcription factor 1. *Mol Cell Biol* 15: 4319–4330

6.3 microRNA deregulation contributes to the cellular response to aneuploidy

In this study we investigated the contribution of miRNA deregulation to the consequences of an euploidy in human cell lines. An euploidy results in profound changes of the cellular physiology as well as of the transcriptome and proteome (Donnelly and Storchova, 2015; Dürrbaum et al., 2014; Oromendia et al., 2012; Passerini et al., 2016; Stingele et al., 2012; 2013; Torres et al., 2007). Given that miRNAs post-transcriptionally regulate up to 60% of the transcriptome (Friedman et al., 2006; Landgraf et al., 2007), we asked whether miRNAs play a role in the response to an euploidy.

To investigate the miRNAome in aneuploid cells we sequenced small RNA of seven different aneuploid model cell lines and their corresponding parental cell lines. We found that the miRNAome in cells with extra chromosomes is genome-wide altered. Moreover, the deregulated miRNAome is rather a response to aneuploidy *per se* than caused by the specific extra chromosomes. Strikingly, the deregulated miRNAome affects common cellular functions such as cellular development, growth and proliferation. Integrated analysis of RNA sequencing data and previous acquired proteome data revealed that the majority of miRNA targets are negatively affected by the deregulated miRNAs. We found hsa-miR-10a-5p upregulated in 5 out of 7 sequenced cell lines and validated its overexpression in 15 different aneuploid cell lines. We show that this upregulation of hsa-miR-10a-5p governs resistance to shut down of ribosomal protein translation upon starvation.

Our analysis reveals for the first time, that the addition of extra chromosomes affects genome-wide miRNA expression. The downregulation of miRNA targets associated with cellular growth and proliferation indicates a direct contribution of miRNAs to the adverse effects of aneuploidy on cell physiology. Moreover, the commonly upregulated hsa-miR-10a-5p presents an adaptation mechanism of aneuploid cells that enhances translation under stress conditions such as starvation. Future studies will reveal the broader relevance of this adaptation to aneuploidy.

The deregulated microRNAome contributes to the cellular response to aneuploidy

Dürrbaum M, Kruse C, Nieken KJ, Habermann B, Storchová Z *Manuscript in preparation*

Aneuploidy, or abnormal chromosome numbers, severely alters cell physiology and is widespread in cancers and other pathologies. In model cell lines, aneuploidy impairs proliferation, leads to proteotoxic as well as replication stress and triggers conserved transcriptome and proteome changes. The underlying regulatory mechanisms of the response to aneuploidy remain elusive. In this study we show that the expression of microRNAs is greatly altered in cells with additional chromosomes. We demonstrate that the alterations occur in response to aneuploidy *per se* and independently of the identity of the extra chromosome. Further, we found that the deregulated microRNAome contributes to the cellular response to aneuploidy by negatively affecting cell development, growth and proliferation. Strikingly, we discovered hsa-miR-10a-5p upregulated in the majority of analyzed cell lines. We show that hsa-miR-10a-5p overexpression provides resistance to starvation- induced shut down of ribosomal protein translation. Thus, the changes of the microRNAome contribute on one hand to the adverse effects of aneuploidy on the cell physiology, but on the other hand also to the adaptation to aneuploidy by supporting the survival under adverse conditions such as starvation.

Introduction

A balanced karyotype is essential for cell viability and therefore aneuploidy, characterized by unbalanced changes in chromosome numbers and sub-chromosomal structural variations, has often profound detrimental consequences for cell physiology. In humans, aneuploidy is the major cause of spontaneous abortions and the few trisomies compatible with life result in severe developmental defects (Colnaghi et al., 2011). Aneuploidy in somatic cells is frequently associated with cancer, as 70% of haematopoietic and 90% of solid cancers show an abnormal karyotype (Mitelman et al., 2016; Weaver and Cleveland, 2006). Recently developed an uploid model systems that allow studying the consequences of an euploidy have accelerated our understanding of the effects of an euploidy per se. The physiological changes in response to an unbalanced karyotype are multifold, including impaired proliferation, replication stress and proteotoxic stress that is characterized by changes in protein stoichiometry, reduced protein folding capacity and chaperon levels as well as by activation of autophagy (Ariyoshi et al., 2016; Donnelly et al., 2014; Nawata et al., 2011; Niwa et al., 2006; Ohashi et al., 2015; Oromendia et al., 2012; Passerini et al., 2016; Pavelka et al., 2010; Stingele et al., 2013; Torres et al., 2007). The physiological response to aneuploidy goes hand in hand with a conserved transcriptional response that is manifested in a conserved pathway deregulation (Dürrbaum et al., 2014; Sheltzer et al., 2012). What triggers these changes in gene transcription and how exactly this specific response is modulated has not been clarified so far.

Given that the triggers of the transcriptional deregulations remain unclear, we asked whether microRNA (miRNA) regulation is involved in the response to aneuploidy. miRNAs are small non-coding RNA molecules that posttranscriptionally regulate gene expression of over 60% of protein coding genes (Friedman et al., 2009). The regulatory function of miRNAs is mediated by their binding to the target 3'untranslated region (UTR) via partially complementary sequences, thereby inducing translational repression and/or mRNA decay. Alternatively, some miRNAs bind to sites within the coding region or the 5'UTR (Liu et al., 2013; Schnall-Levin et al., 2011). One mRNA can be affected by multiple miRNAs that cooperatively translationally repress or degrade the target mRNA or compete for target regulation (Selbach et al., 2008). In turn, one single miRNA can repress hundreds of mRNAs and lead to large-scale transcriptome changes that for example play a key role in stem cell differentiation (Shenoy and Blelloch, 2014). Moreover, the complex miRNA-target network allows to fine-tune diverse cellular processes by modulating the amount of transcripts translated particularly upon stress conditions or changes in the environment (Hwang and Mendell, 2006; Leung and Sharp, 2010).

In the disease context such as in cancer, alterations of miRNA expression are common and specific miRNA deregulation profiles are sufficient to distinguish cancerous from non-cancerous tissues and to predict invasiveness and aggressiveness of various cancers (Kurozumi et al., 2016; Thomas et al., 2015; Yeh et al., 2016). The wide miRNA deregulation in cancers has been attributed to genomic copy number changes. For instance, the gain of arm of chromosome 1 relates to miRNA expression changes in cervical cancer (Wilting et al., 2012) and downregulation of let-7 family was associated with copy number changes in medulloblastoma, breast and ovarian cancer (Wang et al., 2012). In some cancers, deregulated miRNAs promote genomic and chromosomal instability by targeting the mitotic checkpoint or DNA damage repair components (Choi et al., 2014; Hell et al., 2014). Yet, beyond these few examples, we lack a deeper understanding of how aneuploidy in cancer and miRNAs are associated. Moreover, the relation of miRNA and aneuploidy *per se* has not been studied so far.

We have asked whether aneuploidy *per se* results in miRNA deregulation and whether this deregulation is specific to the numerical chromosome changes or general to aneuploidy. To this end, we have used a series of human trisomic and tetrasomic cell lines and their isogenic counterparts that were established previously in our laboratory (Stingele et al., 2012). Indeed, we found that chromosome copy number changes strongly deregulate the expression of more than 25% of miRNAs with only a few individual miRNAs commonly altered among different aneuploidies. Most of the identified miRNA deregulations negatively affect cell growth and proliferation, thus suggesting that miRNAs suppress proliferation of aneuploid cells. Most aneuploids strongly overexpress the miRNA hsa-miR-10a-5p that acts also via the 5'UTR of target mRNAs. We show that this provides the aneuploid cells with resistance to starvation by insuring sustained translation of ribosomal mRNAs. Our analysis of the global miRNAome changes in response to chromosome gain reveals a complex interplay of the gene expression regulatory mechanisms that shape the global transcriptome and proteome dynamics.

Results

Deregulation of miRNAome in human aneuploid model cell lines

In order to determine the effects of a chromosome gain on miRNA expression in human cells, we used a series of cells derived from HCT116 and RPE1 cell lines that contain one or more extra copies of chromosomes ((Donnelly et al., 2014; Passerini et al., 2016; Stingele et al., 2012), see Material and Methods for more details). We subjected four HCT116- derived cell lines trisomic for chromosome 3, 8 or 18 and tetrasomic for chromosome 5 as well as the parental HCT116 cell line to small RNA sequencing. In addition, we sequenced three RPE1- derived cell lines trisomic for chromosome 7, 21 and a cell line trisomic for both chromosome 5 and 12 as well as the parental RPE1 cell line. We have used the miRBase repository (http://www.mirbase.org, (Kozomara and Griffiths-Jones, 2013)), where 1881 mature human miRNAs are listed to date, as the miRNA data source for mapping. Mapping of the raw sequences to the human genome and subsequent identification of miRNAs with mirdeep2 (Friedländer et al., 2011) resulted in at least 554 and up to 719 identified mature miRNAs in the sequenced cell lines (Table 1).

	HCT116	HCT116 5/4	HCT116 18/3 c2	HCT116*	HCT116* 3/3 c11	HCT116* 8/3 c7	RPE1	RPE1 5/3 12/3	RPE1*	RPE1* 7/3	RPE1* 21/3
mature miRNAs in miRBase	1881										
mature miRNAs detected by mirdeep2	719	554	592	747	572	562	650	628	647	663	646
miRNAs with detected read count in every biological replicate	626	486	510	647	485	490	566	564	562	575	564

Table 1. Detected mature miRNAs

While the numbers of identified miRNAs were similar for all sequenced aneuploid cell lines, the extent of miRNA deregulation differed. We analyzed the differential miRNA expression in aneuploid cell lines in comparison to their diploid counterparts by applying DESeq2 for normalization and statistical testing (Love et al., 2014). Under the assumption of a negative binominal distribution, DESeq2 applies generalized linear models to test for differential expression. To estimate the variability, the assumption that genes with similar abundance show similar variance is made. Since miRNAs with very low expression levels are characterized by low read counts and an inherent large variability on the logarithmic scale, these miRNAs are pre-filtered (Love et al., 2014). This filtering reduced the number of miRNAs in the aneuploid cell lines with a read count greater than 10 to a range from 231 to 293 (Table 2). The RPE1- derived aneuploid cell line with three copies of chromosome 21 and carrying H2B-GFP (RPE1* 21/3) showed the lowest number of significantly deregulated miRNAs (log2 fold change +/-0.6, adjusted p-value <0.05) with 23 significantly deregulated miRNAs. The highest number of 74 deregulated miRNAs was found in RPE1 5/3 12/3 and HCT116 5/4 (Table 2). The percentage of deregulated miRNAs ranged from 9.6% (in RPE1* 21/3) up to 31.2% (in RPE1 5/3 12/3).

	HCT116 5/4	HCT116 18/3 c2	HCT116* 3/3 c11	HCT116* 8/3 c7	RPE1 5/3 12/3	RPE1* 7/3	RPE1* 21/3
miRNAs with a mean count $>=10$	249	280	279	293	237	247	231
miRNAs significantly deregulated log2 fold change >0.6 or <-0.6 (padj. <0.05)	74	57	27	44	74	33	23
percentage of significantly deregulated miRNAs	29.7	20.4	9.7	15.0	31.2	13.4	10.0
mRNAs with a mean count $>=10$	13887	-	-	13873	13278	-	13101
mRNAs significantly deregulated log2 fold change >0.6 or <-0.6 (padj. <0.05)	2885	-	-	410	2210	-	434
percentage of significantly deregulated mRNAs	20.8	-	-	3.0	16.6	-	3.3

Table 2. Deregulated miRNAs and mRNAs in aneuploid cell lines

There was only a weak correlation between the percentages of deregulated miRNAs with the amount of extra DNA (Suppl. Fig 1B). Thus, the altered miRNA expression in response to aneuploidy is largely independent of the amount of added extra DNA suggesting that the alteration in the miRNA is a general response to aneuploidy.

Effects of the deregulated miRNAome on the aneuploid transcriptome

To directly compare the changes in miRNA expression with the mRNA expression, we analyzed the transcriptome of HCT116 5/4, HCT116* 8/3 c7, RPE1 5/3 12/3 and RPE1* 21/3 by RNA sequencing. The percentage of deregulated mRNAs (log2 fold change +/-0.6, adjusted p-value <0.05) highly differed among the cell lines, with 3.3% in RPE1* 21/3, 16.6% in RPE1 5/3 12/3, 3.0% in HCT116* 8/3 c7 and 20.8% in HCT116 5/4 (Table 2). Thus, the percentage of deregulated mRNAs in specific cell lines shows a similar trend as the percentage of deregulated miRNAs. However, when comparing these percentages with the above-described percentages of deregulated miRNAs, we found that a larger fraction of miRNAs (ranging from 9.6 to 35%) than mRNAs (ranging from 3.0 to 20.8%) was altered in all cell lines. Thus, addition of extra chromosomes affects miRNA expression to a larger extent than it affects the mRNA expression.

We asked to what extend the transcriptional response to aneuploidy can be explained by miRNA regulation. To model the miRNA-target network, we retrieved reported miRNA targets from miRTarBase (v6.1) for all deregulated miRNAs of each cell line (Vergoulis et al., 2012). We then filtered these miRNA targets for those that were altered in response to aneuploidy. To simplify the complex multiple miRNAs to one target relation, we analyzed whether these deregulated mRNA targets were inversely expressed to their related

miRNAs. Compared to the total number of deregulated mRNAs, 22% of mRNAs are potentially targeted by deregulated miRNAs, judged by their inverse expression in HCT116 5/4 (Table 3). The percentage is lower in RPE1* 21/3, RPE1 5/3 12/3 and HCT116* 8/3 c7, were 18%, 16% and 3% of deregulated mRNAs are potentially targeted by the deregulated miRNAs, respectively. Thus under these approximations, only a minor fraction of the mRNA changes in response to aneuploidy might be directly influenced by miRNA regulation.

Cell line	Deregulated mRNAs	Deregulated miRNAs	Number of targets of deregulated miRNAs	Number of DE miRNA targets that are deregulated on mRNA level	Number of DE miRNA targets that are deregulated on mRNA level and show inverse expression
HCT116	3342	74	9111 miRNA- target interactions	1280	904 miRNA-target interactions
5/4			6644 unique targets	38.30%	729 unique targets 21.81%
RPE1 5/3 12/3	2484	74	6487 miRNA- target interactions	604	406 miRNA-target interactions
			4605 unique targets	24.30%	345 unique targets 16.34%
RPE1* 21/3	788	23	6036 miRNA- target interactions	214	142 miRNA-target interactions
			5078 unique targets	27.20%	127 unique targets 18.02%
HCT116 8/3 c7	250	44	965 miRNA- target interactions	12	7 miRNA-target interactions
			877 unique targets	4.80%	7 unique targets 2.8%

Table 3. Percentage of mRNA targets that are inversely expressed to the deregulated miRNAs

Finally, we asked whether the deregulated miRNAs would specifically target and regulate the expression of genes encoded on the aneuploid chromosomes to a near diploid expression (so called dosage compensation), which occurs for a small subset of genes (Stingele et al., 2012). However, our analysis of the target genes encoded on the aneuploid chromosomes did not indicate any role of miRNAs in dosage compensation (data not shown).

Cell line specific and general miRNA deregulation in response to aneuploidy

Comparison of the significantly altered miRNAs in aneuploid cell lines revealed a pattern of miRNA expression changes that is largely distinct for each specific cell line (Fig. 1A). Interestingly, the *Euclidean* distance clustering was not defined by the parental cell type,

but rather by distinct and cell line specific miRNA expression clusters of each aneuploid cell line. HCT116 5/4 showed the most prominent clusters of down- and upregulated miRNAs and appeared as an outlier in the Euclidean distance cluster. The upregulated miRNA cluster in HCT116 5/4 partially overlapped with the upregulated miRNAs in RPE1 5/3 12/3; among them most prominently the miRNA family miR-192/215 and the nearby located miR-194 and miRNAs hsa-miR-29b and hsa-miR-29c, which are encoded in a cluster on chromosome 1. Majority of the deregulated miRNA clusters overlapped only poorly with the other aneuploid cell lines. However, some similarities in the deregulated miRNAs were found. For instance, hsa-miR-21-5p and hsa-miR-24-2-5p showed similar upregulation in all HCT116-derived cell lines (Fig. 1B). Moreover, five out of seven sequenced aneuploid cell lines shared the upregulation of hsa-miR-10a-5p and hsa-miR-139-5p (Fig. 1C). Intriguingly, this upregulation did not affect the entire miRNA family and seems to be specific for the individual miRNA: while hsa-miR-10a-5p was upregulated in five out of seven of the analyzed cell lines, the family member hsa-miR-10b-5p was upregulated only in RPE1 5/3 12/3. Similarly, hsa-miR-22-5p was upregulated in five out of seven aneuploid cell lines. Moreover, hsa-miR-374b-5p was downregulated in all cell lines except RPE1 5/3 12/3 (Fig. 1D). In summary, there are vast dissimilarities in the deregulation patterns between the aneuploid cell lines and only a few miRNAs show common differential expression changes.



Figure 1. miRNAome in aneuploid model cell lines. A Heatmap of significantly altered miRNAs in aneuploid cell lines (adjusted p-value $\langle =0.05 \rangle$). Blue indicates downregulation, red upregulation. Row and column dendrograms show *Euclidean* distance between miRNA expression profiles and cell lines, respectively. Commonly deregulated miRNA clusters are highlighted by black lines. **B** miRNA expression profile of miRNA cluster upregulated in all HCT116-derived aneuploid cell lines. **C** miRNA expression profile of miRNA cluster containing hsa-miR-10a-5p and hsa-miR-139-5p that are upregulated in 5 out of 7 sequenced aneuploid cell lines (red line). Grey lines indicate miRNA cluster containing hsa-miR-374b-5p that is down regulated in 6 out of 7 sequenced aneuploid cell lines (red line) cell lines (red line). Grey lines indicate miRNA cluster containing hsa-miR-374b-5p that is down regulated in 6 out of 7 sequenced aneuploid cell lines ane cluster that are not commonly deregulated in 6 out of 7 sequenced aneuploid cell lines with H2B-GFP.

The presence of extra chromosomes in cells generally leads to an elevated expression of the genes that are located on the supernumerary chromosomes; thus the abundance of transcripts largely scales with the gene copy numbers (Dürrbaum and Storchova, 2015; Nawata et al., 2011; Sheltzer et al., 2012; Stingele et al., 2012; Torres et al., 2007; Upender et al., 2004; Williams et al., 2008). To determine whether this holds also true for miRNA expression, we ordered the miRNAs according to their chromosome location. We then compared the distribution of the miRNA expression from the aneuploid chromosomes to miRNA expression from the diploid chromosomes and tested whether higher expression of the aneuploid distribution occurs just by chance. The aneuploid chromosome-specific miRNA expression was significantly higher than the diploid miRNA expression only for RPE1* 7/3, RPE1* 21/3 and for the miRNAs encoded on chromosome 12 in RPE1 5/3 12/3 (Fig. 2A–C). In all other aneuploid cell lines, the miRNA expression distribution did not scale with the number of chromosome copies, although the miRNAs encoded on chromosome 5 in HCT116 5/4 and RPE1 5/3 12/3 showed an elevated median expression

in comparison to the disomic chromosomes (Fig 2C–G). Due to the relatively small number of deregulated miRNAs that were encoded on the aneuploid chromosomes, we cannot rule out that the shift of the expression towards higher levels occurs just by chance (Suppl. Table 1). In addition, the median miRNA expression is often higher than expected also for some disomic chromosomes (Suppl. Fig 2A). For instance, the median expression of miRNAs encoded on chromosome 11 and 17 are significantly increased in HCT116 5/4. Similar effect was observed in other analyzed aneuploid cells lines, where the median expression of miRNAs encoded on one or more disomic chromosomes is significantly higher or lower than expected. In summary, although 10-31% of miRNAs were strongly deregulated in response to aneuploidy in each individual cell line, only a few miRNAs showed a common deregulation pattern. These miRNAs were mostly upregulated, but their upregulation could not be explained by gene copy number changes, as they were largely not encoded on any of the aneuploid chromosomes. This suggests that not the gene copy number changes are responsible for the deregulation of these specific miRNAs, but rather that the increased expression reflects the cellular response to abnormal chromosome numbers.



Figure 2. Expression of miRNAs encoded on the aneuploid chromosomes versus miRNAs encoded on disomic chromosomes. Each blue dot represent one miRNA with its log2 fold change expression normalized to the corresponding parental cell line. Boxplots present 75%, 50% and 25% quantile, with median value shown. A RPE1* 7/3 that has additional copy number changes of chromosome 9 and 12 B RPE1* 21/3 C RPE1 5/3 12/3 D HCT116 5/4 E HCT116 18/3 c2 F HCT116* 3/3 c11 G HCT116* 8/3 c7 and H miRNAs of all aneuploid chromosomes compared to all disomic miRNAs. Note that the number of miRNAs does not correlate with the median expression fold change of the aneuploid chromosomes. Significance tested with Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test. Asterisks indicate cell lines with H2B-GFP.

Deregulated miRNAs affect similar molecular functions

To determine which cellular functions are affected by the changes in the miRNAome in aneuploid cells, we performed functional analysis based on the manually curated knowledge base of Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA http://www.ingenuity.com). This analysis revealed that the top five molecular and cellular functions affected by the deregulated miRNAs in response to aneuploidy were largely shared among the seven aneuploid cell lines. In particular, "Cell Cycle" was affected in all sequenced aneuploid cell lines (Fig. 3A). It should be noted, however, that only a few miRNAs (from two in HCT116* 3/3 to seven in HCT116 5/4) were implicated in this biological function. Most miRNAs were involved in "Cellular Movement", "Cellular Growth and Proliferation" and "Cellular Development". The miRNAome of HCT116* 3/3 showed different functional associations than all other cell lines and the number of miRNAs involved was less than seven. HCT116* 3/3 is also the only cell line were the pathway "Cellular Function and Maintenance" was identified as affected. The only pathways in HCT116* 3/3 that were shared with the majority of the other aneuploid cell lines were "Cellular Development" and "Cell Cycle".

The cellular and molecular function categories of IPA are divided into sub-functional annotation terms. We employed IPA to infer an activation state of the biological functions as an activation z-score. The IPA activation z-score is a quantitative measure of the predicted effect of the deregulated miRNAome on a biological function (Kraemer et al., 2014). It is calculated based on the direction of miRNA deregulation and the literaturederived positive or negative effects of these miRNAs on a biological function. Our miRNA dataset was sufficient to retrieve the z-score for the sub-functional annotation terms within the categories "Cell Death and Survival", "Cellular Development, Cellular Growth and Proliferation", "Cellular Growth and Proliferation" and "Cellular Movement" (Fig. 3B). Strikingly, the effect of the deregulated miRNAome on these functions is mostly negative. Almost all sub-functional annotation terms within the four parent categories were predicted to be inhibited or deactivated in HCT116 18/3, HCT116 5/4 and RPE1* 7/3. HCT116 5/4 shows the strongest effect with stringent z-scores below -2. No conclusive zscore could be retrieved for HCT116* 8/3 c7, RPE1 5/3 12/3 and RPE1* 21/3, with the exception of the pathway "Invasion of Tumor Cell Lines" with a z-score of 1.6 in RPE1* 21/3. In concordance with the identity of the five top molecular and cellular functions, HCT116* 3/3 miRNA deregulation does not predict an activation z-score for proliferation or growth associated functions, but only for the category "Cell Death and Survival". Therein, "apoptosis" is predicted to be activated with a z-score of 1.8 and 2 and "cell death" as well as "necrosis" with a z-score of 1.5 and 1.4, respectively. In summary, although only small numbers of commonly deregulated miRNAs were identified in cells with extra chromosomes, the miRNAome affects largely overlapping molecular and cellular functions, which were associated with cellular growth and proliferation. The negative effect on cell proliferation and growth executed either directly by impairing the proliferation pathway or indirectly by activation of cell death and apoptosis was conclusively predicted based on the miRNA changes in four out of seven aneuploid cell lines. We conclude that the miRNA expression changes in response to an uploidy result in a largely negative effect on cellular proliferation.



Figure 3. miRNAome of aneuploid cells affects cellular development, growth and proliferation A Top five cellular and molecular functions affected by the deregulated miRNAs in individual aneuploid cell lines. Dot size and colour indicates the number of miRNAs that are associated with a specific cellular function. **B** Subfunctional annotation terms for the four cellular and molecular functions with the most miRNAs involved (columns). Each row contains subfunctional annotations for one aneuploid cell line. The size of the boxes indicates the numbers of miRNAs associated (yaxis); the colour indicates the predicted activation z-score. Asterisks indicate cell lines with H2B-GFP. Hep. cells abbreviates hepatoma cell lines.

Integration of miRNA, RNA and protein expression data infers an effect on cellular development, cellular growth and proliferation

To further investigate how the miRNAs execute their negative impact on cellular development, growth and proliferation in aneuploids, we analyzed their targets. This analysis was performed for HCT116 5/4, RPE1 5/3 12/3 and RPE1* 21/3, for which miRNAome, transcriptome and proteome data were available (this work and (Stingele et al., 2012)). In total, 40 miRNAs were found to be associated with the cellular development, growth and proliferation category (Suppl. Fig 3A). The set of miRNAs

affecting cellular development, growth and proliferation was diverse and only partially overlapped within a subset of the analyzed cell lines. For the 20 miRNAs associated with the development, growth and proliferation category in HCT116 5/4, 604 experimentally validated miRNA-target interactions were found, with 325 unique targets (Fig. 4A). In RPE1 5/3 12/3 and RPE1* 21/3, 19 and 13 miRNAs interact with 238 and 208 unique targets, respectively (Suppl. Fig 3B,C). Importantly, chromosome alignment of the miRNAs reveals no bias for the aneuploid chromosome in either of the cell lines.

miRNAs may affect target protein levels only, or mRNA and protein levels simultaneously. To infer the effect of miRNA regulation on previously experimentally validated targets, we matched the transcriptome and proteome data to the targets of miRNAs within the cellular development, growth and proliferation category. Targets were filtered for their expression changes above/below a threshold ratio of +/-0.6 (log2 fold change) and only targets with a potential miRNA relation, that is, targets with inverse expression to the interacting miRNA, were considered for the annotation enrichment analysis. Strikingly, 72% of the filtered targets were downregulated at least on protein level in HCT116 5/4 (Fig. 4B). This is in line with the predicted downregulation of the molecular function term by the activation z-score. Importantly, this holds also true for RPE1 5/3 12/3 and RPE1* 21/3, for which the predicted activation z-scores were below the threshold (Suppl. Fig 3D,E). Thus, the target gene expression substantiates the predicted activation state of the molecular function, which was based solely on the miRNA expression values. This confirms the largely negative effect of the deregulated miRNAs on cell cycle and proliferation in response to aneuploidy.



Figure 4. miRNA target expression analysis infers functional role of miRNAs A Number of targets with strong evidence for each deregulated miRNA annotated in the "Cellular Development, Cellular Growth and Proliferation" category in HCT116 5/4. The size indicates the number of targets; the colour shows the significance of miRNA deregulation. The miRNAs are presented according to their chromosome location. B Target genes within the "Cellular Development, Cellular Growth and Proliferation" category and their mRNA and protein expression. Selected gene labels indicate targets with inverse miRNA-target expression, which are associated with cell cycle processes. Shape indicates the type of experimental evidence for a miRNA-target interaction. The colour indicates log2 fold change miRNA expression.

To analyse whether the filtered miRNA targets were indeed involved in the analyzed molecular functions, we performed functional annotation clustering with the DAVID functional annotation tool. As expected, the top annotation cluster was associated with cell cycle functions in HCT116 5/4 and RPE1 5/3 12/3, respectively (Suppl. Table 2). In RPE1* 21/3, cell cycle associated annotations were enriched in the second top cluster. Among the deregulated targets associated with the cell cycle function in HCT116 5/4 we found key players of proliferation, such as the mitotic checkpoint serine/threonine kinases (BUB1), cell division cycling 20 (CDC20), cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (CDK4) and checkpoint kinase 1 (CHEK1) (Fig. 4B). Two targets, namely the high motility group A2 (HMGA2) and regulator of chromosome condensation (RCC2), show a strong downregulation of both mRNA and protein levels in HCT116 5/4. RCC2 is also downregulated and targeted in RPE1 5/3 12/3. Also in RPE1- derived aneuploid cell lines, RPE1 5/3 12/3 and RPE1* 21/3, cell cycle associated factors were targeted (Suppl. Fig.

3D,E). For example, the minichromosome maintenance protein complex members (MCM2, 3 and 6) and Cyclin E1 were found downregulated in RPE1 5/3 12/3. Hence, the deregulated targets of the identified deregulated miRNAs in response to aneuploidy implicated in cellular development, growth and proliferation were indeed involved in these molecular functions and showed a strong association with cell cycle progression. The fact that majority of these targets were found downregulated and the interacting miRNAs upregulated suggests that the miRNAome in aneuploid cells negatively affects cellular proliferation and might contribute to the proliferation defect observed in aneuploid model cell lines.

hsa-miR-10a-5p activity is increased in human aneuploid model cell lines

Remarkably, we found miRNA hsa-miR-10a-5p upregulated in five out of seven aneuploid cell lines. Quantitative real-time PCR of 18 different aneuploid model cell lines, among them different clones with the same chromosome (for details see Material and Methods), revealed that the mean expression of hsa-miR-10a-5p was significantly increased above the levels of the parental cell line in 7 out of 18 cell lines and elevated in additional 8 cell lines (Fig. 5A). The trend towards upregulation were in line with the sequencing data, where a strong upregulation in HCT116 5/4, RPE1 5/3 12/3 and RPE1* 21/3 was observed, whereas HCT116* 8/3 c7 and HCT116 18/3 c2 showed a minor increase (Fig. 1D). The increased expression of hsa-miR-10a-5p might be a secondary effect of the expression of HOXB3 in which the miRNA sequence is located. Comparison of the hsamiR-10a-5p and HOXB3 expression levels in four cell lines revealed that only in two cell lines, HCT116 5/4 and RPE1* 21/3, both miR-10a-5p and HOXB3 are significantly upregulated (Suppl. Fig 4). The expression levels are remarkably similar in RPE1* 21/3, suggesting that the increased hsa-miR-10a-5p might indeed be a result of elevated HOXB3 expression in this cell line. In HCT116 5/4, however, the levels of hsa-miR-10a-5p are much higher than HOXB3 levels. In the additional two cell lines, the upregulation of hsamiR-10a-5p does not coincide with HOXB3 overexpression. Thus we conclude that the increased hsa-miR-10a-5p cannot be generally explained by increased expression of the host gene HOXB3.

To determine whether hsa-miR-10a-5p overexpression indeed affects gene expression in aneuploid cells, we used a luciferase reporter assay to determine its translational repression efficiency. The luciferase reporter consists of a miR-10a binding site in a synthetic 3'untranslated region (UTR) of the Renilla luciferase gene (Fig. 5B). The reporter contains a second unmodified Firefly luciferase gene to normalize for the transfection efficiency. Binding of hsa-miR-10a-5p to the luciferase 3'UTR shall result in translational repression of the luciferase mRNA and subsequent decrease in the luciferase signal. Indeed, the luciferase signal was significantly lower in four out of five tested HCT116- derived and RPE1- derived aneuploid cell lines (Fig. 5C). No changes in luciferase signal were detected in the HCT116* 8/3 c7 cell line; this is likely due to a relatively minor increase in hsa-miR-10a-5p expression in this cell lines (see Fig. 5A). Taken together, hsa-miR-10a-5p is overexpressed in aneuploid cell lines and shows higher endogenous translational repression activity of the luciferase reporter gene.



Figure 5. hsa-miR-10a-5p levels and activity are increased in aneuploid cell lines. A hsa-miR-10a-5p expression analyzed by quantitative real-time PCR in 18 different aneuploid model cell lines. Boxplots present minimal, maximal and the mean value. Relative expression levels normalized to corresponding parental cell line is shown. B Luciferase reporter construct to determine hsa-miR-10a-5p endogenous gene repression activity. hsa-miR-10a-5p targets its binding site in a synthetic 3'UTR of the Renilla luciferase mRNA resulting in translational repression and/or degradation of Renilla luciferase mRNA. Renilla luciferase signal is normalized to internal Firefly luciferase control (not shown). C Endogenous hsa-miR-10a-5p activity determined by psiCheck2-10a luciferase reporter assay with hsa-miR-10a-5p binding site in the synthetic 3'UTR. HCT116derived and RPE1-derived cell lines were transfected with psiCheck2-10a luciferase reporter construct. Luciferase reporter assay was conducted 48hrs post transfection. Data represent the normalized mean values +/- SEM from at least three independent experiments each performed in triplicates. One-way ANOVA, multiple comparison correction with Dunnett test. ns= not significant, *P<0.0332, **P<0.0021, ***P<0.0002, ****P<0.0001. Asterisks indicate cell lines with H2B-GFP.

The target database lists 298 unique target genes for hsa-miR-10a-5p. Majority of the targets have only weak experimental evidence and only nine targets were previously verified by luciferase reporter assays. Functional annotation enrichment of all on transcriptome level deregulated targets in HCT116 5/4 revealed that these were mostly phosphoproteins associated with the membrane and/ or the nucleus (Suppl. Table 3). Only six of the targets were downregulated on both transcriptome and proteome in HCT116 5/4. For example LIM domain and actin-binding protein 1 (LIMA1) that plays a role in cytoskeleton stabilization or metabolic enzymes such as fatty acid synthetase (FAS) and sorbitol dehydrogenase (SORD) (Suppl. Fig 5A). Of the 270 hsa-miR-10a targets with available expression data in RPE1- derived aneuploid cell lines, only two were downregulated on transcriptome and proteome in both RPE1 5/3 12/3 and RPE1* 21/3

(Suppl. Fig 5B,C). Thus, although hsa-miR-10a-5p expression and translational repression activity is increased in majority of the aneuploid model cell lines, only a very few targets of this miRNA show downregulation on mRNA and protein levels. This suggests that the hsa-miR-10a-5p function in regulating gene expression via binding to the 3'UTR of target mRNAs does not strongly contribute to the changes in response to aneuploidy.

hsa-miR-10a-5p overexpression governs resistance to starvation stress

To understand the role of hsa-miR-10a-5p in aneuploid cells, we considered the fact that hsa-miR-10a-5p binds also to the 5'UTR downstream of the 5'TOP motif that is found in mRNAs of ribosomal proteins (RP) and other translation associated protein mRNAs (Ørom et al., 2008). This binding results in enhanced translation of RP mRNAs and alleviates redistribution of RP mRNAs from active polysomes to inactive RNP complexes upon amino acid starvation. We asked whether the observed upregulation of hsa-miR-10a-5p influences the translation of 5'TOP motif mRNAs in aneuploid cells. To analyse the translation efficiency of mRNAs with the 5'TOP motif in aneuploid cells, we employed a luciferase reporter construct containing the transcriptional start site of the ribosomal protein S16 (Rps16) and 29nt of the exon 1 including the 5'TOP motif in the 5'UTR of a luciferase gene (pS16-wt-luc) (Fig. 6A, (Ørom et al., 2008)). We first determined the steady state levels of 5'TOP motif mRNA translation with the pS16-wt-luc luciferase reporter. Interestingly, despite the increased levels of endogenous hsa-miR-10-5p in all analyzed aneuploid cell lines, we have not observed any significant increase in the normalized Firefly luciferase signal compared to the wild type (Fig. 6B). In fact, HCT116 5/4 with high endogenous levels showed even significantly decreased luciferase activity.

Next, we asked whether modulating the levels of hsa-miR-10a-5p affects the translation of 5'TOP mRNA in aneuploid cell lines, as it was previously described for Mouse E14 ES cells (Ørom et al., 2008). To this end, we measured the luciferase activity after overexpression of hsa-miR-10a-5p mimic (Suppl. Fig 6A). The functionality of hsa-miR-10a-5p mimic overexpression was validated via its 3'UTR-mediated repression activity (Suppl. Fig 6B). Using the pS16-wt-luc luciferase reporter, we observed that hsa-miR-10a-5p overexpression enhances the 5'UTR-mediated effect on the translation of 5'TOP motif mRNAs in the parental HCT116 cell line as well as in three out of four tested aneuploids (Fig. 6B). A significant induction of luciferase activity was not observed only for HCT116 5/4. Thus, the expression of mRNAs with the 5'TOP motifs is sensitive to hsa-miR-10a-5p levels also in aneuploid cells and the degree of the responsiveness does not correlate with the endogenous amount of hsa-miR-10a-5p.

The translation of 5'TOP motif mRNAs such as RP mRNAs is tightly regulated and cellular stresses such as starvation result in their translational repression and redistribution into inactive ribonucleoprotein complexes (Meyuhas and Kahan, 2015). We hypothesized that upregulation of hsa-miR-10a-5p in aneuploid cell lines might provide resistance to cellular stresses such as starvation. To test this hypothesis, we deprived serum for 3 hours and measured the 5'TOP motif mRNA translation via the luciferase reporter assay (Fig. 6C). Serum starvation led to significant decrease of the luciferase activity in the parental HCT116 cell line. Intriguingly, all aneuploid cell lines were resistant to the reduction of

the 5'TOP motif mRNA translation that is induced by serum starvation in the parental cell line. This suggests that an increase in hsa-miR-10a-5p levels protects aneuploid cell lines from reduction of 5'TOP motif mRNA translation in response to cellular stress.



Figure 6. 5'TOP motif luciferase activity is less sensitive to starvation in aneuploid cells. A Schematic illustration of the pS-16-wt-luc luciferase reporter construct. RPS16 transcriptional start side and 29nt of Exon 1 including the 5'TOP motif is incorporated into the 5'UTR of luciferase gene. **B** pS16-wt-luc activity after overexpression of hsa-miR-10a-5p. Cells were reverse transfected with hsa-miR-10a-5p mimic or control molecule and forward transfected with pS16-wt-luc and pRL-TK 24hrs post mimic transfection. 72hrs later a luciferase assay was conducted. **C** pS-16-wt-luc activity after starvation. Cells were transfected as in B and 3hrs FCS starved before the luciferase reporter assay was conducted. Data presents Renilla normalized mean +/- SD values. Two-way ANOVA, multiple comparison correction with Sidak test. ns= not significant, *P<0.0332, **P<0.0021, ***P<0.0002, ****P<0.0001.

Discussion

Using an integrated approach of large-scale miRNA, RNA and protein expression data analysis and cell biology, we document here the deregulation of the miRNAome and its consequences in human aneuploid model cell lines. For the first time, we show that the addition of one or two chromosomes results in extensive genome-wide miRNA expression changes in human cells. We demonstrate that the deregulated miRNAome negatively affects development, growth and proliferation, thereby contributing to the cellular response to aneuploidy. Moreover, our evidence suggests that upregulation of hsa-miR-10a-5p in aneuploid cell lines might present an adaptation to aneuploidy by providing resistance to adverse growth conditions.

Karyotype alterations were previously associated with deregulated miRNA expression in some cancers. In general, miRNA coding regions show high frequency of copy number variations in ovarian, breast, melanoma and lung cancer (Czubak et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2006). Thus, aneuploidy or genomic instability can be a direct cause for miRNA deregulation. Yet, only in three out of seven analyzed aneuploid cell lines we observed a significant upregulation of the median miRNA expression from the extra chromosomes (Fig. 2, Suppl. Fig. 2). Therefore, the genome-wide deregulation of miRNAs observed in model aneuploid cells rather suggests a response to aneuploidy *per se*.

Aneuploidy results in impaired growth in mammalian and yeast model systems (Stingele et al., 2013; Torres et al., 2007; Williams et al., 2008). This is at least partially reflected in the conserved transcriptional changes in response to aneuploidy that includes the downregulation of DNA and RNA associated pathways (Dürrbaum et al., 2014; Sheltzer et al., 2012). Analysis of the cellular functions affected by the deregulated miRNAs revealed that cellular development, growth and proliferation are commonly targeted. Intriguingly, our integrated data analysis showed that the majority of targets that show an inverse expression to the deregulated miRNAs are indeed downregulated (Fig. 4, Suppl. Fig. 3). Among the downregulated targets are proteins that are crucial for the cell cycle progression such as BUB1, CDC20, CDK4 and CHEK1 in HCT116 5/4 or CyclinE1 and RB1 in RPE1-derived aneuploid cell lines. One of the targets, HMGA2 is strongly downregulated on both mRNA and protein level in HCT116 5/4. HMGA2 is a target of hsa-miR-26a-5p, let-7a-5p and hsa-miR-125b-5p that were found to affect cellular growth and proliferation. Downregulation of HMGA2 by hsa-miR-26a negatively affects cell proliferation and has tumour suppressive effects in gallbladder cancer (Zhou et al., 2014). Another strongly downregulated target is RCC2, which is targeted by hsa-miR-192-5p and hsa-miR-7-5p in HCT1165/4 and RPE1 5/3 12/3. RCC2 is essential for mitotic spindle assembly and recently an important, although poorly characterized function of RCC2 for G1-S transition has been recognized (Mollinari et al., 2003; Rosasco-Nitcher et al., 2008; Yenjerla et al., 2013). Together, these results suggest that the identified deregulation of miRNAs might contribute to the growth defects in aneuploid cells.

Remarkably, the deregulated miRNAome is largely unique for each of the analyzed aneuploid cell lines. Only a few deregulated miRNAs are shared in the majority of the analyzed cell lines. This is similar to the conserved transcriptional response to aneuploidy, where the individual deregulated genes are largely dissimilar, yet the affected pathways are common (Dürrbaum et al., 2014). Among the few commonly upregulated miRNAs is hsa-miR-139-5p. This is in contrast to cancer where hsa-miR-139-5p is frequently downregulated and associated with poor prognosis (Watanabe et al., 2015; Wong et al., 2011). This opposite expression pattern is similar to the changes of mRNA levels, where the transcriptional response to model aneuploidy is inverse to the cancer transcriptome (Sheltzer, 2013, our unpublished data).

Among the few commonly upregulated miRNAs we found hsa-miR-10a-5p and confirmed its increased endogenous activity using a specific luciferase-based reporter system. The function and expression of this miRNA are largely ambivalent in cancer and up- and downregulation as well as growth inhibiting and promoting functions have been reported (Jia et al., 2014; Ohuchida:2012ju; Long et al., 2012). Only a few hsa-miR-10a-5p targets showed a concordant downregulation on protein or mRNA level in human aneuploid model cell lines. These few affected targets were involved in diverse cellular functions such as cytoskeleton stabilization, transcriptional regulation and metabolic processes (Suppl. Fig 5, Suppl. Table 3).

The observation of only a few inversely expressed hsa-miR-10a-5p targets prompted us to investigate another possible function of hsa-miR-10a-5p. Hsa-miR-10a-5p binds upstream of the mRNA 5'TOP motif, thereby influencing the translation of mRNAs with this motif. The 5'TOP motif is a cis-regulatory motif present in transcripts encoding for the translational machinery, mostly ribosomal proteins ((Levy et al., 1991), reviewed in (Meyuhas and Kahan, 2015)). Assessment of the 5'TOP motif translation with the RPS16 luciferase reporter construct revealed that the higher levels of hsa-miR-10a-5p in aneuploid cells did not coincide with increased steady state 5'TOP motif mRNA translation (Fig. 6). However, overexpression of hsa-miR-10a-5p induced 5`TOP motif luciferase activity in diploid and analyzed aneuploid cell lines, just as previously described (Ørom et al., 2008).

What is the function of the upregulated hsa-miR-10a-5p in aneuploid cells? Upon nutrition deprivation or cell cycle arrest the translation of 5' TOP mRNAs is repressed, which is indicated by their shift to inactive ribonucleoprotein complexes (Ørom et al., 2008). We observed that the 5`TOP motif luciferase activity is not repressed upon starvation in aneuploid cells, whereas in the diploid parental cell line the 5`TOP motif luciferase activity is sensitive to starvation. Thus, we hypothesize that the upregulation of hsa-miR-10a-5p in aneuploid cell lines might be a protective adaption of aneuploid cells to adverse conditions such as starvation.

In conclusion, our systems biology approach demonstrates how the addition of extra chromosomes alters the miRNAome and consequently explains some of the transcriptome and proteome changes that occur in response to aneuploidy. We found that the deregulated miRNAome in response to aneuploidy contributes to the detrimental effects of aneuploidy on cell physiology. Moreover, we show that the miRNA deregulation might also provide an advantage for the cells by granting resistance to stress conditions. Our unique data set describes the aneuploid cells from an "omics" perspective and allows a global, quantitative analysis of the consequences of aneuploidy as well as the comparison of different aneuploid systems. With our analyses we uncovered the complex and multi-layered pathway deregulations in aneuploid cells and described the regulatory relationships that shape the gene expression in response to chromosome copy number changes.

Materials and Methods

Cell lines

The retinal pigment epithelial cell line RPE1 hTERT and RPE1 hTERT H2B-GFP were a kind gift from Stefan Taylor (University of Manchester, UK). The human colorectal cell line HCT116 was obtained from American Type Culture Collection (no. CCL-247). HCT116 H2B-GFP was generated previously by lipofection (FugeneHD, Roche) transfection of pBOS-H2B-GFP (BD Pharmingen) according to manufacturer's protocols (Kuffer et al., 2013)The tetrasomic cell line HCT116 5/4 were a kind gift of Minoru Koi (Baylor University Medical Centre, Dallas, Texas, USA). All other trisomic and tetrasomic cell lines were generated by microcell-mediated chromosome transfer as described previously (Donnelly et al., 2014; Passerini et al., 2016; Stingele et al., 2012). Cell lines originating from individual clonal populations arising from a single cell after by microcell-mediated chromosome transfer are indicated with their clone number (c#). The genome sequencing data of all cell lines are available upon request.

Cell line name	Origin	Full cell line name	Analysis in this	Remarks
			manuscript	
HCT116	Koi laboratory		RNA and sRNA	Kindly provided by
			sequencing; qPCR	Minoru Koi
HCT116 5/4	Koi laboratory		RNA and sRNA	Kindly provided by
			sequencing; qPCR	Minoru Koi
HCT116 13/3	MMTC into	HCT116 13/3 clone 2	qPCR	this work
c2	HCT116			
HCT116 13/3	MMTC into	HCT116 13/3 clone 3	qPCR	This work
c3	HCT116			
HCT116 18/3	MMTC into	HCT116 18/3 clone 1	qPCR	This work
c1	HCT116			
HCT116 18/3	MMTC into	HCT116 18/3 clone 2	sRNA sequencing;	This work
c2	HCT116		qPCR	
HCT116 21/3	MMTC into	HCT116 21/3 clone 1	qPCR	This work
c1	HCT116			
HCT116 21/3	MMTC into	HCT116 21/3 clone 3	qPCR	This work
c3	HCT116			
HCT116*	HCT116 from	HCT116 H2B-GFP	qPCR	(Kuffer et al.,
	AATC			2013)
	introduction of			
	H2B-GFP			
HCT116* 5/3	MMTC into	HCT116 H2B-GFP 5/3	qPCR	(Stingele et al.,
	HCT116 H2B-GFP			2012)
HCT116* 3/3	MMTC into	HCT116 H2B-GFP 3/3	sRNA sequencing;	(Passerini et al.,
c11	HCT116 H2B-GFP	clone 11	qPCR	2016)
HCT116* 3/3	MMTC into	HCT116 H2B-GFP 3/3	qPCR	(Passerini et al.,
c13	HCT116 H2B-GFP	clone 13		2016)
HCT116* 8/3	MMTC into	HCT116 H2B-GFP 8/3	qPCR	(Donnelly et al.,
c5	HCT116 H2B-GFP	clone 5		2014)
HCT116* 8/3	MMTC into	HCT116 H2B-GFP 8/3	qPCR	(Donnelly et al.,
c6	HCT116 H2B-GFP	clone 6		2014)
HCT116* 8/3	MMTC into	HCT116 H2B-GFP 8/3	RNA and sRNA	(Donnelly et al.,
c7	HCT116 H2B-GFP	clone 7	sequencing; qPCR	2014)
HCT116* 8/3	MMTC into	HCT116 H2B-GFP 8/3	aPCR	(Donnelly et al.,

Table 4. List of all cell lines used in the analysis.

c8	HCT116 H2B-GFP	clone 8		2014)
RPE1	Taylor laboratory	RPE1 hTERT	RNA and sRNA	Kindly provided by
			sequencing; qPCR	Steven Taylor
RPE1 5/3	MMTC into RPE1	RPE1 hTERT 5/3 12/3	RNA and sRNA	(Stingele et al.,
12/3			sequencing; qPCR	2012)
				Spontaneous gain
				of chromosome 12
RPE1*	Taylor laboratory	RPE1 H2B-GFP hTERT	RNA and sRNA	Kindly provided by
			sequencing; qPCR	Steven Taylor
RPE1* 21/3	MMTC into RPE1	RPE1 H2B-GFP hTERT	RNA and sRNA	(Stingele et al.,
	H2B-GFP	21/3	sequencing; qPCR	2012)
RPE1* 7/3	MMTC into RPE1	RPE1 H2B-GFP hTERT	sRNA sequencing;	This work
	H2B-GFP	7/3	qPCR	Spontaneous gain
				of chromosome
				9,12
RPE1* 3/3	MMTC into RPE1	RPE1 H2B-GFP hTERT	sRNA sequencing;	This work
	H2B-GFP	3/3	qPCR	

RNA sequencing and data processing

Following aneuploid cell lines and parental diploid cell lines were subjected to RNA sequencing: HCT116, HCT116 H2B-GFP (in the following indicated by *), HCT116 5/4, HCT116* 8/3 clone7, RPE1, RPE*, RPE1 5/3 12/3, RPE1* 21/3.

Total RNA was extracted using RNeasy Mini Kit (QIAGEN). TruSeq RNA library preparation and Illumina HiSeq2500 sequencing with 25 million 100bp single reads per library were performed by the Max Planck-Genome-Center Cologne, Germany (http://mpgc. mpipz.mpg.de/home/). Subsequently, sequencing adapters were removed from the raw sequences with cutadapt and sequencing reads were mapped to the human genome (hg19) using TopHat (v2.0.10) with the following parameters: "tophat2 -g1 -G". RefSeq information in the GTF file was downloaded from the UCSC genome browser. featureCounts (v1.4.3) was used to generate the count matrix with the same GTF file as for the alignment with the following parameters: "-t exon -g gene_id". Normalization and differential expression analysis was performed using the R/Bioconductor package DESeq2 (Love et al., 2014). For differential expression analysis, trisomic and tetrasomic cell lines were compared to the parental diploid cell line. The RNA sequencing data of all cell lines are available upon request.

small RNA sequencing and data processing

Following aneuploid cell lines and parental diploid cell lines were subjected to small RNA sequencing: HCT116, HCT116*, HCT116 5/4, HCT116 18/3 clone2, HCT116* 8/3 clone7, HCT116* 3/3, RPE1, RPE*, RPE1 5/3 12/3, RPE1* 21/3 and RPE1* 7/3.

Total RNA, including small RNAs from 18 nucleotides upwards, was extracted using miRNeasy Mini Kit (QIAGEN). TruSeq small RNA library preparation and Illumina HiSeq2500 sequencing with 25 million 100bp or 75bp single reads per library were performed by the Max Planck-Genome-Center Cologne, Germany (http://mpgc. mpipz.mpg.de/home/). If necessary, raw sequencing read ends were trimmed for low quality base calls using the FASTQ quality trimmer with the following parameters: "-Q33 -t 20 -l 17" (Hannon Lab, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory). Sequencing adapters were removed with cutadapt. Mapping to the human genome hg19 and miRNA identification

was performed using mirdeep2 (v2.0.0.8) (Friedländer et al., 2011) with the following commands: "mapper.pl -e -h -i -j -l 18 -m -p hg19 -q" and "miRDeep2.pl reads.fa hg19.fa others mature rmspace.fa genome.arf human mature rmspace.fa human hairpin rmspace.fa -d -t Human". The three biological replicates of aneuploid and the corresponding parental cell line were analyzed within the same analysis run. For subsequent normalization and differential expression analysis miRNA expressed all samples.csv was used as an input for DESeq2. Differential expression analysis was performed between aneuploid cell lines and corresponding parental diploid cell line. To account for sequencing batch effects, paired replicate information in addition to condition information was input to the DESeq2 analysis for HCT116 5/4, RPE1 5/3 12/3 and RPE1* 21/3 and corresponding parental cell lines. The sRNA sequencing data of all cell lines are available upon request.

Integrative mRNA, miRNA and target analysis

Data analysis, such as integration and data visualization was performed using the computing environment R. Mapping of identifiers as well as genome locations was performed with BioMart using biomaRt package in R (Durinck et al., 2009; Smedley et al., 2015). miRNA (miRNA) identifiers were retrieved from miRBase (v21). miRNA target information was retrieved from miRTarBase (v6.1) (Chou et al., 2016; Vergoulis et al., 2012).

Functional annotation analysis

miRNA differential expression datasets were analyzed using the Ingenuity Pathway Analysis Software (IPA http://www.ingenuity.com, QIAGEN). Core analysis was performed with the differential expressed miRNAs (log2 fold change +/-0.6, adjusted p-value <0.05) against the Ingenuity knowledge base considering direct experimentally observed relationships in human species. Functional annotation analysis results were exported and visualized in R.

Functional annotation analysis of target genes was conducted using the Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery (DAVID v6.8) by applying functional annotation clustering.

Quantitative real-time PCR of miRNAs

Total RNA, including small RNAs from 18 nucleotides upwards, was extracted using miRNeasy Mini Kit (QIAGEN). Reverse transcription was performed using the universal cDNA synthesis kit miRCURY LNA[™] (Exiqon) according to manufacturers protocol. UniSp6 RNA spike-in control was added to each sample in equal amounts. Quantitative PCR was conducted using the Light Cycler 480 System (Roche Diagnostics) using the ExiLENT SYBR® Green master mix miRCURY LNA[™] (Exiqon) and miRNA specific LNA[™] PCR primer sets (Exiqon) as well as the UniSp6 RNA spike control primer set (Exiqon). Absolute quantification with an external standard was performed and negative non-template controls were included in all experiments. The specificity of the primer product amplification was confirmed in each run by melting curve analysis. miRNA expression was normalized to the control spike RNA and corresponding diploid miRNA expression.

Luciferase reporter constructs

hsa-miR-10a-5p 3'UTR luciferase reporter (psiCheck2-10a) was constructed by cloning the complementary miRNA target sequence in the synthetic 3'UTR of psiCHECK[™]-2 Vector (Promega). PCR cloning was performed with the following primers:

top 5'-*CACAAATTCGGATCTACAGGGTAGTTTAAACCTAGAGCGGCCGCT*-'3 and bottom 5'-*CTGACCTATGAATTGACAGCCGCGATCGCCTAGAATTACTGC*-'3.

pS16-WT luciferase vector containing the transcriptional start site of the ribosomal protein S16 (Rps16) and 29nt of the exon 1 including the 5'TOP motif was a kind gift of Anders H. Lund (University of Copenhagen, Denmark). pRL-TK Renilla vector was a kind gift of Reinhard Fässler (Max Planck Institute of Biochemistry, Martinsried).

Endogenous hsa-miR-10a-5p mediated 3'UTR repression assay

Cell lines were forward transfected with psiCheck2-10a using Lipofectamine 200 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to manufacturer's protocol. Cells were reseeded into 96 well plates 24 hours (hrs) post transfection at 20.000/ well HCT116- derived cell lines and 10.000/ well RPE1 derived cell lines. Luciferase activity was monitored 48hrs post transfection using the Dual-Glo® Luciferase Assay System (Promega). Renilla luciferase activity values were normalized to the Firefly luciferase activity and subsequently to the parental cell line. Statistical testing and data plotting was performed in GraphPad Prism 6.

hsa-miR-10a-5p mediated 5`TOP motif mRNA translation assay

Cell lines were reverse transfected with miRCURY LNA[™] miRNA Mimic or miRCURY LNA[™] miRNA Mimic Negative Control (Exiqon) at 50nM using Lipofectamine 200 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to manufacturers protocol. Cells were forward transfected with the pS16-wt-luc Firefly luciferase reporter construct and pRL-TK Renilla luciferase control vector 24hrs post mimic transfection. 48hrs post mimic transfection, cells were reseeded into 96 well plates at 20.000/ well HCT116- derived cell lines and 10.000/ well RPE1- derived cell lines. Luciferase activity was monitored 72hrs post transfection using Dual-Glo® Luciferase Assay System (Promega). Starvation was performed by replacing the Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 1% penicillin/ streptomycin with DMEM without supplements for 3hrs prior measurement of luciferase activity. Firefly luciferase activity values were normalized to Renilla luciferase activity and subsequently to the parental cell line. Statistical testing and data plotting was performed in GraphPad Prism 6.

Supplementary Information (upon request)

Supplementary Table 1

Total number and number of deregulated miRNAs per chromosome (log2 fold change >0.6 or <(-0.6).

Supplementary Table 2

DAVID functional annotation clustering of "Cellular Development, Cellular Growth and Proliferation" miRNA target genes that are significantly deregulated (log2 fold change >0.6 or <-0.6) and have an inverse expression to the miRNA expression of HCT116 5/4, RPE1 5/3 12/3, RPE1* 21/3.

Supplementary Table 3

DAVID functional annotation clustering and functional annotation chart of hsa-miR-10a-5p targets, which are downregulated in HCT116 5/4.

References

- Ariyoshi, K., Miura, T., Kasai, K., Fujishima, Y., Oshimura, M., and Yoshida, M.A. (2016). Induction of genomic instability and activation of autophagy in artificial human aneuploid cells. Mutat. Res. 790, 19–30.
- Choi, Y.E., Pan, Y., Park, E., Konstantinopoulos, P., De, S., D'Andrea, A., and Chowdhury, D. (2014). MicroRNAs down-regulate homologous recombination in the G1 phase of cycling cells to maintain genomic stability. eLife *3*, e02445.
- Chou, C.-H., Chang, N.-W., Shrestha, S., Hsu, S.-D., Lin, Y.-L., Lee, W.-H., Yang, C.-D., Hong, H.-C., Wei, T.-Y., Tu, S.-J., et al. (2016). miRTarBase 2016: updates to the experimentally validated miRNA-target interactions database. Nucleic Acids Res 44, D239–D247.
- Colnaghi, R., Carpenter, G., Volker, M., and O'driscoll, M. (2011). The consequences of structural genomic alterations in humans: genomic disorders, genomic instability and cancer. Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology *22*, 875–885.
- Czubak, K., Lewandowska, M.A., Klonowska, K., Roszkowski, K., Kowalewski, J., Figlerowicz, M., and Kozlowski, P. (2015). High copy number variation of cancerrelated microRNA genes and frequent amplification of DICER1 and DROSHA in lung cancer. Oncotarget *6*, 23399–23416.
- Donnelly, N., Passerini, V., Dürrbaum, M., Stingele, S., and Storchova, Z. (2014). HSF1 deficiency and impaired HSP90-dependent protein folding are hallmarks of aneuploid human cells. The EMBO Journal *33*, 2374–2387.
- Durinck, S., Spellman, P.T., Birney, E., and Wolfgang, H. (2009). Mapping identifiers for the integration of genomic datasets with the R/Bioconductor package biomaRt. Nat Protoc *4*, 1184–1191.
- Dürrbaum, M., and Storchova, Z. (2015). Effects of aneuploidy on gene expression: implications for cancer. Febs J *283*, 791–802.
- Dürrbaum, M., Kuznetsova, A.Y., Passerini, V., Stingele, S., Stoehr, G., and Storchova, Z. (2014). Unique features of the transcriptional response to model aneuploidy in human cells. BMC Genomics 15, 1–14.
- Friedländer, M., Mackowiak, S.D., Li, N., Chen, W., and Rajewsky, N. (2011). miRDeep2. Nucleic Acids Res 40, 1–16.
- Friedman, R.C., Farh, K.K.-H., Burge, C.B., and Bartel, D.P. (2009). Most mammalian mRNAs are conserved targets of microRNAs. Genome Research *19*, 92–105.
- Hannon Lab, H. FASTX Toolkit. Hannonlab.Cshl.Edu.
- Haugen, A.C., Goel, A., Yamada, K., Marra, G., Nguyen, T.P., Nagasaka, T., Kanazawa, S., Koike, J., Kikuchi, Y., Zhong, X., et al. (2008). Genetic Instability Caused by Loss of MutS Homologue 3 in Human Colorectal Cancer. Cancer Res 68, 8465–8472.
- Hell, M.P., Thoma, C.R., Fankhauser, N., Christinat, Y., Weber, T.C., and Krek, W. (2014). miR-28-5p Promotes Chromosomal Instability in VHL-Associated Cancers by Inhibiting Mad2 Translation. Cancer Res 74, 2432–2443.
- Hwang, H.-W., and Mendell, J.T. (2006). MicroRNAs in cell proliferation, cell death, and tumorigenesis. Br J Cancer *94*, 776–780.
- Jia, H., Zhang, Z., Zou, D., Wang, B., Yan, Y., Luo, M., Dong, L., Yin, H., Gong, B., Li, Z., et al. (2014). MicroRNA-10a Is Down-Regulated by DNA Methylation and Functions as a Tumor Suppressor in Gastric Cancer Cells. PLoS ONE 9, e88057.
- Kozomara, A., and Griffiths-Jones, S. (2013). miRBase: annotating high confidence microRNAs using deep sequencing data. Nucleic Acids Res *42*, D68–D73.
- Kraemer, A., Green, J., Pollard, J.J., and Tugendreich, S. (2014). Causal analysis approaches in Ingenuity Pathway Analysis. Bioinformatics *30*, 523–530.
- Kuffer, C., Kuznetsova, A.Y., and Storchova, Z. (2013). Abnormal mitosis triggers p53-
dependent cell cycle arrest in human tetraploid cells. Chromosoma 122, 305–318.

- Kurozumi, S., Yamaguchi, Y., Kurosumi, M., Ohira, M., Matsumoto, H., and Horiguchi, J. (2016). Recent trends in microRNA research into breast cancer with particular focus on the associations between microRNAs and intrinsic subtypes. J. Hum. Genet. 1–10.
- Leung, A.K.L., and Sharp, P.A. (2010). MicroRNA Functions in Stress Responses. Mol Cell 40, 205–215.
- Levy, S., Avni, D., Hariharan, N., Perry, R.P., and Meyuhas, O. (1991). Oligopyrimidine tract at the 5' end of mammalian ribosomal protein mRNAs is required for their translational control. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *88*, 3319–3323.
- Liu, C., Mallick, B., Long, D., Rennie, W.A., Wolenc, A., Carmack, C.S., and Ding, Y. (2013). CLIP-based prediction of mammalian microRNA binding sites. Nucleic Acids Res 41, 138.
- Long, M.-J., Wu, F.-X., Li, P., Liu, M., Li, X., and Tang, H. (2012). Cancer Letters. Cancer Letters *324*, 186–196.
- Love, M.I., Wolfgang, H., and Anders, S. (2014). Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. Genome Biol *15*, 31.
- Meyuhas, O., and Kahan, T. (2015). Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. BBA Gene Regulatory Mechanisms *1849*, 801–811.
- Mitelman, F., Johansson, B., and F, M. (2016). Mitelman Database of Chromosome Aberrations and Gene Fusions in Cancer. "Http://Cgap.Nci.Nih.Gov/Chromosomes/Mitelman."
- Mollinari, C., Reynaud, C., Martineau-Thuillier, S., Monier, S., Kieffer, S., Garin, J., Andreassen, P.R., Boulet, A., Goud, B., Kleman, J.-P., et al. (2003). The mammalian passenger protein TD-60 is an RCC1 family member with an essential role in prometaphase to metaphase progression. Developmental Cell *5*, 295–307.
- Nawata, H., Kashino, G., Tano, K., Daino, K., Shimada, Y., Kugoh, H., Oshimura, M., and Watanabe, M. (2011). Dysregulation of Gene Expression in the Artificial Human Trisomy Cells of Chromosome 8 Associated with Transformed Cell Phenotypes. PLoS ONE 6, e25319.
- Niwa, O., Tange, Y., and Kurabayashi, A. (2006). Growth arrest and chromosome instability in aneuploid yeast. Yeast *23*, 937–950.
- Ohashi, A., Ohori, M., Iwai, K., Nakayama, Y., Nambu, T., Morishita, D., Kawamoto, T., Miyamoto, M., Hirayama, T., Okaniwa, M., et al. (2015). Aneuploidy generates proteotoxic stress and DNA damage concurrently with p53-mediated post-mitotic apoptosis in SAC-impaired cells. Nature Communications 6, 7668.
- Oromendia, A.B., Dodgson, S.E., and Amon, A. (2012). Aneuploidy causes proteotoxic stress in yeast. Genes & Development *26*, 2696–2708.
- Passerini, V., Ozeri-Galai, E., de Pagter, M.S., Donnelly, N., Schmalbrock, S., Kloosterman, W.P., Kerem, B., and Storchová, Z. (2016). The presence of extra chromosomes leads to genomic instability. Nature Communications 7, 1–12.
- Pavelka, N., Rancati, G., Zhu, J., Bradford, W.D., Saraf, A., Florens, L., Sanderson, B.W., Hattem, G.L., and Li, R. (2010). Aneuploidy confers quantitative proteome changes and phenotypic variation in budding yeast. Nature 468, 321–325.
- Rosasco-Nitcher, S.E., Lan, W., Khorasanizadeh, S., and Stukenberg, P.T. (2008). Centromeric Aurora-B Activation Requires TD-60, Microtubules, and Substrate Priming Phosphorylation. Science *319*, 469–472.
- Schnall-Levin, M., Rissland, O.S., Johnston, W.K., Perrimon, N., Bartel, D.P., and Berger, B. (2011). Unusually effective microRNA targeting within repeat-rich coding regions of mammalian mRNAs. Genome Research *21*, 1395–1403.
- Selbach, M., Schwanhäusser, B., Thierfelder, N., Fang, Z., Khanin, R., and Rajewsky, N. (2008). Widespread changes in protein synthesis induced by microRNAs. Nature

455, 58-63.

- Sheltzer, J.M. (2013). A Transcriptional and Metabolic Signature of Primary Aneuploidy Is Present in Chromosomally Unstable Cancer Cells and Informs Clinical Prognosis. Cancer Res *73*, 6401–6412.
- Sheltzer, J.M., Torres, E.M., Dunham, M.J., and Amon, A. (2012). Transcriptional consequences of aneuploidy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109, 12644–12649.
- Shenoy, A., and Blelloch, R.H. (2014). Regulation of microRNA function in somatic stem cell proliferation and differentiation. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 15, 565–576.
- Smedley, D., Haider, S., Durinck, S., Pandini, L., Provero, P., Allen, J., Arnaiz, O., Awedh, M.H., Baldock, R., Barbiera, G., et al. (2015). The BioMart community portal: an innovative alternative to large, centralized data repositories. Nucleic Acids Res 43, W589–W598.
- Stingele, S., Stoehr, G., and Storchova, Z. (2013). Activation of autophagy in cells with abnormal karyotype. Autophagy *9*, 246–248.
- Stingele, S., Stoehr, G., Peplowska, K., Cox, J.U.R., Mann, M., and Storchova, Z. (2012). Global analysis of genome, transcriptome and proteome reveals the response to aneuploidy in human cells. Molecular Systems Biology 8, 1–12.
- Thomas, J., Ohtsuka, M., Pichler, M., and Ling, H. (2015). MicroRNAs: Clinical Relevance in Colorectal Cancer. Ijms *16*, 28063–28076.
- Torres, E.M., Sokolsky, T., Tucker, C.M., Chan, L.Y., Boselli, M., Dunham, M.J., and Amon, A. (2007). Effects of aneuploidy on cellular physiology and cell division in haploid yeast. Science 317, 916–924.
- Upender, M.B., Habermann, J.K., McShane, L.M., Korn, E.L., Barrett, J.C., Difilippantonio, M.J., and Ried, T. (2004). Chromosome transfer induced aneuploidy results in complex dysregulation of the cellular transcriptome in immortalized and cancer cells. Cancer Res 64, 6941–6949.
- Vergoulis, T., Vlachos, I.S., Alexiou, P., Georgakilas, G., Maragkakis, M., Reczko, M., Gerangelos, S., Koziris, N., Dalamagas, T., and Hatzigeorgiou, A.G. (2012).
 TarBase 6.0: capturing the exponential growth of miRNA targets with experimental support. Nucleic Acids Res 40, D222–D229.
- Wang, Y., Hu, X., Greshock, J., Shen, L., Yang, X., Shao, Z., Liang, S., Tanyi, J.L., Sood, A.K., and Zhang, L. (2012). Genomic DNA Copy-Number Alterations of the let-7 Family in Human Cancers. PLoS ONE 7, e44399.
- Watanabe, K., Amano, Y., Ishikawa, R., Sunohara, M., Kage, H., Ichinose, J., Sano, A., Nakajima, J., Fukayama, M., Yatomi, Y., et al. (2015). Histone methylationmediated silencing of miR-139 enhances invasion of non-small-cell lung cancer. Cancer Med 4, 1573–1582.
- Weaver, B.A., and Cleveland, D.W. (2006). Does an euploidy cause cancer? Current Opinion in Cell Biology *18*, 658–667.
- Williams, B.R., Prabhu, V.R., Hunter, K.E., Glazier, C.M., Whittaker, C.A., Housman, D.E., and Amon, A. (2008). Aneuploidy affects proliferation and spontaneous immortalization in mammalian cells. Science 322, 703–709.
- Wilting, S.M., Snijders, P.J.F., Verlaat, W., Jaspers, A., van de Wiel, M.A., van Wieringen, W.N., Meijer, G.A., Kenter, G.G., Yi, Y., le Sage, C., et al. (2012). Altered microRNA expression associated with chromosomal changes contributes to cervical carcinogenesis. Oncogene 32, 106–116.
- Wong, C.C.L., Wong, C.M., Tung, E.K.K., Au, S.L.K., Lee, J.M.F., Poon, R.T.P., Man, K., and Ng, I.O.L. (2011). The MicroRNA miR-139 Suppresses Metastasis and Progression of Hepatocellular Carcinoma by Down-regulating Rho-Kinase 2. Gastroenterology 140, 322–331.

- Yeh, C.-H., Moles, R., and Nicot, C. (2016). Clinical significance of microRNAs in chronic and acute human leukemia. Molecular Cancer *15*, 37.
- Yenjerla, M., Panopoulos, A., Reynaud, C., Fotedar, R., and Margolis, R.L. (2013). TD-60 is required for interphase cell cycle progression. Cell Cycle *12*, 837–841.
- Zhang, L., Huang, J., Yang, N., Greshock, J., Megraw, M.S., Giannakakis, A., Liang, S., Naylor, T.L., Barchetti, A., Ward, M.R., et al. (2006). microRNAs exhibit high frequency genomic alterations in human cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103, 9136–9141.
- Zhou, H., Guo, W., Zhao, Y., Wang, Y., Zha, R., Ding, J., Liang, L., Hu, J., Shen, H., Chen,Z., et al. (2014). MicroRNA-26a acts as a tumor suppressor inhibiting gallbladder cancer cell proliferation by directly targeting HMGA2. Int J Oncol 44, 2050-2058.
- Ørom, U.A., Nielsen, F.C., and Lund, A.H. (2008). MicroRNA-10a Binds the 5'UTR of Ribosomal Protein mRNAs and Enhances Their Translation. Mol Cell *30*, 460–471.

Supplementary Figures



Supplementary Figure 1. Correlation of extra DNA and the percentage of deregulated microRNAs in aneuploid cell lines. Extra DNA was estimated as the bp length of the aneuploid chromosome. Blue line presents fitted linear regression with R squared=0.35.



Supplementary Figure 2. microRNA expression aligned according to their chromosome position A HCT116 5/4, HCT116* 8/3 c7, HCT116* 3/3 c11, RPE1 5/3 12/3, RPE1* 7/3 and RPE1* 21/3 with significantly increased or decreased median expression of chromosomes labelled with a red asterisks (Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test, p-value <0.05). **B** HCT116 18/3 c2 does not show altered median miRNA expression of any disomic chromosomes. Each blue dot represents a microRNA with

its chromosome location (x-axis) and log2 fold change normalized to corresponding parental cell line (y-axis). Red lines indicate log2 fold change >0.6/<-0.6. Boxplots present 75%, 50% and 25% quantile of the microRNA expression per chromosome. Asterisks indicate cell lines with H2B-GFP.



Supplementary Figure 3. A Heatmap of microRNAs associated with molecular function term "Cellular Development, Cellular Growth and Proliferation". Blue indicates downregulation, red upregulation. **B** Number of targets with strong evidence for each deregulated microRNA annotated in the "Cellular Development, Cellular Growth and Proliferation" category in RPE1 5/3 12/3. The size indicates the number of targets; the colour shows the significance of microRNA deregulation. The microRNAs are presented according to their chromosome location. **C** same as B in RPE1* 21/3. **D** Target genes within the "Cellular Development, Cellular Growth and Proliferation" category and their mRNA and protein expression. Selected gene labels indicate targets with inverse miRNA-target expression, which are associated with cell cycle processes. Shape indicates the type of experimental evidence for a microRNA-target interaction. The colour indicates log2 fold change microRNA expression in RPE1 5/3 12/3 and **E** in RPE1 H2B-GFP 21/3.



Supplementary Figure 4. Comparison of hsa-miR-10a-5p expression and HOXB3 mRNA expression. Bars represent log2 fold change expression ratio (aneuploid/ parental cell line) derived from RNA and sRNA sequencing.



Supplementary Figure 5. hsa-miR-10a targets mRNA and protein expression levels. **A** hsa-miR-10a-5p target expression in HCT116 5/4 on protein level (x-axis) and mRNA level (y-axis). **B** hsa-miR-10a-5p target expression in RPE1 5/3 12/3. **C** hsa-miR-10a-5p target expression in RPE1* 21/3. Each dot represents one target, colour indicates the adjusted p-value for the mRNA levels. Dotted lines indicate log2 fold change of 0.6 and -0.6. Asterisks indicate H2B-GFP.



Supplementary Figure 6. Overexpression of hsa-miR-10a-5p leads to repression of luciferase activity. A Schematic illustration of the mechanism of overexpression via miRNA mimic molecule transfection. Mimic transfection leads to enhanced translational repression of target molecules by incorporation of the guide strand into the miRISC. **B** hsa-miR-10a-5p mimic transfection results in repression of Renilla luciferase activity in HCT116 and RPE1 cell lines. Cell lines were transfected with hsa-miR-10a-5p and control mimic molecules. 24hrs post transfection, cell lines were forward transfected with psiCheck2 luciferase reporter construct. Luciferase reporter assay was conducted 72hrs post mimic transfection. Data present Firefly normalized mean values +/- SD.

6.4 Chromosomal instability, tolerance of mitotic errors and multidrug resistance are promoted by tetraploidization in human cells

Kuznetsova AY, Seget K, Moeller GK, de Pagter MS, de Roos JA, Dürrbaum M, Kuffer C, Müller S, Zaman GJ, Kloosterman WP, Storchová Z. Chromosomal instability, tolerance of mitotic errors and multidrug resistance are promoted by tetraploidization in human cells. Cell Cycle 2015 Jul 07;14(17):2810–2820.

In this study we investigated the consequences of whole-genome doubling in transformed and non-transformed cell lines. Whole-genome doubling events that occur frequently in cancer are associated with numerical and structural chromosome aberrations. This suggests a link between tetraploidy, GIN and aneuploidy. However, the long-term effects of tetraploidy and the underlying molecular mechanisms of how tetraploid cells survive are not well understood.

To evaluate the long-term effect of tetraploidy, whole-genome doubling was induced and rare surviving cell populations were isolated and analyzed. These post-tetraploid cell lines show mostly a near-tetraploid karyotype with complex numerical and structural chromosomal aberrations. We showed that this is the result of a CIN phenotype with an increased frequency of pre-mitotic and mitotic errors such as anaphase bridges, unattached and lagging chromosomes. The frequency of cell cycle arrest following chromosome missegregation is reduced in post-tetraploid cells, thereby indicating elevated tolerance to mitotic errors. Reduced nuclear p53 activation and expression abnormalities of p53 pathway components suggest an impaired activation of the p53 pathway as the underlying molecular cause of this tolerance. Finally, we demonstrate that post-tetraploid cells confer multi-drug resistance and increased capacity of *in vivo* transformation of some cell lines.

The fate of tetraploid cells is governed by higher tolerance of GIN that results in highly complex aneuploid progenitor cells. The mechanistic cue most likely lies in the perturbed p53 pathway, which might serve as a novel target in preventing GIN and multi-drug resistance in tetraploid-derived tumors.



ra Handara A Handara

CellCycle

ISSN: 1538-4101 (Print) 1551-4005 (Online) Journal homepage: http://www.tandfonline.com/loi/kccy20

Chromosomal instability, tolerance of mitotic errors and multidrug resistance are promoted by tetraploidization in human cells

Anastasia Y Kuznetsova, Katarzyna Seget, Giuliana K Moeller, Mirjam S. de Pagter, Jeroen A D M de Roos, Milena Dürrbaum, Christian Kuffer, Stefan Müller, Guido J R Zaman, Wigard P Kloosterman & Zuzana Storchová

To cite this article: Anastasia Y Kuznetsova, Katarzyna Seget, Giuliana K Moeller, Mirjam S. de Pagter, Jeroen A D M de Roos, Milena Dürrbaum, Christian Kuffer, Stefan Müller, Guido J R Zaman, Wigard P Kloosterman & Zuzana Storchová (2015) Chromosomal instability, tolerance of mitotic errors and multidrug resistance are promoted by tetraploidization in human cells, Cell Cycle, 14:17, 2810-2820, DOI: <u>10.1080/15384101.2015.1068482</u>

To link to this article: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15384101.2015.1068482

+	View supplementary material 🕜	ے ر	Accepted author version posted online: 07 ul 2015.
	Submit your article to this journal 🕑		Article views: 453
à	View related articles 🖉		/iew Crossmark data 🗷
ආ	Citing articles: 5 View citing articles 🗗		

Full Terms & Conditions of access and use can be found at http://www.tandfonline.com/action/journalInformation?journalCode=kccy20

Chromosomal instability, tolerance of mitotic errors and multidrug resistance are promoted by tetraploidization in human cells

Anastasia Y Kuznetsova¹, Katarzyna Seget¹, Giuliana K Moeller¹, Mirjam S. de Pagter², Jeroen A D M de Roos³, Milena Dürrbaum¹, Christian Kuffer¹, Stefan Müller⁴, Guido J R Zaman³, Wigard P Kloosterman², and Zuzana Storchová^{1,*}

¹Group Maintenance of Genome Stability; Max Planck Institute of Biochemistry; Martinsried, Germany; ²Department of Medical Genetics; Center for Molecular Medicine; University Medical Center Utrecht; Utrecht, The Netherlands; ³Netherlands Translational Research Center B.V.; Oss, The Netherlands; ⁴Institute for Human Genetics; Ludwig Maximilian University; Munich, Germany

Keywords: aneuploidy, cancer, CIN, drug resistance, p53, tetraploidy, whole genome doubling

Up to 80% of human cancers, in particular solid tumors, contain cells with abnormal chromosomal numbers, or aneuploidy, which is often linked with marked chromosomal instability. Whereas in some tumors the aneuploidy occurs by missegregation of one or a few chromosomes, aneuploidy can also arise during proliferation of inherently unstable tetraploid cells generated by whole genome doubling from diploid cells. Recent findings from cancer genome sequencing projects suggest that nearly 40% of tumors underwent whole genome doubling at some point of tumorigenesis, yet its contribution to cancer phenotypes and benefits for malignant growth remain unclear. Here, we investigated the consequences of a whole genome doubling in both cancerous and non-transformed p53 positive human cells. SNP array analysis and multicolor karyotyping revealed that induced whole-genome doubling led to variable aneuploidy. We found that chromosomal instability (CIN) is a frequent, but not a default outcome of whole genome doubling. The CIN phenotypes were accompanied by increased tolerance to mitotic errors that was mediated by suppression of the p53 signaling. Additionally, the expression of pro-apoptotic factors, such as iASPP and cIAP2, was downregulated. Furthermore, we found that whole genome doubling promotes resistance to a broad spectrum of chemotherapeutic drugs and stimulates anchorage-independent growth even in non-transformed p53-positive human cells. Taken together, whole genome doubling provides multifaceted benefits for malignant growth. Our findings provide new insight why genome-doubling promotes tumorigenesis and correlates with poor survival in cancer.

Introduction

Many malignant tumors contain cells with aberrant chromosome numbers. These changes vary from aneuploidy (imbalanced chromosome numbers) of one or multiple chromosomes, to numbers approaching triploidy or tetraploidy.¹ Aneuploidy is often accompanied by chromosomal instability (CIN), which manifests as ongoing gains and losses of chromosomes during mitosis² CIN contributes to tumor heterogeneity and is associated with increased resistance to drug treatment and poor patient prognosis.³ Studies revealed that CIN might be triggered by mutations in genes that control chromosome segregation.4-6 Whole-genome doubling that leads to tetraploidy provides another route by which aneuploidy can arise in tumors independently of mutations in mitotic genes.^{7,8} In this model, tetraploid cells formed by cytokinesis failure, endoreduplication or cell-cell fusion divide in a highly unstable manner due to supernumerary centrosomes and increased chromosome numbers. The compromised maintenance of genomic stability of tetraploids facilitates CIN and tumorigenesis. Indeed, injection of p53-deficient

Remarkably, tetraploid cells were found in early stages of several tumors and in total tetraploidy was documented in 37% of cancers.¹¹ This frequent occurrence suggests that passage through tetraploidy provides advantages that facilitate tumor growth. However, experimentally generated tetraploid cells often fail to propagate, as these cells arrest in a p53-dependent manner immediately after whole genome doubling or after the first tetraploid mitosis, which is often severely erroneous.^{9,12-15} This further impairs the proliferation after tetraploidization, as chromosome missegregation of even a single chromosome triggers a p53dependent arrest.^{14,16,17} Also, aneuploid cells arising due to chromosome missegregation suffer from proliferation delays and other physiological defects.^{18,19} So far, only little is known how human cells survive tetraploidy and what the long-term effects of whole genome doubling are. Previous data suggest that

tetraploid cells into nude mice triggers tumor formation, whereas isogenic diploid cells show no effect.⁹ Similarly, tetraploids arising from mouse ovarian surface embryonic cells develop aneuploidy, CIN and promote tumorigenesis when injected into mice.¹⁰

^{*}Correspondence to: Zuzana Storchová; Email: storchov@biochem.mpg.de

Submitted: 05/29/2015; Accepted: 06/27/2015

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15384101.2015.1068482

tetraploidy increases CIN to generate karyotypic heterogeneity, while also providing tolerance to potentially deleterious genetic changes.^{20,21} However, little experimental data is available to document the long-term effects of whole genome doubling in human cells.

Results

Whole genome doubling triggers aneuploidy and chromosome instability

To determine the long-term consequences of tetraploidization in human cells, we analyzed the fate of tetraploids generated from 2 p53-positive cell lines, HCT116 and hTERT-RPE1. HCT116 is a near-diploid cell line derived from human hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer and is chromosomally stable with characteristic microsatellite instability.^{2,22} hTERT-RPE1 (hereafter RPE1) is a chromosomally stable diploid retinal pigment epithelium cell line immortalized by constitutive expression of human telomerase. Both cell lines stably express H2B-GFP for visualization of chromatin by fluorescence microscopy. Tetraploid cells were generated by inhibition of the actomyosin ring with the actin depolymerizing drug cytochalasin D (DCD), which lead to cytokinesis failure in approximately 60% of cells.^{9,14} 600 DCD-treated cells were plated by limiting dilution into 96-well plates and allowed to expand for 6 weeks (Fig. 1A). All surviving cell populations were analyzed by flow cytometry. This analysis revealed near-tetraploid DNA content in 8 out of the 64 surviving HCT116-derived cell lines and in 7 out of 58 RPE1derived cell lines (Fig. S1A), hereafter referred to as PostTetraploid (PT) cell lines (HPT - derived from HCT116, RPT derived from RPE1). To minimize the effect of further evolution, all PTs underwent minimal passages before the analysis and were compared at the same "early" passage, unless otherwise stated. The posttetraploid cell lines showed only a mild proliferation delay and the duration of mitosis as well as the robustness of mitotic checkpoint activation were comparable to that of controls (Fig. S1B-G).

To determine the copy number changes after tetraploidization, we performed SNP array analysis in 6 HPTs, 3 RPTs cell lines and the respective parental cells. Recurrent chromosome copy number changes were observed in 3 out of 9 analyzed PTs (HPT1, HPT6 and RPT3; Fig. 1B, C, and Fig. S2A, B). SNP arrays analyze a pool of cells, which only allows detection of common changes that are shared by a majority of cells. To detect chromosomal changes in individual cells, we used multicolor fluorescence in situ hybridization (mFISH) karyotyping of HCT116, HPT1 and HPT2 cell lines. This analysis revealed heterogeneity within the PT populations, but not in parental HCT116: all 12 clonal cell lines originating from individual HCT116 cells remained chromosomally stable even after 80 generations, thus excluding that the emergence of karyotypic diversity is a consequence of clonal outgrowth of cells with preexisting karyotypic heterogeneity or an intrinsic characteristic of the parental line (Fig. 1D, and Fig. S2C, S3A-E). Moreover, the PTs also contained more chromosomal rearrangements than the diploids, although the difference was not statistically significant (Fig. S3A-E).

Since all PTs arose from a single cell, we hypothesized that the karyotypic heterogeneity indicates chromosomal instability arising after tetraploidization. We used fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) utilizing the chromosome enumeration probes to compare "early" karyotypes with karyotypes after additional 36 passages. The distribution of the chromosome copy numbers remained nearly identical in early and late HCT116 cells, whereas in HPT1 and HPT2 the numbers of chromosomes differed markedly (Fig. 2A and Fig. S4A). Chromosomal instability was also identified in RPT3 after 12 passages; in contrast, RPT1 cell line did not show significant changes in the FISH signal (Fig. S4B). Additionally, FISH analysis revealed a loss of the signal of chromosome 7 in 2 out of 4 analyzed posttetraploid cell lines (HPT1 and RPT3) that was present in both early and late passages. Changes in the number or structure of chromosome 7 are common in human cancers: trisomy of chromosome 7 is among the most frequently observed aberrations in cancers of the large intestine, while a loss of part or all of one copy of chromosome 7 is common in leukemia and lymphoma.²³ Taken together, transient tetraploidization can generate aneuploid and chromosomally unstable progeny even in non-transformed p53proficient parental cell lines.

Mitotic errors frequently occur in posttetraploid cell lines

To further characterize the chromosomal instability in the posttetraploid progeny, we imaged fixed cells and found that 15.8%, 15.0% and 13.8% of anaphases displayed segregation aberrancies in HPT1, HPT2 and HPT4, respectively, whereas only 3.7% of HCT116 underwent erroneous anaphase (Fig. 2B). The frequency of both anaphase bridges as well as the presence of lagging or unattached chromosomes was increased, suggesting that the frequency of both pre-mitotic and mitotic errors was elevated. Among the 3 RPT cell lines, only one displayed increased frequency of abnormal mitoses: 11.6% in RPT3 in comparison to 3.0% in RPE1, 3.1% in RPT1 and 1.4% in RPT4 (Fig. 2C). The multipolar mitoses were rare in PTs; the vast majority of cells segregated their chromosomes in a bipolar manner (Fig. S5A, B). In addition, a detailed analysis by imaging fixed cells stained with centrosome- and centriole-recognizing antibodies revealed no significant increase in the numbers of centrosomes and centrioles in PTs compared to the respective parental cell lines (Fig. S5C-G). This indicates that multipolarity alone cannot explain the high frequency of chromosome segregation errors in PTs.

The frequency of chromosome segregation errors could be elevated simply as a consequence of the increased chromosome numbers under the assumption that the error frequency correlates to chromosome number. However, normalization of the frequency of mitotic errors to the median chromosome number of each cell line revealed that the frequency of abnormal mitoses increases more than expected according to chromosome number in CIN⁺ PTs (Fig. S4C). Specifically, the mitotic error frequency increased 3.7–4.3 fold (from 3.7% to 13.8–15.8%), whereas



Figure 1. Posttetraploid progenies (PTs) are chromosomally unstable. (**A**) Schematic depiction of the experimental strategy. (**B**, **C**) SNP array profiles of HCT116, RPE1 and their posttetraploid derivatives. Copy numbers are indicated by colors. The log R represents the copy number; B-allele frequency (BAF) indicates the allele composition: BAF of 0 or 1 represents genotype of AA / A- / BB / B-, respectively; BAF of 0.5 represents AB. (**D**) Multicolor FISH karyotyping of 2 cells from the HPT2 cell line (number of chromosomes was 72 and 79, respectively). Note the difference in copy number of chromosomes 1, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 16, 17, 18 and 20.

modal chromosome numbers increased 1.7–1.8 fold (from 44 to 75–78) in HPTs. Similarly, the increase in chromosome numbers was 1.7 fold in RPT3, whereas the increase in mitotic errors reached 3.9 fold. Thus, the high frequency of mitotic errors in $\rm CIN^+$ PTs does not result from a simple linear increase of mitotic errors due to the higher numbers of chromosomes. Taken together, whole genome doubling supports the emergence of a $\rm CIN^+$ phenotype even in p53-positive non-cancerous cells, but it is not a default consequence.

Posttetraploid cells show increased tolerance to mitotic errors

The efficient proliferation of PT cell lines despite their aneuploidy and CIN suggests that the cells became more tolerant to mitotic errors. We analyzed the fate of parental diploid and tetraploid cells, as well as PTs after abnormal mitosis by long-term live cell imaging. The analysis revealed that 34.2% of diploid and 54.1% of newly formed tetraploid HCT116 cells that missegregated chromosomes arrested for at least 48 h or died in the

2812

Downloaded by [Library of MPI Biochemistry & MPI Neurobiology] at 03:12 11 May 2016



Figure 2. Posttetraploid cells display chromosomal instability and an increased frequency of abnormal mitosis. (**A**) Fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) against centromeric regions of HCT116 and HCT116-derived PTs. Comparison of chromosome number distribution for chromosome 7 in early passages and 36 passages later; mean and SEM of 2 independent FISH experiments. Chromosome 7 – red, chromosome 1- green, DNA was counterstained with DAPI (objective 63x, bar: 10 μ m). Percentage of abnormal mitoses evaluated in fixed images of HCT116 (**B**) and RPE1 (**C**) and their respective posttetraploid derivatives; mean and SD of 3 independent experiments. AnaphBridge – cells that contain an anaphase bridge; LaggingChr – cells containing a lagging chromosome; AnaphBridge-LaggingChr – cells containing both an anaphase bridge and a lagging chromosome; Multipolar – cells that underwent multipolar anaphase.

subsequent interphase (Fig. 3A). In contrast, only 11.0% of HPT1 and 9.8% of HPT2 cells arrested after chromosome missegregation (Fig. 3A, for fate analysis of individual cells see Fig. S6). Thus, whole genome doubling increases cell tolerance to errors in chromosome segregation.

The p53 pathway is deregulated in posttetraploid cells

We hypothesized that the tolerance to abnormal mitosis in PTs is due to changes in activation of the p53 pathway. To test this, we performed a micronucleation assay which allows visualization of missegregated lagging chromosome as a micronucleus in the daughter cells, combined with immunostaining with an antibody against p53. Whereas nearly 42.0% of HCT116 cells with micronuclei accumulated nuclear p53, only 25.0% of HPT1 and 26.9% of HPT2 cells showed nuclear p53 accumulation when a micronucleus was present in the cell (Fig. 3B, C). A similar experiment in RPE1 and its posttetraploid derivatives revealed that 66.4% and 50.7% of RPT1 and RPT4 cells that underwent missegregation accumulated nuclear p53, which is similar to parental RPE1 (66.8%). In contrast, we observed that



Figure 3. Posttetraploid cells are tolerant to mitotic errors. (**A**) Frequency of cell cycle arrest/cell death after bipolar mitosis with no apparent defects (normal mitosis) and with visible chromosome segregation defects (abnormal mitosis). Mean of 4 independent experiments and SD is plotted. Unpaired Student t-test was used to test for statistical significance. (**B**) Examples of p53 accumulation in the nuclei and micronuclei of the micronucleated cells. Yellow and white arrowheads indicate the micronuclei with and without p53 enrichment, respectively. p53-red, DNA was counterstained with DAPI, bar: 10 μ m. (**C and D**) Accumulation of p53 in the nuclei of cells forming micronuclei (MN⁺) in HCT116, RPE1 and their respective posttetraploid derivatives (panels **C**, **D**, respectively). Mean of 4 independent experiments and SEM are plotted.

only 25.9% of RPT3 cells with a micronucleus accumulated p53 in the nucleus (**Fig. 3C**, **D**). Thus, whereas chromosomally stable PTs accumulated nuclear p53 as the parental cell line, the p53 signaling upon chromosome missegregation is attenuated in the CIN⁺ posttetraploids (compare **Figs. 2C and 3B-D**).

The activation of the p53 pathway upon chromosome missegregation occurs possibly via phosphorylation of p53 on serine 15 or by activation of the p38/MAPK pathway.^{14,16,17} Analysis of the p53 and p38 protein levels revealed no significant changes in parental and PT cell lines during unperturbed growth (Fig. S7A, B). Next, we induced chromosome missegregation by treatment with 20 µM VS83, an inhibitor of the kinesin Eg5 that results in the formation of mitotic cells with monopolar spindles. Subsequent wash out of VS83 ensures bipolar spindle formation and progress through mitosis; however, the mitosis is highly erroneous.¹⁶ The frequency and type of errors upon treatment with VS83 was similar in both posttetraploid and parental cell lines (Fig. S7C, D). Markedly, we observed that p53 was not stabilized in HPTs and in RPT3 upon VS83 treatment, whereas the levels of p53 increased in HCT116 and RPE1, RPT1 and RPT4 (Fig. 4A, C). This finding is in agreement with the diminished nuclear accumulation of p53 that we identified in the CIN^+ clones (Fig. 3C, D).

Next, we analyzed transcriptome changes in 2 HPTs (HPT1 and HPT2) and 3 RPTs (RPT1, 3 and 4). We focused on 388 previously identified upstream and downstream interactors of p53 (see Material and Methods). Markedly, 23% of the analyzed genes were significantly deregulated with respect to the parental lines with a fold change of 1.5 in at least one of the HPTs or RPTs, but only 6 factors were upregulated in all PTs: LDHA (lactate dehydrogenese A), DGKA (diacylglycerol kinase), HIF1A (hypoxia induced factor 1), 2 inhibitors of apoptosis iASPP (inhibitory member of the ASPP family, encoded by PPP1R13L) and BIRC3 (Baculoviral IAP Repeat Containing 3), transcriptional factor ETS1 and transforming growth factor TGFA (Fig. 4E, and Table S1). Two genes were downregulated in all PTs: DUSP5, an inhibitor that negatively regulates members of the mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase superfamily (MAPK/ERK, SAPK/JNK, p38) and MST1 (macrophage signaling growth factor), a member of the MSP-RON signaling that plays a role in malignant invasive growth. We found 2 genes that were upregulated specifically in CIN⁺ cells: FOXO1 and NDRG1 that are both involved in response to oxidative and metabolic stress. Taken together, whole genome doubling promotes upregulation of factors promoting cell survival upon stress (HIF1, FOXO1) and alters expression of factors that inhibit apoptosis and MAP kinases (iASPP, BIRC3, DUSP5).

Posttetraploid cell lines acquire multidrug resistance and transform *in vitro*

To test whether whole genome doubling promotes increased resistance to cancer treatments, we compared the sensitivity of PTs with their respective parental cell lines to a broad range of anti-cancer agents. Effects of compounds on cell proliferation were determined using measurement of intracellular ATP content as an indirect readout of cell number.²⁴ We profiled 17

different anti-cancer agents at a wide concentration range over 9 points from 32 µM to 0.32 nm on the 2 parental cell lines and in HPT1 and 2, RPT1, 3 and 4 in 3 independent experiments. The inhibitory potency of the compounds was expressed as pIC₅₀ (-¹⁰logIC₅₀) values. Comparison of the relative drug sensitivity of the parental cells with that of the PTs revealed a general multidrug resistant phenotype in all analyzed posttetraploid lines derived from the non-transformed hTERT-RPE1 cell line (Table S2, Fig. 5A) as well as in the 3 posttetraploid lines derived from the colon cancer line HCT116 (Table S2, Fig. 5B). All PTs showed significant resistance to the topoisomerase II inhibitors daunorubicin, doxorubicin and etoposide (Tables S2 and S3; Fig. 5A, B). In addition, RPTs were significantly resistant to the pyrimidine antagonist 5-fluoracil, the inhibitor of the p53-MDM2 interaction nutlin3a and the growth factor receptor kinase inhibitor pelitinib. HPT cell lines showed significant resistance to the DNA crosslinker cisplatin, the microtubule-targeting agents docetaxel and paclitaxel, and the inhibitor of histone deacytelases vorinostat (Tables S2 and S3). Interestingly, HPTs showed increased sensitivity to the purine antagonist 6-mercaptopurine (Fig. 5A). Thus, whole genome doubling provides a general protection against drug treatment in both nontransformed and cancer cells. This marked feature might explain why whole genome doubling correlates with a poor prognosis and resistance to therapy in some cancer types.²¹

Finally, we determined the impact of tetraploidization on transformation capacity by assaying the anchorage independent growth of the posttetraploid progeny in soft agar (Fig. 5C). Since HCT116 is a cell line derived from colorectal cancer and therefore proficient in anchorage independent growth, we tested RPE1, a primary p53-positive immortalized cell line and its derivatives. The diploid RPE1 showed no anchorage-independent growth even after initiation/promotion treatment, where cells were exposed to the mutagen 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene (DMBA) alone or followed by exposure to the tumor promoter 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA). In contrast, RPT cell lines efficiently formed colonies in soft agar even in absence of any treatment, indicating that the selected surviving populations became transformed in vitro (Fig. 5C). This result was observed in 2 independent experiments in all 3 posttetraploid cells lines derived from RPE1. Thus, whole genome doubling promotes in vitro transformation even in p53-positive noncancerous cell lines.

Discussion

Whole genome doubling (WGD) is considered to contribute to eukaryotic evolution by facilitating adaptation while simultaneously buffering the possible effects of deleterious mutations.²⁵ Recent findings support a similar role for WGD in fostering tumor genome evolution in mammalian cells, however, it remains unclear how exactly tetraploidy benefits malignant growth. The cellular fates of tetraploids were previously analyzed in populations isolated by serial FACS sorting.^{20,26} These cells were found to be chromosomally stable likely because the serial



Figure 4. The p53 pathway is deregulated in posttetraploids. (**A**, **B**) Changes in abundance in p53, p38 and p21 and phosphorylation of p53 on Ser15 (p53-p) and phosphorylation of p38-p on Threonine180 and Tyrosine 182 (p38-p) in HCT116, RPE1 and respective posttetraploid cell lines with and without VS83 treatment. Four independent experiments were performed, an example of immunoblotting is shown; a Ponceau S stain was used as a loading control. (**C**, **D**) Quantification of the response to the missegregation triggered by release from VS83 treatment. The relative signal levels are presented as fold change of treated-to-untreated cells. Mean of at least 3 independent experiments with SD is shown, * marks statistically significant difference (P < 0.05). (**E**) Heat map of transcriptional fold changes of 91 significantly altered p53 interactors in posttetraploid cell lines (normalized to the respective parental cell lines).

sorting to cellular DNA content eliminated aneuploid cells that arise from tetraploids.²⁶ In another study, spontaneously arising tetraploid cells were isolated from the cancer cell line HCT116.²¹ This approach can only be used in cancer cell lines as spontaneous tetraploidization is rare in non-transformed human cells; an additional drawback is that the mechanism of spontaneous tetraploidization and possible underlying mutations remain enigmatic. Here, we isolated clonal cell lines from both cancerous and non-transformed cells that arose from survivors of induced cytokinesis failure. We found that all PTs harbored aneuploid karyotypes, but showed marked differences in the degree of CIN (Figs. 1, 2). Our findings demonstrate that tetraploidy leads to aneuploidy and chromosomal instability even in p53-positive non-cancerous cell lines, but also establish that a *bona fide* CIN⁺ phenotype is not a default outcome of whole genome doubling.



Figure 5. Posttetraploid cell lines are resistant to a broad spectrum of chemotherapeutic drugs and transform *in vitro*. (**A**) Dose-response curves of compounds showing different sensitivities in proliferation assays with the hTERT-RPE1 cell line and the posttetraploid cell lines RPT1, RPT3 and RPT4. (**B**) Dose-response curves of compounds showing different sensitivities in proliferation assays with the HCT116 cell line and the posttetraploid cell lines HPT1, HPT2 and HPT4. The posttetraploids lines are resistant to a broad spectrum of anti-cancerous drugs; except HPT1, 2 and 4 that are relatively more sensitive to 6-mercaptopurine. Fitted curve for 2 replicates from one or 2 independent experiments is plotted. Note that no fitted curve was determined for HPT1 upon etoposide treatment. See Material and Methods for details. (**C**) Phase contrast images of anchorage-independent colony growth in soft agar.

What causes the chromosomal instability in posttetraploid cell lines? CIN after whole genome doubling is often explained by a doubling of the centrosome number, however, the centrosome numbers in HPT and RPT cell lines were nearly normal (Fig. S5), in line with recent finding that multipolar mitoses are highly detrimental in human cells and thus an early loss of extra

centrosomes is necessary to ensure survival.^{26,27} The fact the centrosome numbers and multipolarity are not responsible for the CIN phenotype in PTs is best illustrated by the comparison of the RPT cell lines. Although both RPT1 and RPT3 show similar distribution of centrosome numbers, RPT1 is chromosomally stable, while RPT3 is chromosomally unstable and highly aneuploid (Fig. S5E and Fig. 2C). This implies that the chromosome composition of the cells may determine whether they are CIN⁺ or not. For example, imbalanced gene copy numbers due to aneuploidy might affect the functionality of protein complexes required for spindle functions or for the spindle assembly checkpoint.²⁸ Alternatively, microtubule dynamics might be altered due to changes in expression of microtubule associate proteins and motors, thus interfering with the stability of microtubulekinetochore attachments. This hypothesis is in line with the previous findings that microtubule dynamics are often altered in CIN⁺ cancer cell lines and affect the frequency of errors during mitosis.^{29,30}

Tetraploidy as well as chromosome segregation errors activate p53 pathway, thereby driving cells into irreversible arrest.^{14,16,17} Accordingly, TP53 mutations and p53 pathway alterations are frequently found in CIN tumors.³¹ Importantly, we found that the CIN⁺ posttetraploids were able to overcome the p53 activation as the levels of p53 and its nuclear accumulation were diminished upon chromosome missegregation (Figs. 3 and 4A). Additionally, analysis of transcriptome changes of the p53 interactors found 11 factors to be similarly deregulated in all PTs (Fig. 4D); all of the identified factors positively affect cell survival. Two genes were downregulated in all PTs: DUSP5, a direct target of p53 and an inhibitor of the mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases³² and MST1 (macrophage signaling growth factor), a member of the MSP-RON signaling; expression of MST1 is repressed in many types of human cancer.³³ Notably, expression of apoptotic inhibitors iASPP and BIRC3 (cIAP2) was upregulated in all PTs. Both iASPP and cIAP2 are upregulated in many cancers and facilitates their survival.³⁴⁻³⁶ TGF α , a growth factor, which activates signaling pathways for proliferation, differentiation and development and has been associated with many types of cancers,³⁷ is upregulated in all posttetraploids, similar to another pro-proliferative factor Ets1 that controls the expression of cytokines and chemokines.³⁸ Another upregulated transcription factor, Hif-1 α , is required for the response to hypoxia as well as for regulation of apoptosis.³⁹ PTs also upregulate expression of a downstream target of Hif-1 α , the lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA) that catalyzes the conversion of pyruvate to lactate. LDHA is a key factor of anaerobic glycolysis and instrumental for the switch from oxidative phosphorylation to increased glycolysis, so called Warburg effect that is typical for malignant cells.⁴⁰

Two p53 interactors were overexpressed only in CIN⁺ cells: FOXO1, the main target of insulin signaling and a transcription factor that regulates metabolic homeostasis in response to oxidative stress,⁴¹ and NDRG1 that has a poorly characterized function in stress response.⁴² The upregulation of stress-response factors in CIN⁺ PTs suggests that chromosomal instability imposes an ongoing metabolic and oxidative

stress on human cells that might arise in response to the disruption of the protein homeostasis due to ongoing changes in chromosome content. 43

Aneuploidy and CIN in tumors are often associated with increased resistance to drug treatment and therefore poor prog-nosis for cancer patients.^{44,45} We found that the posttetraploid cell lines gained resistance to a broad spectrum of small inhibitors that are used in chemotherapy. This multidrug resistance profile was found in both cells derived from a cancer cell line HCT116 as well as in posttetraploids originating from RPE1, a non-transformed and p53-positive cell line (Fig. 5). Several lines of evidence have been advanced recently demonstrating that aneuploid and tetraploid cancer cells confer resistance to some drugs.^{20,46,47} Why whole genome doubling provides increased multidrug resistance remains enigmatic and should be analyzed in future. Finally, we found that whole genome doubling promotes anchorage-independent growth, and hence in vitro transformation even in p53-positive cells. This ability was independent of the CIN⁺ phenotype. We propose that the expression changes that allow efficient proliferation despite abnormal karyotype by inhibiting apoptosis and stimulating pro-proliferative pathways contribute to the multidrug resistance and to in vitro transformation of human cells.

Taken together, tetraploidization benefits uncontrolled growth in both cancerous and non-cancerous cells. The molecular mechanisms underlying these effects remain to be addressed in the future. Identification of pathways that promote tetraploidy and its survival will be essential not only to understand the mechanisms leading to tumor formation but also for the development of novel strategies to prevent acquired multidrug resistance during cancer treatment.

Materials and Methods

Generation and culturing of posttetraploid cell lines

HCT116 H2B-GFP and RPE1 H2B-GFP (a gift from Dr. Steven Taylor, The University of Manchester, UK) were treated with 0.75 μ M of the actomyosin inhibitor dihydrocytochalasin D (DCD, Sigma) for 18 h. The cells were then washed, placed into a drug-free medium and subcloned by limiting dilution in 96-well plates (0.5 cell per well). Tetraploid RPE1 H2B-GFP cells were grown on plates coated with gelatin (Merck). After clone expansion, cells were harvested for flow cytometry to measure the DNA content. All cell lines were cultured in Dulbecco's modified medium (Gibco), supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (Gibco), 50 IU/ml penicillin, and 50 μ g/ml streptomycin (Gibco) at 37°C with 5% CO₂.

Immunoblotting

Total cell lysate was separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane (Roche) or nitrocellulose membrane (Whatman) as previously described. Following antibodies were used: anti-p53 antibody (1:100,Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc.), anti-p5er15-p53 antibody (1:500, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc.), anti- p21 antibody (1:1000, Cell Signaling), anti-p38 antibody (1:1000, Cell signaling), antipThr180/Tyr182-p38 antibody (1:200, Cell signaling). Immunoblot quantification was performed using Image J software.

Live cell microscopy

Long term live cell data were recorded on an inverted Zeiss Observer.Z1 microscope (Visitron Systems) equipped with a humidified chamber (EMBLEM) at 37°C, 40% humidity and in the atmosphere of 5% CO₂ using CoolSNAP HQ2 camera (Photometrics), Plan Neofluar 20x or 10x air objective NA 1.0, epifluorescent X-Cite 120 Series lamp (EXFO), using GFP filter and differential interference contrast (DIC) in DMEM. Imaging of fixed cells was carried out on Marianas SDCTM system (inverted Zeiss Observer.Z1 microscope, Plan Apochromat 63x magnification oil objective or 20x magnification air objective, equipped with spinning disc head (Yokogawa) and a CoolSNAP-HQ2 and CoolSNAP-EZ CCD Photometrics cameras (Intelligent Imaging Innovations, Inc.).

Chromosome spreads

The cells were treated with 50 ng/ml microtubule-depolymerizing drug colchicine (Serva) for 4.5 h, collected and pelleted using table-top centrifuge, swollen in 75 mM KCl in a 37°C water bath for 15 minutes, fixed with Carnoy solution (75% methanol and 25% acetic acid) and spread on a wet glass slide with a glass Pasteur pipette. The slides were dried at 42°C and stained with Giemsa dye (Fluka).

Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH)

FISH was carried out using satellite enumeration probes against centromeric regions of specific chromosomes (1, 3, 7, and 12) conjugated either to a red or a green fluorophore according to manufacturer's protocol (Cytocell, UK). DNA was counterstained with DAPI, and the cover slips were mounted on slides using antifade solution (Cytocell, UK).

Whole chromosome multicolor FISH (mFISH karyotyping)

Multicolor FISH was performed as previously described with a DNA probe mixture (24XCyte Human Multicolor FISH Probe Kit, MetaSystems, Altlussheim, Germany). The analysis was carried out using Adobe Photoshop (Adobe Systems, San Jose, USA) for visual inspection of the images; statistical analysis was performed using MS Excel (Microsoft) and Prism. Aberration ratio was calculated as number of derivative chromosomes normalized to a total number of chromosomes identified in analyzed cell spread.

SNP array profiling

Human CytoSNP-12 bead chip arrays (Illumina) were used for detection of copy number aberrations (CNAs) in clonal aneuploid and diploid cell lines. Array hybridization was performed according to the manufacturer's recommendations. CNAs were identified using Nexus software (version 7.5.1) with standard settings. To identify unique CNAs in clonal cell lines, we used the Nexus call coordinates and removed all calls of the same type with a reciprocal overlap of at least 60%. All profiles were manually checked.

Analysis of mitotic abnormalities

The cells were grown in the glass-bottom 96-black well plates and fixed with 100% methanol for 10 min at -20°C. DNA was stained with SYTOX Green Nucleic Acid dye (Molecular Probes, Invitrogen) with added RNAse. The imaging was carried out on Visitron Systems microscope.

Micronucleation test followed by anti-p53 immunostaining

The cells were seeded in the glass-bottomed 96-black well plates 48 h prior the experiment and then treated with DCD for 18 h. Only cells that became binucleated were scored. Cells were fixed with 100% MeOH and stained with DAPI (Carl Roth). Anti-p53 antibody (1:500, Cell Signaling) was used. The acquisition and analysis were performed using Slidebook 5 software with 3I microscope, 20x magnification objective. p53 status in the nuclei was determined by automated measurement of median intensities of p53 in the nucleus normalized by median intensity of p53 in cytoplasm.

Transcriptome data processing and analysis

Total RNA was extracted using RNeasy Mini Kit (QIAGEN). For the HPT cell lines microarray data preprocessing, normalization and analysis was conducted as described previously.⁴⁸ For next generation RNA sequencing of the RPTs, TruSeq RNA library preparation and Illumina HiSeq2500 sequencing with 25 million 100bp single reads per library were performed by the Max Planck-Genome-Center Cologne, Germany (http://mpgc. mpipz.mpg.de/home/). Subsequently to adapter removal with cutadapt, reads were mapped to the human genome (hg19) using TopHat (v2.0.10) with the following parameters: "tophat2 -g1 -G". RefSeq information in the GTF file was downloaded from the UCSC genome browser. featureCounts (v1.4.3) was used to generate the count matrix with the same GTF file as for the alignment and the following parameters: "-t exon -g gene_id". Normalization and differential expression analysis of the count matrix data was performed using the R/Bioconductor package DESeq2. For differential expression analysis, PTs were compared to the parental diploid cell line. Processed and normalized RNA sequencing data (RPE1 derived cell lines) or microarray data (HCT116 derived cell lines) were analyzed by QIAGEN's Ingenuity® Pathway Analysis and visualized with R. p53 physical and genetic interactors were identified in the IPA knowledge base.

Cell proliferation assay

The compounds were obtained from commercial suppliers and dissolved in 100% DMSO. Cells were dispensed in a 384-well plate at 400 cells per well. After 24 h, 5 μ l of compound dilution was added and plates were further incubated for another 72 h, after which 25 μ l of ATPlite 1StepTM (PerkinElmer, Groningen, The Netherlands) solution was added to each well. Luminescence was recorded on an EnvisionTM multimode reader (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA, USA). IC₅₀s were fitted by non-linear regression using XLfitTM5. A two-tailed Student's t-test was performed

to determine whether differences in sensitivity (Δ pIC50) were statistically significant (i.e., P < 0.05).

Anchorage independent growth assay

Cells were treated with ethanol as a vehicle or DMBA ($2\mu M$ or 4 μM) for 3 days. Subsequently cells were either seeded on soft agar or treated with 100 ng/ml TPA or with DMSO as a vehicle control for next 10 days before seeding on soft agar.

Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflicts of interest were disclosed.

References

- Storchova Z, Kuffer C. The consequences of tetraploidy and aneuploidy. J Cell Sci 2008; 121:3859-66; PMID:19020304; http://dx.doi.org/10.1242/jcs.039537
- Lengauer C, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Genetic instability in colorectal cancers. Nature 1997; 386:623-7; PMID:9121588; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/386623a0
 Burrell RA, McGranahan N, Bartek J, Swanton C. The
- Burrell RA, McGranahan N, Bartek J, Swanton C. The causes and consequences of genetic heterogeneity in cancer evolution. Nature 2013; 501:338-45; PMID:24048066; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature12625
- Sotillo R, Hernando E, Diaz-Rodriguez E, Teruya-Feldstein J, Cordon-Cardo C, Lowe SW, Benezra R. Mad2 overexpression promotes aneuploidy and tumorigenesis in mice. Cancer Cell 2007; 11:9-23; PMID:17189715; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr. 2006.10.019
- Weaver BA, Silk AD, Montagna C, Verdier-Pinard P, Cleveland DW. Aneuploidy acts both oncogenically and as a tumor suppressor. Cancer Cell 2007; 11:25-36; PMID:17189716; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. ccr.2006.12.003
- Ricke RM, Jeganathan KB, van Deursen JM. Bub1 overexpression induces aneuploidy and tumor formation through Aurora B kinase hyperactivation. J Cell Biol 2011; 193:1049-64; PMID:21646403; http://dx. doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201012035
- Shackney SE, Smith CA, Miller BW, Burholt DR, Murtha K, Giles HR, Ketterer DM, Pollice AA. Model for the genetic evolution of human solid tumors. Cancer Res 1989:3344-54; PMID:2720687
- Storchova Z, Pellman D. From polyploidy to aneuploidy, genome instability and cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5:45-54; PMID:14708009; http://dx. doi.org/10.1038/nrm1276
- Fujiwara T, Bandi M, Nitta M, Ivanova EV, Bronson RT, Pellman D. Cytokinesis failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. Nature 2005; 437:1043-7; PMID:16222300
- Lv L, Zhang T, Yi Q, Huang Y, Wang Z, Hou H, Guo Z, Cooke HJ, Shi Q. Tetraploid cells from cytokinesis failure induce aneuploidy and spontaneous transformation of mouse ovarian surface epithelial cells. Cell Cycle 2012; 11:2864-75; PMID:22801546; http://dx.doi. org/10.4161/cc.21196
- Zack TI, Schumacher SE, Carter SL, Cherniack AD, Saksena G, Tabak B, Lawrence MS, Zhsng CZ, Wala J, Mermel CH, et al. Pan-cancer patterns of somatic copy number alteration. Nat Genet 2013; 45:1134-40; PMID:24071852; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ng.2760
- Lanni JS, Jacks T. Characterization of the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint following spindle disruption. Mol Cell Biol 1998; 18:1055-64; PMID:9448003
- Andreassen PR, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB, Margolis RL. Tetraploid state induces p53-dependent arrest of nontransformed mammalian cells in G1. Mol Biol Cell

2001; 12:1315-28; PMID:11359924; http://dx.doi. org/10.1091/mbc.12.5.1315

- Kuffer C, Kuznetsova A, Storchová Z. Abnormal mitosis triggers p53-dependent cell cycle arrest in human tetraploid cells. Chromosoma 2013:1-14; PMID:23192763
- Ganem NJ, Cornils H, Chiu SY, O'Rourke KP, Arnaud J, Yimlamai D, Théry M, Camargo FD, Pellman D. Cytokinesis failure triggers hippo tumor suppressor pathway activation. Cell 2014; 158:833-48; PMID:25126788; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2014.06.029
- Thompson SL, Compton DA. Proliferation of aneuploid human cells is limited by a p53-dependent mechanism. J Cell Biol 2010; 188:369-81; PMID:20123995; http://dx. doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200905057
- Li M, Fang X, Baker DJ, Guo L, Gao X, Wei Z, Han S, van Deursen JM, Zhang P. The ATM-p53 pathway suppresses aneuploidy-induced tumorigenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011; 107:14188-93; PMID:20663956; http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1005960107
- Williams BR, Prabhu VR, Hunter KE, Glazier CM, Whittaker CA, Housman DE, Amon A. Aneuploidy affects proliferation and spontaneous immortalization in mammalian cells. Science 2008; 322:703-9; PMID:18974345; http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science. 1160058
- Stingele S, Stoehr G, Peplowska K, Cox J, Mann M, Storchova Z. Global analysis of genome, transcriptome and proteome reveals the response to aneuploidy in human cells. Mol Sys Biol 2012; 8:608; PMID:22968442; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1038/msb.2012.40
- Castedo M, Coquelle A, Vivet S, Vitale I, Kauffmann A, Dessen P, Pequignot MO, Casares N, Valent A, Mouhamad S, et al. Apoptosis regulation in tetraploid cancer cells. EMBO J 2006; 25:2584-95; PMID:16675948; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601127
- Dewhurst SM, McGranahan N, Burrell RA, Rowan AJ, Gronroos E, Endesfelder D, Joshi T, Mouradov D, Gibbs P, Ward RL, et al. Tolerance of whole-genome doubling propagates chromosomal instability and accelerates cancer genome evolution. Cancer Dis 2014; 4:175-85; PMID:24436049; http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-13-0285
- Masramon L, Ribas M, Cifuentes P, Arribas R, García F, Egozcue J, Peinado MA, Miró R. Cytogenetic characterization of two colon cell lines by using conventional G-banding, comparative genomic hybridization, and whole chromosome painting. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 2000; 121:17-21; PMID:10958935; http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/S0165-4608(00)00219-3
- Honda H, Nagamachi A, Inaba T. -7/7q- syndrome in myeloid-lineage hematopoietic malignancies: attempts to understand this complex disease entity. Oncogene 2014; 0.
- 24. Uitdehaag JC, de Roos JA, van Doornmalen AM, Prinsen MB, de Man J, Tanizawa Y, Kawase Y, Yoshino K,

Acknowledgments

We thank Aline Sewo Pires de Campos for excellent technical assistance and Neysan Donnelly and Verena Passerini for comments to the manuscript.

Funding

This work was supported by the Max Planck Society and by Center for Integrated Protein Science Munich (CIPSM) to ZS. KS is supported by Marie Curie Action: PloidyNet.

Supplemental Material

Supplemental data for this article can be accessed on the publisher's website.

Buijsman RC, Zaman GJ. Comparison of the cancer gene targeting and biochemical selectivities of all targeted kinase inhibitors approved for clinical use. PloS One 2014; 9:e92146; PMID:24651269; http://dx.doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0092146

- Semon M, Wolfe KH. Consequences of genome duplication. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2007; 17:505-12; PMID:18006297; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gde. 2007.09.007
- Ganem NJ, Godinho SA, Pellman D. A mechanism linking extra centrosomes to chromosomal instability. Nature 2009; 460:278-82; PMID:19506557; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature08136
- Krzywicka-Racka A, Sluder G. Repeated cleavage failure does not establish centrosome amplification in untransformed human cells. J Cell Biol 2011; 194:199-207; PMID:21788368; http://dx.doi.org/10.1083/ jcb.201101073
- Zhu J, Pavelka N, Bradford WD, Rancati G, Li R. Karyotypic determinants of chromosome instability in aneuploid budding yeast. PLoS Genet 2012; 8: e1002719; PMID:22615582; http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pgen.1002719
- Bakhoum SF, Genovese G, Compton DA. Deviant kinetochore microtubule dynamics underlie chromosomal instability. Curr Biol 2009; 19:1937-42; PMID:19879145; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cub. 2009.09.055
- Ertych N, Stolz A, Stenzinger A, Weichert W, Kaulfuss S, Burfeind P, Aigner A, Wordeman L, Bastians H. Increased microtubule assembly rates influence chromosomal instability in colorectal cancer cells. Nat Cell Biol 2014; 16:779-91; PMID:24976383; http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/ncb2994
- Zhang B, Wang J, Wang X, Zhu J, Liu Q, Shi Z, Chambers MC, Zimmerman LJ, Shaddox KF, Kim S, et al. Proteogenomic characterization of human colon and rectal cancer. Nature 2014; 513:382-7; PMID:25043054; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature13438
- Ueda K, Arakawa H, Nakamura Y. Dual-specificity phosphatase 5 (DUSP5) as a direct transcriptional target of tumor suppressor p53. Oncogene 2003; 22:5586-91; PMID:12944906; http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1038/sj.onc.1206845
- Zalcenstein A, Weisz L, Stambolsky P, Bar J, Rotter V, Oren M. Repression of the MSP//MST-1 gene contributes to the antiapoptotic gain of function of mutant p53. Oncogene 2005; 25:359-69.
- Bergamaschi D, Samuels Y, O'Neil NJ, Trigiante G, Crook T, Hsieh J-K, O'Connor DJ, Zhong S, Campargue I, Tomlinson ML, et al. iASPP oncoprotein is a key inhibitor of p53 conserved from worm to human. Nat Genet 2003; 33:162-7; PMID:12524540
- Bertrand MJM, Milutinovic S, Dickson KM, Ho WC, Boudreault A, Durkin J, Gillard JW, Jaquith JB, Morris SJ, Barker PA. cIAP1 and cIAP2 facilitate cancer cell

survival by functioning as E3 ligases that promote RIP1 ubiquitination. Mol Cell 2008; 30:689-700; PMID:18570872

- LaCasse EC, Mahoney DJ, Cheung HH, Plenchette S, Baird S, Korneluk RG. IAP-targeted therapies for cancer. Oncogene 2008; 27:6252-75; PMID:18931692
 Sandgren EP, Luetteke NC, Palmiter RD, Brinster RL,
- Sandgren EP, Luetteke NC, Palmiter RD, Brinster RL, Lee DC. Overexpression of TGFα in transgenic mice: induction of epithelial hyperplasia, pancreatic metaplasia, and carcinoma of the breast. Cell 1990; 61:1121-35; PMID:1693546
- Pei H, Li C, Adereth Y, Hsu T, Watson DK, Li R. Caspase-1 is a direct target gene of ETS1 and plays a role in ETS1-induced apoptosis. Cancer Res 2005; 65:7205-13; PMID:16103071
- Kilic M, Kasperczyk H, Fulda S, Debatin KM. Role of hypoxia inducible factor-1 alpha in modulation of apoptosis resistance. Oncogene 2006; 26:2027-38; PMID:17043658
- Le A, Cooper CR, Gouw AM, Dinavahi R, Maitra A, Deck LM, Royer RE, Vander Jagt DL, Semenza GL,

Dang CV. Inhibition of lactate dehydrogenase A induces oxidative stress and inhibits tumor progression. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2010; 107:2037-42; PMID:20133848

- Tothova Z, Kollipara R, Huntly BJ, Lee BH, Castrillon DH, Cullen DE, McDowell EP, Lazo-Kallanian S, Williams IR, Sears C, et al. FoxOs are critical mediators of hematopoietic stem cell resistance to physiologic oxidative stress. Cell 2007; 128:325-39; PMID:17254970
- Melotte V, Qu X, Ongenaert M, van Criekinge W, de Bruïne AP, Baldwin HS, van Engeland M. The N-myc downstream regulated gene (NDRG) family: diverse functions, multiple applications. FASEB J 2010; 24:4153-66; PMID:20667976
- Donnelly N, Storchova Z. Causes and consequences of protein folding stress in aneuploid cells. Cell Cycle 2015; 14:495-501.
- Carter SL, Eklund AC, Kohane IS, Harris LN, Szallasi Z. A signature of chromosomal instability inferred from gene expression profiles predicts clinical outcome in multiple human cancers. Nat Genet 2006; 38:1043-8; PMID:16921376

- McGranahan N, Burrell RA, Endesfelder D, Novelli MR, Swanton C. Cancer chromosomal instability: therapeutic and diagnostic challenges. EMBO Rep 2012; 13:528-38; PMID:22595889
- Duesberg P, Stindl R, Hehlmann R. Origin of multidrug resistance in cells with and without multidrug resistance genes: chromosome reassortments catalyzed by aneuploidy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001; 98:11283-8; PMID:11553793
- Lee AJ, Endesfelder D, Rowan AJ, Walther A, Birkbak NJ, Futreal PA, Downward J, Szallasi Z, Tomlinson IP, Howell M, et al. Chromosomal instability confers intrinsic multidrug resistance. Cancer Res 2011; 71:1858-70; PMID:21363922
- Durrbaum M, Kuznetsova AY, Passerini V, Stingele S, Stoehr G, Storchova Z. Unique features of the transcriptional response to model aneuploidy in human cells. BMC Genomics 2014; 15:139; PMID:24548329

7 Discussion

Aneuploidy has profound effects on cellular physiology. Although there are many variations of the aneuploid karyotype, the phenotypic consequences such as impaired proliferation and sensitivity to certain cellular stresses are similar. During my thesis, I set out to determine the common molecular cues of the response to aneuploidy. I applied large-scale analysis of miRNAome, transcriptome and proteome data and their integration to reveal the common determinants of the effects of aneuploidy.

7.1 Proteotoxic stress underlies the response to aneuploidy

The addition of extra chromosomes results in unbalanced and elevated gene expression that bear two major challenges for the cell: first, a higher demand for the protein synthesis as well as protein folding machinery; second, an imbalance of the protein stoichiometry, particularly affecting protein complex members. Cumulative evidence points to a defect in maintenance of proteostasis in aneuploid model systems (Donnelly et al., 2014; Oromendia and Amon, 2014; Pavelka et al., 2010; Tang et al., 2011; Torres et al., 2007), but the underlying molecular mechanisms have not been fully characterized. We show that the proteotoxic stress in aneuploid cells is characterized by impaired HSP90 dependent protein folding. Further, my global analysis of the transcriptome and proteome of aneuploid cells revealed that the HSP90 family is significantly downregulated. To find the underlying causes for impaired protein folding and downregulation of the HSP90 family, we investigated the levels and activity of HSF1. Although steady state levels of HSF1 were not significantly altered, we found an impaired induction of HSF1 activity upon heat stress. Endogenous overexpression of HSF1 protects aneuploid cells from sensitivity to protein folding stress. Why HSF1 function is impaired and fails to transcriptionally activate the heat shock response in aneuploid cells remains an open question. Certain is that the proteotoxic stress and especially compromised HSP90 function inflicts severe consequences on the cells. Our new finding that proteotoxic stress is a hallmark of an uploid human cells suggests that proteotoxic stress is the underlying cause for the other well-documented phenotypes of aneuploid human cells such as the growth defect, accumulation of protein deposits and activation of autophagy, maintenance of genome stability and the global transcriptional response

7.1.1 Protein deposits and elevated autophagy as a consequence of proteotoxic stress in aneuploid cells

Most likely a direct consequence of unbalanced proteostasis in aneuploid cells is the accumulation of protein deposits that show features of protein aggregates observed in aneuploid yeast and human cells (Oromendia et al., 2012; Stingele et al., 2013). Defective HSP90-dependent protein folding might result in accumulation of unfolded or misfolded proteins. In addition, the altered gene expression results in unbalanced levels of subunits of protein complexes. Subunits of protein complexes are particularly aggregation-prone because of their exposed hydrophobic amino acids and are kept soluble by their binding to cellular chaperons (Balchin et al., 2016). Thus, an excess of macromolecular complex subunits results in protein aggregates, a process that might be further enhanced by reduced chaperone levels that fail to keep unbound protein complex subunits in solution. In both cases, these aggregates might not only be the result of HSP90 disturbances, but may also contribute to it by overburdening the proteostasis network and titrating away chaperons, similar as demonstrated in yeast and *C. elegans* (Geiler-Samerotte et al., 2011; Gidalevitz et al., 2009). To date, it is not known whether the observed deposits are mainly due to unbalanced protein complex subunits or due to defective protein folding in general. Recent advances in quantitative proteomics allow studying the composition of protein aggregates (May et al., 2014). Such an approach could be applied to determine the exact protein aggregate composition, which would give further insights into the main mechanism leading to aggregate formation in aneuploid cells.

The requirement for clearance of these aggregates might connect defects in the maintenance of proteostasis with another feature of aneuploid cells, which is the activated autophagy (Ariyoshi et al., 2016; Ohashi et al., 2015; Stingele et al., 2013). The autophagy-lysosome system is, among other functions, involved in targeted clearance of aggregates that are resistant to degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome system (Kubota, 2009). Although proteasomal degradation is one way to compensate excess complex subunits (Dephoure et al., 2014), increased autophagic activity has also been detected in yeast and human aneuploid cell lines. Upon acute chromosome missegregation, autophagosomes in lysosomes accumulate and are not efficiently degraded (Santaguida et al., 2015). This leads to translocation of the transcription factor TFEB into the nucleus and subsequent activation of transcription of autophagic and lysosomal genes. Whether similar mechanisms lead to the upregulation of autophagic and lysosomal genes in human model cell lines with chronic autophagy remains to be investigated.

7.1.2 Proteotoxic stress might contribute to the proliferation defect of aneuploid cells

The proteostasis network and the central hub protein HSP90 are crucial for functional cellular processes (da Silva and Ramos, 2012). We found that endogenous overexpression of HSF1 mitigates the proliferation defect compared to aneuploid cells without additional copy of HSF1 (Donnelly et al., 2014). This in turn suggests that compromised HSF1 transcriptional activity contributes to the growth defect of aneuploid cells. Reduced HSF1 transcriptional activity might result in slow cell cycle progression since HSF1 target genes include proliferation and mitogenic signaling genes (Santagata et al., 2013). Moreover, reduced HSF1 transcriptional activity and resulting low HSP90 levels might contribute to the impaired growth of aneuploid cells, since several cell cycle regulators are among the HSP90 clients including regulators of the G1/ S phase transition such as CDK 4, 6 and 2 and Cyclin D as well as Cyclin E (Burrows et al., 2004). In addition, the unbalanced proteostasis network and accumulation of aggregates might present a cellular stressor leading to reduced growth. In support, depletion of the deubiquitinating enzyme Ubp6, which results in acceleration of proteosomal substrate processing, increases the fitness of aneuploid yeast cells (Torres et al., 2010). Thus, I hypothesize that the cumulative effects of disturbed proteostasis and the consequential effects on cell physiology lead to growth defects in aneuploid cells (Figure 6).

7.1.3 Proteotoxic stress might affect genomic maintentance of aneuploid cells

Proteotoxic stress might also affect genome maintenance in aneuploid cell lines. Recent results demonstrate that human cells with additional chromosomes are sensitive to replication stress and exhibit increased GIN (Passerini et al., 2016). I demonstrated by proteome analysis that the aneuploid proteome landscape overlaps with the proteome of HeLa cells, in which HSP90 was inhibited (Donnelly et al., 2014). In particularly, DNA replication and other DNA-associated pathways were downregulated in both cases. This suggests, that impaired HSP90 function affects clients associated with genome maintenance. Indeed, impaired HSP90 function promotes GIN by various mechanisms (reviewed in (Kaplan and Li, 2012). For instance, HSP90 is important for several DNA repair pathways; for example by stabilization of the Fanconi anemia complex members HSP90 facilitates repair of DNA crosslinks (Oda et al., 2007). Moreover, inhibition of HSP90 impairs DNA double strand repair via its clients and has secondary effects on the RAD51 mediated homologous recombination (Noguchi et al., 2006). In addition, HSP90 inhibition destabilizes CHK1 kinase and sensitizes cells to replication stress (Arlander et al., 2003). Since CHK1 is a key regulator of the cell cycle, DNA replication and origin firing upon DNA damage, depletion of CHK1 is detrimental for genomic stability. Based on these reports disturbed HSP90 function in an euploid cells might play a role in an euploidy driven genome instability. Moreover, affected CHK1 kinase might explain the sensitivity to replication stress. An intriguing possibility is that limited HSP90 function not only contributes to GIN in an uploid cells but also mediates the adaptive potential of the cells. In wild type haploid yeast strains, a growth under HSP90 inhibiting conditions induced aneuploidy at high rates and conferred adaptations to various stress conditions (Chen et al., 2012a). Thus, GIN promoted by hampered HSP90 function may convey adaptation potential to adverse conditions. Future studies will shed light on the relation of impaired HSP90 function and GIN as well as the adaptability of an uploid cells to stress conditions.

7.1.4 Proteotoxic stress shapes the conserved transcriptional response to aneuploidy

It has become clear from various aneuploid model systems that the genome-wide expression is affected by aneuploidy (Upender et al., 2004; Torres et al., 2007; Nawata et al., 2011; Stingele et al., 2012; Hervé et al., 2016). Yet, whether these transcriptional changes are common to different aneuploid cell lines has not been systematically analyzed. My in-depth comparison of multiple different human aneuploid cell lines created in different laboratories and of different cell line origin or type of aneuploidy revealed that the transcriptional response is largely conserved (Dürrbaum et al., 2014). The conservation was found within the identity of deregulated pathway annotations; downregulation of DNA and RNA metabolic pathways and upregulation of endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi apparatus, lysosome and vacuoles as well as membrane metabolism associated pathways. The deregulated pathways overlap with the pathways that were found to be affected by aneuploidy in mammalian cell lines (Sheltzer et al., 2012). In yeast, the transcriptional response to aneuploidy closely resembles an environmental stress response (ESR) that characterizes a gene expression signature commonly observed upon various environmental stresses (Gasch et al., 2000; O'Duibhir et al., 2014). The pathways affected in the ESR are partially overlapping with the pathways altered in the response to aneuploidy in mammalian cells. Particularly, RNA and ribosomal associated pathways are downregulated in response to aneuploidy in both yeast and mammalian cells (Sheltzer et al., 2012). In contrast, the upregulated pathways differ; for example genes associated with oxidative stress response and protein folding are upregulated in aneuploid yeast strain but not in mammalian aneuploids. Although the upregulated pathways in yeast and mammalian aneuploid cells differ in both cases, the altered pathways in mammalian cells might also reflect a stress response, such as the ESR in yeast.

What are the factors shaping the conserved transcriptional response to aneuploidy? One limitation of the global transcriptional analysis of an adapted aneuploid cell population is that the conserved aneuploid pathway response pattern probably reflects both the primary and secondary effects of an euploidy. The transcriptome might be directly influenced by the expression of genes encoded in the aneuploid regions. Some deregulated genes of the aneuploid regions, such as transcription factors, may further affect the genome-wide transcription including the expression of genes in disomic regions. As a secondary effect, the altered genome content per se affects the cellular physiology, which initiates a feedback to gene expression. We compared the transcriptional response to aneuploidy with the response to various stresses. Only the inhibition of autophagy results in similar pathway deregulations as aneuploidy (Dürrbaum et al., 2014). Given that in aneuploid cells autophagy is activated, these similarities might be rather counterintuitive. Since inhibition of autophagy causes proteotoxic stress (Doerr et al., 2013), one possible explanation is that the common transcriptome changes reflect the proteotoxic stress in both conditions. Further evidence for this comes from my comparative analysis with the transcriptome of human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line depleted for HSF1, that also shows large similarities to the transcriptional response to aneuploidy (Donnelly et al., 2014). Thus, these results suggest that one factor shaping the conserved transcriptional response in aneuploid cell is proteotoxic stress.

One of the complications in finding the determinants of the conserved transcriptional response is that the aneuploid phenotypes are interlinked: for instance proteotoxic stress is probably connected to the growth defect and GIN. This makes it difficult to clearly differentiate between primary and secondary responses. For example, the transcriptome of aneuploid yeast strains correlates with the transcriptome of yeast strains with delayed cell cycle progression due to mutations in regulatory cell cycle factors Cdc28 and Cdc23 (Torres et al., 2007). Moreover, the transcriptome of mammalian aneuploid cells also correlates with the transcriptome of these growth-delayed yeast strains (Sheltzer et al., 2012). Yet, in our analysis of aneuploid cells derived from a tetraploid intermediate that proliferate without any significant growth defect revealed similar pathway deregulations (Dürrbaum et al., 2014). In addition, aneuploid yeasts grown with the same proliferation rate as the diploid yeast strain still show transcriptional changes that are shared by most aneuploid yeast strains, but are not present in growth impaired mutant control strains, such as ribosomal biogenesis and nucleic acid metabolism associated genes (Torres et al., 2007). Thus, impaired proliferation might contribute to the transcriptional profile changes that arise in response to aneuploidy, but does not seem to be the major factor determining the aneuploidy response pattern.

Taken together, I hypothesize that the transcriptional response to aneuploidy is determined by the cumulative physiological consequences of aneuploidy (Figure 6). Most of the physiological consequences can be explained by the impact of proteotoxic stress, in particular compromised HSF1 and HSP90 function, on cellular processes. This shapes directly, via HSF1 transcriptional activity, or indirectly, via transcriptional feedback of the affected pathways, the conserved transcriptional response to aneuploidy.



Figure 6. The physiological and conserved transcriptional response to aneuploidy is shaped by proteotoxic stress. Addition of chromosomes results in increased mRNA expression and protein levels. This additional unbalanced expression presents a burden for proteostasis that might be the cause of the observed protein deposits and increased autophagy. The activity of the transcription factor HSF1 is reduced by as yet unknown mechanisms. In turn, both protein aggregates and reduced HSF1 activity may lead to compromised HSP90 function. Diminished HSP90 function may impair growth of aneuploid cells and facilitate genomic instability. These altered cellular functions and the reduced activity of HSF1 transcription factor may feed back to transcription, resulting in conserved transcriptional changes.

7.2 Implications of the transcriptional response to aneuploidy in cancer

Since many cancer cells are aneuploid, the question arises whether a similar transcriptional profile as detected in model aneuploid cell lines can be identified in aneuploid cancer. In the transcriptional analysis of cancers, so called "gene signatures" are often employed that describe a group of genes for which the expression correlates with certain cancer characteristics (Chibon, 2013). To assess the implication of the transcriptional response to aneuploidy in cancer, we can evaluate the correlation of these signatures with an uploidy and then compare the pathways for which the gene signatures are enriched with the deregulated pathways in aneuploid cells. Several transcriptional analyses of aneuploid cancers revealed gene expression signatures that correlate with aneuploidy and/or chromosomal instability (reviewed in (Dürrbaum and Storchova, 2015a)). For instance, the previously identified CIN70 signature contains 70 genes, for which high expression correlates with the overall ploidy across diverse tumor types (Carter et al., 2006). Moreover, a signature correlating with karyotype heterogeneity in the NCI-60 cancer cell line panel and high expression of the involved genes was predictive of poor prognosis (Sheltzer, 2013). These signatures are enriched for genes with a function in proliferation and cell cycle regulation, mitosis, replication and DNA damage repair and high expression of these genes predicts poor prognosis. However, genes involved in these processes are largely downregulated in the conserved transcriptional pathway response in aneuploid model systems (Dürrbaum and Storchova, 2015b; Dürrbaum et al., 2014; Sheltzer et al., 2012; Torres et al., 2007). Similarly, the mean expression levels of nine cancer subtypes anticorrelate with gene expression levels from trisomic mouse embryonic fibroblasts (Sheltzer, 2013). As a result, the pathways that are enriched among the upregulated genes in cancer are among the downregulated pathways in aneuploid cells. This includes the cell cycle, DNA repair, transcriptional and chromosome associated pathways, which were found in the conserved transcriptional response in aneuploid model cell lines. Among the pathways that are upregulated in aneuploid cells and downregulated in cancer are mainly membrane-associated pathways. Few pathways are still commonly upregulated, such as ER to Golgi transport vesicle, extracellular matrix binding and protease binding associated pathways (Sheltzer, 2013). Thus, the global gene expression deregulation in aneuploid model cell lines and cancer does not correlate. This is reflected in the inverse deregulation of pathways that were found in the conserved transcriptional response to aneuploidy.

How can we explain this anticorrelation of the transcriptional response? First of all, it reflects the generally opposite phenotypes of aneuploid model cell lines and aneuploid cancers, most prominently the proliferation defect observed in aneuploid model cell lines versus the unlimited proliferation of cancer cells. As discussed above, an imbalanced proteostasis network most likely causes the phenotypes of aneuploid cells. The question arises, whether this is different in aneuploid cancers. Tumorigenesis is associated with multiple stress phenotypes such as DNA damage stress, mitotic stress, metabolic stress, oxidative stress and also proteotoxic stress (Wondrak, 2014). A variety of exogenous and endogenous stimuli such as hypoxia, nutrient deprivation and mutation-driven misfolding of proteins but also aneuploidy result in accumulation of unfolded and misfolded proteins, which in turn challenges proteostasis (Clarke et al., 2012; Dai et al., 2012; Feldman,

2005). Yet, evidence described below suggests that in the course of tumorigenesis, the cancer cells evolve various mechanisms to counteract the stresses and to promote cell survival. The adaptation mechanisms to the various stresses experienced by cancer cells are multifold including mutations and copy number variations. Large-scale analysis of over 8,200 tumors demonstrated that somatic copy number alteration are non-random, but specifically selected for regions with known tumor suppressors or oncogenes (Davoli et al., 2013). Interestingly, the fourth most frequent amplification is the 8q chromosome arm on which HSF1 is encoded. Indeed, HSF1 is frequently upregulated in different human cancers such as in human colorectal cancer, breast cancer and endometrial carcinoma (Jiang et al., 2015; Mendillo et al., 2012). We show that additional copies of HSF1 mitigate the effects of proteotoxic stress in our aneuploid model cell lines (Donnelly and Storchova, 2015). Therefore, one possibility would be that copy number gain of HSF1 in cancer presents a way to counteract proteotoxic stress. Overcoming the proteotoxic stress and the secondary adaptive changes through higher levels of chaperons and their interactors would ultimately lead to a different transcriptional response than in aneuploid cells.

Another possibility how the adaptation to cellular stresses such as proteotoxic stress results in a different transcriptional program in cancer cell lines compared to aneuploidy model cell lines comes from genome-wide analysis. Analysis of the HSF1 occupancy and transcription activity revealed that the HSF1 transcriptional program in malignant cells differs from the heat shock program (Mendillo et al., 2012). Although it includes some heat shock proteins such as HSP90, multiple cellular processes are activated in addition such as translation, cell cycle, DNA repair and chromatin remodeling. Moreover, this HSF1 transcriptional response was conserved across a panel of cancer cell lines. These transcriptionally activated pathways were downregulated in response to aneuploidy. In the context of the cellular stresses cancer cells experience, gain of additional copies of HSF1 may result in a malignancy specific transcriptional response that fundamentally differs from the conserved response to aneuploidy.

In summary, the effects of an euploidy *per se* in model cell lines result in an anticorrelated transcriptional response compared to an euploid cancer cell lines. I hypothesize that this is the result of adaptive mechanisms in cancer cells that counteract the proteotoxic stress response. The resulting transcriptome changes differ from the transcriptional response in an euploid model cell lines that suffer from proteotoxic stress.

7.3 microRNA regulation of the response to aneuploidy in human cells

Given the conserved transcriptional changes in response to aneuploidy and diversity of the affected pathways, we hypothesized that multiple different factors may affect the transcriptional consequences of aneuploidy. One recently discovered route of gene expression regulation is via miRNA post-transcriptional regulation of mRNA levels and translation. The deregulation of miRNAs is associated with cancer and altered cancer cell physiology (for example reviewed in (Chen et al., 2012b; Peng and Croce, 2016; Svoronos et al., 2016)). However, the relation between miRNA regulation and the response to aneuploidy *per se* has not been studied so far. In some cancers, the copy

number changes are a direct source of the miRNA deregulation (Calin et al., 2004; Ramsingh et al., 2013; Veigaard and Kjeldsen, 2014). We found that indeed an addition of one or more chromosomes alters the miRNA expression in human cell lines. Interestingly, only in a minority of aneuploid cell lines the extra chromosome directly affects the expression of miRNAs encoded on that chromosome. Thus, our results suggest that miRNA deregulation in aneuploid cells is a general response to the extra chromosomes.

How do the deregulated miRNA contribute or regulate the response to aneuploidy? Based on our analysis, the deregulated miRNAs particularly affect cellular development, growth and proliferation. We show that it is not a single miRNA, but the cumulative effect of the deregulated miRNAome that targets cellular proliferation. Similar synergistic effect of the miRNAome on target repression was demonstrated for example in gastric (Hashimoto et al., 2013) and lung cancer (Kumar et al., 2013). This may be explained by the fact that one miRNA targets multiple transcripts and one transcript is targeted by multiple miRNAs (Zhou et al., 2013). As discussed above, impaired proliferation is one of the cardinal features of the response to aneuploidy. Our target expression analysis of the deregulated miRNAs revealed, that majority of the targets with inverse expression to the corresponding miRNAs are downregulated. Many of these targets are involved in cell cycle regulation such as BUB1, CDC20, CDK4 and Cyclin E1. Our analysis provides the first indications that the deregulated miRNAome might contribute to the reduced proliferation of aneuploid cells. Importantly, the individual deregulated miRNAs and the individual affected targets are different between the aneuploid cell lines. Hence, although similar functions are affected by the deregulated miRNAs, different aneuploid cell lines achieve this by different means. This is remarkably similar to the findings in the global transcriptome analysis where the affected pathways are conserved but the individual genes causing or contributing to the pathway deregulation are different.

We found that the identity of the deregulated miRNAs in the aneuploid cell lines largely differs. One of the commonly deregulated miRNAs is hsa-miR-10a-5p that is upregulated in 5 out of 7 sequenced cell lines. Our data suggests, that the reason for hsa-miR-10a-5p overexpression in response to aneuploidy is due to a 3'UTR independent function of hsa-miR-10a-5p. hsa-miR-10a-5p binds downstream of the 5'TOP motif of ribosomal protein mRNAs (Ørom et al., 2008). The 5'TOP motif is characteristic for mRNAs of proteins involved in translation, mainly ribosomal proteins (Hamilton et al., 2006). Binding of hsa-miR-10a-5p enhances 5'TOP motif mRNA translation and alleviates starvation-induced relocation from active polysomes to inactive sub-polysomal fractions (Ørom et al., 2008). We found that overexpression of hsa-miR-10a-5p enhances 5'TOP motif mRNA translation in the analyzed aneuploid cell lines. Further, we demonstrated that the elevated expression of hsa-miR-10a-5p in aneuploid cells renders them less sensitive to translational downregulation of mRNAs with the 5'TOP motif. Currently, we do not understand the exact reason for the protection against starvation stress by hsa-miR-10a-5p overexpression. One hypothesis is that the extra chromosomes in aneuploid cell lines infer a higher requirement for the translation machinery, in particularly under stress conditions. Common upregulation of hsa-miR-10a-5p expression might be an adaptation mechanism of aneuploid cells. Further studies are required to test whether the overexpression of hsa-miR-10a-5p in cells with extra chromosomes indeed protects them from adverse growth conditions such as starvation or amino acid deprivation.

In summary, we show for the first time that the miRNAome is altered as a response to aneuploidy *per se*. The deregulated miRNAs may affect the response to aneuploidy in two different ways. First, the deregulated miRNAome seems to negatively affect proliferation, thus suggesting a contribution to the growth impairment of aneuploid cells. Second, the conserved upregulation of hsa-miR-10a-5p in aneuploid cell lines may present an adaptation to the aneuploid stress conditions and grants a robust translation under adverse conditions such as starvation. This would suggest upregulation of hsa-miR-10a-5p as a crucial mediator of survival of aneuploid cells. Future studies will reveal its potential in aneuploid cancer research.

7.4 Tolerance to genomic instability in post-tetraploid cells and its implications in cancer

Large-scale analysis of 4934 cancers revealed that approximately 37% of cancers underwent tetraploidization during tumorigenesis (Zack et al., 2013). This suggests that tetraploidization might be beneficial for tumorigenesis. Yet, induction of tetraploidy often results in cycle arrest, in majority of the cases by p53 activation (Andreassen et al., 2001; Castedo et al., 2006; Ganem et al., 2009; Kuffer et al., 2013; Lanni and Jacks, 1998). How cancer cells survive genome-doubling and how the survived cells contribute to the tumor development has not been fully understood. To elucidate the consequences of wholegenome doubling, we induced tetraploidization and followed the fate of surviving post-tetraploid cells (Kuznetsova et al., 2015). We found that tetraploid progenies are highly aneuploid and often show elevated rates of chromosome missegregations and abnormal mitosis. Moreover, these post-tetraploid cells are more tolerant to these errors, as they arrest less frequent than diploids or tetraploid cells immediately after whole-genome doubling. Also evolved naturally occurring tetraploids show high CIN (Dewhurst et al., 2014), suggesting that karyotype instability is a characteristic outcome of whole-genome doubling survival. My in-depth transcriptome analysis of the post-tetraploid cells revealed possible molecular mechanisms for the tolerance to mitotic errors. The expression of one fourth of p53 interactors is changed in chromosomally unstable post-tetraploid cell lines (Kuznetsova et al., 2015), among them commonly upregulated expression of the inhibitor of apoptosis-stimulating protein of p53 (iASPP), which is a negative regulator of p53. Moreover, nuclear accumulation of p53 is diminished in these cells. These results suggest that overriding the p53 response is the underlying mechanism of the tolerance to mitotic errors. This is supported by transcriptome analysis after acute tetraploidization by cytokinesis inhibition that revealed activation of the p53 pathway in retinal epithelial cell lines (Potapova et al., 2016). In addition, knock down of p53 or p21 resulted in increased proliferation. Taken together, cells that survived tetraploidization are unstable, probably due to a diminished p53 response. Tumors that have undergone a whole-genome doubling event exhibit a high genome instability score (Dewhurst et al., 2014). Since TP53 mutations and alterations of the p53 pathway are common in cancer, abrogation of the p53 response might present one way to allow karyotype instability also in tetraploid cancers.

Tetraploidy is associated with poor prognosis based on survival analysis of colorectal cancer patients (Dewhurst et al., 2014). Given that genome instability in cancer

correlates with tumor aggressiveness as well (Carter et al., 2006; reviewed in McGranahan et al., 2012), this suggests that the tolerance to genome instability in tetraploid cells confers an advantage for tumorigenesis. We found that chromosomal instable post-tetraploid cells show increased tolerance to a broad spectrum of chemotherapeutic drugs (Kuznetsova et al., 2015). Moreover, the transcriptome analysis revealed upregulation of pro-proliferative genes and downregulation of proapoptotic genes. These results suggest that post-tetraploid cells have a general tolerance to adverse stress conditions. One possibility is that higher rates and tolerance to karyotype instability endows higher adaptive potential to cellular stress as experienced by cancer cells. In the cancer context, surviving post-tetraploid cells might therefore benefit the adaptability of tumors. Thus, the elevated genome instability and the increased tolerance to stresses might bring major advantages to the cells in the changing environment during tumor development. Therefore, tetraploidization observed early in tumor development probably benefits tumor evolution and aggressiveness.

7.5 Big data in an uploidy research – conclusions and perspective

The work presented in this thesis aimed to elucidate the effects of an uploidy *per se* on the cell physiology in human an uploid model cell lines with defined whole-chromosome an uploidy or post-tetraploid cells with complex an uploidy by applying transcriptome, miRNAome and proteome data analysis. This approach is unique as it allows global quantitative analysis of the response to an uploidy within a cell line and large-scale comparison between different model systems.

What becomes evident from the transcriptome analysis of aneuploid cells is that the differential expression of individual genes is largely unique for different whole-chromosome and also complex aneuploid cells, but the affected pathways are similar (Dürrbaum et al., 2014; Kuznetsova et al., 2015; Potapova et al., 2016; Sheltzer et al., 2012). This suggests that while the ultimately affected pathways are the same and reflect common adaptation mechanisms, aneuploid cells undertake different evolutionary routes to adapt to the abnormal karyotype. In cancer, the adaptation to aneuploidy results in an inverse transcriptional response compared to aneuploid model systems (Sheltzer, 2013). The landscape of mutations and genomic aberrations is highly diverse between cancers and different combinations of tumor suppressor inactivations or oncogene activations may promote tumor development (Vogelstein et al., 2013). Yet, the ultimate resulting hallmarks of cancer such as unlimited proliferation, resistance to cell death, increased invasion ability and metastasis are common to all cancers. Thus, similar as in the response to an uploidy, the adaptation routes of cancer cells are diverse, but the resulting affected pathways are the same. This suggests that in both cases, the conserved altered cellular functions are evolutionary favored and selected for.

The aneuploidy research has greatly benefited from the cancer sequencing projects. With the access to public databases of high-throughput genome, transcriptome and proteome data, it is nowadays possible to translate hypotheses drawn from studies in model cell lines to cancer by meta-analysis of cancer genome and transcriptome data. For instance, published transcriptome and corresponding patient outcome data allowed to test whether significant alterations in chromosomal instability associated genes is of clinical relevance (Sheltzer, 2013). The net expression levels of these genes are predictive for cancer progression and patient outcome. In another study, published survival and SNP-array data from 539 patients was used to verify the association of whole-genome doubling events with poor prognosis (Dewhurst et al., 2014). Thus, whereas the "omics" perspective on aneuploid model cell lines helps us to understand the effects of aneuploidy *per se*, the rapidly growing amount of data in cancer research allows to test the relevance of the observed effects in model cell lines in tumorigenesis.

Besides the new possibilities through the technical advances of big data science, there are two major obstacles in big data driven aneuploidy research as presented in this thesis. First, the cellular heterogeneity within an aneuploid tumor population and also within aneuploid cell lines masks the differences in the aneuploidy response that may occur only in a subset of the cell population. Although single cell sequencing has advanced our understanding of the occurrence of aneuploidy during tumor evolution (Navin et al., 2011), most major cancer genome studies are based on high-throughput analysis of a whole tumor cell population. Moreover, the current state-of-the-art sequencing parameters do not allow to characterize an aneuploid or clonal heterogeneous tumor sample in-depth (Griffith et al., 2015). Single-cell analyses have given insights into the heterogeneity and stochasticity of gene expression in healthy tissue (reviewed in (Yu and Lin, 2016)). Given the additional genome changes and evolutionary adaptation in tumor cells, this complexity probably scales by orders of magnitude. Single cell sequencing of a wide range of tumors, but also of aneuploid model cell line systems, might reveal new aspects of the consequences of aneuploidy in terms of hidden population patterns in aneuploid subpopulations and the connectivity and interactions between the subpopulations. Yet, besides providing researchers new opportunities to understand aneuploidy, single cell sequencing poses additional challenges in respect to data complexity and variety to computational biologists. For example, the analysis of single cells is much more prone to technical artifacts and noise as the analysis of a whole population. In addition, having the information of multiple single cells of multiple tumors multiplies this problem. To account for this, new computational tools and approaches are being developed. Continued improvement of single cell analysis opens up new avenues for capturing the variation within a tumor and based on that a personalized cancer therapy.

A second limitation of the current large-scale aneuploid "omics" paradigms is that these reflect mostly a steady state picture of the aneuploid cell. This is exemplified by the conserved transcriptional response to aneuploidy in diverse model systems, which poses a challenge to dissect primary gene expression changes from secondary transcriptional feedback. Time-resolved "omics" analysis would therefore accelerate the comprehensive understanding of the evolutionary adaptation mechanisms. Since the evolutionary routes might be multifold, only a large-scale study would allow drawing conclusion on the favorable evolutionary paths of the adaptation to aneuploidy. Insights into the key processes important for the adaptation to an abnormal karyotype might provide novel therapeutic strategies to target aneuploidy in cancer.

8 References

Adams, J.U. (2015). Genetics: Big hopes for big data. Nature 527, S108–S109.

- Aebersold, R., and Mann, M. (2003). Mass spectrometry-based proteomics. Nature 422, 198–207.
- Aït Yahya-Graison, E., Aubert, J., Dauphinot, L., Rivals, I., Prieur, M., Golfier, G., Rossier, J., Personnaz, L., Créau, N., Bléhaut, H., et al. (2007). Classification of Human Chromosome 21 Gene-Expression Variations in Down Syndrome: Impact on Disease Phenotypes. The American Journal of Human Genetics *81*, 475–491.
- Akao, Y., Nakagawa, Y., and Naoe, T. (2006). MicroRNAs 143 and 145 are possible common onco-microRNAs in human cancers. Oncol. Rep. *16*, 845–850.
- Alexandrov, L.B., Nik-Zainal, S., Wedge, D.C., Aparicio, S.A.J.R., Behjati, S., Biankin, A.V., Bignell, G.R., Bolli, N., Borg, A., Børresen-Dale, A.-L., et al. (2013). Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature 500, 415–421.
- Altuvia, Y. (2005). Clustering and conservation patterns of human microRNAs. Nucleic Acids Res *33*, 2697–2706.
- Anders, K.R., Kudrna, J.R., Keller, K.E., Kinghorn, B., Miller, E.M., Pauw, D., Peck, A.T., Shellooe, C.E., and Strong, I.J. (2009). A strategy for constructing aneuploid yeast strains by transient nondisjunction of a target chromosome. BMC Genet 10, 36.
- Anders, S., and Wolfgang, H. (2010). Differential expression analysis for sequence count data. Genome Biol *11*, R106.
- Andreassen, P.R., Lohez, O.D., Lacroix, F.B., and Margolis, R.L. (2001). Tetraploid state induces p53-dependent arrest of nontransformed mammalian cells in G1. Mol Biol Cell *12*, 1315–1328.
- Ariyoshi, K., Miura, T., Kasai, K., Fujishima, Y., Oshimura, M., and Yoshida, M.A. (2016). Induction of genomic instability and activation of autophagy in artificial human aneuploid cells. Mutat. Res. 790, 19–30.
- Arlander, S.J.H., Eapen, A.K., Vroman, B.T., McDonald, R.J., Toft, D.O., and Karnitz, L.M. (2003). Hsp90 Inhibition Depletes Chk1 and Sensitizes Tumor Cells to Replication Stress. Journal of Biological Chemistry 278, 52572–52577.
- Asim, A., Kumar, A., Muthuswamy, S., Jain, S., and Agarwal, S. (2015). Down syndrome: an insight of the disease. Journal of Biomedical Science 1–9.
- Baek, D., Villén, J., Shin, C., Camargo, F.D., Gygi, S.P., and Bartel, D.P. (2008). The impact of microRNAs on protein output. Nature *455*, 64–71.
- Baker, D.J., Dawlaty, M.M., Wijshake, T., Jeganathan, K.B., Malureanu, L., van Ree, J.H., Crespo-Diaz, R., Reyes, S., Seaburg, L., Shapiro, V., et al. (2012). Increased expression of BubR1 protects against aneuploidy and cancer and extends healthy lifespan. Nature 15, 96–102.
- Baker, D.J., Jeganathan, K.B., Cameron, J.D., Thompson, M., Juneja, S., Kopecka, A., Kumar, R., Jenkins, R.B., de Groen, P.C., Roche, P., et al. (2004). BubR1 insufficiency causes early onset of aging-associated phenotypes and infertility in mice. Nat Genet 36, 744–749.
- Bakhoum, S.F., Genovese, G., and Compton, D.A. (2009). Deviant Kinetochore Microtubule Dynamics Underlie Chromosomal Instability. Curr. Biol. *19*, 1937–1942.
- Balchin, D., Hayer-Hartl, M., and Hartl, F.U. (2016). In vivo aspects of protein folding and quality control. Science *353*, aac4354–aac4354.
- Bao, L., Pu, M., and Messer, K. (2014). AbsCN-seq: a statistical method to estimate tumor purity, ploidy and absolute copy numbers from next-generation sequencing data. Bioinformatics 30, 1056-1063.
- Barlow, J.H., Faryabi, R.B., Callén, E., Wong, N., Malhowski, A., Chen, H.T., Gutierrez-Cruz, G., Sun, H.-W., McKinnon, P., Wright, G., et al. (2013). Identification of Early Replicating Fragile Sites that Contribute to Genome Instability. Cell 152, 620–632.

- Barrett, M.T., Pritchard, D., Palanca-Wessels, C., Anderson, J., Reid, B.J., and Rabinovitch, P.S. (2003). Molecular phenotype of spontaneously arising 4N (G2-tetraploid) intermediates of neoplastic progression in Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Res 63, 4211– 4217.
- Berezikov, E., Chung, W.-J., Willis, J., Cuppen, E., and Lai, E.C. (2007). Mammalian Mirtron Genes. Mol Cell *28*, 328–336.
- Beroukhim, R., Mermel, C.H., Porter, D., Wei, G., Raychaudhuri, S., Donovan, J., Barretina, J., Boehm, J.S., Dobson, J., Urashima, M., et al. (2014). The landscape of somatic copy-number alteration across human cancers. Nature 463, 899–905.
- Biancotti, J.C., Narwani, K., Buehler, N., Mandefro, B., Golan-Lev, T., Yanuka, O., Clark,
 A., Hill, D., Benvenisty, N., and Lavon, N. (2010). Human Embryonic Stem Cells as
 Models for Aneuploid Chromosomal Syndromes. Stem Cells 28, 1530–1540.
- Bignell, G.R., Greenman, C.D., Davies, H., Butler, A.P., Edkins, S., Andrews, J.M., Buck, G., Chen, L., Beare, D., Latimer, C., et al. (2010). Signatures of mutation and selection in the cancer genome. Nature 463, 893–898.
- Birchler, J.A. (2013). Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology. Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology *24*, 315–319.
- Birkbak, N.J., Eklund, A.C., Li, Q., McClelland, S.E., Endesfelder, D., Tan, P., Tan, I.B., Richardson, A.L., Szallasi, Z., and Swanton, C. (2011). Paradoxical Relationship between Chromosomal Instability and Survival Outcome in Cancer. Cancer Res *71*, 3447–3452.
- Bleeker, F.E., Lamba, S., Rodolfo, M., Scarpa, A., Leenstra, S., Vandertop, W.P., and Bardelli, A. (2009). Mutational profiling of cancer candidate genes in glioblastoma, melanoma and pancreatic carcinoma reveals a snapshot of their genomic landscapes. Hum. Mutat. 30, E451–E459.
- Bonney, M.E., Moriya, H., and Amon, A. (2015). Aneuploid proliferation defects in yeast are not driven by copy number changes of a few dosage-sensitive genes. Genes & Development *29*, 898–903.
- Borchert, G.M., Lanier, W., and Davidson, B.L. (2006). RNA polymerase III transcribes human microRNAs. Nat Struct Mol Biol *13*, 1097–1101.
- Boveri, T. (1914). Zur Frage der Entstehung maligner Tumore. Science.
- Braun, J.E., Huntzinger, E., and Izaurralde, E. (2013). The role of GW182 proteins in miRNA-mediated gene silencing. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. *768*, 147–163.
- Braun, J.E., Huntzinger, E., Fauser, M., and Izaurralde, E. (2011). GW182 Proteins Directly Recruit Cytoplasmic Deadenylase Complexes to miRNA Targets. Mol Cell 44, 120–133.
- Braun, J.E., Truffault, V., Boland, A., Huntzinger, E., Chang, C.-T., Haas, G.,
 Weichenrieder, O., Coles, M., and Izaurralde, E. (2012). A direct interaction
 between DCP1 and XRN1 couples mRNA decapping to 5. Nat Struct Mol Biol *19*, 1324–1331.
- Bullard, J.H., Purdom, E., Hansen, K.D., and Dudoit, S. (2010). Evaluation of statistical methods for normalization and differential expression in mRNA-Seq experiments. BMC Bioinformatics 11, 94.
- Burrows, F., Zhang, H., and Kamal, A. (2004). Hsp90 activation and cell cycle regulation. Cell Cycle *3*, 1530–1536.
- Busch, B., Bley, N., Müller, S., Glaß, M., Misiak, D., Lederer, M., Vetter, M., Strauß, H.-G., Thomssen, C., and Hüttelmaier, S. (2016). The oncogenic triangle of HMGA2, LIN28B and IGF2BP1 antagonizes tumor-suppressive actions of the let-7 family. Nucleic Acids Res 44, 3845–3864.
- Cahill, D.P., Lengauer, C., Yu, J., Riggins, G.J., Willson, J.K., Markowitz, S.D., Kinzler, K.W., and Vogelstein, B. (1998). Mutations of mitotic checkpoint genes in human cancers. Nature 392, 300–303.

- Cai, X., Evrony, G.D., Lehmann, H.S., Elhosary, P.C., Mehta, B.K., Poduri, A., and Walsh,
 C.A. (2014). Single-Cell, Genome-wide Sequencing Identifies Clonal Somatic Copy Number Variation in the Human Brain. Cell Reports 8, 1280–1289.
- Calin, G.A., and Croce, C.M. (2006). MicroRNA signatures in human cancers. Nat Rev Cancer 6, 857–866.
- Calin, G.A., Dumitru, C.D., Shimizu, M., Bichi, R., Zupo, S., Noch, E., Aldler, H., Rattan, S., Keating, M., Rai, K., et al. (2002). Frequent deletions and down-regulation of micro-RNA genes miR15 and miR16 at 13q14 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99, 15524–15529.
- Calin, G.A., Sevignani, C., Dumitru, C.D., Hyslop, T., Noch, E., Yendamuri, S., Shimizu, M., Rattan, S., Bullrich, F., Negrini, M., et al. (2004). Human microRNA genes are frequently located at fragile sites and genomic regions involved in cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *101*, 2999–3004.
- Campbell, D., Doctor, J.S., Feuersanger, J.H., and Doolittle, M.M. (1981). Differential mitotic stability of yeast disomes derived from triploid meiosis. Genetics *98*, 239–255.
- Carter, S.L., Eklund, A.C., Kohane, I.S., Harris, L.N., and Szallasi, Z. (2006). A signature of chromosomal instability inferred from gene expression profiles predicts clinical outcome in multiple human cancers. Nat Genet *38*, 1043–1048.
- Castedo, M., Coquelle, A., Vitale, I., Vivet, S., Mouhamad, S., Viaud, S., Zitvogel, L., and Kroemer, G. (2006). Selective Resistance of Tetraploid Cancer Cells against DNA Damage-Induced Apoptosis. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences *1090*, 35– 49.
- Check Hayden, E. (2015). Genome researchers raise alarm over big data. Nature.
- Chen, G., Bradford, W.D., Seidel, C.W., and Li, R. (2012a). Hsp90 stress potentiates rapid cellular adaptation through induction of aneuploidy. Nature *482*, 246–250.
- Chen, P.-S., Su, J.-L., and Hung, M.-C. (2012b). Dysregulation of MicroRNAs in cancer. Journal of Biomedical Science *19*, 1–1.
- Chibon, F. (2013). Cancer gene expression signatures The rise and fall? European Journal of Cancer *49*, 2000–2009.
- Chikashige, Y., Tsutsumi, C., Okamasa, K., Yamane, M., Nakayama, J.-I., Niwa, O., Haraguchi, T., and Hiraoka, Y. (2007). Gene expression and distribution of Swi6 in partial aneuploids of the fission yeast Schizosaccharomyces pombe. Cell Struct Funct 32, 149–161.
- Choi, Y.E., Pan, Y., Park, E., Konstantinopoulos, P., De, S., D'Andrea, A., and Chowdhury, D. (2014). MicroRNAs down-regulate homologous recombination in the G1 phase of cycling cells to maintain genomic stability. eLife *3*, e02445.
- Chou, C.Y., Liu, L.Y., Chen, C.Y., Tsai, C.H., Hwa, H.L., Chang, L.Y., Lin, Y.S., and Hsieh, F.J. (2008). Gene expression variation increase in trisomy 21 tissues. Mamm Genome 19, 398–405.
- Cimini, D., Howell, B., Maddox, P., Khodjakov, A., Degrassi, F., and Salmon, E.D. (2001). Merotelic kinetochore orientation is a major mechanism of aneuploidy in mitotic mammalian tissue cells. J Cell Biol 153, 517–527.
- Cimini, D. (2008). Merotelic kinetochore orientation, aneuploidy, and cancer. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Reviews on Cancer *1786*, 32–40.
- Cimini, D., Cameron, L.A., and Salmon, E.D. (2004). Anaphase Spindle Mechanics Prevent Mis-Segregation of Merotelically Oriented Chromosomes. Current Biology 14, 2149– 2155.
- Clarke, R., Cook, K.L., Hu, R., Facey, C.O.B., Tavassoly, I., Schwartz, J.L., Baumann, W.T., Tyson, J.J., Xuan, J., Wang, Y., et al. (2012). Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress, the Unfolded Protein Response, Autophagy, and the Integrated Regulation of Breast Cancer Cell Fate. Cancer Res. 72, 1321-1331.
- Colnaghi, R., Carpenter, G., Volker, M., and O'driscoll, M. (2011). The consequences of structural genomic alterations in humans: genomic disorders, genomic instability and cancer. Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology *22*, 875–885.
- Conde, J., and Fink, G.R. (1976). A mutant of Saccharomyces cerevisiae defective for nuclear fusion. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *73*, 3651–3655.
- Cox, J., and Mann, M. (2011). Quantitative, High-Resolution Proteomics for Data-Driven Systems Biology. Annu. Rev. Biochem. *80*, 273–299.
- Crasta, K., Ganem, N.J., Dagher, R., Lantermann, A.B., Ivanova, E.V., Pan, Y., Nezi, L., Protopopov, A., Chowdhury, D., and Pellman, D. (2012). DNA breaks and chromosome pulverization from errors in mitosis. Nature *482*, 53–58.
- Czubak, K., Lewandowska, M.A., Klonowska, K., Roszkowski, K., Kowalewski, J., Figlerowicz, M., and Kozlowski, P. (2015). High copy number variation of cancerrelated microRNA genes and frequent amplification of DICER1 and DROSHA in lung cancer. Oncotarget *6*, 23399–23416.
- da Silva, V.C.H., and Ramos, C.H.I. (2012). The network interaction of the human cytosolic 90 kDa heat shock protein Hsp90: A target for cancer therapeutics. Journal of Proteomics *75*, 2790–2802.
- Dai, C., Dai, S., and Cao, J. (2012). Proteotoxic stress of cancer: Implication of the heatshock response in oncogenesis. J. Cell. Physiol. *227*, 2982–2987.
- Dalmay, T., and Edwards, D.R. (2006). MicroRNAs and the hallmarks of cancer. Oncogene *25*, 6170–6175.
- Davoli, T., and de Lange, T. (2011). The Causes and Consequences of Polyploidy in Normal Development and Cancer. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. *27*, 585–610.
- Davoli, T., and de Lange, T. (2012). Telomere-Driven Tetraploidization Occursin Human Cells Undergoing Crisisand Promotes Transformation of Mouse Cells. Cancer Cell *21*, 765–776.
- Davoli, T., Denchi, E.L., and de Lange, T. (2010). Persistent Telomere Damage Induces Bypass of Mitosis and Tetraploidy. Cell *141*, 81–93.
- Davoli, T., Xu, A.W., Mengwasser, K.E., Sack, L.M., Yoon, J.C., Park, P.J., and Elledge, S.J. (2013). Cumulative Haploinsufficiency and Triplosensitivity Drive Aneuploidy Patterns and Shape the Cancer Genome. Cell *155*, 948–962.
- De Lange, T. (2005). Telomere-related genome instability in cancer. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol *70*, 197–204.
- De, S., and Babu, M.M. (2010). A time-invariant principle of genome evolution. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *107*, 13004–13009.
- Dephoure, N., Hwang, S., O'Sullivan, C., Dodgson, S.E., Gygi, S.P., Amon, A., and Torres, E.M. (2014). Quantitative proteomic analysis reveals posttranslational responses to aneuploidy in yeast. eLife 3, e03023.
- Dereli-Öz, A., Versini, G., and Halazonetis, T.D. (2011). Studies of genomic copy number changes in human cancers reveal signatures of DNA replication stress. Molecular Oncology *5*, 308–314.
- Derry, M.C., Yanagiya, A., Martineau, Y., and Sonenberg, N. (2006). Regulation of poly(A)-binding protein through PABP-interacting proteins. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol *71*, 537–543.
- Dewhurst, S.M., McGranahan, N., Burrell, R.A., Rowan, A.J., Gronroos, E., Endesfelder, D., Joshi, T., Mouradov, D., Gibbs, P., Ward, R.L., et al. (2014). Tolerance of Whole-Genome Doubling Propagates Chromosomal Instability and Accelerates Cancer Genome Evolution. Cancer Discovery 4, 175–185.
- Djuranovic, S., Nahvi, A., and Green, R. (2012). miRNA-mediated gene silencing by translational repression followed by mRNA deadenylation and decay. Science *336*, 237–240.
- Doerr, J.R., Yu, Y., Milanovic, M., Beuster, G., Zasada, C., Daebritz, J.H.M., Lisec, J.,

Lenze, D., Gerhardt, A., Schleicher, K., et al. (2013). Synthetic lethal metabolic targeting of cellular senescence in cancer therapy. Nature *501*, 421–.

- Donnelly, N., Passerini, V., Dürrbaum, M., Stingele, S., and Storchova, Z. (2014). HSF1 deficiency and impaired HSP90-dependent protein folding are hallmarks of aneuploid human cells. The EMBO Journal *33*, 2374–2387.
- Donnelly, N., and Storchova, Z. (2015). Causes and consequences of protein folding stress in aneuploid cells. Cell Cycle *14*, 495–501.
- Drier, Y., Lawrence, M.S., Carter, S.L., Stewart, C., Gabriel, S.B., Lander, E.S., Meyerson,
 M., Beroukhim, R., and Getz, G. (2013). Somatic rearrangements across cancer
 reveal classes of samples with distinct patterns of DNA breakage and rearrangement induced hypermutability. Genome Research 23, 228–235.
- Duelli, D.M., Padilla-Nash, H.M., Berman, D., Murphy, K.M., Ried, T., and Lazebnik, Y. (2007). A Virus Causes Cancer by Inducing Massive Chromosomal Instability through Cell Fusion. Current Biology 17, 431–437.
- Duesberg, P., Rausch, C., Rasnick, D., and Hehlmann, R. (1998). Genetic instability of cancer cells is proportional to their degree of aneuploidy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *95*, 13692–13697.
- Duncan, A.W., Newell, A.E.H., Smith, L., Wilson, E.M., Olson, S.B., Thayer, M.J., Strom, S.C., and Grompe, M. (2012a). Frequent Aneuploidy Among Normal Human Hepatocytes. Ygast 142, 25–28.
- Duncan, A.W., Hanlon Newell, A.E., Bi, W., Finegold, M.J., Olson, S.B., Beaudet, A.L., and Grompe, M. (2012b). Aneuploidy as a mechanism for stress-induced liver adaptation. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 3307–3315.
- Duncan, A.W., Taylor, M.H., Hickey, R.D., Newell, A.E.H., Lenzi, M.L., Olson, S.B., Finegold, M.J., and Grompe, M. (2010). The ploidy conveyor of mature hepatocytes as a source of genetic variation. Nature 467, 707–710.
- Dutcher, S.K. (1981). Internuclear transfer of genetic information in kar1-1/KAR1 heterokaryons in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Molecular and Cellular Biology 1, 245–253.
- Dutrillaux, B., Gerbault-Seureau, M., Remvikos, Y., Zafrani, B., and Prieur, M. (1991).Breast cancer genetic evolution: I. Data from cytogenetics and DNA content. BreastCancer Res Treat *19*, 245–255.
- Dürrbaum, M., and Storchova, Z. (2015a). Effects of aneuploidy on gene expression: implications for cancer. Febs J *283*, 791–802.
- Dürrbaum, M., and Storchova, Z. (2015b). Consequences of Aneuploidy in Cancer: Transcriptome and Beyond. Recent Results Cancer Res *200*, 195–224.
- Dürrbaum, M., Kuznetsova, A.Y., Passerini, V., Stingele, S., Stoehr, G., and Storchova, Z. (2014). Unique features of the transcriptional response to model aneuploidy in human cells. BMC Genomics 15, 1–14.
- Dvinge, H., Git, A., Gräf, S., Salmon-Divon, M., Curtis, C., Sottoriva, A., Zhao, Y., Hirst, M., Armisen, J., Miska, E.A., et al. (2013). The shaping and functional consequences of the microRNA landscape in breast cancer. Nature 497, 378–382.
- Eichhorn, S.W., Guo, H., McGeary, S.E., Rodriguez-Mias, R.A., Shin, C., Baek, D., Hsu, S.-H., Ghoshal, K., Villén, J., and Bartel, D.P. (2014). mRNA Destabilization Is the Dominant Effect of Mammalian MicroRNAsby the Time Substantial Repression Ensues. Mol Cell 56, 104–115.
- Elhajouji, A., Tibaldi, F., and KirschVolders, M. (1997). Indication for thresholds of chromosome non-disjunction versus chromosome lagging induced by spindle inhibitors in vitro in human lymphocytes. Mutagenesis *12*, 133–140.
- Fabian, M.R., Cieplak, M.K., Frank, F., Morita, M., Green, J., Srikumar, T., Nagar, B.,Yamamoto, T., Raught, B., Duchaine, T.F., et al. (2011). miRNA-mediateddeadenylation is orchestrated by GW182 through two conserved motifs that interact

with CCR4–NOT. Nat Struct Mol Biol 18, 1211–1217.

- Faggioli, F., Wang, T., Vijg, J., and Montagna, C. (2012). Chromosome-specific accumulation of aneuploidy in the aging mouse brain. Hum. Mol. Genet. 21, 5246– 5253.
- Fehrmann, R.S.N., Karjalainen, J.M., Krajewska, M., Westra, H.-J., Maloney, D., Simeonov, A., Pers, T.H., Hirschhorn, J.N., Jansen, R.C., Schultes, E.A., et al. (2015). Gene expression analysis identifies global gene dosage sensitivity in cancer. Nature Publishing Group 47, 115–125.
- Feldman, D.E. (2005). The Unfolded Protein Response: A Novel Component of the Hypoxic Stress Response in Tumors. Molecular Cancer Research *3*, 597–605.
- Feuk, L., Carson, A.R., and Scherer, S.W. (2006). Structural variation in the human genome. Nature Reviews Genetics *7*, 85–97.
- Fiorentino, F., Bono, S., Biricik, A., Nuccitelli, A., Cotroneo, E., Cottone, G., Kokocinski, F., Michel, C.E., Minasi, M.G., and Greco, E. (2014). Application of next-generation sequencing technology for comprehensive aneuploidy screening of blastocysts in clinical preimplantation genetic screening cycles. Human Reproduction 29, 2802– 2813.
- Foijer, F., DiTommaso, T., Donati, G., Hautaviita, K., Xie, S.Z., Heath, E., Smyth, I., Watt, F.M., Sorger, P.K., and Bradley, A. (2013). Spindle checkpoint deficiency is tolerated by murine epidermal cells but not hair follicle stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110, 2928–2933.
- Fournier, R.E. (1981). A general high-efficiency procedure for production of microcell hybrids.
- Friedman, R.C., Farh, K.K.-H., Burge, C.B., and Bartel, D.P. (2009). Most mammalian mRNAs are conserved targets of microRNAs. Genome Research *19*, 92–105.
- Fujiwara, T., Bandi, M., Nitta, M., Ivanova, E.V., Bronson, R.T., and Pellman, D. (2005). Cytokinesis failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. Nature 437, 1043–1047.
- Fukao, A., Aoyama, T., and Fujiwara, T. (2015). The molecular mechanism of translational control via the communication between the microRNA pathway and RNA-binding proteins. RNA Biol 12, 922–926.
- Fukao, A., Mishima, Y., Takizawa, N., Oka, S., Imataka, H., Pelletier, J., Sonenberg, N., Thoma, C., and Fujiwara, T. (2014). MicroRNAs Trigger Dissociation of eIF4AI and eIF4AII from Target mRNAs in Humans. Mol Cell 56, 79–89.
- Galipeau, P.C., Cowan, D.S., Sanchez, C.A., Barrett, M.T., Emond, M.J., Levine, D.S., Rabinovitch, P.S., and Reid, B.J. (1996). 17p (p53) allelic losses, 4N (G2/tetraploid) populations, and progression to aneuploidy in Barrett's esophagus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93, 7081–7084.
- Gandomi, A., and Haider, M. (2015). Beyond the hype: Big data concepts, methods, and analytics. Int J Inf Manage *35*, 137–144.
- Ganem, N.J., Cornils, H., Chiu, S.-Y., O'Rourke, K.P., Arnaud, J., Yimlamai, D., Théry, M., Camargo, F.D., and Pellman, D. (2014). Cytokinesis Failure Triggers Hippo Tumor Suppressor Pathway Activation. Cell 158, 833–848.
- Ganem, N.J., Godinho, S.A., and Pellman, D. (2009). A mechanism linking extra centrosomes to chromosomal instability. Nature *460*, 278–282.
- Gao, P., and Zheng, J. (2011). Oncogenic virus-mediated cell fusion: new insights into initiation and progression of oncogenic viruses--related cancers. Cancer Letters 303, 1–
 8
- Gardiner, K., Herault, Y., Lott, I.T., Antonarakis, S.E., Reeves, R.H., and Dierssen, M. (2010). Down Syndrome: From Understanding the Neurobiology to Therapy. Journal of Neuroscience 30, 14943–14945.
- Gasch, A.P., Spellman, P.T., Kao, C.M., Carmel-Harel, O., Eisen, M.B., Storz, G., Botstein,

D., and Brown, P.O. (2000). Genomic expression programs in the response of yeast cells to environmental changes. Mol Biol Cell *11*, 4241–4257.

- Geiger, T., Cox, J., and Mann, M. (2010). Proteomic Changes Resulting from Gene Copy Number Variations in Cancer Cells. PLoS Genet 6, e1001090.
- Geiler-Samerotte, K.A., Dion, M.F., Budnik, B.A., Wang, S.M., Hartl, D.L., and Drummond, D.A. (2011). Misfolded proteins impose a dosage-dependent fitness cost and trigger a cytosolic unfolded protein response in yeast. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108, 680–685.
- Gemoll, T., Habermann, J.K., Becker, S., Szymczak, S., Upender, M.B., Bruch, H.-P., Hellman, U., Ried, T., Auer, G., Jörnvall, H., et al. (2013). Chromosomal aneuploidy affects the global proteome equilibrium of colorectal cancer cells. Anal Cell Pathol (Amst) 36, 149–161.
- Giam, M., and Rancati, G. (2015). Aneuploidy and chromosomal instability in cancer: a jackpot to chaos. Cell Div *10*, 3.
- Gidalevitz, T., Krupinski, T., Garcia, S., and Morimoto, R.I. (2009). Destabilizing Protein Polymorphisms in the Genetic Background Direct Phenotypic Expression of Mutant SOD1 Toxicity. PLoS Genet *5*, e1000399.
- Godinho, S.A., and Pellman, D. (2014). Causes and consequences of centrosome abnormalities in cancer. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences *369*, 20130467–20130467.
- Goodwin, S., McPherson, J.D., and McCombie, W.R. (2016). Coming of age: ten years of next- generation sequencing technologies. Nature Reviews Genetics *17*, 333–351.
- Greenman, C., Stephens, P., Smith, R., Dalgliesh, G.L., Hunter, C., Bignell, G., Davies, H., Teague, J., Butler, A., Stevens, C., et al. (2007). Patterns of somatic mutation in human cancer genomes. Nature 446, 153–158.
- Gregg, A.R., Van den Veyver, I.B., Gross, S.J., Madankumar, R., Rink, B.D., and Norton,M.E. (2014). Noninvasive Prenatal Screening by Next-Generation Sequencing. Annu.Rev. Genom. Human Genet. *15*, 327–347.
- Griffith, M., Miller, C.A., Griffith, O.L., Krysiak, K., Skidmore, Z.L., Ramu, A., Walker, J.R., Dang, H.X., Trani, L., Larson, D.E., et al. (2015). Optimizing Cancer Genome Sequencing and Analysis. Cell Systems 1, 210–223.
- Gropp, A., Winking, H., Herbst, E.W., and Claussen, C.P. (1983). Murine trisomy: developmental profiles of the embryo, and isolation of trisomic cellular systems. J. Exp. Zool. 228, 253–269.
- Guerrero, A.A., Martínez-A, C., and van Wely, K.H. (2010). Merotelic attachments and non-homologous end joining are the basis of chromosomal instability. Cell Div 5, 13.
- Guo, H., Ingolia, N.T., Weissman, J.S., and Bartel, D.P. (2010). Mammalian microRNAs predominantly act to decrease target mRNA levels. Nature *466*, 835–840.
- Ha, M., and Kim, V.N. (2014). Regulation of microRNA biogenesis. Nature Publishing Group *15*, 509–524.
- Hafner, M., Landthaler, M., Burger, L., Khorshid, M., Hausser, J., Berninger, P., Rothballer, A., Ascano, M., Jr, Jungkamp, A.-C., Munschauer, M., et al. (2010). Transcriptome-wide identification of RNA-binding protein and microRNA target sites by PAR-CLIP. Cell 141, 129–141.
- Hamilton, T.L., Stoneley, M., Spriggs, K.A., and Bushell, M. (2006). TOPs and their regulation. Biochm. Soc. Trans. *34*, 12–16.
- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R.A. (2011). Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. Cell *144*, 646–674.
- Harper, J.W., and Bennett, E.J. (2016). Proteome complexity and the forces that drive proteome imbalance. Nature *537*, 328–338.
- Hartl, F.U., Bracher, A., and Hayer-Hartl, M. (2011). Molecular chaperones in protein folding and proteostasis. Nature *475*, 324–332.

- Hashimoto, Y., Akiyama, Y., and Yuasa, Y. (2013). Multiple-to-Multiple Relationships between MicroRNAs and Target Genes in Gastric Cancer. PLoS ONE *8*, e62589.
- Hassold, T., Hall, H., and Hunt, P. (2007). The origin of human aneuploidy: where we have been, where we are going. Hum. Mol. Genet. *16*, R203–R208.
- Hastings, P.J., Lupski, J.R., Rosenberg, S.M., and Ira, G. (2009). Mechanisms of change in gene copy number. Nature Reviews Genetics *10*, 551–564.
- Heinrich, S., Geissen, E.-M., Kamenz, J., Trautmann, S., Widmer, C., Drewe, P., Knop, M., Radde, N., Hasenauer, J., and Hauf, S. (2013). Determinants of robustness in spindle assembly checkpoint signalling. Nature 15, 1328–1339.
- Hell, M.P., Thoma, C.R., Fankhauser, N., Christinat, Y., Weber, T.C., and Krek, W. (2014). miR-28-5p Promotes Chromosomal Instability in VHL-Associated Cancers by Inhibiting Mad2 Translation. Cancer Res 74, 2432–2443.
- Hendrickson, D.G., Hogan, D.J., McCullough, H.L., Myers, J.W., Herschlag, D., Ferrell, J.E., and Brown, P.O. (2009). Concordant Regulation of Translation and mRNA Abundance for Hundreds of Targets of a Human microRNA. Plos Biol *7*, e1000238.
- Hervé, B., Coussement, A., Gilbert, T., Dumont, F., Jacques, S., Cuisset, L., Chicard, M., Hizem, S., Bourdoncle, P., Letourneur, F., et al. (2016). Aneuploidy: the impact of chromosome imbalance on nuclear organization and overall genome expression. Clin Genet 90, 35–48.
- Hewitt, L., Tighe, A., Santaguida, S., White, A.M., Jones, C.D., Musacchio, A., Green, S., and Taylor, S.S. (2010). Sustained Mps1 activity is required in mitosis to recruit O-Mad2 to the Mad1–C-Mad2 core complex. J Cell Biol 190, 25–34.
- Hinchcliffe, E.H., Day, C.A., Karanjeet, K.B., Fadness, S., Langfald, A., Vaughan, K.T., and Dong, Z. (2016). Chromosome missegregation during anaphase triggers p53 cell cycle arrest through histone H3.3 Ser31 phosphorylation. Nature 18, 668–675.
- Hinske, L.C.G., Galante, P.A.F., Kuo, W.P., and Ohno-Machado, L. (2010). A potential role for intragenic miRNAs on their hosts' interactome. BMC Genomics *11*, 533.
- Hisaoka, M., Matsuyama, A., and Hashimoto, H. (2008). Aberrant MAD2 expression in soft-tissue sarcoma. Pathol Int *58*, 329–333.
- Holt, C., Losic, B., Pai, D., Zhao, Z., Trinh, Q., Syam, S., Arshadi, N., Jang, G.H., Ali, J., Beck, T., et al. (2014). WaveCNV: allele-specific copy number alterations in primary tumors and xenograft models from next-generation sequencing. Bioinformatics 30, 768–774.
- Hu, W., and Coller, J. (2012). What comes first: translational repression or mRNA degradation? The deepening mystery of microRNA function. Cell Res. 22, 1322– 1324.
- Huettel, B., Kreil, D.P., Matzke, M., and Matzke, A.J.M. (2008). Effects of Aneuploidy on Genome Structure, Expression, and Interphase Organization in Arabidopsis thaliana. PLoS Genet 4, e1000226.
- Huntzinger, E., and Izaurralde, E. (2011). Gene silencing by microRNAs: contributions of translational repression and mRNA decay. Nature Reviews Genetics *12*, 99–110.
- Hwang, H.-W., and Mendell, J.T. (2006). MicroRNAs in cell proliferation, cell death, and tumorigenesis. Br J Cancer *94*, 776–780.
- Illumina (2016). Series of Sequencing Systems. 1–4.
- Iourov, I.Y., Vorsanova, S.G., Liehr, T., and Yurov, Y.B. (2009). Aneuploidy in the normal, Alzheimer's disease and ataxia-telangiectasia brain: differential expression and pathological meaning. Neurobiol Dis *34*, 212–220.
- Iwakawa, H.-O., and Tomari, Y. (2015). The Functions of MicroRNAs:mRNA Decay and Translational Repression. Trends in Cell Biology *25*, 651–665.
- Iwasaki, S., Kobayashi, M., Yoda, M., Sakaguchi, Y., Katsuma, S., Suzuki, T., and Tomari, Y. (2010). Hsc70/Hsp90 chaperone machinery mediates ATP-dependent RISC loading of small RNA duplexes. Mol Cell 39, 292–299.

- Jafri, M.A., Ansari, S.A., Alqahtani, M.H., and Shay, J.W. (2016). Roles of telomeres and telomerase in cancer, and advances in telomerase- targeted therapies. Genome Medicine *8*, 69.
- Janssen, A., van der Burg, M., Szuhai, K., Kops, G.J.P.L., and Medema, R.H. (2011). Chromosome segregation errors as a cause of DNA damage and structural chromosome aberrations. Science *333*, 1895–1898.
- Jeganathan, K., Malureanu, L., Baker, D.J., Abraham, S.C., and van Deursen, J.M. (2007). Bub1 mediates cell death in response to chromosome missegregation and acts to suppress spontaneous tumorigenesis. J Cell Biol *179*, 255–267.
- Jeggo, P.A., Pearl, L.H., and Carr, A.M. (2016). DNA repair, genome stability and cancer: a historical perspective. Nat Rev Cancer *16*, 35–42.
- Jiang, J., Jin, Y., Cost, G.J., Chiang, J.-C., Kolpa, H.J., Cotton, A.M., Carone, D.M., Carone, B.R., Shivak, D.A., Guschin, D.Y., et al. (2013). Translating dosage compensation to trisomy 21. Nature 500, 296–300.
- Jiang, S., Tu, K., Fu, Q., Schmitt, D.C., Zhou, L., Lu, N., and Zhao, Y. (2015). Multifaceted roles of HSF1 in cancer. Tumor Biol. *36*, 4923–4931.
- Johansson, A.M., and Stenberg, P. (2007). Painting of fourth and chromosome-wide regulation of the 4th chromosome in Drosophila melanogaster. Embo J. 26, 2307–2316.
- John, B., Enright, A.J., Aravin, A., Tuschl, T., Sander, C., and Marks, D.S. (2004). Human MicroRNA Targets. Plos Biol *2*, e363.
- Jones, S., Zhang, X., Parsons, D.W., Lin, J.C.-H., Leary, R.J., Angenendt, P., Mankoo, P., Carter, H., Kamiyama, H., Jimeno, A., et al. (2008). Core signaling pathways in human pancreatic cancers revealed by global genomic analyses. Science 321, 1801– 1806.
- Kabeche, L., and Compton, D.A. (2012). Checkpoint-Independent Stabilizationof Kinetochore-Microtubule Attachments by Mad2 in Human Cells. Curr. Biol. 22, 638– 644.
- Kallioniemi, O.P., Punnonen, R., Mattila, J., Lehtinen, M., and Koivula, T. (1988).Prognostic significance of DNA index, multiploidy, and S-phase fraction in ovarian cancer. Cancer *61*, 334–339.
- Kaplan, K.B., and Li, R. (2012). A prescription for "stress" the role of Hsp90 in genome stability and cellular adaptation. Trends in Cell Biology *22*, 576–583.
- Kato, T., Daigo, Y., Aragaki, M., Ishikawa, K., Sato, M., Kondo, S., and Kaji, M. (2011). Overexpression of MAD2 predicts clinical outcome in primary lung cancer patients. Lung Cancer 74, 124–131.
- Katz, W., Weinstein, B., and Solomon, F. (1990). Regulation of tubulin levels and microtubule assembly in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: consequences of altered tubulin gene copy number. Molecular and Cellular Biology 10, 5286–5294.
- Kim, H.-S., Park, K.H., Kim, S.A., Wen, J., Park, S.W., Park, B., Gham, C.-W., Hyung, W.J., Noh, S.H., and Kim, H.K. (2005). Frequent mutations of human Mad2, but not Bub1, in gastric cancers cause defective mitotic spindle checkpoint. Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis *578*, 187–201.
- Kim, M.S., Kim, S.S., JE, E.M., Yoo, N.J., and Lee, S.H. (2012). Mutational and expressional analyses of STAG2 gene in solid cancers. Neo *59*, 524–529.
- Kim, Y.-K., and Kim, V.N. (2007). Processing of intronic microRNAs. The EMBO Journal 26, 775–783.
- Knouse, K.A., Wu, J., Whittaker, C.A., and Amon, A. (2014). Single cell sequencing reveals low levels of aneuploidy across mammalian tissues. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111, 13409–13414.
- Kubota, H. (2009). Quality Control Against Misfolded Proteins in the Cytosol: A Network

for Cell Survival. Journal of Biochemistry 146, 609–616.

- Kuffer, C., Kuznetsova, A.Y., and Storchova, Z. (2013). Abnormal mitosis triggers p53dependent cell cycle arrest in human tetraploid cells. Chromosoma *122*, 305–318.
- Kumar, M.S., Armenteros-Monterroso, E., East, P., Chakravorty, P., Matthews, N.,Winslow, M.M., and Downward, J. (2013). HMGA2 functions as a competing endogenous RNA to promote lung cancer progression. Nature *505*, 212–217.
- Kuznetsova, A.Y., Seget, K., Moeller, G.K., de Pagter, M.S., de Roos, J.A.D.M., Dürrbaum, M., Kuffer, C., Müller, S., Zaman, G.J.R., Kloosterman, W.P., and Storchová, Z. (2015). Chromosomal instability, tolerance of mitotic errors and multidrug resistance are promoted by tetraploidization in human cells. Cell Cycle 14, 2810–2820.
- Labbadia, J., and Morimoto, R.I. (2015). The biology of proteostasis in aging and disease. Annu. Rev. Biochem. *84*, 435–464.
- Lagos-Quintana, M., Rauhut, R., Lendeckel, W., and Tuschl, T. (2001). Identification of novel genes coding for small expressed RNAs. Science *294*, 853–858.
- Lagos-Quintana, M., Rauhut, R., Yalcin, A., Meyer, J., Lendeckel, W., and Tuschl, T. (2002). Identification of tissue-specific microRNAs from mouse. Curr. Biol. 12, 735– 739.
- Lampson, M.A., and Kapoor, T.M. (2004). The human mitotic checkpoint protein BubR1 regulates chromosome–spindle attachments. Nature *7*, 93–98.
- Landgraf, P., Rusu, M., Sheridan, R., Sewer, A., Iovino, N., Aravin, A., Pfeffer, S., Rice, A., Kamphorst, A.O., Landthaler, M., et al. (2007). A Mammalian microRNA Expression Atlas Based on Small RNA Library Sequencing. Cell *129*, 1401–1414.
- Lanni, J.S., and Jacks, T. (1998). Characterization of the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint following spindle disruption. Molecular and Cellular Biology *18*, 1055–1064.
- Larsson, J., Chen, J.D., Rasheva, V., Rasmuson-Lestander, A., and Pirrotta, V. (2001). Painting of fourth, a chromosome-specific protein in Drosophila. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98, 6273–6278.
- Laverty, C., Lucci, J., and Akhtar, A. (2010). The MSL complex: X chromosome and beyond. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development *20*, 171–178.
- Ledford, H. (2015). End of cancer-genome project prompts rethink. Nature.
- Lee, R.C., and Ambros, V. (2001). An extensive class of small RNAs in Caenorhabditis elegans. Science *294*, 862–864.
- Lee, R.C., Feinbaum, R.L., and Ambros, V. (1993). The C-Elegans Heterochronic Gene Lin-4 Encodes Small Rnas with Antisense Complementarity to Lin-14. Cell *75*, 843–854.
- Lengauer, C., Kinzler, K.W., and Vogelstein, B. (1997). Genetic instability in colorectal cancers. Nature *386*, 623–627.
- Lengauer, C., Kinzler, K.W., and Vogelstein, B. (1998). Genetic instabilities in human cancers. Nature *396*, 643–649.
- Levine, D.S., Rabinovitch, P.S., Haggitt, R.C., Blount, P.L., Dean, P.J., Rubin, C.E., and Reid, B.J. (1991). Distribution of aneuploid cell populations in ulcerative colitis with dysplasia or cancer. Ygast *101*, 1198–1210.
- Lewis, B.P., Burge, C.B., and Bartel, D.P. (2005). Conserved seed pairing, often flanked by adenosines, indicates that thousands of human genes are microRNA targets. Cell *120*, 15–20.
- Li, G.-Q., Li, H., and Zhang, H.-F. (2003). Mad2 and p53 expression profiles in colorectal cancer and its clinical significance. World J Gastroenterol *9*, 1972–1975.
- Li, K., Liu, Y., Zhou, Y., Zhang, R., Zhao, N., Yan, Z., Zhang, Q., Zhang, S., Qiu, F., and Xu, Y. (2015). An integrated approach to reveal miRNAs impacts on the functional consequence of copy number alterations in cancer. Sci. Rep. 5, 11567.
- Li, L., Wei, Y., To, C., Zhu, C.-Q., Tong, J., Pham, N.-A., Taylor, P., Ignatchenko, V.,

Ignatchenko, A., Zhang, W., et al. (2014). Integrated omic analysis of lung cancer reveals metabolism proteome signatures with prognostic impact. Nature Communications *5*, 5469.

- Li, L.B., Chang, K.-H., Wang, P.-R., Hirata, R.K., Papayannopoulou, T., and Russell, D.W. (2012). Trisomy correction in Down syndrome induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell *11*, 615–619.
- Li, M., Fang, X., Baker, D.J., Guo, L., Gao, X., Wei, Z., Han, S., van Deursen, J.M., and Zhang, P. (2010). The ATM-p53 pathway suppresses an euploidy-induced tumorigenesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *107*, 14188–14193.
- Li, Y., and Benezra, R. (1996). Identification of a human mitotic checkpoint gene: hsMAD2. Science *274*, 246–248.
- Lin, S., and Gregory, R.I. (2015). MicroRNA biogenesis pathways in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer *15*, 321–333.
- Lingle, W.L., Barrett, S.L., Negron, V.C., D'Assoro, A.B., Boeneman, K., Liu, W., Whitehead, C.M., Reynolds, C., and Salisbury, J.L. (2002). Centrosome amplification drives chromosomal instability in breast tumor development. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99, 1978–1983.
- Liu, C., Mallick, B., Long, D., Rennie, W.A., Wolenc, A., Carmack, C.S., and Ding, Y.
 (2013). CLIP-based prediction of mammalian microRNA binding sites. Nucleic Acids Res 41, 138-138.
- Love, M.I., Wolfgang, H., and Anders, S. (2014). Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. Genome Biol *15*, 31.
- Lv, L., Zhang, T., Yi, Q., Huang, Y., Wang, Z., Hou, H., Zhang, H., Zheng, W., Hao, Q., Guo, Z., et al. (2014). Tetraploid cells from cytokinesis failure induce aneuploidy and spontaneous transformation of mouse ovarian surface epithelial cells. Cell Cycle 11, 2864–2875.
- MacDonald, J.R., Ziman, R., Yuen, R.K.C., Feuk, L., and Scherer, S.W. (2013). The Database of Genomic Variants: a curated collection of structural variation in the human genome. Nucleic Acids Res *42*, D986–D992.
- MacLennan, M., Crichton, J.H., Playfoot, C.J., and Adams, I.R. (2015). Oocyte development, meiosis and aneuploidy. Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology 45, 68–76.
- Magidson, V., O'Connell, C.B., Lončarek, J., Paul, R., Mogilner, A., and Khodjakov, A.
 (2011). The Spatial Arrangement of Chromosomes during Prometaphase Facilitates Spindle Assembly. Cell 146, 555–567.
- Makanae, K., Kintaka, R., Makino, T., Kitano, H., and Moriya, H. (2013). Identification of dosage-sensitive genes in Saccharomyces cerevisiae using the genetic tug-of-war method. Genome Research *23*, 300–311.
- Mardis, E.R. (2013). Next-Generation Sequencing Platforms. Annual Review of Analytical Chemistry 6, 287–303.
- Margall-Ducos, G., Celton-Morizur, S., Couton, D., Bregerie, O., and Desdouets, C. (2007). Liver tetraploidization is controlled by a new process of incomplete cytokinesis. Journal of Cell Science *120*, 3633–3639.
- Marioni, J.C., Mason, C.E., Mane, S.M., Stephens, M., and Gilad, Y. (2008). RNA-seq: An assessment of technical reproducibility and comparison with gene expression arrays. Genome Research *18*, 1509–1517.
- Matsumoto, T., Baker, D.J., d'Uscio, L.V., Mozammel, G., Katusic, Z.S., and van Deursen, J.M. (2007). Aging-Associated Vascular Phenotype in Mutant Mice With Low Levels of BubR1. Stroke *38*, 1050–1056.
- May, S., Hornburg, D., Schludi, M.H., Arzberger, T., Rentzsch, K., Schwenk, B.M., Grässer, F.A., Mori, K., Kremmer, E., Banzhaf-Strathmann, J., et al. (2014). C9orf72 FTLD/ALS-associated Gly-Ala dipeptide repeat proteins cause neuronal toxicity and

Unc119 sequestration. Acta Neuropathol 128, 485–503.

- McGranahan, N., Burrell, R.A., Endesfelder, D., Novelli, M.R., and Swanton, C. (2012). Cancer chromosomal instability: therapeutic and diagnostic challenges. EMBO Rep *13*, 528–538.
- Mendillo, M.L., Santagata, S., Koeva, M., Bell, G.W., Hu, R., Tamimi, R.M., Fraenkel, E., Ince, T.A., Whitesell, L., and Lindquist, S. (2012). HSF1 drives a transcriptional program distinct from heat shock to support highly malignant human cancers. Cell 150, 549–562.
- Michel, L.S., Liberal, V., Chatterjee, A., Kirchwegger, R., Pasche, B., Gerald, W., Dobles, M., Sorger, P.K., Murty, V.V., and Benezra, R. (2001). MAD2 haplo-insufficiency causes premature anaphase and chromosome instability in mammalian cells. Nature 409, 355–359.
- Michels, J.J., Duigou, F., and Marnay, J. (2000). Flow cytometry in primary breast carcinomas. Prognostic impact of proliferative activity. Breast Cancer Res Treat 62, 117–126.

Mitelman, F., Johansson, B., and F, M. (2016). Mitelman Database of Chromosome Aberrations and Gene Fusions in Cancer. "Http://Cgap.Nci.Nih.Gov/Chromosomes/Mitelman."

- Monteys, A.M., Spengler, R.M., Wan, J., Tecedor, L., Lennox, K.A., Xing, Y., and Davidson,
 B.L. (2010). Structure and activity of putative intronic miRNA promoters. Rna 16, 495–505.
- Mortazavi, A., Williams, B.A., McCue, K., Schaeffer, L., and Wold, B. (2008). Mapping and quantifying mammalian transcriptomes by RNA-Seq. Nat Meth *5*, 621–628.
- Munroe, D.J., and Harris, T.J.R. (2010). Third-generation sequencing fireworks at Marco Island. Nat. Biotechnol. *28*, 426–428.
- Nagaraj, N., Wisniewski, J.R., Geiger, T., Cox, J., Kircher, M., Kelso, J., bo, S.P.A.A., and Mann, M. (2011). Deep proteome and transcriptome mapping of a human cancer cell line. Molecular Systems Biology 7, 1–8.
- Navin, N., Kendall, J., Troge, J., Andrews, P., Rodgers, L., McIndoo, J., Cook, K., Stepansky, A., Levy, D., Esposito, D., et al. (2011). Tumour evolution inferred by single-cell sequencing. Nature *472*, 90–94.
- Nawata, H., Kashino, G., Tano, K., Daino, K., Shimada, Y., Kugoh, H., Oshimura, M., and Watanabe, M. (2011). Dysregulation of Gene Expression in the Artificial Human Trisomy Cells of Chromosome 8 Associated with Transformed Cell Phenotypes. PLoS ONE 6, e25319.
- Nezi, L., and Musacchio, A. (2009). Sister chromatid tension and the spindle assembly checkpoint. Current Opinion in Cell Biology *21*, 785–795.
- Nicholson, J.M., Macedo, J.C., Mattingly, A.J., Wangsa, D., Camps, J., Lima, V., Gomes, A.M., Dória, S., Ried, T., Logarinho, E., et al. (2015). Chromosome mis-segregation and cytokinesis failure in trisomic human cells. eLife *4*.
- Nishimura, T., Padamsi, Z., Fakim, H., Milette, S., Dunham, W.H., Gingras, A.-C., and Fabian, M.R. (2015). The eIF4E-Binding Protein 4E-T Is a Component of the mRNA Decay Machinery that Bridges the 5. CellReports *11*, 1425–1436.
- Niwa, O., Tange, Y., and Kurabayashi, A. (2006). Growth arrest and chromosome instability in aneuploid yeast. Yeast *23*, 937–950.
- Noguchi, M., Yu, D., Hirayama, R., Ninomiya, Y., Sekine, E., Kubota, N., Ando, K., and Okayasu, R. (2006). Inhibition of homologous recombination repair in irradiated tumor cells pretreated with Hsp90 inhibitor 17-allylamino-17-

demethoxygeldanamycin. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 351, 658–663.

O'Duibhir, E., Lijnzaad, P., Benschop, J.J., Lenstra, T.L., van Leenen, D., Groot Koerkamp, M.J., Margaritis, T., Brok, M.O., Kemmeren, P., and Holstege, F.C. (2014). Cell cycle population effects in perturbation studies. Molecular Systems Biology 10, 732–732.

- Oda, T., Hayano, T., Miyaso, H., Takahashi, N., and Yamashita, T. (2007). Hsp90 regulates the Fanconi anemia DNA damage response pathway. Blood *109*, 5016–5026.
- Ohashi, A., Ohori, M., Iwai, K., Nakayama, Y., Nambu, T., Morishita, D., Kawamoto, T., Miyamoto, M., Hirayama, T., Okaniwa, M., et al. (2015). Aneuploidy generates proteotoxic stress and DNA damage concurrently with p53-mediated post-mitotic apoptosis in SAC-impaired cells. Nature Communications *6*, 7668.
- Olaharski, A.J. (2006). Tetraploidy and chromosomal instability are early events during cervical carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis *27*, 337–343.
- Oromendia, A.B., and Amon, A. (2014). Aneuploidy: implications for protein homeostasis and disease. Disease Models & Mechanisms 7, 15–20.
- Oromendia, A.B., Dodgson, S.E., and Amon, A. (2012). Aneuploidy causes proteotoxic stress in yeast. Genes & Development *26*, 2696–2708.
- Ozsolak, F., Poling, L.L., Wang, Z., Liu, H., Liu, X.S., Roeder, R.G., Zhang, X., Song, J.S., and Fisher, D.E. (2008). Chromatin structure analyses identify miRNA promoters. Genes & Development *22*, 3172–3183.
- Pack, S.D., Weil, R.J., Vortmeyer, A.O., Zeng, W., Li, J., Okamoto, H., Furuta, M., Pak, E., Lubensky, I.A., Oldfield, E.H., et al. (2014). Individual Adult Human Neurons Display Aneuploidy: Detection by Fluorescence In Situ Hybridization and Single Neuron PCR. Cell Cycle 4, 1758–1760.
- Papavassiliou, P., Charalsawadi, C., Rafferty, K., and Jackson-Cook, C. (2014). Mosaicism for trisomy 21: A review. Am. J. Med. Genet. *167*, 26–39.
- Park, J.-E., Heo, I., Tian, Y., Simanshu, D.K., Chang, H., Jee, D., Patel, D.J., and Kim, V.N. (2011). Dicer recognizes the 5' end of RNA for efficient and accurate processing. Nature 475, 201–205.
- Parsons, D.W., Jones, S., Zhang, X., Lin, J.C.-H., Leary, R.J., Angenendt, P., Mankoo, P., Carter, H., Siu, I.-M., Gallia, G.L., et al. (2008). An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. Science 321, 1807–1812.
- Passerini, V., Ozeri-Galai, E., de Pagter, M.S., Donnelly, N., Schmalbrock, S., Kloosterman, W.P., Kerem, B., and Storchová, Z. (2016). The presence of extra chromosomes leads to genomic instability. Nature Communications 7, 1–12.
- Pavelka, N., Rancati, G., Zhu, J., Bradford, W.D., Saraf, A., Florens, L., Sanderson, B.W., Hattem, G.L., and Li, R. (2010). Aneuploidy confers quantitative proteome changes and phenotypic variation in budding yeast. Nature 468, 321–325.
- Peng, Y., and Croce, C.M. (2016). The role of MicroRNAs in human cancer. Sig. Transduct. Target. Ther. 1, 15004.
- Percy, M.J., Myrie, K.A., Neeley, C.K., Azim, J.N., Ethier, S.P., and Petty, E.M. (2000). Expression and mutational analyses of the human MAD2L1 gene in breast cancer cells. Genes Chromosom. Cancer 29, 356–362.
- Pertea, M., and Salzberg, S.L. (2010). Between a chicken and a grape: estimating the number of human genes. Genome Biol *11*, 206.
- Potapova, T.A., Seidel, C.W., Box, A.C., Rancati, G., and Li, R. (2016). Transcriptome analysis of tetraploid cells identifies Cyclin D2 as a facilitator of adaptation to genome doubling in the presence of p53. Mol Biol Cell.
- Ramalingam, P., Palanichamy, J.K., Singh, A., Das, P., Bhagat, M., Kassab, M.A., Sinha, S., and Chattopadhyay, P. (2013). Biogenesis of intronic miRNAs located in clusters by independent transcription and alternative splicing. Rna 20, 76–87.
- Ramsingh, G., Jacoby, M.A., Shao, J., De Jesus Pizzaro, R.E., Shen, D., Trissal, M., Getz, A.H., Ley, T.J., Walter, M.J., and Link, D.C. (2013). Acquired copy number alterations of miRNA genes in acute myeloid leukemia are uncommon. Blood *122*, e44–e51.
- Rasmussen, M., Sundström, M., Göransson Kultima, H., Botling, J., Micke, P., Birgisson,

H., Glimelius, B., and Isaksson, A. (2011). Allele-specific copy number analysis of tumor samples with aneuploidy and tumor heterogeneity. Genome Biol *12*, R108.

- Rehen, S.K. (2005). Constitutional Aneuploidy in the Normal Human Brain. Journal of Neuroscience *25*, 2176–2180.
- Reid, R.J.D., Sunjevaric, I., Voth, W.P., Ciccone, S., Du, W., Olsen, A.E., Stillman, D.J., and Rothstein, R. (2008). Chromosome-Scale Genetic Mapping Using a Set of 16 Conditionally Stable Saccharomyces cerevisiae Chromosomes. Genetics 180, 1799– 1808.
- Remeseiro, S., Cuadrado, A., Carretero, Martínez, P., Drosopoulos, W.C., Canamero, M., Schildkraut, C.L., Blasco, M.A., and Losada, A. (2012). Cohesin-SA1 deficiency drives aneuploidy and tumourigenesis in mice due to impaired replication of telomeres. The EMBO Journal *31*, 2076–2089.
- Rink, B.D., and Norton, M.E. (2016). Screening for fetal aneuploidy. Seminars in Perinatology *40*, 35–43.
- Rodriguez, A., Griffiths-Jones, S., Ashurst, J.L., and Bradley, A. (2004). Identification of mammalian microRNA host genes and transcription units. Genome Research 14, 1902–1910.
- Rutledge, S.D., Douglas, T.A., Nicholson, J.M., Vila-Casadesús, M., Kantzler, C.L., Wangsa, D., Barroso-Vilares, M., Kale, S.D., Logarinho, E., and Cimini, D. (2016). Selective advantage of trisomic human cells cultured in non-standard conditions. Sci. Rep. 6, 22828.
- Saito, T., and Sãetrom, P. (2010). MicroRNAs targeting and target prediction. New Biotechnology *27*, 243–249.
- Santagata, S., Mendillo, M.L., Tang, Y.-C., Subramanian, A., Perley, C.C., Roche, S.P., Wong, B., Narayan, R., Kwon, H., Koeva, M., et al. (2013). Tight coordination of protein translation and HSF1 activation supports the anabolic malignant state. Science 341, 1238303.
- Santaguida, S., Tighe, A., D'Alise, A.M., Taylor, S.S., and Musacchio, A. (2010). Dissecting the role of MPS1 in chromosome biorientation and the spindle checkpoint through the small molecule inhibitor reversine. J Cell Biol *190*, 73–87.
- Santaguida, S., Vasile, E., White, E., and Amon, A. (2015). Aneuploidy-induced cellular stresses limit autophagic degradation. Genes & Development *29*, 2010–2021.
- Sato, N., Mizumoto, K., Nakamura, M., Maehara, N., Minamishima, Y.A., Nishio, S., Nagai, E., and Tanaka, M. (2001). Correlation between centrosome abnormalities and chromosomal instability in human pancreatic cancer cells. Cancer Genetics and Cytogenetics 126, 13–19.
- Schee, K., Lorenz, S., Worren, M.M., Günther, C.-C., Holden, M., Hovig, E., Fodstad, Ø., Meza-Zepeda, L.A., and Flatmark, K. (2013). Deep Sequencing the MicroRNA Transcriptome in Colorectal Cancer. PLoS ONE 8, e66165.
- Schnall-Levin, M., Rissland, O.S., Johnston, W.K., Perrimon, N., Bartel, D.P., and Berger, B. (2011). Unusually effective microRNA targeting within repeat-rich coding regions of mammalian mRNAs. Genome Research *21*, 1395–1403.
- Selbach, M., Schwanhäusser, B., Thierfelder, N., Fang, Z., Khanin, R., and Rajewsky, N. (2008). Widespread changes in protein synthesis induced by microRNAs. Nature 455, 58–63.
- Sheltzer, J.M. (2013). A Transcriptional and Metabolic Signature of Primary Aneuploidy Is Present in Chromosomally Unstable Cancer Cells and Informs Clinical Prognosis. Cancer Res 73, 6401–6412.
- Sheltzer, J.M., Blank, H.M., Pfau, S.J., Tange, Y., George, B.M., Humpton, T.J., Brito, I.L., Hiraoka, Y., Niwa, O., and Amon, A. (2011). Aneuploidy Drives Genomic Instability in Yeast. Science 333, 1026–1030.
- Sheltzer, J.M., and Amon, A. (2011). The aneuploidy paradox: costs and benefits of an

incorrect karyotype. Trends Genet. 27, 446–453.

- Sheltzer, J.M., Torres, E.M., Dunham, M.J., and Amon, A. (2012). Transcriptional consequences of aneuploidy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109, 12644–12649.
- Silkworth, W.T., Nardi, I.K., Scholl, L.M., and Cimini, D. (2009). Multipolar Spindle Pole Coalescence Is a Major Source of Kinetochore Mis-Attachment and Chromosome Mis-Segregation in Cancer Cells. PLoS ONE *4*, e6564.
- Simon, J.E., Bakker, B., and Foijer, F. (2015). CINcere Modelling: What Have Mouse Models for Chromosome Instability Taught Us? Recent Results Cancer Res 200, 39– 60.
- Sjöblom, T., Jones, S., Wood, L.D., Parsons, D.W., Lin, J., Barber, T.D., Mandelker, D., Leary, R.J., Ptak, J., Silliman, N., et al. (2006). The consensus coding sequences of human breast and colorectal cancers. Science 314, 268–274.
- Solomon, D.A., Kim, J.-S., Bondaruk, J., Shariat, S.F., Wang, Z.-F., Elkahloun, A.G., Ozawa, T., Gerard, J., Zhuang, D., Zhang, S., et al. (2013). brief communications. Nature Publishing Group *45*, 1428–1430.
- Solomon, D.A., Kim, T., Diaz-Martinez, L.A., Fair, J., Elkahloun, A.G., Harris, B.T., Toretsky, J.A., Rosenberg, S.A., Shukla, N., Ladanyi, M., et al. (2011). Mutational inactivation of STAG2 causes aneuploidy in human cancer. Science 333, 1039–1043.
- Sotillo, R., Hernando, E., Díaz-Rodríguez, E., Teruya-Feldstein, J., Cordón-Cardo, C., Lowe, S.W., and Benezra, R. (2007). Mad2 Overexpression Promotes Aneuploidy and Tumorigenesis in Mice. Cancer Cell *11*, 9–23.
- Sotillo, R., Schvartzman, J.-M., Socci, N.D., and Benezra, R. (2010). Mad2-induced chromosome instability leads to lung tumour relapse after oncogene withdrawal. Nature *464*, 436–440.
- Soto, C., and Estrada, L.D. (2008). Protein misfolding and neurodegeneration. Arch Neurol *65*, 184–189.
- Stankiewicz, P., and Lupski, J.R. (2010). Structural Variation in the Human Genome and its Role in Disease. Annu. Rev. Med. *61*, 437–455.
- Stenberg, P., Lundberg, L.E., Johansson, A.-M., Rydén, P., Svensson, M.J., and Larsson, J. (2009). Buffering of Segmental and Chromosomal Aneuploidies in Drosophila melanogaster. PLoS Genet 5, e1000465.
- Stingele, S., Stoehr, G., and Storchova, Z. (2013). Activation of autophagy in cells with abnormal karyotype. Autophagy *9*, 246–248.
- Stingele, S., Stoehr, G., Peplowska, K., Cox, J.U.R., Mann, M., and Storchova, Z. (2012). Global analysis of genome, transcriptome and proteome reveals the response to aneuploidy in human cells. Molecular Systems Biology 8, 1–12.
- Storchova, Z., Breneman, A., Cande, J., Dunn, J., Burbank, K., O'Toole, E., and Pellman, D. (2006). Genome-wide genetic analysis of polyploidy in yeast. Nature *443*, 541–547.
- Stratton, M.R., Campbell, P.J., and Futreal, P.A. (2009). The cancer genome. Nature *458*, 719–724.
- Svoronos, A.A., Engelman, D.M., and Slack, F.J. (2016). OncomiR or Tumor Suppressor? The Duplicity of MicroRNAs in Cancer. Cancer Res *76*, 3666–3670.
- Tanaka, K., Nishioka, J., Kato, K., Nakamura, A., Mouri, T., Miki, C., Kusunoki, M., and Nobori, T. (2001). Mitotic checkpoint protein hsMAD2 as a marker predicting liver metastasis of human gastric cancers. Jpn J Cancer Res 92, 952–958.
- Tang, Y.-C., Williams, B.R., Siegel, J.J., and Amon, A. (2011). Identification of Aneuploidy-Selective Antiproliferation Compounds. Cell *144*, 499–512.
- Taylor, R.C., and Dillin, A. (2011). Aging as an Event of Proteostasis Collapse. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology *3*.
- Thompson, S.L., and Compton, D.A. (2008). Examining the link between chromosomal instability and aneuploidy in human cells. J. Cell Biol. *180*, 665–672.

- Thompson, S.L., and Compton, D.A. (2010). Proliferation of aneuploid human cells is limited by a p53-dependent mechanism. J Cell Biol *188*, 369–381.
- Thompson, S.L., Bakhoum, S.F., and Compton, D.A. (2010). Mechanisms of Chromosomal Instability Review. Curr. Biol. *20*, R285–R295.
- Thorburn, R.R., Gonzalez, C., Brar, G.A., Christen, S., Carlile, T.M., Ingolia, N.T., Sauer, U., Weissman, J.S., and Amon, A. (2013). Aneuploid yeast strains exhibit defects in cell growth and passage through START. Mol Biol Cell 24, 1274–1289.
- Torres, E.M., Dephoure, N., Panneerselvam, A., Tucker, C.M., Whittaker, C.A., Gygi, S.P., Dunham, M.J., and Amon, A. (2010). Identification of Aneuploidy- Tolerating Mutations. Cell 143, 71–83.
- Torres, E.M., Sokolsky, T., Tucker, C.M., Chan, L.Y., Boselli, M., Dunham, M.J., and Amon, A. (2007). Effects of aneuploidy on cellular physiology and cell division in haploid yeast. Science 317, 916–924.
- Upender, M.B., Habermann, J.K., McShane, L.M., Korn, E.L., Barrett, J.C., Difilippantonio, M.J., and Ried, T. (2004). Chromosome transfer induced aneuploidy results in complex dysregulation of the cellular transcriptome in immortalized and cancer cells. Cancer Res 64, 6941–6949.
- van den Bos, H., Spierings, D.C.J., Taudt, A., Bakker, B., Porubský, D., Falconer, E., Novoa, C., Halsema, N., Kazemier, H.G., Hoekstra-Wakker, K., et al. (2016). Single-cell whole genome sequencing reveals no evidence for common aneuploidy in normal and Alzheimer's disease neurons. Genome Biol *17*, 116-116.
- Veigaard, C., and Kjeldsen, E. (2014). Exploring the genome-wide relation between copy number status and microRNA expression. Genomics *104*, 271–278.
- Vilardell, M., Rasche, A., Thormann, A., Maschke-Dutz, E., Pérez-Jurado, L.A., Lehrach, H., and Herwig, R. (2011). Meta-analysis of heterogeneous Down Syndrome data reveals consistent genome-wide dosage effects related to neurological processes. BMC Genomics 12, 229.
- Vitale, I., Senovilla, L., agrave, M.J., Michaud, M.E.L., Galluzzi, L., Kepp, O., Nanty, L., Criollo, A., Rello-Varona, S., Manic, G., et al. (2010). Multipolar mitosis of tetraploid cells: inhibition by p53 and dependency on Mos. The EMBO Journal 29, 1272–1284.
- Vitale, I., Senovilla, L., Galluzzi, L., Criollo, A., Vivet, S., Castedo, M., and Kroemer, G. (2008). Chk1 inhibition activates p53 through p38 MAPK in tetraploid cancer cells. Cell Cycle 7, 1956–1961.
- Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K.W. (1993). The multistep nature of cancer. Trends Genet. 9, 138–141.
- Vogelstein, B., Papadopoulos, N., Velculescu, V.E., Zhou, S., Diaz, L.A., and Kinzler, K.W. (2013). Cancer genome landscapes. Science *339*, 1546–1558.
- Wang, C.C., Kazuki, Y., Oshimura, M., Ikeo, K., and Gojobori, T. (2011). Gene dosage imbalance of human chromosome 21 in mouse embryonic stem cells differentiating to neurons. Gene *481*, 93–101.
- Wang, L., Yin, F., Du, Y., Du, W., Chen, B., Zhang, Y., Wu, K., Ding, J., Liu, J., and Fan, D. (2009a). MAD2 as a Key Component of Mitotic Checkpoint: A Probable Prognostic Factor for Gastric Cancer. American Journal of Clinical Pathology 131, 793–801.
- Wang, X., Jin, D.Y., Wong, Y.C., Cheung, A.L., Chun, A.C., Lo, A.K., Liu, Y., and Tsao, S.W. (2000). Correlation of defective mitotic checkpoint with aberrantly reduced expression of MAD2 protein in nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells. Carcinogenesis 21, 2293–2297.
- Wang, X., Jin, D.-Y., Ng, R.W.M., Feng, H., Wong, Y.C., Cheung, A.L.M., and Tsao, S.W. (2002). Significance of MAD2 expression to mitotic checkpoint control in ovarian cancer cells. Cancer Res 62, 1662–1668.
- Wang, Y., Jin, F., Higgins, R., and McKnight, K. (2014). The current view for the silencing of the spindle assembly checkpoint. Cell Cycle *13*, 1694–1701.

- Wang, Y., Hu, X., Greshock, J., Shen, L., Yang, X., Shao, Z., Liang, S., Tanyi, J.L., Sood, A.K., and Zhang, L. (2012). Genomic DNA Copy-Number Alterations of the let-7 Family in Human Cancers. PLoS ONE 7, e44399.
- Wang, Y., Waters, J., Leung, M.L., Unruh, A., Roh, W., Shi, X., Chen, K., Scheet, P., Vattathil, S., Liang, H., et al. (2015). Clonal evolution in breast cancer revealed by single nucleus genome sequencing. Nature 512, 155–160.
- Wang, Z., Gerstein, M., and Snyder, M. (2009b). RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. Nature Reviews Genetics *10*, 57–63.
- Waterman-Storer, C.M., Worthylake, R.A., Liu, B.P., Burridge, K., and Salmon, E.D. (1999). Microtubule growth activates Rac1 to promote lamellipodial protrusion in fibroblasts. Nat Cell Biol 1, 45–50.
- Weaver, B.A., and Cleveland, D.W. (2006). Does an euploidy cause cancer? Current Opinion in Cell Biology *18*, 658–667.
- Westholm, J.O., and Lai, E.C. (2011). Mirtrons: microRNA biogenesis via splicing. Biochimie 93, 1897–1904.
- Wightman, B., HA, I., and Ruvkun, G. (1993). Posttranscriptional Regulation of the Heterochronic Gene Lin-14 by Lin-4 Mediates Temporal Pattern-Formation in C-Elegans. Cell *75*, 855–862.
- Wijkstrom, H., Granberg-Ohman, I., and Tribukait, B. (1984). Chromosomal and DNA patterns in transitional cell bladder carcinoma. A comparative cytogenetic and flow-cytofluorometric DNA study. Cancer *53*, 1718–1723.
- Williams, B.R., Prabhu, V.R., Hunter, K.E., Glazier, C.M., Whittaker, C.A., Housman, D.E., and Amon, A. (2008). Aneuploidy affects proliferation and spontaneous immortalization in mammalian cells. Science 322, 703–709.
- Wilson, J.W.T.L.D.L.C.M.D.L.D.K.L.W.T.L.F.L.J.X.C.K.R.F.M.M.D.D.J.W.K.C.C.H.H.S.J.K.V.C.L.Q.Z.L.L.M.O.J.M.K.D.L.F.V.M.S.M.R.D.T.V.J.H.L.C.G.S.J.R.P.A.T.W.J.W.M.W.S.
 H.W.S.N.V.R.N.J.P.J.B.S.K.J.K.M.T.P.W.M.W.T.G.J.D.L.D.E.M.R., Ley, T.J., Link,
 D.C., Miller, C.A., Larson, D.E., Koboldt, D.C., Wartman, L.D., Lamprecht, T.L., Liu,
 F., Xia, J., et al. (2012). The Origin and Evolution of Mutations in Acute Myeloid
 Leukemia. Cell 150, 264–278.
- Wilting, S.M., Snijders, P.J.F., Verlaat, W., Jaspers, A., van de Wiel, M.A., van Wieringen, W.N., Meijer, G.A., Kenter, G.G., Yi, Y., le Sage, C., et al. (2012). Altered microRNA expression associated with chromosomal changes contributes to cervical carcinogenesis. Oncogene 32, 106–116.
- Wondrak, G. (2014). Stress Response Pathways in Cancer (Springer).
- Wood, L.D., Parsons, D.W., Jones, S., Lin, J., Sjöblom, T., Leary, R.J., Shen, D., Boca, S.M., Barber, T., Ptak, J., et al. (2007). The genomic landscapes of human breast and colorectal cancers. Science *318*, 1108–1113.
- Yu, P., and Lin, W. (2016). Single-cell Transcriptome Study as Big Data. Genomics, Proteomics and Bioinformatics *14*, 21–30.
- Yurov, Y.B., Iourov, I.Y., Vorsanova, S.G., Liehr, T., Kolotii, A.D., Kutsev, S.I., Pellestor, F., Beresheva, A.K., Demidova, I.A., Kravets, V.S., et al. (2007). Aneuploidy and Confined Chromosomal Mosaicism in the Developing Human Brain. PLoS ONE 2, e558.
- Yurov, Y.B., Vorsanova, S.G., Liehr, T., Kolotii, A.D., and Iourov, I.Y. (2014). X chromosome aneuploidy in the Alzheimer's disease brain. Molecular Cytogenetics 7, 20.
- Zack, T.I., Schumacher, S.E., Carter, S.L., Cherniack, A.D., Saksena, G., Tabak, B., Lawrence, M.S., Zhang, C.-Z., Wala, J., Mermel, C.H., et al. (2013). Pan-cancer patterns of somatic copy number alteration. Nature Publishing Group 45, 1134-1140.
- Zekri, L., Huntzinger, E., Heimstadt, S., and Izaurralde, E. (2009). The Silencing Domain

of GW182 Interacts with PABPC1 To Promote Translational Repression and Degradation of MicroRNA Targets and Is Required for Target Release. Molecular and Cellular Biology *29*, 6220–6231.

- Zekri, L., Kuzuoglu-Öztürk, D., and Izaurralde, E. (2013). GW182 proteins cause PABP dissociation from silenced miRNA targets in the absence of deadenylation. The EMBO Journal *32*, 1052–1065.
- Zhang, C.-Z., Spektor, A., Cornils, H., Francis, J.M., Jackson, E.K., Liu, S., Meyerson, M., and Pellman, D. (2015). Chromothripsis from DNA damage in micronuclei. Nature 522, 179–184.
- Zhang, L., Huang, J., Yang, N., Greshock, J., Megraw, M.S., Giannakakis, A., Liang, S., Naylor, T.L., Barchetti, A., Ward, M.R., et al. (2006). microRNAs exhibit high frequency genomic alterations in human cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103, 9136– 9141.
- Zheng, H., Jin, H., Liu, L., Liu, J., and Wang, W.-H. (2015). Application of next-generation sequencing for 24-chromosome aneuploidy screening of human preimplantation embryos. Molecular Cytogenetics 8, 38.
- Zhou, P., Xu, W., Peng, X., Luo, Z., Xing, Q., Chen, X., Hou, C., Liang, W., Zhou, J., Wu, X., et al. (2013). Large-Scale Screens of miRNA-mRNA Interactions Unveiled That the 3'UTR of a Gene Is Targeted by Multiple miRNAs. PLoS ONE *8*, e68204.
- Zhou, X., Duan, X., Qian, J., and Li, F. (2009). Abundant conserved microRNA target sites in the 5'-untranslated region and coding sequence. Genetica *137*, 159–164.
- Ørom, U.A., Nielsen, F.C., and Lund, A.H. (2008). MicroRNA-10a Binds the 5'UTR of Ribosomal Protein mRNAs and Enhances Their Translation. Mol Cell *30*, 460–471.

9 Acknowledgements

Foremost, I want to thank my two supervisors Prof. Dr. Zuzana Storchová and Dr. Bianca Habermann for giving me this unique opportunity to pursue my PhD work on the interface of molecular cell biology and computational biology.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude and appreciation for the immense support, guidance and advices throughout my PhD work to Zuzana.

I am deeply grateful for the constant support, direction and motivation from Bianca that helped me to grow in analysing biological data.

I thank Prof. Dr. Stefan Jentsch who was my Doktorvater, generous host and supporter as the head of the Department of Molecular Cell Biology.

Special thanks to Prof. Dr. Angelika Böttger who supported my thesis as an Erstgutachter on short notice. My gratitude is extended to my thesis committee for reading and evaluating my PhD thesis.

My sincere thanks to the members of my thesis advisory committee Prof. Dr. Klaus Förstemann and Dr. Johannes Söding for their suggestions and feedback on my PhD research as well as the fruitful discussions during the yearly TAC meetings.

Big thanks to all past and present members of the Storchová and the Habermann group. Thank you for creating such a friendly, creative and stimulating working atmosphere and second home. Thank you for all the scientific and non-scientific discussions, advices, jokes and chocolate as well as coffee breaks. It was great working and spending time with you.

I owe special thanks to my former biology teacher, Stefan Meyer, who already believed in my success as a scientist and foresaw this acknowledgment at the time of my graduation from high school.

Last but not least, I owe my deepest gratitude to my father for his support during all these years. Warm thanks for always being there for me when I needed your precious advice and guidance. Many thanks also to my grandparents, aunt, sister and brother who were always at my side. Finally, I thank my partner, Daniel, for your immeasurable support and everything else.

To the memory of my mother.

10 Curriculum vitae

Milena Dürrbaum

Education	
01/2013-02/2017	Max Planck Institute of Biochemistry, PhD student, International Max Planck Research School for Molecular and Cellular Life Sciences, Martinsried Maintenance of Genome Stability and Computational Biology "A systems biology perspective on the consequences of aneuploidy in human cells "
10/2010-11/2012	Technical University Munich, M. Sc., Biology Master Thesis, Max Planck Institute of Biochemistry, Maintenance of Genome Stability: "Physiological response of human cells to aneuploidy- transcriptome studies and cellular assays"
09/2011-01/2012	Hong Kong University of Science and Technology Exchange semester and research internship "Lignocellulosic biomass as a new energy source- a novel cellobiase gene cba5 from Cellulomonas biazotea"
10/2007-09/2010	Technical University Munich, B. Sc., Biology Bachelor Thesis, Chair of Chemistry of Biopolymers: "Sequence specific dynamics and secondary structure of the amyloid precursor protein transmembrane"
07/1998-06/2007	Freie Evangelische Schule Lörrach, Germany, Abitur

Awards and Fellowships

03/2013-04/2017	International Max Planck Research School for Molecular and Cellular Life Sciences Fellowship
2/2014	CIPSM Munich Center of Excellence Center for Integrated Protein Science, Award for the best poster
02/2013-02/2017	e-fellows online stipend career and mentoring network
09/2011-12/2011	DAAD PROMOS Scholarship to support the exchange of German university students
	TUM Exchange supported exchange program of Technical University Munich
Publications	
2015	Dürrbaum, M. and Storchova Z. Consequences of Aneuploidy in Cancer:
	Transcriptome and Beyond. Springer Int. Publishing, Recent Results in
	Cancer Research pp. 195–224
2015	<u>Dürrbaum, M.</u> and Storchova Z. Effects of aneuploidy on gene expression: implications for cancer. <i>FEBS Journal, 283(5), pp.791–802</i>
2015	Kuznetsova, A.Y., Seget, K., Moeller, G.K., de Pagter, M. S, de Roos, J.A.D.M.,
	Dürrbaum, M., Kuffer, C., Müller, S., Zaman G.J.R., Kloosterman, W.P. and
	Storchova Z. Cell Cycle, 14(17), pp.2810–2820
2014	Donnelly, N., Passerini, V., <u>Dürrbaum, M.</u> , Stingele, S., Storchova, Z. The
	EMBO Journal, 33(20), pp.2374–2387
2014	Dürrbaum, M., Kuznetsova, A.Y., Passerini, V., Stingele, S., Stoehr, G.,
	Storchova, Z. Unique features of the transcriptional response to model
	aneuploidy in human cells. BMC Genomics, 15(1), pp.1–14

2013	Pester, O., Barret, P.J., Hornburg, D., Hornburg, P., Pröbstle, R., Widmaier, S., Kutzner, C., <u>Dürrbaum, M.</u> , Kapurniotu A., Sanders, C.R., Scharnagl, C., Langosch, D. <i>Journal of the American Chemical Society</i> , 135(4), pp.1317–1329	
Teaching and Sup	ervision	
10/2015-10/2016	Supervisor of two master students	
23+24/09/2015	Instructor of a R data analysis and annotation/ visualization workshop	
04/2015-08/2015	Supervisor of two internship students	
04/2011	Lab practical supervisor of 20 undergraduate students	
11/2010-02/2011	Lecturer microbiology seminar; weekly lectures for 15 students	
International Conferences and Training Events		
14-16/03/2016	International Meeting of the German Society for Cell Biology, poster	
06/2015-07/2015	MaxQuant Summer School, proteomics data analysis conference	
03-07/03/2014	European Bioinformatics Institute Cambridge , UK, next-generation sequencing data analysis training	
03-06/02/2014	CIPSM Munich Center of Excellence conference, poster	
Languages		

German (native) • English (fluent, oral and written) • Chinese (conversational) • French (basic)